
REGULAR CITY COUNCIL MEETING 
MEETING AGENDA 

WEDNESDAY, April 11, 2018 
 

Closed Session – 6:15 PM 
Regular Meeting - 6:30 PM 

 
City Hall – Beryl P. Robinson, Jr. Conference Room 

317 Broad Street, Nevada City, CA  95959 
 

MISSION STATEMENT  
The City of Nevada City is dedicated to preserving and enhancing its small town  

character and historical architecture while providing quality public services for our 
 current and future residents, businesses and visitors. 

 
 

 Duane Strawser, Mayor 
Reinette Senum, Council Member   David Parker, Vice Mayor 
Evans Phelps, Council Member   Valerie Moberg, Council Member 
 
The City Council welcomes you to its meetings which are scheduled at 6:30 PM on the 2nd and 4th Wednesdays of each 
month.  Your interest is encouraged and appreciated.  This meeting is recorded on DVD and is televised on local public 
television Channel 17.  Other special accommodations may be requested to the City Clerk 72 hours in advance of the 
meeting.  Please turn off all cell phones or similar devices.  Action may be taken on any agenda item.  Agenda notices are 
available at City Hall.  Materials related to an item on this Agenda submitted to the Council after distribution of the agenda 
packet are available for public inspection in the City Hall at 317 Broad Street, Nevada City, CA during normal business 
hours. 
 
ANY MEMBER OF THE PUBLIC DESIRING TO ADDRESS THE COUNCIL ON ANY ITEM ON THIS 
AGENDA: After receiving recognition from the Mayor, give your name and address, and then your comments or questions. 
Please direct your remarks to the Councilmembers. In order that all interested parties have an opportunity to speak, please 
limit your comments to the specific item under discussion. All citizens will be afforded an opportunity to speak, consistent 
with their Constitutional rights. Time limits shall be at the Mayor's discretion. 
IF YOU CHALLENGE the Council's decision on any matter in court, you will be limited to raising only those issues you or 
someone else raised at the meeting or Public Hearing described on this agenda, or in written correspondence delivered to the 
City Council at, or prior to, the meeting or Public Hearing. 
 
CLOSED SESSION – 6:15 PM 
 

1. Pursuant to Government Code Section 54957(b)(1) a closed session is requested with City Manager 
Catrina Olson and City Attorney Hal DeGraw on a personnel matter.  
 

REGULAR MEETING – 6:30 PM - Call to Order 
 
Roll Call:  Moberg, Phelps, Senum, Vice Mayor Parker, & Mayor Strawser 
 
PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE   
 
PROCLAMATIONS:   
 
PRESENTATIONS:   
 

 
 



BUSINESS FROM THE FLOOR 
 

1. PUBLIC COMMENT 
 
Under Government Code Section 54954.3, members of the public are entitled to address the City Council 
concerning any item within the Nevada City Council’s subject matter jurisdiction. Comments on items 
NOT ON THE AGENDA are welcome at this time.  Normally, public comments are limited to no more 
than three minutes each.  Except for certain specific exceptions, the City Council is prohibited from 
discussing or taking action on any item not appearing on the posted agenda. 

 
2. COUNCIL MEMBERS REQUESTED ITEMS AND COMMITTEE REPORTS: 

 
3. CONSENT ITEMS: 

All matters listed under the Consent Calendar are to be considered routine by the City Council and will be enacted 
by one motion in the form listed.  There will be no separate discussion of these items unless, before the City 
Council votes on the motion to adopt, members of the Council, City staff or the public request specific items to be 
removed from the Consent Calendar for separate discussion and action. 
 

A. Subject:  Accounts Payable Activity Report – March 2018 
Recommendation: Receive and file. 
 

B. Subject:  Nevada City Farmer’s Market Street Closure Request 
Recommendation: Review and authorize Nevada City Farmers Market street closure request per 
application. 
 

C. Subject:  3rd Quarter 2017 Sales Tax Update 
Recommendation: Receive and file. 
 

D. Subject:  Award Of Contract For Adams Street And Nile Street Improvements In Nevada City 
Recommendation: Pass Resolution 2018-XX Awarding a contract to Simpson & Simpson Inc. in the 
amount of $404,763.00 plus $35,000.00 contingencies for Adams Street and Nile Street 
Improvements in Nevada City and authorize the Mayor to sign. 
 

E. Subject:  Award Of Contract For Sewer Replacement At Sacramento Street In Nevada City 
Recommendation: Pass Resolution 2018-XX Awarding a contract to Escheman Construction in the 
amount of $42,818.63 plus $8,000.00 contingencies for Sewer Replacement at Sacramento Street in 
Nevada City and authorize the Mayor to sign. 
 

F. Subject:  Award Of Contract For Water Replacement At Jordan Street In Nevada City 
Recommendation: Pass Resolution 2018-XX Awarding a contract to C&D Contractors, Inc. in the 
amount of $26,530.00 plus $4,000.00 contingencies for Water Replacement at Jordan Street in 
Nevada City and authorize the Mayor to sign. 
 

G. Subject:  A Resolution Of The City Council Of Nevada City To Adopt A Determination Of A 
CalPERS Member’s Industrial Disability Retirement For Police Officer Shane Franssen 
Recommendation: Pass Resolution 2018-XX to adopt a determination of CalPERS member’s 
industrial disability retirement for Police Officer Shane Franssen. 
 

H. Subject:  A Resolution Of The City Council Of Nevada City To Adopt A Determination Of A 
CalPERS Member’s Industrial Disability Retirement For Police Officer Gary Scott Clendenen 



Recommendation: Pass Resolution 2018-XX to adopt a determination of CalPERS member’s 
industrial disability retirement for Police Officer Gary Scott Clendenen. 
 

I. Subject:  Award Of Contract For Water Repairs At 317 Broad Street In Nevada City 
Recommendation: Pass Resolution 2018-XX Awarding a contract to Springsteen Construction in the 
amount of $10,104.00 plus $2,000.00 contingencies for Water Repairs at 317 Broad Street in Nevada 
City and authorize the Mayor to sign. 
 

J. Subject:  Award Of Contract Change Order For Professional Environmental Consulting Services For 
Nevada Street Bridge Over Deer Creek In Nevada City 
Recommendation: Pass Resolution 2018-XX awarding a contract change order to LSA Associates, 
Inc. in the amount of $9,000 for Professional Environmental Consulting Services for Nevada Street 
Bridge in Nevada City and authorize the Mayor to sign 
 
 

4. APPROVAL OF ACTION MINUTES: 
A. City Council Meeting – March 28, 2018 

 
5. DEPARTMENT REQUESTED ACTION ITEMS AND UPDATE REPORTS: 

 
A. Subject: Monthly Update On City Council Six-Month Strategic Objectives 

Recommendation: Receive and file.   
 

6. PUBLIC HEARINGS: 
 

7. OLD BUSINESS: 
 
A. Subject:  Progress Report For Design Of Nevada Street Bridge Replacement Project In Nevada City 

Recommendation:  No action requested. 
 

B. Subject:  Final Map Check For Recordation Of The Tentatively Approved Nevada City Tech Center 
Phase 3 Final Map For Subdivision Into Three (3) Commercial Lots 
Recommendation:  After reviewing and considering the approved Mitigation Measures and 
Conditions of Approval, adopt Resolution 2018-XX to approve for filing the Final Map for Nevada 
City Tech. Center LLC – Phase 3 and authorize the Mayor to sign the map. 

 
C. Subject:  LAFCo Meeting Update 

Recommendation:  Receive and file. 
 

D. Subject:  Medical Cannabis Business Permit Format And Indemnification Agreement 
Recommendation:   
• Review the draft Indemnification Agreement prepared by the City Attorney and provide direction. 
• Make a motion to pass Resolution 2018-XX, authorizing a permit format to be used for permitting 
any qualifying medical cannabis business. 
• Provide direction to staff to move forward in creating a permit fee/deposit. 
 

E. Subject:  An Ordinance Of The City Of Nevada City Amending Chapter 9.22 Of The Nevada City 
Municipal Code Relating To Restrictions On Medical Commercial Cannabis Businesses And 
Limiting Activity That May Occur Under The City’s Medical Cannabis Cultivation  Permit 



Recommendation:  Hold a first reading for an Ordinance amending Chapter 9.22.110 with Subsection 
H, allowing activities related to nursery growing of immature plants and allowing processing of 
cannabis flower within city limits and adding Chapter 9.22.115 to prohibit commercial medical 
cannabis cultivation activities related to growing mature plants. 

 
 

8. NEW BUSINESS: 

A. Subject:  Review Of Community And Economic Support Program Applications 
Recommendation:  Review proposals and provide direction related to the funding requests and the 
amount of funding to incorporate into the Fiscal Year 2018/19 budget. 

9. CORRESPONDENCE:  Regarding Medical Cannabis Business Applications 
 

10. ANNOUNCEMENTS: 
 

11. CITY MANAGER’S REPORT: 
 

12. ADJOURNMENT 
 

Certification of Posting of Agenda 
I, Loree’ McCay, Deputy City Clerk for the City of Nevada City, declare that the foregoing agenda for the April 
11th, 2018 Regular Meeting of the Nevada City City Council was posted April 6th, 2018 at the entrance of City Hall. 
The agenda is also posted on the City’s website www.nevadacityca.gov. 
 
Signed April 6th, 2018 at Nevada City, California 
 
 
_________________________________ 
Loree’ McCay, Deputy City Clerk  
 
____________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

CITY OF NEVADA CITY 
City Council 

Long Range Calendar 
 
April 25, 2018  Regular Council Meeting 
May 9, 2018  Regular Council Meeting 
May 23, 2018  Regular Council Meeting 
June 13, 2018  Regular Council Meeting 
June 27, 2018  Regular Council Meeting 
 
NOTE:  This list is for planning purposes; items may shift depending on timing and capacity of a meeting. 
 
NOTICE:  As presiding officer, the Mayor has the authority to preserve order at all City Council meetings, to 
remove or cause the removal of any person from any such meeting for disorderly conduct, or for making 
personal, impertinent, or slanderous remarks, using profanity, or becoming boisterous, threatening or personally 
abusive while addressing said Council and to enforce the rules of the Council. 

http://www.nevadacityca.gov/


REPORT TO CITY COUNCIL     City of Nevada City 
          317 Broad Street 
          Nevada City CA 95959 
APRIL 11, 2018        www.nevadacityca.gov 
___________________________________________________________________________ 
 
TITLE:   Accounts Payable Activity Report – March 2018 
 
RECOMMENDATION:  Receive and file.  
 
CONTACT:  Loree’ McCay, Administrative Services Manager 
 
BACKGROUND / DISCUSSION: The attached Accounts Payable Activity Report includes all 
the cash disbursements associated with the City-wide Expenditures for the month of March  
2018. 
 
ENVIRONMENTAL CONSIDERATIONS:   Not applicable.  
 
FISCAL IMPACT:  Varies Monthly.  
 
ATTACHMENTS:  
 
 Accounts Payable Activity Report – March 2018 

http://www.nevadacityca.gov/


















REPORT TO CITY COUNCIL     City of Nevada City 
          317 Broad Street 
          Nevada City CA 95959 
APRIL 11, 2018        www.nevadacityca.gov 
___________________________________________________________________________ 
 
TITLE:  Nevada City Farmer’s Market Street Closure Request  
 
RECOMMENDATION:  Review and authorize Nevada City Farmers Market street closure 
request per application. 
 
CONTACT:  Catrina Olson, City Manager 
 
BACKGROUND / DISCUSSION:  On March 1, 2018, the City received an application for the 
Saturday Nevada City Farmers Market series of events beginning June 2 and running through 
November 17. The proposed event hours are 8:30am to 1:00pm and the proposed street 
closures below are consistent with prior years: 
  

- Union Street between Broad Street and Main 
- Robinson Plaza 

 
A summary of the specific event characteristics and recommended staff conditions are 
included in the application packet. 
 
ENVIRONMENTAL CONSIDERATIONS:  Not applicable. 
 
FISCAL IMPACT:  Not applicable. 
 
ATTACHMENT:   
 
 Street Closure/Special Event Application 

 

http://www.nevadacityca.gov/






























Sales Tax Update

In Brief

Top 25 producers
 In AlphAbetIcAl Order

www.hdlcompanies.com  |  888.861.0220

Q3
2017

Nevada City

Nevada City’s receipts from July 
through September were 9.6% 
above the third sales period in 2016. 

Periodic onetime sales accounted 
for the spike in the business and in-
dustry group and the overall gain in 
gross receipts.  Fuel-related sectors 
benefited from higher prices while 
food and drugs posted positive re-
turns.

Restaurant summer season perfor-
mance was boosted by double pay-
ments.  Once adjusted, actual reve-
nues dipped 3.9%.  The countywide 
use tax allocation pool has become 
a significant portion of the City’s 
sales tax base.

Receipts from the City’s three vot-
er approved transaction taxes in-
creased 45.5% compared to a year 
ago.  Effective April 2017, Measure 
C contributed to this gain.  The ex-
isting Measure L will expire in March 
2018.

Net of aberrations, taxable sales 
for all of Nevada County grew 5.3% 
over the comparable time period; 
the Far North region was up 3.3%.

City of Nevada City

Fourth Quarter Receipts for Third Quarter Sales (July - September 2017)

Published by HdL Companies in Winter 2018

49er 
Communications

Bonanza Market
California Organics
Crazy Horse Saloon 

& Grill
Express Mart & 

Liquor
Friar Tucks 

Restaurant
Golden Era
Jernigans Tap 

House & Grill
JH Petroleum
Leftys Grill
Mi Pueblo Taqueria
New Moon Cafe
Northridge of 

Nevada City

Plaza Tire & Auto 
Service

Port of Subs 
Express Market

Riebes Auto Parts
Robinson 

Enterprises
Sierra Metal 

Fabricators
Sopa Thai Cuisine
SPD Market
Stone House
Telestream
Three Forks Bakery 

& Brewing 
Company

Tour of Nevada City 
Bicycle Shop

Vital Garden Supply

$0

$10,000

$20,000

$30,000

$40,000

$50,000

$60,000

$70,000

SALES TAX BY MAJOR BUSINESS GROUP

3rd Quarter 2016

3rd Quarter 2017

Autos
and

Transportation

Food
and

Drugs

General
Consumer

Goods

Fuel and
Service
Stations

Business
and

Industry

County
and State

Pools

Restaurants
and

Hotels

$535,192 $508,380 

 70  154 

 99,405  93,829 

$435,717 $414,396 

2017-182016-17

Point-of-Sale

County Pool

State Pool

Gross Receipts

REVENUE COMPARISON
Two Quarters – Fiscal Year To Date



NO
TE

S
Sales Tax UpdateQ3 2017 City of Nevada City

$0

$2,000

$4,000

$6,000

$8,000

SALES PER CAPITA

Nevada City

Q3

14

Q3

17

Q3

15

Q3

16

County California

Major Industry Groups Cash Adjusted*
Autos and Transportation 3.6% 5.5%
Building and Construction 7.2% 6.1%
Business and Industry 3.4% -0.5%
Food and Drugs 4.2% 2.3%
Fuel and Service Stations 12.3% 15.5%
General Consumer Goods -4.6% -2.4%
Restaurants and Hotels 9.1% 4.0%
County and State Pools 6.5% 8.8%

Total 5.4% 5.3%

COUNTY OVERALL
3Q YOY RECEIPTS % CHANGE

*Accounting anomalies factored out

24%

Restaurants

19%

Pools

19%
Bus./Ind.

16%

Fuel

11%

Cons.Goods
7%

Food/Drug4%
Others

Nevada City This Quarter
REVENUE BY BUSINESS GROUP 

Statewide Trends 

After factoring for accounting anoma-
lies, local government’s one-cent share 
of statewide sales and use tax from July 
through September sales was 3.6% high-
er than 2016’s summer quarter.

Rising fuel prices, increased demand 
for building-construction materials and 
the continuing acceleration in online 
shopping for merchandise shipped from 
out-of-state that is expanding receipts 
from the countywide use tax allocation 
pools were the primary contributors to 
the overall increase.  

This quarter marked the anticipated 
leveling off of auto sales while agri-
culture and transit-related purchases 
helped boost otherwise tepid gains in 
business-industrial receipts. Restaurant 
sales exhibited healthy overall gains of 
3.5% although growth rates are slowing 
from previous quarters.

Receipts from consumer goods sold by 
brick and mortar stores were up 0.7% 
over the previous year while revenues 
from online purchases grew 13.3%.

Cannabis Taxation
A 15% excise tax on retail cannabis and 
cannabis products along with a cultiva-
tion tax and sales tax on recreational uses 
take effect on January 1, 2018.

Significant sales tax revenues are not 
expected until late 2018-19 as retail 
start-ups comply with lengthy state and 
local permitting processes.  Although 
sales of medicinal cannabis became 
exempt in 2016 for purchasers with a 
state issued Medical Marijuana ID card, 
jurisdictions with dispensaries continue 
to receive sales tax from that source as 
most patients prefer to use a note from 
their physicians.

Some decline in revenues from medi-
cal dispensaries are expected as users’ 
transition to new purchase options 
and because of lower prices caused by 
anticipated overproduction and the six 
month window that suppliers have to sell 
existing inventory grown under previous 
regulations. 

Sales Tax and Natural Disasters

The recent firestorm tragedies have 
raised questions on potential bumps in 
sales tax revenues from reconstruction 
and recovery activities.

HdL analyzed the sales tax data from 
the 1991 Oakland Hills, 2003 San Di-
ego Cedar and 2007 San Diego Witch 
fires which involved the combined loss 
of over 7,700 structures.  Surprising-
ly, there were no identifiable gains in 
construction and auto-related purchases 
within the impacted areas during the 
five years after each event with receipts 
following normal economic cycles ex-
perienced by the state as a whole.

Further analysis suggests that though 
the individual losses are catastrophic, 
purchases of replacement items are a 
small fraction of the impacted area’s 
total spending and is often spread to 
other jurisdictions where disaster victims 
relocate.  Tax receipts from construction 
spending are defused over time because 
of lengthy claims and permitting pro-
cesses that cause up to 40% of disaster 
victims to relocate leaving vacant lots 
that are not immediately redeveloped.



REPORT TO CITY COUNCIL     City of Nevada City 
          317 Broad Street 
          Nevada City CA 95959 
APRIL 11, 2018        www.nevadacityca.gov 
___________________________________________________________________________ 
 
TITLE:  Award Of Contract For Adams Street And Nile Street Improvements In Nevada 
City  
 
RECOMMENDATION: Pass Resolution 2018-XX Awarding a contract to Simpson & Simpson 
Inc. in the amount of $404,763.00 plus $35,000.00 contingencies for Adams Street and Nile 
Street Improvements in Nevada City and authorize the Mayor to sign. 
 
CONTACT:  Bryan K. McAlister, City Engineer 
 
BACKGROUND/DISCUSSION:   Project Location:   In the City of Nevada City, along Adams 
Street and Nile Street, from the intersection of Long/ Adams to the intersection of Nile/ Nimrod. 
 
Project Scope:   The project consists of new sidewalk on Adams Street and Nile Street with 
connections to sidewalks on adjacent streets.   No sidewalk presently exists in this area.   The 
project provides safe, convenient and efficient pedestrian access to residents and visitors to 
Pioneer Park.   
  
City staff advertised with a public notice to contractors and received five competitive bids on 
March 27th 2018.  Bids received are as follows: 
 

• Simpson & Simpson, Newcastle CA   $  404,763.00 

• Western Engineering,  Loomis CA   $  703,050.00 

• Central Valley Engineering, Roseville CA  $  551,545.00 

• Hansen Bros. Enterprises, Grass Valley CA  $  524,607.00 
 
Simpson & Simpson was selected as the lowest responsive and responsible bidder.  
 
FISCAL CONSIDERATIONS:  The project will be funded by CMAQ and Toll Credit funds for the 
amount of $310,000.  The remainder will be funded with Measure S funds. 
 
ATTACHMENT: 
 Contract for Adams Street and Nile Street Improvements in Nevada City 
 Resolution 2018-XX  

 

http://www.nevadacityca.gov/


 
 
 
 
 CITY OF NEVADA CITY 
 
 NEVADA CITY, CALIFORNIA  95959 
 
 
 
 
 
 CONTRACT DOCUMENTS AND SPECIFICATIONS 
 

FOR 
 
 STREET IMPROVEMENTS  

ADAMS STREET AND NILE STREET 
 

 
IN 

 
 
 NEVADA CITY 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
       BRYAN MCALISTER, P.E., P.L.S. 
       CITY ENGINEER 
       317 BROAD STREET 
       NEVADA CITY, CALIFORNIA  95959 
       (530) 265-2496 



A-1 
 

 
 TABLE OF CONTENTS 
 
 PART A - LEGAL AND PROCEDURAL DOCUMENTS 
                Page No. 
 
 Notice to Contractor's A-3  
 General Requirements A-4 
 Information For Bidders A-5 
 Bid Proposal A-8 
 Bid Schedule A-9 
 List of Subcontractors A-10 
 Agreement  A-20 
 General Conditions A-22 
 
 
 PART B - GENERAL CONDITIONS 
 Index B-2 
  1 Definitions B-6 
  2 Preliminary Matters B-8 
  3 Correlation, Interpretation, and Intent of Contract Documents B-9 
  4 Availability of Lands; Physical Conditions; Reference Points B-10 
  5 Bonds of Insurance B-11 
  6 Contractor's Responsibilities B-14 
  7 Work by Others B-21 
  8 Owner's Responsibilities B-22 
  9 Engineer's Status During Construction B-23 
  10 Changes in the Work B-25 
  11 Change of the Contract Price B-25 
  12 Change of the Contract Time B-29 
  13 Warranty and Guarantee; Tests and Inspections; Correction, 
      Removal or Acceptance of Defective Work B-30 
  14 Payments and Completion B-32 
  15 Suspension of Work and Termination B-37 
  16 Arbitration B-38 
  17 Miscellaneous B-38 
 
 
 SUPPLEMENTARY CONDITIONS 
  1 Standard Codes B-41 
  2 Abbreviations  B-41 
  3 Time of Completion  B-41 
  4 Damages for Avoidable Delay  B-42 
  5 Insurance Requirements B-42 
  6 Indemnity B-42 
  7. General Notes B-43 
  8. Project Specifications B-45 
   9. Prevailing Wages B-49 
  10. Federal-Aid Contract Language B-56 
  



A-2 
 

 
 
 PART A 
 
 LEGAL AND PROCEDURAL DOCUMENTS 
 
 Item 
 Number  Title                                           Page 
 
  1 Notice to Contractors A-3 
 
  2  General Requirements  A-4 
 
  3  Information For Bidders  A-5 
 
  4  Bid Proposal A-8 
 
  5  Bid Schedule A-9 
 
  6  List of Subcontractors A-10 
 
  7  Agreement  A-20 
 
  8  General Conditions A-22



A-3 
 

 
 
 
 
 NOTICE TO CONTRACTOR'S 
 
 
Sealed proposals for STREET IMPROVEMENTS ~ ADAMS STREET AND NILE STREET will be 
received by the City at the City Hall, 317 Broad Street, Nevada City, California, 95959, until 3:00 p.m. on 
March 27, 2018, at which time, or as soon thereafter as practicable, all such proposals will be publicly opened 
and read in the Chambers of the City at said City Hall. 
 
Bids shall be enclosed and sealed in an envelope addressed to the City of Nevada City at the above stated 
address and shall be marked "STREET IMPROVEMENTS ~ ADAMS STREET AND NILE STREET." 
 
The work includes the furnishing of all labor, materials, and equipment required for the job in accordance 
with the plans, specifications and other contract documents as set forth by the City Engineer. Such documents 
are on file with the City at the City Hall and are available for inspection during office hours.  
 
There is a mandatory pre-bid meeting on March 15th, 2018 at 1PM with a site walk beginning at the 
intersection of Nimrod and Adams Street. 
 
The City reserves the right to reject all bids; or to accept any portion of bid schedule; to reject any bid which 
is incomplete or irregular; to determine which proposal is, in its judgment, the lowest responsible bid of a 
responsible bidder and to waive any informality or minor irregularity of any bid. 
 
 
 
DATED:___March 5, 2018______    CITY OF NEVADA CITY 
 
 

  
 
        ______________________________ 
        Bryan McAlister, P.E. 
        City Engineer 
  



A-4 
 

 
 DIVISION I 
 
 GENERAL REQUIREMENTS 
 
 
This specification and accompanying drawings cover the material to be furnished and labor to be performed 
of STREET IMPROVEMENTS ~ ADAMS STREET AND NILE STREET, located in the City of Nevada 
City, State of California and shall consist of all work hereinafter specified and shown on the accompanying 
drawings. 
 
1. General requirements of the specifications: 
 
General requirements hereunder apply to the technical sections of the specifications as applicable whether 
repeated therein or not. 
 
The term "Engineer" will hereinafter mean the office of the City Engineer preparing the drawings and 
specifications, or his authorized representatives.  All correspondence and approvals, shop drawings, 
submittals, etc., called for in the specifications shall be directed to the designer. 
 
All work shall be executed to the entire satisfaction of the Engineer, and shall consist of all work hereinafter 
specified and shown on the accompanying drawings. 
 
Should any contractor be in doubt as to the intent and meaning of the drawings and specifications, he/she 
shall make written inquiry of Engineer regarding the portion or portions of the work in question, from whom 
he/she shall receive a written answer; and if the drawings and specifications are in error or do not fully explain 
the portion or portions of the work in question, the inquiry and answer will be sent to the contractor. 
 
Neither the OWNER, engineer, or his/her representative will be responsible in any manner for any oral 
answers to inquiries or for any oral instruction whatsoever. 



A-5 
 

 INFORMATION FOR BIDDERS 
 
 
1. Inspection of Site 
 
 Each bidder shall inspect the site of the work in order to determine the location of the proposed work 
and the actual conditions of the site.  If in the course of such inspection a bidder finds conditions which appear 
to conflict with the letter or intent of the contract documents, or with any other information furnished him, he 
may apply to the City for additional information or for clarification before submitting his bid. 
 
 The submission of a proposal by the bidder shall constitute an acknowledgment that, if awarded the 
contract, he has relied on his own knowledge of (a) the site of the work, (b) access to the site, (c) availability 
of existing utilities and (d) all other data and matters required for the performance of the contract.  No claim 
for additional compensation will be allowed which is based upon a lack of knowledge of the above matters. 
 
2. Examination of Contract Documents 
 
 Each bidder shall thoroughly examine the plans, specifications, and all other contract documents.  The 
submission of a proposal shall constitute an acknowledgment that the bidder has made such examination, and 
the failure of a bidder to do so shall in no way relieve him from any obligation under the bid or the contract.  
No claim for additional compensation will be allowed which is based upon a lack of knowledge of any 
contract document. 
 
3. Interpretation of Contract Documents; Addenda 
 
 No interpretation of the plans, specifications, or other contract documents will be made orally to any 
bidder.  Oral interpretations or clarifications will be without legal effect.  Each request for such interpretation 
shall be in writing addressed to City Engineer, City of Nevada City, 317 Broad Street, Nevada City, California 
95959, and must be received by him at least five (5) days prior to the date fixed for the opening of bids.  Any 
such interpretations, and any supplemental instructions, will be in the form of written addenda to the 
specifications, which, if issued, will be sent by certified mail, with return receipt requested, to all prospective 
bidders at their addresses furnished for such purposes, not later than three (3) days prior to the date fixed for 
the opening of bids.  Failure of any bidder to receive any such addendum or interpretation shall not relieve 
such bidder from any obligation under his bid as submitted.  All addenda so issued shall become part of the 
contract documents. 
 
4. Proposals 
 
 Proposals shall be made on the Bid Proposal forms supplied herein.  All proposals shall state the prices 
proposed, both in writing and in figures, shall give all other required information and shall be signed by the 
bidder or his authorized representative.  If the proposal is made by an individual, his name, signature, and 
post office address shall be shown; if made by a partnership, the name and post office address of the firm and 
the signature of at least one of the general partners must be shown; if made by a corporation, the proposal 
shall show the name and post office address of the corporation, the state in which the corporation was formed 
and the title of the person signing on behalf of the corporation. 
 
 Each proposal shall be enclosed in a sealed envelope and marked as specified in the notice to 
CONTRACTOR'S.  Any erasures, alterations, omissions, or irregularities of any kind may result in a rejection 
of the bid.  No oral, telephonic, or telegraphic proposals or modifications will be considered. 
 
 



A-6 
 

5. Bid Prices 
 
 Bid prices shall include all costs and expenses necessary for the completion of the contract, including 
but not limited to the furnishing of all labor and services, superintendence, material, tools, equipment, power 
and water, and all federal, state and local taxes.  In the event of a difference between the price quoted in words 
and a price quoted in figures for the same quotation, the words shall be the amount bid. 
 
6. List of Subcontractors 
 
 As required by Section 4104 of the Government Code, each proposal shall include (on a sheet attached 
to the Bid Proposal form) a statement of the names and location of the place of business of each subcontractor 
who will perform work or labor or render service to the prime contractor in or about the construction of the 
work or improvement, or a subcontractor licensed by the State of California who, under subcontract to the 
prime contractor, specifically fabricates and installs a portion of the work of improvement according to 
detailed drawings contained in the plans and specifications, in an amount in excess of one-half of one percent 
of the prime contractor's total bid.  Such statement shall show also the portion of the work which will be done 
by each such subcontractor. 
 
7. Bidder's Security 
 
 No bid bond shall be required for this project. 
 
8. Rejection of Bids 
 
 The City reserves the right to reject all bids; to reject any bid which is incomplete or irregular, or which 
is not accompanied by adequate bid security; to determine which proposal is, in its judgment, the lowest 
responsible bid of a responsible bidder; and to waive any informality or minor irregularity in any bid. 
 
9. Award of Contract 
 
 Within forty-five (45) days after the time announced for the opening bid, the City will act either to 
accept a proposal or to reject all proposals.  The acceptance of a proposal will be made by delivering in person 
or by certified mail to the successful bidder a written notice of award of the contract. 
 
10. Execution of Contract 
 
 Within ten (10) days after receiving the notice of award of the contract, the successful bidder shall 
execute the Agreement, in duplicate, and furnish to the City all bonds and evidences of insurance, in proper 
form, as required by the General Conditions. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



A-7 
 

11.  Forms required for Bid Proposal 
 In accordance with provisions of Federally Funded projects, the contractor shall provide these forms at 
time of bid: 
 

 Signed Bid Proposal 
 Bid Schedule 
 Bidder’s List of Subcontractors (DBE and Non-DBE)  
 Exhibit 15-G Local Agency Bidder DBE Commitment   
 Exhibit 15-H DBE Information - Good Faith Efforts (if DBE Goal not met)  
 EEO Certification  
 Public Contract Code Statements (if any exceptions taken) 
 Noncollusion Affidavit  
 Debarment and Suspension Certification  
 Nonlobbying Certification for Federal-aid Contracts  
 Disclosure of Lobbying Activities  

 
The above listed documents and all Federal and State Labor Code requirements included herein are considered 
part of the Bid Proposal and Contract Agreement. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



























A-20 
  

AGREEMENT 
 
 
 THIS AGREEMENT is made this _______________ day of ______________________, 
between the CITY OF NEVADA CITY, a municipal corporation, hereinafter called "City," and 
___________________________________________, hereinafter called "Contractor." 
 WHEREAS, City has caused to be prepared certain plans, specifications and other contract 
documents pertaining to the STREET IMPROVEMENTS ~ ADAMS STREET AND NILE STREET 
in said City: and 
 WHEREAS, after notice duly given, City has awarded the contract for such work to Contractor; 
 NOW, THEREFORE, IT IS AGREED by and between said parties as follows: 
 
 1. Scope of Work.  The contractor agrees to furnish all labor, materials, tools and equipment, 
required to complete the STREET IMPROVEMENTS in Nevada City, California, in accordance with 
the plans, specifications and other contract documents hereinafter specified. All such work shall be 
performed in a good and workmanlike manner and to the satisfaction of the designer of said project. 
 
 2. Contract Price.  As consideration for all such work, City agrees to pay to Contractor the total 
sum of _____________________________________________ ($________________) Dollars, 
payable in the manner hereinafter set forth. 
 
 3. Contract Documents.  The complete contract between the parties hereto consists of the 
Notice to CONTRACTOR'S, the Information to Bidders, the Bid Proposal, the Performance Bond, 
the Payment Bond, the General Conditions, the Plans and Specifications, and all other drawings and 
printed or written explanatory matter pertaining thereto. All of the foregoing documents are intended 
to cooperate, so that any work or requirement specified in any of them is to be carried out or observed 
the same as if mentioned in all. 
 
 4. Time for Performance.  Within five (5) days after the execution of this Agreement, City 
shall give Contractor written Notice to Proceed, and thereafter Contractor shall commence the work 
and shall prosecute the same with due diligence until completion and acceptance by City; provided, 
however, that all such work shall be completed and ready for use within sixty (60) working days after 
Contractor receives said Notice to Proceed. 
 
 5. Extension of Time.  If, because of adverse weather conditions, strikes, inability of the 
Contractor (through no fault on his/her part) to obtain necessary materials, or other cause beyond the 
reasonable control of Contractor, Contractor is unable to complete the required work within the 
allowed time, he shall be entitled to an extension or extensions of such time, commensurate with the 
unavoidable delay thus caused; provided, however that Contractor shall apply to City for approval of 
any such extension prior to the expiration of the time for performance as specified in the preceding 
paragraph. 
   
 
6. Contractor's Failure to Complete Work.  If Contractor fails to prosecute the work with such 
diligence as will insure its completion within the time hereinabove specified, or any  extension 
thereof, or fails to complete such work within such time, or if Contractor shall otherwise violate this 
Agreement, City may give written notice to Contractor and his sureties of City's intention to terminate 
this Agreement unless, within five (5) days after services of such notice, satisfactory arrangements 
are made with the City for the completion of such work or the curing of such breach; and if such 



A-21 
  

arrangements are not made within such time, City may, at its option, terminate this Agreement by 
giving written notice of such termination to Contractor and his sureties. 
 
 7. Payments to Contractor.  On or before the tenth day of each month during the progress of 
the work, Contractor shall submit to the Designer an itemized statement of all labor and materials 
incorporated into the improvement during the preceding month and the portion of the contract price 
applicable thereto.  Upon the written approval of said statement by the Designer it shall be submitted 
to the City Council at its next regular or adjourned regular meeting, and within seven (7) days after 
approval by the City Council, City shall pay to Contractor a sum equal to ninety (90%) percent of the 
contract price apportionment.  The remaining ten (10%) percent shall be paid to Contractor thirty-five 
(35) days after final acceptance of the work by City. 
 
 8. Indemnification.  Contractor agrees to hold City, and its officers, agents, and employees 
harmless from any and all liability and claims for damages for death and personal injury, and for 
property damage, incident to or arising out of the operations of Contractor or any subcontractor under 
this Agreement, and Contractor further agrees to defend City, and its officers, agents, and employees 
in any and all lawsuits which may be brought for such damages caused, or alleged to have been 
caused, by such operations.  In addition, Contractor agrees to furnish to the City evidences of 
insurance coverage as specified in the General Conditions.  The approval of such insurance by City 
shall not constitute a waiver or limitation of any rights under this indemnity agreement, regardless of 
whether such insurance shall be held to be inapplicable to any such damage or claims therefore. 
 
 
 Executed in duplicate this                     day of                         ,                . 
 
 
ATTEST: CITY OF NEVADA CITY 
   A Municipal Corporation 
 
 
                                         By:          
   Mayor 
 
                  
   (Name of Contractor) 
 
 
   By:          
    (Signature of OWNER or 
     authorized officer) 
  
  



A-22 
  

GENERAL CONDITIONS 
 
1. Inspection of Construction 
 
 The Engineer shall have access to the work and the site of the work at all times and the 
Contractor shall afford such access to the Engineer and shall furnish all relevant information requested 
by him.  At the request of the Engineer the Contractor shall open for inspection any part of the work 
which has been covered up, and if any part of the work has been covered up in contravention of the 
instructions of the Engineer, or if on being opened up, is found not to be in accordance with the terms 
of the contract, the expense of opening and recovering shall be charged to the Contractor.  If the work 
has been covered up but not in contravention of such instructions and is found to be in accordance 
with the terms of the contract, the actual cost of opening and recovering shall be borne by the City, 
and in such case, if the work of opening and recovering is done by the Contractor, it shall be 
considered as extra work and paid for accordingly. 
 
2. Change Orders 
 
 If for any reason it becomes necessary or desirable to change the alignment, dimensions, or 
design of the work, the City shall have the right to issue written change orders therefore.  If the 
Contractor considers that any such change involves extra work, he shall immediately so notify the 
Engineer in writing, and shall make claim for compensation for such work not later than the first day 
of the month following the month in which the work was performed.  If, in the opinion of the Engineer, 
any change order results in a change in the amount of work performed, the contract price shall be 
adjusted for extra work or omitted work, as the case may be. 
 
3. Contractor's Employees and Subcontractors 
 
 The Contractor shall at all times be responsible for the adequacy and efficiency of his employees 
and any subcontractor and the latter's employees.  All workers shall have adequate skill and 
experience to perform properly the work assigned to them. 
 
4. Errors and Omissions 
 
 If the Contractor in the course of the work becomes aware of any error or omission in the 
contract documents, or of any discrepancy between such documents and the physical conditions of 
the work site, he shall immediately inform the Engineer, who shall take such action as he may deem 
necessary in order to rectify the matter.  Any work done after such discovery and without the 
authorization of the Engineer will be at the Contractor's risk. 
 
5. Guaranty of Work 
 
 For a period of one (1) year after final acceptance of the work by the City, the Contractor shall 
make all repairs and replacements arising out of any defective workmanship or materials.  If the 
Contractor fails to make such repairs or replacements within ten (10) days after receiving written 
notice to do so, or within such further time as may be allowed by the City, the City may undertake 
such repairs or replacements, in which case the Contractor shall be liable to the City for the cost 
thereof. 
  



A-23 
  

6. Contractor's Responsibility for Work 
 
 The Contractor shall be responsible for the proper care and protection of the work, and of all 
materials delivered to the work site, until completion of the work and its final acceptance by the City. 
 
7. Performance Bond 
 
A Performance bond shall be required for this project.  This shall be provided at time of contract 
execution by a corporation incorporated under the laws of the State of California and licensed by the 
State to execute bonds and undertakings as sole SURETY.   SURETY shall apply this bond for the 
faithful performance of any and all of the conditions and stipulations set forth in this bond and contract 
documents. In the case of any default in the performance of the conditions and stipulations of this 
undertaking, it is agreed that SURETY will apply the bond or any portion thereof, to the satisfaction 
of any damages, reclamation, assessments, penalties, or deficiencies arising by reason of such default. 
 
8. Payment Bond 
 
 A payment (labor and materials) bond is required for public works contracts involving an 
expenditure in excess of twenty-five thousand dollars ($25,000).   If the contract is in excess of this 
amount the contractor shall provide a payment bond to the City of Nevada City before commencement 
of work.   Cost for the bond shall be included in the contractor bid proposal and no additional 
compensation will be provided.    
A payment bond shall be in an amount not less than 100 percent of the total amount payable pursuant 
to the contract. The bond shall be in the form of a bond and not a deposit in lieu of a bond. The bond 
shall be executed by an admitted surety insurer. 
 
9. Workmen's Compensation Insurance 
 
 The Contractor shall carry workmen's compensation insurance for all employees working on or 
about the site of the work, and if any work is subcontracted, the Contractor shall require each 
subcontractor to carry such insurance for all of the latter's employees, unless they are covered by the 
Contractor's insurance. 
 
10. Public Liability Insurance 
 
 The Contractor shall carry public liability insurance insuring against all liability and claims for 
personal injury, death, and property damage incident to or arising out of the operations of the 
Contractor, or any subcontractor, under the contract, in the following amounts:  $1,000,000.00 for 
personal injury or death of any one person, $1,000,000.00 for any one accident or occurrence; and 
$100,000.00 property damage.  Such insurance shall include, as additional insureds, the City of 
Nevada City, its officers, agents, and employees. 
 
11. Evidence of Insurance:  Non-Cancellation Clause 
 
 The Contractor shall deliver to the City, concurrently with the execution of the contract, 
certificates evidencing all insurance required by the contract, and each such certificate shall include a 
provision to the effect that the policy or policies cannot be canceled or materially modified unless the 
insurer gives the City at least fifteen (15) days written notice thereof prior to such cancellation of 
modification. 



 

B-1 
 

 
 PART B 
 
 GENERAL CONDITIONS 
 
 Article 
 Number  Title                                          Page 
 
  1 Definitions B-6 
 
  2 Preliminary Matters B-8 
 
  3 Correlation, Interpretation and Intent of Contract Documents B-9 
 
  4 Availability of Lands; Physical Conditions; Reference Points B-10 
 
  5 Bonds of Insurance B-11 
 
  6 Contractor's Responsibilities B-14 
 
  7 Work by Others B-21 
 
  8 Owner's Responsibilities B-22 
 
  9 Engineer's Status During Construction B-23 
 
  10 Changes in the Work B-25 
 
  11 Change of the Contract Price B-25 
 
  12 Change of the Contract Time B-29 
 
  13 Warranty and Guarantee; Tests and Inspections; Correction, 
      Removal or Acceptance of Defective Work B-30 
 
  14 Payments and Completion B-32 
 
  15 Suspension of Work and Termination B-37 
 
  16 Arbitration B-38 
 
  17 Miscellaneous B-38 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

B-2 
 

 INDEX TO GENERAL CONDITIONS 
 
   Article or Paragraph 
           Number 
 
 Access to the Work 13.5 
 Addenda--definition of (see definition of Specifications) 1 
 Agreement--definition of 1 
 Agreement, Execution of 2.1 
 Application for Payment--definition of 1 
 Application for Payment, Final 14.12 
 Application for Progress Payment 14.2 
 Approval of Final Payment 14.13, 14.14 
 Approval of Payments--in general 14.4 thru 14.7.5 
 Arbitration 16 
 Availability of Lands 4.1 
 Award--Notice of--defined 1 
 
 Before Starting Construction 2.7 thru 2.9 
 Bid--definition  1 
 Bidder--definition 1 
 Bonds, Additional and Insurance 5.12 
 Bonds and Insurance--in general 5 
 Bonds--definition of 1 
 Bonds, Delivery of 2.2 
 Bonds, Performance and Payment 5.1, 5.2 
 
 Cash Allowances 11.9 
 Change Order--definition of 1 
 Changes in the Work 10 
 Claims, Waiver of 14.16 
 Clarifications and Interpretations 9.3 
 Cleaning 6.29 
 Completion, Payments and 14 
 Completion, Substantial 14.8, 14.9 
 Contract Documents--definition of 1 
 Contract Price, Change of 11 
 Contract Price--definition of 1 
 Contract Time, Change of 12 
 Contract Time--Commencement of 2.5 
 Contract Time--definition of 1 
 Contractor--definition of 1 
 Contractor May Stop Work or Terminate 15.5 
 Contractor, Neglected Work by 13.12 
 Contractor's Continuing Obligation 14.15 
 Contractor's Fee 11.6 
 Contractor's Liability Insurance 5.3 
 Contractor's Pre-Start Representations 2.4 
 Contractor's Responsibilities--in general 6 
 Contractor's Warranty of Title  14.3 
 Copies of Documents  2.3 
 Correction or Removal of Defective Work 13.9 
 Correction Period, One Year 13.10 
 
 Correction, Removal or Acceptance of Defective Work--in general 13 
 Correlation, Interpretation and Intent of Contract Documents 3 
 Cost of Work 11.4, 11.5 
 Costs, Supplemental 11.4.5 
 
 Day--definition of 1 
 Defective Work, Acceptance of 13.11 



 

B-3 
 

 Defective Work, Correction or Removal of 13.9 
 Defective Work--definition of 9.4 
 Defective Work--in general 13 
 Defective Work, Rejecting 9.4 
 Definitions 1 
 Delivery of Bonds 2.2 
 Disagreements, Decisions by Engineer 9.9, 9.10 
 Documents, Copies of 2.3 
 Drawings--definition of 1 
 Drawings, Record 6.19 
 
 Emergencies 6.22 
 Engineer--definition of 1 
 Engineer's Responsibilities, Limitations on 9.11 thru 9.13 
 Engineer's Status During Construction--in general 9 
 Execution of Agreement 2.1 
  
 Fee, Contractor's 11.6 
 Field Order--definition of 1 
 Field Order--issued by Engineer 10.2 
 Final Acceptance for Payment 14.12 
 Final Inspection 14.11 
 Final Payment, Approval of 14.13, 14.14 
 
 General--Miscellaneous Provisions 17.3 thru 17.7 
 Giving Notice 17.1 
 Guarantee 13.1 
 
 Indemnification 6.30 thru 6.32 
 Inspection, Final 14.11 
 Inspection, Tests and 13.2, 13.3 
 Insurance--Additional Bonds and 5.12 
 Insurance, Bonds and--in general 5 
 Insurance--Certificates of  2.9 and 5 
 Insurance, Contractor's Liability 5.3 
 Insurance, OWNER's Liability 5.4 
 Insurance, Property  5.5 thru 5.11 
 Interpretations and Clarifications 9.3 
 
 Labor, Materials and Equipment 6.3 thru 6.6 
 Laws and Regulations 6.15 
 Limitations on Engineer's Responsibilities 9.11 thru 9.13 
 Local Conditions--Contractor's familiarity with 2.4 
 
 Materials and Equipment--furnished by Contractor 6.3 
 Materials or Equipment, Substitute 6.7 
 Miscellaneous Provisions 17 
 Modification--definition of 1 
  
 Neglected Work by Contractor 13.12 
 Notice, Giving of 17.1 
 Notice of Award--definition of 1 
 Notice to Proceed--definition of 1 
 Notice to Proceed--giving of 2.5 
 
 "Or-Equal" Items 6.7 
 OWNER--definition of 1 
 OWNER May Stop Work 13.8 
 OWNER May Suspend Work, Terminate 15.1 thru 15.4 
 OWNER's Liability Insurance 5.4 
 OWNER's Representative--Engineer to serve as 9.1 



 

B-4 
 

 OWNER's Responsibilities--in general 8 
 
 Partial Utilization 14.10 
 Patent Fees and Royalties 6.13 
 Payments and Completion--in general 14 
 Payments, Approval of  14.4 thru 14.7.5 
 Performance, Payment and other Bonds 5.1 thru 5.2 
 Permits  6.14, 6.15 
 Physical Conditions--Surveys and Reports 4.2 
 Physical Conditions, Unforeseen 4.3 
 Preconstruction Conference 2.9 
 Premises, Use of 6.17, 6.18 
 Price--Change of Contract 11 
 Price--Contract--definition of 1 
 Progress Payment, Applications for 14.2 
 Progress Schedule 2.8, 14.1 
 Project--definition of 1 
 Project Representative, Resident--definition of 1 
 Project Representative, Resident--provision of 9.8 
 Project, Starting 2.6 
 Property Insurance 5.5 thru 5.11 
 Protection, Safety and 6.20 thru 6.21 
 
 Record Drawings 6.19 
 Reference Points 4.4 
 Regulations, Laws and 6.15 
 Rejecting Defective Work 9.4 
 Removal or Correction of Defective Work 13.9 
 Resident Project Representative--definition of 1 
 Resident Project Representative--provision of 9.8 
 Responsibilities, Contractor's  6 
 Responsibilities, OWNER's 8 
 Royalties, Patent Fees and 6.13 
 
 Safety and Protection 6.20 thru 6.21 
 Samples 6.23 
 Schedule of Shop Drawings Submissions 2.8, 14.1 
 Schedule of Values 14.1 
 Shop Drawings and Samples 6.23 thru 6.28 
 Shop Drawings--definition of  1 
 Site inspection--by Contractor 2.8 
 Site, Visits to--by Engineer 9.2 
 Specifications--definition of 1 
 Starting Construction, Before 2.7 thru 2.9 
 Stopping Work--by Contractor 15.5 
 Stopping Work--by OWNER 13.8 
 Subcontractor--definition of  1 
 Subcontractors--in general 6.8 thru 6.12 
 Substantial Completion--certification of 14.8 
 Substantial Completion--definition of 1 
 Substitute Materials or Equipment 6.7 
 Subsurface Conditions 4.2, 4.3 
 Supplemental Costs 11.4.5 
 Surety--consent to payment 14.12, 14.14 
 Surety--qualification of  5.1, 5.2 
 Suspending Work, by OWNER 15.1 
 Suspension of Work and Termination--in general 15 
 Superintendent--Contractor's 6.2 
 Supervision and Superintendence 6.1, 6.2 
 
 Taxes 6.16 



 

B-5 
 

 Termination--by Contractor 15.5 
 Termination--by OWNER 15.2 thru 15.4 
 Termination, Suspension of Work and--in general 15 
 Tests and Inspections 13.2, 13.3, 13.7 
 Time, Change of Contract 12 
 Time, Computation of 17.2 
 Time, Contract--definition of 1 
 
 Uncovering Work 13.6, 13.7 
 Use of Premises 6.17, 6.18 
 
 Values, Schedule of 14.1 
 Visits to Site--by Engineer 9.2 
 
 Waiver of Claims 14.16 
 Warranty and Guarantee--by Contractor 13.1 
 Warranty of Title, Contractor's 14.3 
 Work, Access to 13.5 
 Work by Others--in general 7 
 Work, Cost of 11.4 
 Work--definition of 1 
 Work, Neglected by Contractor 13.12 
 Work, Stopping by Contractor 15.5 
 Work, Stopping by OWNER 15.1 thru 15.4 



 

B-6 
 

 GENERAL CONDITIONS 
 
ARTICLE 1 - DEFINITIONS 
                                         
 
 Whenever used in these General Conditions or in the other Contract Documents, the following terms have 
the meanings indicated which are applicable to both the singular and plural thereof: 
 
Agreement -  The written agreement between OWNER and CONTRACTOR covering the Work to be 
performed; other Contract Documents are attached to the Agreement. 
 
Application for Payment - The form furnished by ENGINEER which is to be used by CONTRACTOR in 
requesting progress payments and which is to include the schedule of values required by paragraph 14.1 and 
an affidavit of CONTRACTOR that progress payments therefore received on account of the Work have been 
applied by CONTRACTOR to discharge in full all of CONTRACTOR's obligations reflected in prior 
Applications for Payment. 
 
Bid - The offer or proposal of the Bidder submitting on the prescribed form setting forth the prices for the 
Work to be performed. 
 
Bidder - Any person, firm, or corporation submitting a Bid for the Work. 
 
Bonds - Bid, performance, and payment bonds and other instruments of security, furnished by 
CONTRACTOR and his surety in accordance with the Contract Documents. 
 
Change Order - A written order to CONTRACTOR signed by OWNER authorizing an addition, deletion, or 
revision in the Work, or an adjustment in the Contract Price or the Contract Time issued after execution of 
the Agreement. 
 
Contract Documents - The Agreement, Addenda (whether issued prior to the opening of Bid or the execution 
of the Agreement), Instructions to Bidders.  CONTRACTOR's Bid, the Bonds, the Notice of Award, these 
General Conditions, the Supplementary Conditions, the Specifications, Drawings and Modifications. 
 
Contract Price - The total moneys payable to CONTRACTOR under the Contract Documents. 
 
Contract Time - The number of days stated in the Agreement for the completion of the Work, computed as 
provided in paragraph 17.2. 
 
CONTRACTOR - The person, firm, or corporation with whom OWNER has executed the Agreement. 
 
Day - A calendar day of twenty-four hours measured from midnight to the next midnight. 
 
Drawings - The drawings which show the character and scope of the Work to be performed and which have 
been prepared or approved by ENGINEER and are referred to in the Contract Documents. 
 
ENGINEER - The person, firm or corporation named as such in the Agreement. 
 
Field Order - A written order issued by ENGINEER which clarifies or interprets the Contract Documents in 
accordance with paragraph 9.3 or orders minor changes in the Work in accordance with paragraph 10.2. 
 
Modification - (a) A written amendment of the Contract Documents signed by both parties, (b) a Change 



 

B-7 
 

Order, (c) a written clarification or interpretation issued by ENGINEER in accordance with paragraph 9.3, or 
(d) a written order for a minor change or alteration in the Work issued by ENGINEER pursuant to paragraph 
10.2.  A Modification may only be issued after execution of the Agreement. 
 
Notice of Award - The written notice by OWNER to the apparent successful Bidder stating that upon 
compliance with the conditions precedent to be fulfilled by him within the time specified, OWNER will 
execute and deliver the Agreement to him. 
 
Notice to Proceed - A written notice given by OWNER to CONTRACTOR (with a copy to ENGINEER) 
fixing the date on which the Contract Time will commence to run and on which CONTRACTOR shall start 
to perform his obligations under the Contract Document. 
 
OWNER - A public body or authority, corporation, association, partnership, or individual for whom the Work 
is to be performed. 
 
Project - The entire construction to be performed as provided in the Contract Documents. 
 
Resident Project Representative - The authorized representative of ENGINEER who is assigned to the Project 
site or any part thereof. 
 
Shop Drawings - All drawings, diagrams, illustrations, brochures, schedules, and other data which are 
prepared by CONTRACTOR, a Subcontractor, manufacturer, supplier, or distributor and which illustrate the 
equipment, material, or some portion of the Work. 
 
Specifications - Those portions of the Contract Documents consisting of written technical descriptions of 
materials, equipment, construction systems, standards, and workmanship as applied to the Work.  The 
specifications are customarily organized in 16 divisions in accordance with the Uniform System for 
Construction Specifications endorsed by the Construction Specifications Institute.  [Note: the term "Technical 
Provisions" formerly described what is now referred to as the Specifications.  For uniformity with the usage 
of other professional societies the term "Project Manual" is used to describe the volume formerly referred to 
as "The Specifications."  The Project Manual contains documents concerning bidding requirements which in 
general govern relationships prior to the execution of the Agreement (such as the Invitation to Bid, 
Instructions to Bidders, and Notice of Award) and the other portions of the Contract Documents.] 
 
Subcontractor - An individual, firm, or corporation having a direct contract with CONTRACTOR or with 
any other Subcontractor for the performance of a part of the Work at the site. 
 
Substantial Completion - The date as certified by ENGINEER when the construction of the Project or a 
specified part thereof is sufficiently completed, in accordance with the Contract Documents, so that the 
Project or specified part can be utilized for the purpose for which it was intended: or if there be no such 
certification, the date when final payment is due in accordance with paragraph 14.13. 
 
Work - Any and all obligations, duties and responsibilities necessary to the successful completion of the 
Project assigned to or undertaken by CONTRACTOR under the Contract Documents, including all labor, 
materials, equipment and other incidentals, and the furnishing thereof. 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

B-8 
 

ARTICLE 2 - PRELIMINARY MATTERS 
                                                             
 
Execution of Agreement: 
 
 2.1 At least three counterparts of the Agreement and such other Contract Documents as practicable 
will be executed and delivered by CONTRACTOR to OWNER within fifteen days of the Notice of Award: 
and OWNER will execute and deliver one counterpart to CONTRACTOR within ten days of receipt of the 
executed Agreement from CONTRACTOR.  ENGINEER will identify those portions of the Contract 
Documents not so signed and such identification will be binding on all parties.  OWNER, CONTRACTOR, 
and ENGINEER shall each receive an executed counterpart of the Contract Documents and additional 
conformed copies as required. 
 
Delivery of Bonds: 
 
 2.2 When he delivers the executed Agreement to OWNER, CONTRACTOR shall also deliver to 
OWNER such Bonds as he may be required to furnish in accordance with paragraph 5.1. 
 
Copies of Documents: 
 
 2.3 OWNER shall furnish to CONTRACTOR up to ten copies (unless otherwise provided in the 
Supplementary Conditions) of the Contract Documents as are reasonably necessary for the execution of the 
Work.  Additional copies will be furnished, upon request, at the cost of reproduction. 
 
Contractor's Pre-Start Representations: 
 
 2.4 CONTRACTOR represents that he has familiarized himself with, and assumes full responsibility 
for having familiarized himself with, the nature and extent of the Contract Documents, Work, locality, and 
with all local conditions and federal, state, and local laws, ordinances, rules, and regulations that may in any 
manner affect performance of the Work, and represents that he has correlated his study and observations with 
the requirements of the Contract Documents.  CONTRACTOR also represents that he has studied all surveys 
and investigation reports of subsurface and latent physical conditions referred to in the General Requirements 
(Division 1) of the Specifications and made such additional surveys and investigations as he deems necessary 
for the performance of the Work at the Contract Price in accordance with the requirements of the Contract 
Documents and that he has correlated the results of all such data with the requirements of the Contract 
Documents. 
 
Commencement of Contract Time:  Notice to Proceed: 
 
 2.5 The Contact Time will commence to run on the thirtieth day after the day on which the executed 
Agreement is delivered by OWNER to CONTRACTOR: or if Notice to Proceed is given, on the day indicated 
in the Notice to Proceed; but in no event shall the Contract Time commence to run later than the ninetieth day 
after the day of Bid opening or the thirtieth day after the day on which OWNER delivers the executed 
Agreement to CONTRACTOR.  A Notice to Proceed may be given at any time within thirty days after the 
day on which OWNER delivers the executed Agreement to CONTRACTOR. 
 
Starting the Project: 
 
 2.6 CONTRACTOR shall start to perform his obligations under the Contract Documents on the date 
when the Contract Time commences to run.  No Work shall be done at the site prior to the date on which the 
Contract Time commences to run. 



 

B-9 
 

 
Before Starting Construction: 
 
 2.7 Before undertaking each part of the Work, CONTRACTOR shall carefully study and compare the 
Contract Documents and check and verify pertinent figures shown thereon and all applicable field 
measurements.  He shall at once report in writing to ENGINEER any conflict, error, or discrepancy which he 
may discover, however, he shall not be liable to OWNER or ENGINEER for his failure to discover any 
conflict, error, or discrepancy in the Drawings or Specifications. 
 
 2.8 Within ten days after delivery of the executed Agreement by OWNER to CONTRACTOR, 
CONTRACTOR shall submit to ENGINEER for approval, an estimated progress schedule indicating the 
starting and completion dates of the various stages of the Work, and a preliminary schedule of Shop Drawing 
submissions. 
 
 2.9 Before starting the Work at the site, CONTRACTOR shall furnish OWNER and ENGINEER 
certificates of insurance as required by Article 5.  Within twenty days after delivery of the executed 
Agreement by OWNER to CONTRACTOR, but before starting the Work at the site, a conference will be 
held to review the above schedules to establish procedures for handling Shop Drawings and other submissions 
and for processing Applications for Payment, and to establish a working understanding between the parties 
as to the Project.  Present at the conference will be OWNER or his representative, ENGINEER, Resident 
Project Representatives, CONTRACTOR, and his Superintendent. 
 
 
ARTICLE 3 - CORRELATION, INTERPRETATION, AND INTENT OF 

CONTRACT DOCUMENTS 
                                                                                                     
 
 3.1 It is the intent of the Specifications and Drawings to describe a complete Project to be constructed 
in accordance with the Contract Documents.  The Contract Documents comprise the entire Agreement 
between OWNER and CONTRACTOR.  They may be altered only by a Modification. 
      
     3.2 The Contract Documents are complementary; what is called for by one is as binding as if called 
for by all.  The CONTRACTOR finds a conflict, error, or discrepancy in the Contract Documents, he shall 
call it to ENGINEER's attention in writing at once and before proceeding with the Work affected thereby; 
however, he shall not be liable to OWNER or ENGINEER for his failure to discover any conflict, error, or 
discrepancy in the Specifications or Drawings.  In resolving such conflicts, errors, or discrepancies, the 
documents shall be given precedence in the following order:  Agreement, Modifications, Addenda, 
Supplementary Conditions, Specifications and Drawings.  Figure dimensions on Drawings shall govern over 
scale dimensions, and detailed Drawings shall govern over general Drawings.  Any Work that may reasonably 
be inferred from the Specifications or Drawings as being required to produce the intended result shall be 
supplied whether or not it is specifically called for.  Work, materials, or equipment described in words which 
so applied have a well-known technical or trade meaning shall be deemed to refer to such recognized 
standards. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

B-10 
 

ARTICLE 4 - AVAILABILITY OF LANDS; PHYSICAL CONDITIONS; 
   REFERENCE POINTS 
                                                                                                      
 
Availability of Lands: 
 
 4.1 OWNER shall furnish, as indicated in the Contract Documents and not later than the date when 
needed by CONTRACTOR, the lands upon which the Work is to be done, rights-of-way thereto, and such 
other lands which are designated for the use of CONTRACTOR.  Easements for permanent structures or 
permanent changes in existing facilities will be obtained and paid for by OWNER, unless otherwise specified 
in the Contract Documents.  If CONTRACTOR believes that any delay in OWNER's furnishing these lands 
or easements entitles him to an extension of the Contract Time, he may make a claim therefore as provided 
in Article 12.  CONTRACTOR shall provide for all additional lands and access thereto that may be required 
for temporary construction facilities or storage of materials and equipment. 
 
Physical Conditions - Surveys and Reports: 
 
 4.2 Reference is made to the General Requirements (Division 1) of the Specifications for 
identification of those surveys and investigation reports of subsurface and latent physical conditions at the 
Project site or otherwise affecting performance of the Work which have been relied upon by ENGINEER in 
preparation of the Drawings and Specifications. 
 
Unforeseen Physical Conditions: 
 
 4.3 CONTRACTOR shall promptly notify OWNER and ENGINEER in writing of any subsurface or 
latent physical conditions at the site differing materially from those indicated in the Contract Documents.  
ENGINEER will promptly investigate those conditions and advise OWNER in writing if further surveys or 
subsurface tests are necessary.  Promptly thereafter, OWNER shall obtain the necessary additional surveys 
and tests and furnish copies to ENGINEER and CONTRACTOR.  If ENGINEER finds that the results of 
such surveys or tests indicate that there are subsurface or latent physical conditions which differ materially 
from those intended in the Contract Documents, and which could not reasonably have been anticipated by 
CONTRACTOR, a Change Order shall be issued incorporating the necessary revisions. 
 
Reference Points: 
 
 4.4 OWNER shall provide engineering surveys for construction to establish reference points which in 
his judgment are necessary to enable CONTRACTOR to proceed with the Work.  CONTRACTOR shall be 
responsible for surveying and laying out the Work (unless otherwise provided in the Supplementary 
Conditions), and shall protect and preserve the established reference points and shall make no changes or 
relocations without the prior written approval of OWNER.  He shall report to ENGINEER whenever any 
reference point is lost or destroyed or requires relocation because of necessary changes in grades or locations.  
CONTRACTOR shall replace and accurately relocate all reference points so lost, destroyed, or moved. 
 
 
  



 

B-11 
 

ARTICLE 5 - BONDS AND INSURANCE 
                                                           
 
Performance, Payment, and Other Bonds: 
 
 5.1 CONTRACTOR shall furnish performance and payment Bonds as security for the faithful 
performance and payment of all his obligations under the Contract Documents.  These Bonds shall be in 
amounts at least equal to the Contract Price, and (except as otherwise provided in the Supplementary 
Conditions) in such form and with such sureties as are licensed to conduct business in the state where the 
Project is located and are named in the current list of "Surety Companies Acceptable on Federal Bonds" as 
published in the Federal Register by the Audit Staff Bureau of Accounts, U.S. Treasury Department. 
 
 5.2 If the surety on any Bond furnished by CONTRACTOR is declared a bankrupt or becomes 
insolvent or its right to do business is terminated in any state where any part of the Project is located is 
revoked, CONTRACTOR shall within five days thereafter substitute another Bond and surety, both of which 
shall be acceptable to OWNER. 
 
Contractor's Liability Insurance: 
 

5.3 CONTRACTOR shall purchase and maintain such insurance as will protect him from  
claims under workman's compensation laws, disability benefit laws, or other similar employee benefit laws; 
from claims for damages because of bodily injury, occupational sickness or disease, or death of his 
employees, and claims insured by usual personal injury liability coverage; and from claims for injury to or 
destruction of tangible property, including loss of use resulting therefrom – any or all of which may arise out 
of or result from CONTRACTOR's operations under the Contract Documents, whether such operations be 
by himself or by any Subcontractor or anyone directly or indirectly employed by any of them or for whose 
acts any of them may be legally liable.  This insurance shall include the specific coverages and be written for 
not less than any limits of liability and maximum deductibles specified in the Supplementary Conditions or 
General Requirements (Division 1) or required by law, whichever is greater, shall include parties.  Before 
starting Work, CONTRACTOR shall file with OWNER and ENGINEER certificates of such insurance, 
acceptable to OWNER; these certificates shall contain a provision that the coverage afforded under the 
policies will not be cancelled or materially changed until at least fifteen days prior written notice has been 
given to OWNER and ENGINEER. 
 
Any deductibles or self-insured retentions must be declared to and approved by the OWNER.  At the option 
of the OWNER, either: the insurer shall reduce or eliminate such deductibles or self-insured retentions as 
respects the OWNER, its officers, officials, employees and volunteers; or the CONTRACTOR shall provide 
a financial guarantee satisfactory to the OWNER guaranteeing payment of losses and related investigations, 
claim administration and defense expenses. 
 
The general liability and automobile liability policies are to contain, or be endorsed to contain, the following 
provisions: 
 
1. The ENGINEER and the OWNER, its officers, officials, employees, and volunteers are to be covered as 

insureds with respect to liablity arising out of automobiles owned, leased, hired or borrowed by or on 
behalf of the CONTRACTOR; and with respect to liability arising out of work or operations performed 
by or on behalf of the CONTRACTOR including materials, parts or equipment furnished in connection 
with such work or operations.  General liability coverage can be provided in the form of an endorsement 
to the CONTRACTOR's insurance. 

 
2. For any claims related to this project, the CONTRACTOR's insurance coverage shall be primary insurance 



 

B-12 
 

as respects the ENGINEER and the OWNER, its officers, officials, employees, and volunteers.  Any 
insurance or self-insurance maintained by the ENGINEER and the OWNER, its officers, officials, 
employees, or volunteers shall be excess of the CONTRACTOR's insurance and shall not contribute with 
it. 

 
3. Each insurance policy required by this clause shall be endorsed to state that coverage shall be cancelled 

by either party, except after fifteen (15) days prior written notice by certified mail, return receipt 
requested, has been given to the OWNER and the ENGINEER. 

 
4. Coverage shall not extend to any indemnity coverage for the active negligence of the additional insured 

in any case where an agreement to indemnify the additional insured would be invalid under Subdivision 
(b) of Section 2782 of the Civil Code. 

 
Insurance is to be placed with a current A.M. Best's rating of no less than A:VII. 
 
CONTRACTOR shall furnish the OWNER with original certificates and amendatory endorsements effecting 
coverage required by this clause.  The endorsements should be on forms provided by the OWNER or on other 
than the OWNER's forms, provided those endorsements or policies conform to the requirements.  All 
certificates and endorsements are to be received and approved by the OWNER before work commences.  The 
OWNER reserved the right to require complete, certified copies of all required insurance policies, including 
endorsements effecting the coverage required by these specifications at any time. 
 
CONTRACTOR shall include all Subcontractors as insureds under its policies or shall furnish separate 
certificates and endorsements for each Subcontractor.  All coverages for Subcontractors shall be subject to 
all of the requirements stated herein. 
 
OWNER's Liability Insurance: 
 
 5.4 OWNER shall be responsible for purchasing and maintaining his own liability insurance and, at 
his option, may purchase and maintain such insurance as will protect him against claims which may arise 
from operations under the Contract Documents. 
 
Property Insurance: 
 
 5.5 Unless otherwise provided, OWNER shall purchase and maintain property insurance upon the 
Project to the full insurable value hereof.  This insurance shall include the interests of OWNER, 
CONTRACTOR, and Subcontractors in the Work, shall insure against the perils of Fire, Extended Coverage, 
Vandalism, and Malicious Mischief, and such other perils as may be specified in the Supplementary 
Conditions or General Requirements (Division 1), and shall include damages, losses, and expenses arising 
out of or resulting from any insured loss or incurred in the repair or replacement of any insured property 
(including fees and charges of engineers, architects, attorneys, and other professionals). 
 
 5.6 OWNER shall purchase and maintain such steam boiler and machinery insurance as may be 
required by the Supplementary Conditions or by law.  This insurance shall include the interests of OWNER, 
CONTRACTOR, and Subcontractors in the Work. 
 
 5.7 Any insured loss under the policies of insurance required by paragraphs 5.5 and 5.6 is to be 
adjusted with OWNER and made payable to OWNER as trustee for the insureds, as their interests may appear, 
subject to the requirements of any applicable mortgage clause and of paragraph 5.11. 
 
 5.8 OWNER shall file a copy of all policies with CONTRACTOR before an exposure to loss may 



 

B-13 
 

occur.  If OWNER does not intend to purchase such insurance, he shall inform CONTRACTOR in writing 
prior to commencement of the Work.  CONTRACTOR may then effect insurance which will protect the 
interests of himself and his Subcontractors in the Work, and by appropriate Change Order the cost thereof 
shall be charged to OWNER.  If CONTRACTOR is damaged by failure of OWNER to purchase or maintain 
such insurance and so to notify CONTRACTOR, then OWNER shall bear reasonable costs properly 
attributable thereto. 
 
 5.9 If CONTRACTOR requests in writing that other special insurance be included in the property 
insurance policy, OWNER shall, if possible, include such insurance and the cost thereof shall be charged to 
CONTRACTOR by appropriate Change Order. 
 
 5.10 OWNER and CONTRACTOR waive all rights against each other for damages caused by fire or 
other perils to the extent covered by insurance provided under paragraphs 5.5 through 5.11, inclusive, except 
such rights as they may have to the proceeds of such insurance held by OWNER as trustee.  CONTRACTOR 
shall require similar waivers by Subcontractors in accordance with paragraph 6.12. 
 
  
 5.11 OWNER as trustee shall have power to adjust and settle any loss with the insurers unless one of 
the parties in interest shall object in writing within five days after the occurrence of loss to OWNER's exercise 
of this power, and if such objection be made, arbitrators shall be chosen as provided in Article 16.  OWNER 
as trustee shall, in that case, make settlement with the insurers in accordance with the directions of such 
arbitrators.  If distribution of the insurance proceeds by arbitration is required, the arbitrators will direct such 
distribution. 
 
Additional Bonds and Insurance: 
 
 5.12 Prior to delivery of the executed Agreement by OWNER to CONTRACTOR, OWNER may 
require CONTRACTOR to furnish such other Bonds and such additional insurance, in such form and with 
such sureties or insurers as OWNER may require.  If such other Bonds or such other insurance are specified 
by written instructions given prior to opening of Bids, the premiums shall be paid by CONTRACTOR; if 
subsequent thereto, they shall be paid by OWNER (except as otherwise provided in paragraph 6.7). 
 
 
  



 

B-14 
 

ARTICLE 6 - CONTRACTOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES 
      
 
Supervision and Superintendence: 
 
 6.1 CONTRACTOR shall supervise and direct the Work efficiently and with his best skill and 
attention.  He shall be solely responsible for the means, methods, techniques, sequences, and procedures of 
construction, but he shall not be solely responsible for the negligence of others in the design or selection of a 
specific means, method, technique, sequence, or procedure of construction which is indicated in and required 
by the Contract Documents.  CONTRACTOR shall be responsible to see that the finished Work complies 
accurately with the Contract Documents. 
 
 6.2 CONTRACTOR shall keep on the Work at all times during its progress a competent resident 
superintendent, who shall not be replaced without written notice to OWNER and ENGINEER except under 
extraordinary circumstances.  The superintendent will be CONTRACTOR's representative at the site and 
shall have authority to act on behalf of CONTRACTOR.  All communications given to the superintendent 
shall be as binding as if given to CONTRACTOR. 
 
Labor, Materials, and Equipment: 
 
 6.3 CONTRACTOR shall provide competent, suitably qualified personnel to survey and lay out the 
Work and perform personnel to survey and lay out the Work and perform construction as required by the 
Contact Documents.  He shall at all times maintain good discipline and order at the site. 
 
 6.4 CONTRACTOR shall furnish all materials, equipment, labor, transportation, construction 
equipment, and machinery, tools, appliances, fuel, power, light, heat, telephone, water, and sanitary facilities 
and all other facilities and incidentals necessary for the execution, testing, initial operation, and completion 
of the Work. 
 
 6.5 All materials and equipment shall be new, except as otherwise provided in the Contract 
Documents.  If required by ENGINEER, CONTRACTOR shall furnish satisfactory evidence as to the kind 
and quality of materials and equipment. 
 
 6.6 All materials and equipment shall be applied, installed, connected, erected, used, cleaned, and 
conditioned in accordance with the instructions of the applicable manufacturer, fabricator, or processors, 
except as otherwise provided in the Contract Documents. 
 
Substitute Materials or Equipment: 
 
 7.1 If the General Requirements (Division 1 of the Specifications), law, ordinance, or applicable rules 
or regulations permit CONTRACTOR to furnish or use a substitute that is equal to any material or equipment 
specified, and if CONTRACTOR wishes to furnish or use a proposed substitute, he shall, prior to the 
conference called for by paragraph 2.9 (unless another time is provided in the General Requirements), make 
written application to ENGINEER for approval of such substitute certifying in writing that the proposed 
substitute will perform adequately the functions called for by the general design, be similar and of equal 
substance to that specified and be suited to the same use and capable of performing the same function as that 
specified; stating whether or not its incorporation in or use in connection with the Project is subject to the 
payment of any license fee or royalty; and identifying all variations of the proposed substitute from that 
specified and indicating available maintenance service.  No substitute shall be ordered or installed without 
the written approval of ENGINEER who will be the judge of equality and may require CONTRACTOR to 
furnish such other data about the proposed substitute as he considers pertinent.  No substitute shall be ordered 



 

B-15 
 

or installed without such performance guarantee and bonds as OWNER may require which shall be furnished 
at CONTRACTOR's expense. 
 
Concerning Subcontractors: 
 
 6.8 CONTRACTOR shall not employ any Subcontractor or other person or organization (including 
those who are to furnish the principal items of materials or equipment), whether initially or as a substitute, 
against whom OWNER or ENGINEER may have reasonable objection.  A Subcontractor or other person or 
organization identified in writing to OWNER and ENGINEER by CONTRACTOR prior to the Notice of 
Award and not objected to in writing by OWNER or ENGINEER prior to the Notice of Award will be deemed 
acceptable to OWNER and ENGINEER.  Acceptance of any Subcontractor, other person or organization by 
OWNER or ENGINEER shall not constitute a waiver of any right of OWNER or ENGINEER to reject 
defective Work or Work not in conformance with the Contract Documents.  If OWNER or ENGINEER after 
due investigation has reasonable objection to any Subcontractor, other person or organization proposed by 
CONTRACTOR after the Notice of Award.  CONTRACTOR shall submit an acceptable substitute and the 
Contract Price shall be increased or decreased by the difference in cost occasioned by such substitution, and 
an appropriate Change Order shall be issued.  CONTRACTOR shall not be required to employ any 
Subcontractor, other person or organization against whom he has reasonable objection.  CONTRACTOR 
shall not without the consent of OWNER and ENGINEER make any substitution for any Contractor, other 
person or organization who has been accepted by OWNER and ENGINEER unless ENGINEER determines 
that there is good cause for doing so. 
 
 6.9 CONTRACTOR shall be fully responsible for all acts and omissions of his Subcontractors and of 
persons and organizations directly or indirectly employed by them and of persons and organizations for whose 
acts any of them may be liable to the same extent that he is responsible for the acts and omissions of persons 
directly employed by him.  Nothing in the Contract Documents shall create any contractual relationship 
between OWNER or ENGINEER and any Subcontractor or other person or organization having a direct 
contract with CONTRACTOR, nor shall it create any obligation on the part of OWNER or ENGINEER or 
pay or to see to the payment of any moneys due any Subcontractor or other person or organization, except as 
may otherwise be required by law.  OWNER or ENGINEER may furnish to any Subcontractor or other 
person or organization, to the extent practicable, evidence of amounts paid to CONTRACTOR on account of 
specific Work done in accordance with the schedule of values. 
 
 6.10 The divisions and sections of the Specifications and the identifications of any Drawings shall not 
control CONTRACTOR in dividing the Work among Subcontractors or delineating the Work to be 
performed by any specific trade. 
 
 6.11 CONTRACTOR agrees to bind specifically every Subcontractor to the applicable terms and 
conditions of the Contract Documents for the benefit of OWNER. 
 
 6.12 All Work performed for CONTRACTOR by a Subcontractor shall be pursuant to an appropriate 
agreement between CONTRACTOR and the Subcontractor which shall contain provisions that waive all 
rights the contracting parties may have against one another for damages caused by fire or other perils covered 
by insurance provided in accordance with paragraphs 5.5 through 5.11, inclusive, except such rights as they 
may have to the proceeds of such insurance held by OWNER as trustee under paragraph 5.9.  
CONTRACTOR shall pay each Subcontractor a just share of any insurance moneys received by 
CONTRACTOR under paragraph 5.5 through 5.11, inclusive. 
 
Patent Fees and Royalties: 
 
 6.13 CONTRACTOR shall pay all license fees and royalties and assume all costs incident to the use in 



 

B-16 
 

the performance of the Work of an invention, design, process, product, or device which is the subject of patent 
rights or copyrights held by others.  If a particular invention, design, process, product, or device is specified 
in the Contract Documents for use in the performance of the Work and if to the actual knowledge of OWNER 
or ENGINEER its use is subject to patent rights or copyrights calling for the payment of any license fee or 
royalty to others, the existence of such rights shall be disclosed by OWNER in the Contract Documents.  
CONTRACTOR shall indemnify and hold harmless OWNER and ENGINEER and anyone directly or 
indirectly employed by either of them from and against all claims, damages, losses, and expenses (including 
attorneys' fees) arising out of any infringement of patent rights or copyrights incident to the use in the 
performance of the Work or resulting from the incorporation in the Work of any invention, design, process, 
product, or device not specified in the Contract Documents, and shall defend all such claims in connection 
with any alleged infringement of such rights. 
 
 
Permits: 
 
 6.14 CONTRACTOR shall obtain and pay for all construction permits and licenses and shall pay all 
governmental charges and inspection fees necessary for the prosecution of the Work, which are applicable at 
the time of his Bid.  OWNER shall assist CONTRACTOR, when necessary, in obtaining such permits and 
licenses.  CONTRACTOR shall also pay all public utility charges. 



 

B-17 
 

Laws and Regulations: 
 
 6.15 CONTRACTOR shall give all notices and comply with all laws, ordinances, rules, and regulations 
applicable to the Work.  If CONTRACTOR observes that the Specifications and Drawings are at variance 
therewith, he shall give ENGINEER prompt written notice thereof, and any necessary changes shall be 
adjusted by an appropriate Modification.  If CONTRACTOR performs any Work knowing it to be contrary 
to such laws, ordinances, rules, and regulations, and without such notice to ENGINEER, he shall bear all 
costs arising therefrom; however, it shall not be his primary responsibility to make certain that the 
Specifications and Drawings are in accordance with such laws, ordinances, rules, and regulations. 
 
Taxes: 
 
 6.16 CONTRACTOR shall pay all sales, consumer, use, and other similar taxes required to be paid by 
him in accordance with the law of the place where the Work is to be performed. 
 
Use of Premises: 
 
 6.17 CONTRACTOR shall confine his equipment, the storage of materials and equipment, and the 
operations of his workmen to areas permitted by law, ordinances, permits, or the requirements of the Contract 
Documents, and shall not unreasonably encumber the premises with materials or equipment. 
 
 6.18 CONTRACTOR shall not load nor permit any part of any structure to be loaded with weights that 
will endanger the structure, nor shall he subject any part of the Work to stresses or pressures that will endanger 
it. 
 
Record Drawings: 
 
 6.19 CONTRACTOR shall keep one record copy of all Specifications, Drawings, Addenda, 
Modifications, and Shop Drawings at the site in good order and annotated to show changes made during the 
construction process.  These shall be available to ENGINEER and shall be delivered to him for OWNER 
upon completion of the Project.  [Note:  Further provisions in respect of such record drawings may be 
included in the General Requirements (Division 1).] 
 
Safety and Protection: 
 
 6.20 CONTRACTOR shall be responsible for initiating, maintaining, and supervising all safety 
precautions and programs in connection with the Work.  He shall take all necessary precautions for the safety 
of, and shall provide the necessary protection to prevent damage, injury, or loss to: 
 
  6.20.1   all employees on the Work and other persons who may be affected thereby, 
 
  6.20.2   all the Work and all materials or equipment to be incorporated therein, whether in storage 

on or off the site and 



 

B-18 
 

  6.20.3   other property at the site or adjacent thereto, including trees, shrubs, lawns, walks, 
pavements, roadways, structures, and utilities not designated for removal, relocation, or replacement in 
the course of construction. 

 
CONTRACTOR shall comply with all applicable laws, ordinances, rules, regulations, and orders of any 
public body having jurisdiction for the safety of persons or property or to protect them from damage, injury, 
or loss.  He shall erect and maintain, as required by the conditions and progress of the Work, all necessary 
safeguards for its safety and protection.  He shall notify OWNERs of adjacent utilities when prosecution of 
the Work may affect them.  All damage, injury, or loss to any property referred to in paragraph 6.20.2 or 
6.20.3 caused, directly or indirectly, in whole or in part, by CONTRACTOR, any Subcontractor or anyone 
directly or indirectly employed by any of them or anyone for whose acts any of them may be liable, shall be 
remedied by CONTRACTOR: except damage or loss attributable to the fault of Drawings or Specifications 
or to the acts or omissions of OWNER or ENGINEER or anyone employed by either of them or anyone for 
whose acts either of them may be liable, and not attributable, directly or indirectly, in whole or in part, to the 
fault or negligence of CONTRACTOR.  CONTRACTOR's duties and responsibilities for the safety and 
protection of the Work shall continue until such time as all the Work is completed and ENGINEER has issued 
a notice to OWNER and CONTRACTOR in accordance with paragraph 14.13 that Work is acceptable 
 
 6.21 CONTRACTOR shall designate a responsible member of his organization at the site whose duty 
shall be the prevention of accidents.  This person shall be CONTRACTOR's superintendent unless otherwise 
designated in writing by CONTRACTOR to OWNER. 
 
Emergencies: 
 
 6.22 In emergencies affecting the safety of persons or the Work or property at the site or adjacent 
thereto, CONTRACTOR, without special instruction or authorization from ENGINEER or OWNER, is 
obligated to act, at his discretion, to prevent threatened damage, injury, or loss.  He shall give ENGINEER 
prompt written notice of any significant changes in the Work or deviations from the Contract Documents 
caused thereby, and a Change Order shall thereupon be issued covering the changes and deviations involved.  
If CONTRACTOR believes that additional work done by him in any emergency which arose from causes 
beyond his control entitles him to an increase in the Contract Price or an extension of the Contract Time, he 
may make a claim therefore as provided in Articles 11 and 12. 
 
Shop Drawings and Samples: 
 
 6.23 After checking and verifying all field measurements.  CONTRACTOR shall submit to 
ENGINEER for approval, in accordance with the accepted schedule of Shop Drawing submissions (see 
paragraph 2.8) five copies (or at ENGINEER's option, one reproducible copy) of all Shop Drawings, which 
shall have been checked by and stamped with the approval of CONTRACTOR and identified as ENGINEER 
may require.  The data shown on the Shop Drawings will be complete with respect to dimensions, design 
criteria, materials of construction, and the like to enable ENGINEER to review the information as required. 
 
  
6.24 CONTRACTOR shall also submit to ENGINEER for approval with such promptness as to cause 
no delay in Work, all samples required by the Contract Documents.  All samples will have been checked by 
and stamped with the approval of CONTRACTOR, identified clearly as to material, manufacturer, any 
pertinent catalog numbers and the use for which intended. 
 
 6.25 At the time of submission, CONTRACTOR shall in writing call ENGINEER's attention to any 
deviations that the Shop Drawing or sample may have from the requirements of the Contract Documents. 
 



 

B-19 
 

 6.26 ENGINEER will review and approve with reasonable promptness Shop Drawings and samples, 
but his review and approval shall be only for conformance with the design concept of the Project and for 
compliance with the information given in the Contract Documents.  The approval of a separate item as such 
will not indicate approval of the assembly in which the item functions.  CONTRACTOR shall make any 
corrections required by ENGINEER and shall return the required number of corrected copies of Shop 
Drawings and resubmit new samples until approved.  CONTRACTOR shall direct specific attention in 
writing or on resubmitted Shop Drawings to revisions other than the corrections called for by ENGINEER 
on previous submissions.  CONTRACTOR's stamp of approval on any Shop Drawing or sample shall 
constitute a representation to OWNER and ENGINEER that CONTRACTOR has either determined and 
verified all quantities, dimensions, field construction criteria, materials, catalog numbers, and similar data or 
he assumes full responsibility for doing so, and that he has reviewed or coordinated each Shop Drawing or 
sample with the requirements of the Work and the Contract Documents. 
 
 6.27 Where a Shop Drawing or sample submission is required by the Specifications, no related Work 
shall be commenced until the submission has been approved by ENGINEER.  A copy of each approved Shop 
Drawing and each approved sample shall be kept in good order by CONTRACTOR at the site and shall be 
available to ENGINEER. 
 
 6.28 ENGINEER's approval of Shop Drawings or samples shall not relieve CONTRACTOR from his 
responsibility for any deviations from the requirements of the Contract Documents unless CONTRACTOR 
has in writing called ENGINEER's attention to such deviation at the time of submission and ENGINEER has 
given written approval to the specific deviation, nor shall any approval by ENGINEER relieve 
CONTRACTOR from responsibility for errors or omissions in the Shop Drawings. 
 
[Note:  Further provisions in respect to Shop Drawings and samples may be included in the General 
Requirements (Division 1).] 
 
Cleaning: 
 
 6.29 CONTRACTOR shall keep the premises free from accumulations of waste materials, rubbish, and 
other debris resulting from the Work, and at the completion of the Work he shall remove all waste materials, 
rubbish, and debris from and about the premises as well as all tools, construction equipment and machinery, 
and surplus materials, and shall leave the site clean and ready for occupancy by OWNER.  CONTRACTOR 
shall restore to their original condition those portions of the site not designated for alteration by the Contract 
Documents.  [Note:  Further provisions in respect to cleaning may be included in the General Requirements 
(Division 1).] 



 

B-20 
 

Indemnification: 
 
 6.30 CONTRACTOR shall indemnify and hold harmless OWNER and ENGINEER and their agents 
and employees from and against all claims, damages, losses, and expenses including attorneys' fees arising 
out of or resulting from the performance of the Work, provided that any such claim, damage, loss, or expense 
(a) is attributable to bodily injury, sickness, disease or death, or to injury to or destruction of tangible property 
(other than the Work itself) including the loss of use resulting therefrom and (b) is caused in whole or in part 
by any negligent act or omission of CONTRACTOR, any Subcontractor, anyone directly or indirectly 
employed by any of them or anyone for whose acts any of them may be liable, regardless of whether or not 
it is caused in part by a party indemnified hereunder. 
 
 6.31 In any and all claims against OWNER or ENGINEER or any of their agents or employees by an 
employee of CONTRACTOR, any Subcontractor, anyone directly or indirectly employed by any of them or 
anyone for whose acts any of them may be liable, the indemnification obligation under paragraph 6.30 shall 
not be limited in any way by any limitation on the amount or type of damages, compensation, or benefits 
payable by or for CONTRACTOR or any Subcontractor under workmen's compensation acts, disability 
benefit acts or other employee benefit acts. 
 
 6.32 The obligations of CONTRACTOR under paragraph 6.30 shall not extend to the liability of 
ENGINEER, his agents, or employees arising out of (a) the preparation or approval of maps, drawings, 
opinions, reports, surveys, Change Orders, designs or specifications or (b) the giving of or the failure to give 
directions or instructions by ENGINEER, his agents, or employees provided such giving or failure to give is 
the primary cause of injury or damage. 
 
 
  



 

B-21 
 

ARTICLE 7 - WORK BY OTHERS 
                                                  
 
 7.1 OWNER may perform additional work related to the Project by himself, or he may let other direct 
contracts therefore which shall contain General Conditions similar to these.  CONTRACTOR shall afford the 
other CONTRACTOR'S who are parties to such direct contracts (or OWNER, if he is performing the 
additional work himself), reasonable opportunity for the introduction and storage of materials and equipment 
and the execution of work, and shall properly connect and coordinate his Work with theirs. 
 
 7.2 If any part of CONTRACTOR's Work depends for proper execution or results upon the work of 
any such other contractor (or OWNER), CONTRACTOR shall inspect and promptly report to ENGINEER 
in writing any defects or deficiencies in such work that render it unsuitable for such proper execution and 
results.  His failure so to report shall constitute an acceptance of the other work as fit and proper for the 
relationship of his Work except as to defects and deficiencies which may appear in the other work after the 
execution of his Work. 
 
 7.3 CONTRACTOR shall do all cutting, fitting, and patching of his Work that may be required to 
make its several parts come together properly and fit it to receive or be received by such other work.  
CONTRACTOR shall not endanger any work by others by cutting, excavating, or otherwise altering their 
work and will only cut or alter their work with the written consent of ENGINEER and of the other 
CONTRACTOR'S whose work will be affected. 
 
 7.4 If the performance of additional work by other CONTRACTOR'S or OWNER is not noted in the 
Contract Documents prior to the execution of the contract, written notice thereof shall be given to 
CONTRACTOR prior to starting any such additional work.  If CONTRACTOR believes that the 
performance of such additional work by OWNER or others involves him in additional expenses or entitles 
him to an extension of the Contract Time, he may make a claim therefore as provided in Articles 11 and 12. 
 
 
ARTICLE 8 - OWNER'S RESPONSIBILITIES 
                                                            
 
 8.1 OWNER shall issue all communications to CONTRACTOR through ENGINEER. 
 
 8.2 In case of termination of the employment of ENGINEER, OWNER shall appoint an engineer 
against whom CONTRACTOR makes no reasonable objections, whose status under the Contract Documents 
shall be that of the former ENGINEER.  Any dispute in connection with such appointment shall be subject 
to arbitration. 
 
 8.3 OWNER shall furnish the data required of him under the Contract Documents promptly and shall 
make payments to CONTRACTOR promptly after they are due as provided in paragraph 14.4 and 14.13. 
 
 8.4 OWNER's duties in respect to providing lands and easements and providing engineering surveys 
to establish reference points are set forth in paragraphs 4.1 and 4.4.  Paragraph 4.2 refers to OWNER's 
identifying and making available to CONTRACTOR copies of surveys and investigation reports of 
subsurface and latent physical conditions at the site or otherwise affecting performance of the Work which 
have been relied upon by ENGINEER in preparing the Drawings and Specifications. 
 
 8.5 OWNER's responsibilities in respect of liability and property insurance are set forth in paragraph 
5.4 and 5.5. 
 



 

B-22 
 

 8.6 In addition to his rights to request changes in the Work in accordance with Article 10, OWNER 
(especially in certain instances as provided in paragraph 10.4) shall be obligated to execute Change Orders. 
 
 8.7 OWNER's responsibility in respect of certain inspections, tests, and approvals is set forth in 
paragraph 13.2. 
 
 8.8 In connection with OWNER's right to stop Work or suspend Work, see paragraphs 13.8 and 15.1.  
Paragraph 15.2 deals with the OWNER's right to terminate services of CONTRACTOR under certain 
circumstances. 



 

B-23 
 

ARTICLE 9 - ENGINEER'S STATUS DURING CONSTRUCTION 
                                                                                             
 
OWNER's Representative: 
 
 9.1 ENGINEER will be OWNER's representative during the construction period.  The duties and 
responsibilities and the limitations of authority of ENGINEER as OWNER's representative during 
construction are set forth in Articles 1 through 17 of these General Conditions and shall not be extended 
without written consent of OWNER and ENGINEER. 
 
Visits to Site: 
 
 9.2 ENGINEER will make periodic visits to the site to observe the progress and quality of the executed 
Work and to determine, in general, if the Work is proceeding in accordance with the Contract Documents.  
He will not be required to make exhaustive or continuous on-site inspections to check the quality or quantity 
of the Work.  His efforts will be directed toward providing assurance for OWNER that the completed Project 
will conform to the requirements of the Contract Documents.  On the basis of his on-site observations as an 
experienced and qualified design professional, he will keep OWNER informed of the progress of the Work 
and will endeavor to guard OWNER against defects and deficiencies in the Work of CONTRACTOR'S. 
 
Clarifications and Interpretations: 
 
 9.3 ENGINEER will issue with reasonable promptness such written clarifications or interpretations 
of the Contract Documents (in the form of Drawings or otherwise) as he may determine necessary, which 
shall be consistent with or reasonably inferable from the overall intent of the Contract Documents.  If 
CONTRACTOR believes that a written clarification or interpretation entitles him to an increase in the 
Contract Price, he may make a claim therefore as provided in Article 11. 
 
Rejecting Defective Work: 
 
 9.4 ENGINEER will have authority to disapprove or reject Work which is "defective" (which term is 
hereinafter used to describe Work that is unsatisfactory, faulty, or defective, or does not conform to the 
requirements of the Contract Documents or does not meet the requirements of any inspection, test or approval 
referred to in paragraph 13.2 or has been damaged prior to approval of final payment).  He will also have 
authority to require special inspection or testing of the Work as provided in paragraph 13.7, whether or not 
the Work is fabricated, installed, or completed. 
 
Shop Drawings, Change Orders and Payments: 
 
 9.5 In connection with ENGINEER's responsibility for Shop Drawings and samples, see paragraphs 
6.23 through 6.28 inclusive. 
 
 9.6 In connection with ENGINEER's responsibility for Change Orders, see Articles 10, 11, and 12. 



 

B-24 
 

 9.7 In connection with ENGINEER's responsibilities in respect of Applications for Payment, etc., see 
Article 14. 
 
Resident Project Representative: 
 
 9.8 If OWNER and ENGINEER agree, ENGINEER will furnish a Resident Project Representative 
and assistants to assist ENGINEER in carrying out his responsibilities at the site.  The duties, responsibilities, 
and limitations of authority of any such Resident Project Representative and assistants shall be as set forth in 
an exhibit to be incorporated in the Contract Documents. 
 
Decisions on Disagreements: 
 
 9.9 ENGINEER will be the interpreter of the requirements of the Contract Documents and the judge 
of the performance thereunder.  In his capacity as interpreter and judge he will exercise his best efforts to 
insure faithful performance by both OWNER and CONTRACTOR.  He will not show partiality to either and 
will not be liable for the result of any interpretation or decision rendered in good faith.  Claims, disputes, and 
other matters relating to the execution of or performance under the Contract Documents shall be referred to 
ENGINEER for decision; which he will render in writing within a reasonable time. 
 
 9.10 Either OWNER or CONTRACTOR may demand arbitration with respect to any such claim, 
dispute or other matter that has been referred to ENGINEER, except any which have been waived by the 
making or acceptance of final payment as provided in paragraph 14.16, such arbitration to be in accordance 
with Article 14.16, such arbitration to be in accordance with Article 16.  However, no demand for arbitration 
of any such claim, dispute, or other matter shall be made until the earlier of (a) the date on which ENGINEER 
has rendered his decision or (b) the tenth day after the parties have presented their evidence to ENGINEER 
if he has not rendered his written decision before that date.  No demand for arbitration shall be made later 
than thirty days after the date on which ENGINEER rendered his written decision in respect to the claim, 
dispute, or other matter as to which arbitration is sought; and the failure to demand arbitration within said 
thirty days' period shall result in ENGINEER's decision being final and binding upon OWNER and 
CONTRACTOR.  If ENGINEER renders a decision after arbitration proceedings have been initiated, such 
decision may be entered as evidence but shall not supersede the arbitration proceedings, except where the 
decision is acceptable to the parties concerned. 
 
Limitations on ENGINEER's Responsibilities: 
 
 9.11 Neither ENGINEER's authority to act under this Article 9 or elsewhere in the Contract Documents 
nor any decision made by him in good faith either to exercise or not exercise such authority shall give rise to 
any duty or responsibility of ENGINEER to CONTRACTOR, any Subcontractor, any materialman, 
fabricator, supplier, or any of their agents or employees any other person performing any of the Work. 
 
 9.12 ENGINEER will not be responsible for CONTRACTOR's means, methods, techniques, 
sequences or procedures of construction, or the safety precautions and programs incident thereto, and he will 
not be responsible for CONTRACTOR's failure to perform the Work in accordance with the Contract 
Documents. 
 
 9.13 ENGINEER will not be responsible for the acts or omissions of CONTRACTOR, or any 
Subcontractors, or any of his or their agents or employees, or any other persons at the site or otherwise 
performing any of the Work. 
 
 
  



 

B-25 
 

ARTICLE 10 - CHANGES IN THE WORK 
                                                           
 
 10.1 Without invalidating the Agreement, OWNER may, at any time or from time to time, other 
additions, deletions, or revisions in the Work; these will be authorized by Change Orders.  Upon receipt of a 
Change Order, CONTRACTOR shall proceed with the Work involved.  All such Work shall be executed 
under the applicable conditions of the Contract Documents.  If any Change Order causes an increase or 
decrease in the Contract Price or an extension or shortening of the Contract Time, an equitable adjustment 
will be made as provided in Article 11 or Article 12 on the basis of a claim made by either party. 
 
 10.2 ENGINEER may authorize minor changes or alterations in the Work not involving extra cost and 
not inconsistent with the overall intent of the Contract Documents.  These may be accomplished by a Field 
Order.  If CONTRACTOR believes that any minor change or alteration authorized by ENGINEER entitles 
him to an increase in the Contract Price, he may make a claim therefore as provided in Article 11. 
 
 10.3 Additional Work performed by CONTRACTOR without authorization of a Change Order will 
not entitle him to an increase in the Contract Price or an extension of the Contract Time, except in the case of 
an emergency as provided in paragraph 6.22 and except as provided in paragraphs 10.2 and 13.7. 
 
 10.4 OWNER shall execute appropriate Change Orders prepared by ENGINEER covering changes in 
the Work to be performed as provided in paragraph 4.3, and Work performed in an emergency as provided 
in paragraph 6.22 and any other claim of CONTRACTOR for a change in the Contract Time or the Contract 
Price which is approved by ENGINEER. 
 
 10.5 It is CONTRACTOR's responsibility to notify his Surety of any changes affecting the general 
scope of the Work or change in the Contract Price and the amount of the applicable Bonds shall be adjusted 
accordingly.  CONTRACTOR shall furnish proof of such adjustment to OWNER. 
 
 
ARTICLE 11 - CHANGE OF THE CONTRACT PRICE 
                                                 
 
 11.1 The Contract Price constitutes the total compensation payable to CONTRACTOR for performing 
the Work.  All duties, responsibilities, and obligations assigned to or undertaken by CONTRACTOR shall 
be at his expense without change in the Contract Price. 



 

B-26 
 

 11.2 The Contract Price may only be changed by a Change Order.  Any claim for an increase in the 
Contract Price shall be based on written notice delivered to OWNER and ENGINEER within fifteen days of 
the occurrence of the event giving rise to the claim.  Notice of the amount of the claim with supporting data 
shall be delivered within forty-five days of such occurrence unless ENGINEER allows an additional period 
of time to ascertain accurate cost data.  All claims for adjustments in the Contract Price shall be determined 
by ENGINEER if OWNER and CONTRACTOR cannot otherwise agree on the amount involved.  Any 
change in the Contract Price resulting from any such claim shall be incorporated in a Change Order. 
 
 11.3 The value of any Work covered by a Change Order or of any claim for an increase or decrease in 
the Contract Price shall be determined in one of the following ways: 
 
  11.3.1   Where the Work involved is covered by unit prices contained in the Contract Documents, 

by application of unit prices to the quantities of the items involved. 
 
  11.3.2   By mutual acceptance of a lump sum. 
 
  11.3.3   On the basis of the Cost of the Work (determined as provided in paragraphs 11.4 and 11.5) 

plus a Contractor's Fee for overhead and profit (determined as provided in paragraph 11.6). 
 
Cost of the Work: 
 
 11.4 The term Cost of the Work means the sum of all costs necessarily incurred and paid by the 
CONTRACTOR in the proper performance of the Work.  Except as otherwise may be agreed to in writing 
by OWNER, such costs shall be in amounts no higher than those prevailing in the locality of the Project, shall 
include only the following items and shall not include any of the costs itemized in paragraph 11.5: 
 
  11.4.1   Payroll costs for employees in the direct employ of CONTRACTOR in the performance 

of the Work under schedules of job classifications agreed upon by OWNER and CONTRACTOR.  Payroll 
costs for employees not employed full time on the Work shall be apportioned on the basis of their time 
spent on the Work.  Payroll costs shall include, but not be limited to, salaries and wages plus the cost of 
fringe benefits which shall include social security contributions, unemployment, excise and payroll taxes, 
workmen's compensation, health and retirement benefits, bonuses, sick leave, vacation and holiday pay 
applicable thereto.  Such employees shall include superintendents and foreman at the site.  The expenses 
of performing work after regular working hours on Sunday or legal holidays shall be included in the above 
to the extent authorized by OWNER. 

 
  11.4.2   Cost of all materials and equipment furnished and incorporated in the Work, including 

costs of transportation and storage thereof, and manufacturers' field services required in connection 
therewith.  All cash discounts shall accrue to CONTRACTOR unless OWNER deposits funds with 
CONTRACTOR with which to make payments, in which case the cash discounts shall accrue to OWNER.  
All trade discounts, rebates and refunds, and all returns from sale of surplus materials and equipment shall 
accrue to OWNER, and CONTRACTOR shall make provisions so that they may be obtained. 

 
  11.4.3   Payments made by CONTRACTOR to the Subcontractors for Work performed by 

Subcontractors.  If required by OWNER, CONTRACTOR shall obtain competitive bids from 
Subcontractors acceptable to him and shall deliver such bids to OWNER who will then determine with 
the advice of ENGINEER, which bids will be accepted.  If a subcontract provides that the Subcontractor 
is to be paid on the basis of Cost of the Work Plus a Fee, the Cost of the Work shall be determined in 
accordance with paragraphs 11.4 and 11.5.  All subcontracts shall be subject to the other provisions of the 
Contract Documents insofar as applicable. 

 



 

B-27 
 

  11.4.4   Costs of special consultants (including, but not limited to, engineers, architects, testing 
laboratories, surveyors, lawyers, and accountants) employed for services specifically related to the Work. 

 
  11.4.5   Supplemental costs including the following: 
 
   11.4.5.1   The proportion of necessary transportation, traveling, and subsistence expenses 

of CONTRACTOR's employees incurred in discharge of duties connected with the Work. 
 
   11.4.5.2   Cost, including transportation and maintenance, of all materials, supplies, 

equipment, machinery, appliances, office and temporary facilities at the site and hand tools not 
owned by the workmen, which are consumed in the performance of the Work, and cost less market 
value of such items used but not consumed which remain the property of CONTRACTOR. 

 
   11.4.5.3   Rentals of all construction equipment and machinery and the parts thereof 

whether rented from CONTRACTOR or others in accordance with rental agreements approved 
by OWNER with the advice of ENGINEER, and the costs of transportation, loading, unloading, 
installation, dismantling and removal thereof--all in accordance with terms of said rental 
agreements.  The rental of any such equipment, machinery or parts shall cease when the use thereof 
is no longer necessary for the Work. 

 
   11.4.5.4   Sales, use or similar taxes related to the Work, and for which CONTRACTOR is 

liable, imposed by any governmental authority. 
 
   11.4.5.5   Deposits lost for causes other than CONTRACTOR's negligence, royalty 

payments and fees for permits and licenses. 
 
   11.4.5.6   Losses, damages and expenses, not compensated by insurance or otherwise, 

sustained by CONTRACTOR in connection with the execution of, and to, the Work, provided 
they have resulted from causes other than the negligence of CONTRACTOR, any Subcontractor, 
or anyone directly or indirectly employed by any of them for whose acts any of them may be 
liable.  Such losses shall include settlements made with the written consent and approval of 
OWNER.  No such losses, damages and expenses shall be included in the Cost of the Work for 
the purpose of determining Contractor's Fee.  If, however, any such loss or damage requires 
reconstruction and CONTRACTOR is placed in charge thereof, he shall be paid for his services a 
fee proportionate to that stated in paragraph 11.6.2. 

 
   11.4.5.7   The cost of utilities, fuel and sanitary facilities at the site. 
 
   11.4.5.8   Minor expenses such as telegrams, long distance telephone calls, telephone 

service at the site, expressage and similar petty cash items in connection with the Work. 
 
   11.4.5.9   Cost of premiums for bonds and insurance which OWNER is required to pay in 

accordance with paragraph 5.12. 
 
 11.5 The term Cost of the Work shall not include any of the following: 
 
  11.5.1   Payroll costs and other compensation of CONTRACTOR's officers, executives, principals 

(of partnership and sole proprietorships), general managers, engineers, architects, estimators, lawyers, 
auditors, accountants, purchasing and contracting agents, expeditors, timekeepers, clerks and other 
personnel employed by CONTRACTOR whether at the site or in his principal or a branch office for 
general administration of the Work and not specifically included in the schedule referred to in 



 

B-28 
 

subparagraph 11.4.1--all of which are to be considered administrative costs covered by the Contractor's 
Fee. 

 
  11.5.2   Expenses of CONTRACTOR's principal and branch offices other than his office at the 

site. 
 
  11.5.3   Any part of CONTRACTOR's capital expenses, including interest on CONTRACTOR's 

capital employed for the Work and charges against CONTRACTOR for delinquent payments. 
 
  11.5.4   Cost of premiums for all bonds and for all insurance policies whether or not 

CONTRACTOR is required by the Contract Documents to purchase and maintain the same (except as 
otherwise provided in subparagraph 11.4.5.9). 

 
  11.5.5   Costs due to negligence of CONTRACTOR, any Subcontractor, or anyone directly or 

indirectly employed by any of them or for whose acts any of them may be liable, including but not limited 
to, the correction of defective work, disposal of materials or equipment wrongly supplied and making 
good any damage to property. 

 
  11.5.6   Other overhead or general expense costs of any kind and the costs of any item not 

specifically and expressly included in paragraph 11.4. 
 
Contractor's Fee: 
 
 11.6 The Contractor's Fee which shall be allowed to CONTRACTOR for his overhead and profit shall 
be determined as follows: 
 
 
  11.6.1   a mutually acceptable fixed fee; or if none can be agreed upon, 
 
  11.6.2   a fee based on the following percentages of the various portions of the Cost of the Work: 
 
   11.6.2.1   for costs incurred under paragraphs 11.4.1 and 11.4.2, the Contractor's Fee shall 

be ten percent, 
 
   11.6.2.2   for costs incurred under paragraph 11.4.3, the Contractor's Fee shall be five 

percent; and if a subcontract is on the basis of Cost of the Work Plus a Fee, the maximum allowable 
to the Subcontractor as a fee for overhead and profit shall be ten percent, and 

 
   11.6.2.3   no fee shall be payable on the tasks of costs itemized under paragraphs 11.4.4, 

11.4.5 and 11.5. 
 
 11.7 The amount of credit to be allowed by CONTRACTOR to OWNER for any such change which 
results in a net decrease in cost, will be the amount of the actual net decrease.  When both additions and 
credits are involved in any one change, the combined overhead and profit shall be figured on the basis of the 
net increase, if any. 
 
 11.8 Whenever the cost of any Work is to be determined pursuant to paragraphs 11.4 and 11.5, 
CONTRACTOR will submit in form prescribed by ENGINEER an itemized cost breakdown together with 
supporting data. 
 
Cash Allowance: 



 

B-29 
 

 
 11.9 It is understood that CONTRACTOR has included in the Contract Price all allowances so named 
in the Contract Documents and shall cause the Work so covered to be done by such materialmen, suppliers 
or Subcontractors and for such sums within the limit of the allowances as ENGINEER may approve.  Upon 
final payment, the Contract Price shall be adjusted as required and an appropriate Change Order issued.  
CONTRACTOR agrees that the original Contract Price includes such sums as he deems proper for costs and 
profit on account of cash allowances.  No demand for additional cost or profit in connection therewith will 
be allowed. 
 
 
ARTICLE 12 - CHANGE OF THE CONTRACT TIME 
      
 
 12.1 The Contract Time may only be changed by a Change Order.  Any claim for an extension in the 
Contract Time shall be based on written notice delivered to OWNER and ENGINEER within fifteen days of 
the occurrence of the event giving rise to the claim.  Notice of the extent of the claim with supporting data 
shall be delivered within forty-five days of such occurrence unless ENGINEER allows an additional period 
of time to ascertain more accurate data.  All claims for adjustment in the Contract Time shall be determined 
by ENGINEER if OWNER and CONTRACTOR cannot otherwise agree.  Any change in the Contract Time 
resulting from any such claim shall be incorporated in a Change Order. 
 
 12.2 The Contract Time will be extended in an amount equal to time lost due to delays beyond the 
control of CONTRACTOR if he makes a claim therefore as provided in paragraph 12.1.  Such delays shall 
include, but not be restricted to, acts or neglect by any separate contractor employed by OWNER, fires, floods, 
labor disputes, epidemics, abnormal weather conditions, or acts of God. 
 
 12.3 All time limits stated in the Contract Documents are of the essence of the Agreement.  The 
provisions of this Article 12 shall not exclude recovery for damages (including compensation for additional 
professional services) for delay by either party. 
 
 
  



 

B-30 
 

ARTICLE 13 - WARRANTY AND GUARANTEE; TESTS AND 
   INSPECTIONS; CORRECTION, REMOVAL OF 
   ACCEPTANCE OF DEFECTIVE WORK 
      
 
Warranty and Guarantee: 
 
 13.1 CONTRACTOR warrants and guarantees to OWNER and ENGINEER that all materials and 
equipment will be new unless otherwise specified and that all Work will be of good quality and free from 
faults or defects and in accordance with the requirements of the Contract Documents and of any inspections, 
tests or approvals referred to in paragraph 13.2.  All unsatisfactory Work, all faulty or defective Work, and 
all Work not conforming to the requirements of the Contract Documents at the time of acceptance thereof or 
of such inspections, test or approvals, shall be considered defective.  Prompt notice of all defects shall be 
given to CONTRACTOR.  All defective Work, whether or not in place, may be rejected, corrected or 
accepted as provided in this Article 13. 
 
Tests and Inspections: 
 
 13.2 If the Contract Documents, laws, ordinances, rules, regulations or orders of any public authority 
having jurisdiction require any Work to specifically be inspected, tested, or approved by some public body, 
CONTRACTOR shall assume full responsibility therefore, pay all costs in connection therewith and furnish 
ENGINEER the required certificates of inspection, testing or approval.  All other inspections, tests and 
approvals required by the Contract Documents shall be performed by organizations acceptable to OWNER 
and CONTRACTOR and the costs thereof shall be borne by OWNER unless otherwise specified. 
 
 13.3 CONTRACTOR shall give ENGINEER timely notice of readiness of the Work for all inspections, 
tests or approvals.  If any such Work required so to be inspected, tested or approved is covered without written 
approval of ENGINEER, it must, if requested by ENGINEER, be uncovered for observation, and such 
uncovering shall be at CONTRACTOR's expense unless CONTRACTOR has given ENGINEER timely 
notice of his intention to cover such Work and ENGINEER has not acted with reasonable promptness in 
response to such notice. 
 
 13.4 Neither observations by ENGINEER nor inspections, tests or approvals by persons other than 
CONTRACTOR shall relieve CONTRACTOR from his obligations to perform the Work in accordance with 
the requirements of the Contract Documents. 
Access to Work: 
 
 13.5 ENGINEER and his representatives and other representatives of OWNER will at reasonable times 
have access to the Work.  CONTRACTOR shall provide proper and safe facilities for such access and 
observation of the Work and also for any inspection or testing thereof by others. 
 
Uncovering Work: 
 
 13.6 If any Work is covered contrary to the written request of ENGINEER, it must, if requested by 
ENGINEER, be uncovered for his observation and replaced at CONTRACTOR's expense. 
 
 13.7 If any Work has been covered which ENGINEER has not specifically requested to observe prior 
to its being covered, or if ENGINEER considers it necessary or advisable that covered Work be inspected or 
tested by others, CONTRACTOR, at ENGINEER's request, shall uncover, expose or otherwise make 
available for observation, inspection or testing as ENGINEER may require, that portion of the Work in 
question, furnishing all necessary labor, material and equipment.  If it is found that such Work is defective, 
CONTRACTOR shall bear all the expenses of such uncovering, exposure, observation, inspection and testing 



 

B-31 
 

and of satisfactory reconstruction, including compensation for additional professional services, and an 
appropriate deductive Change Order shall be issued.  If, however, such Work is not found to be defective, 
CONTRACTOR shall be allowed an increase in the Contract Price or an extension of the Contract Time, or 
both, directly attributable to such uncovering, exposure, observation, inspection, testing and reconstruction if 
he makes a claim therefore as provided in Articles 11, and 12. 
 
OWNER May Stop the Work: 
 
 13.8 If the Work is defective, or CONTRACTOR fails to supply sufficient skilled workmen or suitable 
materials or equipment, or if CONTRACTOR fails to make prompt payments to Subcontractors or for labor, 
materials or equipment, OWNER may order CONTRACTOR to stop the Work, or any portion thereof, until 
the cause for such order has been eliminated; however, this right of OWNER to stop the Work shall not give 
rise to any duty on the part of OWNER to exercise this right for the benefit of CONTRACTOR or any other 
party. 
 
Correction or Removal of Defective Work: 
 
 13.9 If required by ENGINEER prior to approval of final payment, CONTRACTOR shall promptly, 
without cost to OWNER and as specified by ENGINEER, either correct or defective Work, whether or not 
fabricated, installed or completed, or, if the Work has been rejected by ENGINEER, remove it from the site 
and replace it with nondefective Work.  If CONTRACTOR does not correct such defective Work or remove 
and replace such rejected Work within a reasonable time, all as specified in a written notice from ENGINEER, 
OWNER may have the deficiency corrected or the rejected Work removed and replaced.  All direct or indirect 
costs of such correction or removal and replacement, including compensation for additional professional 
services, shall be paid by CONTRACTOR, and an appropriate deductive Change Order shall be issued.  
CONTRACTOR shall also bear the expenses of making good all Work of others destroyed or damaged by 
his correction, removal or replacement of his defective Work. 
 
One Year Correction Period: 
 
 13.10 If after the approval of final payment and prior to the expiration of one year after the date of 
Substantial Completion or such longer period of time as may be prescribed by law or by the terms of any 
applicable special guarantee required by the Contract Documents, any Work is found to be defective, 
CONTRACTOR shall promptly, without cost to OWNER and in accordance with OWNER's written 
instructions, either correct such defective Work, or, if it has been rejected by OWNER, remove it from the 
site and replace it with nondefective Work.  If CONTRACTOR does not promptly comply with the terms of 
such instructions, OWNER may have the defective Work corrected or the rejected Work removed and 
replaced, and all direct and indirect costs of such removal and replacement, including compensation for 
additional professional services, shall be paid by CONTRACTOR. 
 
Acceptance of Defective Work: 
 
 13.11 If instead of requiring correction or removal and replacement of defective Work, OWNER (and, 
prior to approval of final payment, also ENGINEER) prefers to accept it, he may do so.  In such case, if 
acceptance occurs prior to approval of final payment, a Change Order shall be issued incorporating the 
necessary revisions in the Contract Documents, including appropriate reduction in the Contract Price; or, if 
the acceptance occurs after approval of final payment, an appropriate amount shall be paid by 
CONTRACTOR to OWNER. 
 



 

B-32 
 

Neglected Work by Contractor: 
 
 13.12 If CONTRACTOR shall fail to prosecute the Work in accordance with the Contract Documents, 
including any requirements of the progress schedule, OWNER, after seven days' written notice to 
CONTRACTOR may, without prejudice to any other remedy he may have, make good such deficiencies and 
the cost thereof (including compensation for additional professional services) shall be charged against 
CONTRACTOR if ENGINEER approves such action, in which case a Change Order shall be issued 
incorporating the necessary revisions in the Contract Documents including an appropriate reduction in the 
Contract Price.  If the payments then or thereafter due CONTRACTOR are not sufficient to cover such 
amount, CONTRACTOR shall pay the difference to OWNER. 
 
 
ARTICLE 14 - PAYMENTS AND COMPLETION 
      
 
Schedules: 
 
 14.1 At least ten days prior to submitting the first Application for a progress payment, CONTRACTOR 
shall submit a progress schedule, a final schedule of Shop Drawing and a schedule of values of the Work.  
These schedules shall be satisfactory in form and substance to ENGINEER.  The schedule of values shall 
include quantities and unit prices aggregating the Contract Price, and shall subdivide the Work into 
component parts in sufficient detail to serve as the basis for progress payments during construction.  Upon 
approval of the schedules of values by ENGINEER, it shall be incorporated into the form of Application for 
Payment furnished by ENGINEER. 
 
 
Application for Progress Payment: 
 
 14.2 At least ten days before such progress payment falls due (but not more often than once a month), 
CONTRACTOR shall submit to ENGINEER for review an Application for Payment filled out and signed by 
CONTRACTOR covering the Work completed as of the date of the Application and accompanied by such 
data and schedules as ENGINEER may reasonably require.  If payment is requested on the basis of materials 
and equipment not incorporated in the Work but delivered and suitably stored at the site or at another location 
agreed to in writing, the Application for Payment shall also be accompanied by such data, satisfactory to 
OWNER, as will establish OWNER's title to the material and equipment and protect his interest therein, 
including applicable insurance.  Each subsequent Application for Payment shall include an affidavit of 
CONTRACTOR stating that all previous progress payments received on account of the Work have been 
applied to discharge in full all of CONTRACTOR's obligations reflected in prior Applications for Payment. 
 
Contractor's Warranty of Title: 
 
 14.3 CONTRACTOR warrants and guarantees that title to all Work, materials and equipment covered 
by any Application for Payment, whether incorporated in the Project or not, will pass to OWNER at the time 
of payment free and clear of all liens, claims, security interests and encumbrances (hereafter in these General 
Conditions referred to as "Liens"). 
 
Approval of Payments: 
 
 14.4 ENGINEER will, within ten days after receipt of each Application for Payment, either indicate in 
writing his approval of payment and present the Application to OWNER, or return the Application to 
CONTRACTOR indicating in writing his reasons for refusing to approve payment.  In the latter case, 



 

B-33 
 

CONTRACTOR may make the necessary corrections and resubmit the Application.  OWNER shall, within 
ten days of presentation to him of an approved Application for Payment, pay CONTRACTOR the amount 
approved by ENGINEER. 
 
 14.5 ENGINEER's approval of any payment requested in an Application for Payment will constitute a 
representation by him to OWNER, based on ENGINEER's on-site observations of the Work in progress as 
an experienced and qualified design professional and on his review of the Application for Payment and the 
accompanying data and schedules that the Work has progressed to the point indicated; that, to the best of his 
knowledge, information and belief, the quality of the Work is in accordance with the Contract Documents 
(subject to the evaluation of the Work as a functioning Project upon Substantial Completion, to the results of 
any subsequent tests called for in the Contract Documents and any qualifications stated in his approval); and 
that CONTRACTOR is entitled to payment of the amount approved.  However, by approving any such 
payment ENGINEER will not thereby be deemed to have represented that he made exhaustive or continuous 
on-site inspections to check the quality or the quantity of the Work, or that he has reviewed the means, 
methods, techniques, sequences, or procedures of construction, or that he has made any examination to 
ascertain how or for what purpose CONTRACTOR has used the moneys paid or to be paid to him on account 
of the Contract Price, or that title to any Work, materials or equipment has passed to OWNER free and clear 
of any Liens. 



 

B-34 
 

 14.6 ENGINEER's approval of final payment will constitute an additional representation by him to 
OWNER that the conditions precedent to CONTRACTOR's being entitled to final payment as set forth in 
paragraph 14.13 have been fulfilled. 
 
 14.7 ENGINEER may refuse to approve the whole or any part of any payment if, in his opinion, it 
would be incorrect to make such representations to OWNER.  He may also refuse to approve any such 
payment, or, because of subsequently discovered evidence or the results of subsequent inspections or tests, 
nullify any such payment previously approved, to such extent as may be necessary in his opinion to protect 
OWNER from loss because: 
 
  14.7.1   the Work is defective, or completed Work has been damaged requiring correction or 

replacement, 
 
  14.7.2   claims or Liens have been filed or there is reasonable cause to believe such may be filed, 
 
  14.7.3   the Contract Price has been reduced because of Modifications, 
 
  14.7.4   OWNER has been required to correct defective Work or complete the Work in accordance 

with paragraph 13.11, or 
 
  14.7.5   of unsatisfactory prosecution of the Work, including failure to furnish acceptable 

submittals or to clean up. 
 
Substantial Completion: 
 
 14.8 Prior to final payment, CONTRACTOR may, in writing to OWNER and ENGINEER, certify that 
the entire Project is substantially complete and request that ENGINEER issue a certificate of Substantial 
Completion.  Within a reasonable time thereafter, OWNER, CONTRACTOR and ENGINEER shall make 
an inspection of the Project to determine the status of completion.  If ENGINEER does not consider the 
Project substantially complete, he will notify CONTRACTOR in writing giving his reasons therefore.  If 
ENGINEER considers the Project substantially complete, he will prepare and deliver to OWNER a tentative 
certificate of Substantial Completion which shall fix the date of Substantial Completion and the 
responsibilities between OWNER and CONTRACTOR for maintenance, heat and utilities.  There shall be 
attached to the certificate a tentative list of items to be completed or corrected before final payment, and the 
certificate shall fix the time within which such items shall be completed or corrected, said time to be within 
the Contract Time.  OWNER shall have seven days after receipt of the tentative certificate during which he 
may make written objection to ENGINEER as to any provisions of the certificate or attached list.  If, after 
considering such objections, ENGINEER concludes that the Project is not substantially complete, he will 
within fourteen days after submission of the tentative certificate to OWNER notify CONTRACTOR in 
writing, stating his reasons therefore.  If, after consideration of OWNER's objections, ENGINEER considers 
the Project substantially complete, he will within said fourteen days execute and deliver to OWNER and 
CONTRACTOR a definitive certificate of Substantial Completion (with a revised tentative list of items to be 
completed or corrected) reflecting such changes from the tentative certificate as he believes justified after 
consideration of any objections from OWNER. 
 
 14.9 OWNER shall have the right to exclude CONTRACTOR from the Project after the date of 
Substantial Completion, but OWNER shall allow CONTRACTOR reasonable access to complete or correct 
items on the tentative list. 
 
Partial Utilization: 
 



 

B-35 
 

 14.10 Prior to final payment, OWNER may request CONTRACTOR in writing to permit him to use a 
specified part of the Project which he believes he may use without significant interference with construction 
of the other parts of the Project.  If CONTRACTOR agrees, he will certify to OWNER and ENGINEER that 
said part of the Project is substantially complete and request ENGINEER to issue a certificate of Substantial 
Completion for that part of the Project.  Within a reasonable thereafter OWNER, CONTRACTOR and 
ENGINEER shall make an inspection of that part of the Project to determine its status of completion.  If 
ENGINEER does not consider that it is substantially complete, he will notify OWNER and CONTRACTOR 
in writing giving his reasons therefore.  If ENGINEER considers that part of the Project to be substantially 
complete, he will execute and deliver to OWNER and CONTRACTOR a certificate to that effect, fixing the 
date of Substantial Completion as to that part of the Project, attaching thereto a tentative list of items to be 
completed or corrected before final payment and fixing the responsibility between OWNER and 
CONTRACTOR for maintenance, heat and utilities as to that part of the Project.  OWNER shall have the 
right to exclude CONTRACTOR from any part of the Project which ENGINEER has so certified to be 
substantially complete, but OWNER shall allow CONTRACTOR reasonable access to complete or correct 
items on the tentative list. 
 
Final Inspection: 
 
 14.11 Upon written notice from CONTRACTOR that the Project is complete, ENGINEER will make a 
final inspection with OWNER and CONTRACTOR and will notify CONTRACTOR in writing of all 
particulars in which this inspection reveals that the Work is incomplete or defective.  CONTRACTOR shall 
immediately take such measures as are necessary to remedy such deficiencies. 
 
Final Application for Payment: 
 
 14.12 After CONTRACTOR has completed all such corrections to the satisfaction of ENGINEER and 
delivered all maintenance and operating instructions, schedules, guarantees, Bonds, certificates of inspection 
and other documents--all as required by the Contract Documents, he may make application for final payment 
following the procedure for progress payments.  The final Application for Payment shall be accompanied by 
such data and schedules as ENGINEER may reasonably require, together with complete and legally effective 
releases or waivers (satisfactory to OWNER) of all Liens arising out of the Contract Documents and the labor 
and services performed and the material and equipment furnished thereunder.  In lieu thereof and as approved 
by OWNER, CONTRACTOR may furnish receipts or releases in full; an affidavit of CONTRACTOR that 
the releases and receipts include all labor, services, materials and equipment for which a Lien could be filed, 
and that all payrolls, material and equipment bills, and other indebtedness connected with the Work for which 
OWNER or his property might in any way be responsible, have been paid or otherwise satisfied; and consent 
of the Surety, if any, to final payment.  If any Subcontractor, materialman, fabricator or supplier fails to 
furnish a release or receipt in full, CONTRACTOR may furnish a Bond or other collateral satisfactory to 
OWNER to indemnify him against any Lien. 
 
Approval of Final Payment: 
 
 14.13 If, on the basis of his observation and review of the Work during construction, his final inspection 
and his review of the final Application for Payment--all as required by the Contract Documents, ENGINEER 
is satisfied that the Work has been completed and CONTRACTOR has fulfilled all his obligations under the 
Contract Documents, he will, within ten days after receipt of the final Application for Payment, indicate in 
writing his approval of payment and present the Application to OWNER for payment.  Thereupon 
ENGINEER will give written notice to OWNER and CONTRACTOR that the Work is acceptable subject to 
the provisions of paragraph 14.16.  Otherwise, he will return the Application to CONTRACTOR, indicating 
in writing his reasons for refusing to approval final payment, in which case CONTRACTOR shall make the 
necessary corrections and resubmit the Application.  OWNER shall, within ten days of presentation to him 



 

B-36 
 

of an approved final Application for Payment, pay CONTRACTOR the amount approved by ENGINEER. 
 
 14.14 If after Substantial Completion of the Work final completion thereof is materially delayed through 
no fault of CONTRACTOR, and ENGINEER so confirms, OWNER shall, upon certification by 
ENGINEER, and without terminating the Agreement, make payment of the balance due for that portion of 
the Work fully completed and accepted.  If the remaining balance for Work not fully completed or corrected 
is less than the retainage stipulated in the Agreement, and if Bonds have been furnished as required in 
paragraph 5.1, the written consent of the Surety to the payment of the balance due for that portion of the Work 
fully completed and accepted shall be submitted by the CONTRACTOR to the ENGINEER prior to 
certification of such payment.  Such payment shall be made under the terms and conditions governing final 
payment, except that it shall not constitute a waiver of claims. 
 
Contractor's Continuing Obligation: 
 
 14.15 CONTRACTOR's obligation to perform the Work and complete the Project in accordance with 
the Contract Documents shall be absolute.  Neither approval or any progress or final payment by ENGINEER, 
nor the issuance of a certificate of Substantial Completion, nor any payment by OWNER to CONTRACTOR 
under the Contract Documents, nor any use or occupancy of the Project or any part thereof by OWNER, nor 
any act of acceptance by OWNER nor any failure to do so, nor any correction of defective work by OWNER 
shall constitute an acceptance of Work not in accordance with the Contract Documents. 
 
Waiver of Claim: 
 
 14.16 The making and acceptance of final payment shall constitute: 
 
  14.16.1   a waiver of all claims by OWNER against CONTRACTOR other than those arising from 

unsettled Liens, from defective work appearing after final inspection pursuant to paragraph 14.11 or from 
failure to comply with the requirements of the Contract Documents or the terms of any special guarantees 
specified therein, and 

 
  14.16.2   a waiver of all claims by CONTRACTOR against OWNER other than those previously 

made in writing and still unsettled. 
 
 
  



 

B-37 
 

ARTICLE 15 - SUSPENSION OF WORK AND TERMINATION 
      
 
OWNER May Suspend Work: 
 
 15.1 OWNER may, at any time and without cause, suspend the Work or any portion thereof for a period 
of not more than ninety days by notice in writing to CONTRACTOR and ENGINEER which shall fix the 
date on which Work shall be resumed.  CONTRACTOR shall resume the Work on the date so fixed.  
CONTRACTOR will be allowed an increase in the Contract Price or an extension of the Contract Time, or 
both, directly attributable to any suspension if he makes a claim therefore as provided in Articles 11 and 12. 
 
OWNER May Terminate: 
 
 15.2 If CONTRACTOR is adjusted a bankrupt or insolvent, or if he makes a general assignment for 
the benefit of his creditors, or if a trustee or receiver is appointed for CONTRACTOR or for any of his 
property, or if he files a petition to take advantage of any debtor's act, or to reorganize under the bankruptcy 
or similar laws, or if he repeatedly fails to supply sufficient skilled workmen or suitable materials or 
equipment, or if he repeatedly fails to make prompt payments to Subcontractors or for labor, materials or 
equipment or if he disregards laws, ordinances, rules, regulations or orders of any public body having 
jurisdiction, or if he disregards the authority of ENGINEER, or if he otherwise violates any provision of the 
Contract Documents, then OWNER may, without prejudice to any other right or remedy and after giving 
CONTRACTOR and his Surety seven days' written notice, terminate the services of CONTRACTOR and 
take possession of the Project and of all materials, equipment, tools, construction equipment and machinery 
thereon owned by CONTRACTOR, and finish the Work by whatever method he may deem expedient.  In 
such case CONTRACTOR shall not be entitled to receive any further payment until the Work is finished.  If 
the unpaid balance of the Contract Price exceeds the direct and indirect costs of completing the Project, 
including compensation for additional professional services, such excess shall be paid to CONTRACTOR.  
If such costs exceed such unpaid balance, CONTRACTOR shall pay the difference to OWNER.  Such costs 
incurred by OWNER shall be determined by ENGINEER and incorporated in a Change Order. 
 
 15.3 Where CONTRACTOR's services have been so terminated by OWNER, said terminations shall 
not affect any rights of OWNER against CONTRACTOR then existing or which may thereafter accrue.  Any 
retention or payment of moneys by OWNER due CONTRACTOR will not release CONTRACTOR from 
liability. 
 
 15.4 Upon seven days' written notice to CONTRACTOR and ENGINEER, OWNER may, without 
cause and without prejudice to any right or remedy, elect to abandon the Project and terminate the Agreement.  
In such case, CONTRACTOR shall be paid for all Work executed and any expense sustained plus a 
reasonable profit. 



 

B-38 
 

Contractor May Stop Work or Terminate: 
 
 15.5 If, through not act or fault of CONTRACTOR, the Work is suspended for a period of more than 
ninety days by OWNER or under an order of court or other public authority, or ENGINEER fails to act on 
any Application for Payment within thirty days after it is submitted, or OWNER fails to pay CONTRACTOR 
any sum approved by ENGINEER or awarded by arbitrators within thirty days of its approval and 
presentation, then CONTRACTOR may, upon seven days' written notice to OWNER and ENGINEER, 
terminate the Agreement and recover from OWNER payment for all Work executed and any expense 
sustained plus a reasonable profit.  In addition and in lieu of terminating the Agreement, if ENGINEER has 
failed to act on an Application for Payment or OWNER has failed to make any payment as aforesaid, 
CONTRACTOR may upon seven days' notice to OWNER and ENGINEER stop the Work until he has been 
paid all amounts then due. 
 
 
ARTICLE 16 - ARBITRATION 
      
 
 16.1 All claims, disputes and other matters in question arising out of, or relating to, this Agreement or 
the breach thereof except for claims which have been waived by the making or acceptance of final payment 
as provided by paragraph 14.16, shall be decided by arbitration in accordance with the Construction Industry 
Arbitration Rules of the American Arbitration Association then obtaining.  This Agreement so to arbitrate 
shall be specifically enforceable under the prevailing arbitration law.  The award rendered by the arbitrators 
shall be final, and judgment may be entered upon it in any court having jurisdiction thereof. 
 
 16.2 Notice of the demand for arbitration shall be filed in writing with the other party to the Agreement 
and with the American Arbitration Association, and a copy shall be filed with ENGINEER.  The demand for 
arbitration shall be made within the thirty-day period specified in paragraph 9.10 where applicable, and in all 
other cases within a reasonable time after the claim, dispute or other matter in question has arisen, and in no 
event shall it be made after institution of legal or equitable proceedings based on such claim, dispute or other 
matter in question would be barred by the applicable statute of limitations. 
 
 16.3 CONTRACTOR will carry on the Work and maintain the progress schedule during any arbitration 
proceedings, unless otherwise agreed by him and OWNER in writing. 
 
 
ARTICLE 17 - MISCELLANEOUS 
      
 
Giving Notice: 
 
 17.1 Whenever any provision of the Contract Documents requires the giving of written notice it shall 
be deemed to have been validly given if delivered in person to the individual or to a member of the firm or to 
an officer of the corporation for whom it is intended, or if delivered at or sent by registered or certified mail, 
postage prepaid, to the last business address known to him who gives the notice. 
 
Computation of Time: 
 
 17.2 When any period of time is referred to in the Contract Documents by days, it shall  
be computed to exclude the first and include the last day of such period.  If the last day of such period falls 
on a Saturday or Sunday or on a day made a legal holiday by the law of the applicable jurisdiction, such day 
shall be omitted from the computation. 



 

B-39 
 

 
General: 
 
 17.3 All moneys not paid when due hereunder shall bear interest at the maximum rate allowed by law 
at the place of the Project. 
 
 17.4 All Specifications, Drawings and copies thereof furnished by ENGINEER shall remain his 
property.  They shall not be used on another Project, and, with the exception of those sets which have been 
signed in connection with the execution of the Agreement, shall be returned to him on request upon 
completion of the Project. 
 
 17.5 The duties and obligations imposed by these General Conditions and the rights and remedies 
available hereunder, and, in particular but without limitation, the warranties, guarantees and obligations 
imposed upon CONTRACTOR by paragraphs 6.30, 13.1, 13.10 and 14.3 and the rights and remedies 
available to OWNER and ENGINEER thereunder, shall be in addition to, and shall not be construed in any 
way as a limitation of, any rights and remedies available to them which are otherwise imposed or available 
by law, by special guarantees or by other provisions of the Contract Documents. 
 
 17.6 Should OWNER or CONTRACTOR suffer injury or damage to his person or property because 
of any error, omission or act of the other or of any of his employees or agents or others for whose acts he is 
legally liable, claim shall be made in writing to the other party within a reasonable time of the first observance 
of such injury or damage. 
 
 17.7 The Contract Documents shall be governed by the law of the place of the Project. 
  



 

B-40 
 

 
 
 TABLE OF CONTENTS OF SUPPLEMENTARY CONDITIONS 
 
 
 
Article 
Number Title                                    Page 
 
 1 Standard Codes B-41 
 
 2 Abbreviations B-41 
 
 3 Time of Completion B-41 
 
 4 Damages for Avoidable Delay B-42 
 
 5 Insurance Requirements B-42 
 
 6 Indemnity B-42 
 
 7 General Notes B-43 
 
 8 Project Specification B-45 
 
 9 Prevailing Wages B-49 
 
    10 Federal-Aid Contract Language B-56 
 
  
  
  



 

B-41 
 

SUPPLEMENTARY CONDITIONS 
 
 
1.1 Standard Codes 
 
 The following standard codes may be referred to herein: 
 
 Uniform Building Code (ICBO), current addition 
 California Uniform Building Code (CAUBC), current edition 
 Uniform Plumbing Code (IAPMO), current addition 
 National Electrical Code, current addition 
 
 
2.1 Abbreviations 
 
 Wherever the following abbreviations are used, the intent and meaning shall be interpreted as follows: 
 
 Conc. concrete 
 Elev. elevation 
 Ext. exterior 
 FT, ft. feet 
 GA, ga. gage 
 MAX., max. maximum 
 MIN., min. minimum 
 L.F. lineal feet 
 SQ. FT. square feet 
 DIA. diameter 
 EA. each 
 NO. number 
 L.S. lump sum 
 CMP corrugated metal pipe 
 AB aggregate base 
 SSP sanitary sewer pipe 
 PSI, psi pounds per square inch 
 PSF, psf pounds per square foot 
 TYP typical 
 
 
3.1 Time of Completion 
 
 The CONTRACTOR shall prosecute the work so that all portions of the project shall be complete and 
ready for use within 60 working days after the date of notice to proceed. 



 

B-42 
 

4.1 Damages for Avoidable Delay 
 
 In accordance with the provisions of this contract, the CONTRACTOR and the OWNER agree that 
OWNER will incur extra cost and expense if the work is not completed within the time allowed in the previous 
paragraph.  Inasmuch as the amount of these damages will be difficult to compute, CONTRACTOR and 
OWNER hereby agree that CONTRACTOR shall pay $500.00 per calendar day for each day beyond the time 
of completion for which the work has not been completed by CONTRACTOR.  Completion is defined for 
purposes of this article as the condition of the work at the time the Engineer prepares a definitive certificate 
of Substantial Completion as referred to in Article 14.8 of the General Conditions. 
 
 
5.1 Insurance Requirements 
 
 CONTRACTOR shall purchase and maintain insurance as required under Article 5.3 of the General 
Conditions in amounts of coverage not less than the following amounts: 
 
 5.1.1 General Liability: $1,000,000 per occurrence for bodily injury, personal 
  (Including operations, injury and property damage.  If Commercial General 
  products and completed Liability Insurance or other form with a general aggregate 
  operations) limit is used, either the general aggregate limit shall apply 

separately to this project/location or the general aggregate limit 
shall be twice the required occurrence limit. 

 
 5.1.2 Automobile Liability: $1,000,000 per accident for bodily injury and property 
   damage. 
 
6.1 Indemnity 
 

CONTRACTOR shall indemnify and hold harmless ENGINEER and the OWNER and its officers, 
officials, employees and volunteers from and against all claims, damages, losses and expenses including 
attorney fees arising out of the performance of the work described herein, caused in whole or in part by 
any negligent act or omission of the CONTRACTOR, any subcontractor, anyone directly or indirectly 
employed by any of them or anyone for whose acts any of them may be liable, except where caused by 
the active negligence, sole negligence, or willful misconduct of the OWNER. 

 
  



 

B-43 
 

7.1. General Notes: 
 
 A. The CONTRACTOR shall examine the working drawings:  architectural, structural, mechanical 

and electrical, and shall notify the architect and/or engineers of any discrepancies he may find 
before proceeding with the work. 

 
 B. The CONTRACTOR shall verify and be responsible for all dimensions and conditions at the site 

and shall notify the designer of discrepancies between the actual conditions and information 
shown on the drawings before proceeding with the work. 

 
 C. All work shall conform to the minimum standards for the latest edition of the Uniform Building 

Code and such other regulating agencies exercising authority over any portion of the work. 
 
 D. Specifications (if included) are integral to the drawings.  Notify designer before proceeding with 

any work if any disparity arises between drawings and specifications. 
 
 E. All work shall conform to the best practice prevailing in the various trades comprising the work. 
 
 F. Specific notes and details shall take precedence over General Notes and Typical Details.  

Dimensions shall supersede scale. 
 
 G. Details shown describe the general intent and character of the project.  Any specific areas not 

drawn shall be similar to those details that are related in location, intent, or function. 
 
 H. All subcontractors shall be held responsible for all conditions, ordinances, code and requirements 

pertinent to their category of work as dictated by regulatory agencies. 
 
 I. All subcontractors shall be held responsible for any damage to another's work caused by 

subcontractor, its employees or agents. 
 
 J. General CONTRACTOR to maintain site in a clean and neat manner.  Remove and legally dispose 

of all debris, rubbish, etc.  Remove all materials from those not intended for their application, such 
as paint spatters, masking materials, asphalt, etc. 

 
K. The Contractor shall contact the City of Nevada City, City Engineer to schedule a pre-construction 

meeting at least ten (10) working days prior to the start of construction (telephone 530-265-2496). 
 
 L. Contractor shall assume sole and complete responsibility for construction of this project, including 

safety of all persons and property.  This requirement shall apply continuously and not be limited 
to normal working hours.  The contractor shall defend, indemnify and hold the owner and the 
design engineer harmless from any and all liability, real or alleged in connection with the 
performance of the work on this project, excepting for liability arising from the intentional 
negligence of the owner or engineer. 

 
 M. The contractor is hereby notified that prior to commencing construction he is responsible for 

contacting all utility companies for verification at the construction site of the locations of all 
underground facilities where such facilities may conflict with placement of improvements shown 
on this plan.  Call ‘Underground Service Alert’ at 800-642-2444 prior to any excavation. 

 
 N. The locations of all underground facilities shown on this plan are approximate.  A reasonable 

effort has been made to locate and delineate all underground facilities.  However, the design 



 

B-44 
 

engineer assumes no liability for the accuracy of completeness of the existing facilities shown on 
hereon or for the existence of other underground utilities not shown on these plans.  The contractor 
shall verify the location of all existing facilities interfering with the construction of improvements.  
If so directed by the design engineer, the contractor shall stop work immediately until remedial 
action can be taken.  Any cost resulting from the contractors failure to report and or failure to stop 
work as directed will be the responsibility of the contractor. 

 
 O. The contractor shall request construction staking for any particular phase of work no less than two 

working days prior to commencement of construction.   
 
 P. The contractor is responsible for the protection of all existing monuments and other survey 

markers during construction.  Monuments disturbed, or lost, due to construction activities will 
require that the contractor have them replaced, in kind, by a licensed California Land Surveyor-
who will be required to file either a Corner Record, or Record of Survey, with the County-
whichever will meet the requirements of L.S. Act Section 8773 

 
 Q. The Contractor shall provide one complete set of As-Built Drawings.  Any changes to the plans 

shall be shown on a clean set of drawings marked in red and given to the City Engineer at job 
completion. 

 
 
 
  



 

B-45 
 

8.1  Project Specifications: 
 
Each item of work is bid as complete in place and includes all tools, equipment, materials, and labor to 
complete the item.  The bid items are intended to encompass all work shown on the plans and specified in 
these specifications.  Any item of work not specifically listed in the project quantities and bid sheet shall be 
paid for in other items of work and no additional payments will be made. 
 
 
MOBILIZATION, CLEARING AND EARTHWORK 
This item shall all mobilization and all clearing and removal of vegetation and improvements that conflict 
with the work shown in the plans. Stumps and roots shall be removed to a minimum depth of 2’ below the 
grading plane. Earthwork includes sawcutting, demolition, excavation and compaction activities that are not 
otherwise included in another item of work.  Excavated material, vegetation and demolition debris will 
become the property of the contractor and removed and disposed of at contractor’s expense.   
 
All fills shall be constructed to 90% relative compaction excepting the upper 6” shall be constructed to 95% 
relative compaction.  All excavation areas shall be scarified to 6” below subgrade and replaced at 95% 
relative compaction.  Compaction testing will be performed by the City under contract with a Geotechnical 
Engineer in accordance with Caltrans Standard Specifications.  If grading or other construction operations 
unearth archaeological or historic artifacts or resources, construction activities shall cease and the contractor 
shall notify the City of Nevada City at (530) 265-2496. 
 
CONCRETE CURB, SIDEWALK AND DRIVEWAYS 
Concrete work shall conform to the requirements of section 73 of the Standard Specifications and the 
Standard Plans.  Sidewalks, curbs, downslope rear curbs, upslope rear curbs, driveways, and curb ramps will 
be constructed as shown on the plans. Work includes patching the AC surface as necessary to provide a 
finished surface between the curb and roadway pavement.   
 
Concrete work will also include all work necessary to prepare the subgrade material.  Subgrade shall be 
watered and compacted prior to placing concrete.  Voids and soft areas in the subgrade shall be backfilled 
with suitable material, as necessary, to provide a stabile base.  All sidewalk and driveway work will be paid 
by the UNIT PRICE for curb, sidewalk and driveway and includes associated curbs (front curbs, downslope 
rear curbs, upslope rear curbs), all valley gutter, all culverts or piping for drainage under concrete surfaces, 
all associated ramps and truncated domes, all steps or stairways and all work and material necessary to 
construct concrete surfaces as shown on the plans.   
 
RETAINING WALL 
Retaining walls shall be constructed as shown in the plans, at the locations indicated, and to the grades 
established by the engineer.  Retaining wall construction includes all excavation and subgrade preparation 
necessary to construct the wall and includes backfill necessary to construct sidewalk.  Retaining wall also 
includes rubble facing.  Walls will be paid by the SQFT of wall surface. 
 
ASPHALT CONCRETE 
Asphalt concrete shall be Type A or B 1/2-inch maximum medium gradation and shall conform to the 
provisions in Section 39, "Asphalt Concrete,” of the Standard Specifications and these Special 
Provisions. Asphalt cement shall be grade PG 64-16 conforming to the requirements of Section 92 of the 
Standard Specifications. 
 
Paving shall be accomplished using a paving machine capable of paving widths and crown 
configurations required for this project.  The paving machine shall comply with Section 39-5.01 of the 
Standard Specifications. At a minimum, the paving machine shall be capable of paving widths of 8’ to 



 

B-46 
 

16’ including a 12’ lane and a 4’ shoulder in a single pass.  Screed extensions shall be capable of 
varying the width of paving as well as adjusting to the slope of the shoulder or to provide an edge taper. 
 
Prior to starting work, the contractor shall submit a paving plan in conjunction with the Traffic Control 
Plan that will detail the paving methods and equipment to be employed in the work.  The plan will 
provide a schedule for the work and the method and timing of completing the various portions of the 
project and address the surfacing available to public traffic during the various phases of work.  The 
paving plan is subject to the approval of the City Engineer.  No work will be allowed prior to approval. 
 
All existing A.C. surfaces shall be saw cut or ground to a depth of at least 0.2-foot a distance of 1' (one 
foot) minimum beyond limits of disturbance to a neat, straight line and removed.  The exposed edge 
shall be sealed with emulsion prior to paving.   
 
The Contractor shall submit an asphalt concrete mix design with substantiating laboratory test results to 
the Engineer for approval prior to paving operations. The Engineer will review the submittal; and, if 
acceptable, will give approval of the mix design within 5 working days thereafter. The Contractor shall 
not proceed with paving operations until the mix design is approved for this project. CALTRANS 
preapproved mix designs are acceptable. The percentage of bitumen to be used in the asphalt concrete 
mix will be as designated by the Engineer.  
 
All asphalt concrete used on the project, including on overlays, leveling courses and digouts shall be 
included in this item.  The contract unit price paid for asphalt concrete shall include full compensation 
for furnishing all labor, materials, tools, equipment and incidentals for doing all the work involved in the 
paving operations including striping, pavement marking, raising all existing manhole frames, valve boxes, 
and monument boxes to finished grade of the new surfacing, and no additional compensation will be 
allowed. 
 
GRIND ASPHALT CONCRETE 
This work shall consist of removing existing asphalt concrete surfacing as indicated in the Project 
Quantity Table and Paving Location Map. Material removed during a work period shall be replaced 
before the time the lane is to be opened to public traffic, unless the Engineer has approved an alternative 
plan. 
 
Asphalt concrete grindings shall be processed to a size of not more than 2”. Grindings greater than 2” 
shall be reprocessed to a smaller size. Grindings shall be stockpiled at a location within Nevada City, as 
directed by the Engineer.  
 
The Lump Sum price paid for Grinding Asphalt Concrete shall include full compensation for furnishing 
all labor, materials, tools, equipment, and incidentals, and for doing all the work involved in grinding 
asphalt concrete, processing the grindings for use as shoulder backing and base material and transporting 
the grindings.   
 
AGGREGATE BASE 
Aggregate Base for new pavement areas shall be Class 2, 6 inch thickness, and shall conform to the 
provisions in Section 26, "Aggregate Bases,” of the Standard Specifications and these Special 
Provisions.  Asphalt grindings is acceptable for use as Aggregate Base where roadways are being 
widened and as directed by the Engineer. 
 
The Lump Sum price paid for Aggregate Base shall include full compensation for furnishing all labor, 
materials, tools, equipment, and incidentals, and for doing all the work involved in subgrade preparation, 
furnishing, placing and compacting base material. 



 

B-47 
 

 
 
TRAFFIC CONTROL  
Traffic control shall consist of closing traffic lanes in conformance with the details shown on the plans and 
the provisions in Section 12, "Construction Area Traffic Control Devices," of the Standard Specifications and 
these Special Provisions. 
 
Construction activity requiring lane closures shall conform to the following restrictions; The travel way may 
be reduced to one 11 foot lane of traffic with two way stop control.  
The Contractor shall provide access to parking lots, driveways, residences and businesses at all times unless 
otherwise approved by the City Engineer.  Pedestrian and bicycle access facilities shall be provided through 
construction areas within the right of way, unless otherwise approved by the City Engineer. 
 
The provisions in this section will not relieve the Contractor from the responsibility to provide additional 
devices or take measures as may be necessary to comply with the provisions in Section 7-1.09, "Public 
Safety," of the Standard Specifications. 
 
When flaggers are required, they shall have radios and be in contact with personnel in the work area. One-
way traffic shall be controlled through the project in conformance with the Caltrans Standard Plan T-13, 
"Traffic Control System for Lane Closure on Two Lane Conventional Highways" and these Special 
Provisions. 
 
A Traffic Control Plan for controlling the traffic and parking, including shoulder closures, detours and lane 
closures on City roadways and pedestrian facilities in conjunction with the work shall be submitted by the 
Contractor. The Traffic Control Plan shall be consistent with all specific site conditions and work conditions 
for this project. Contractor shall submit the proposed Traffic Control Plan to the City Engineer for review and 
comments no later than five (5) working days prior to starting work. Construction shall not begin until the 
traffic control plan has been reviewed and accepted by the City Engineer.  
 
The Traffic Control Plan shall conform to the Plans, Standard Specifications, the California MUTCD dated 
January13, 2012, Section 12, “Construction Area Traffic Control Devices,” of the Standard Specifications, 
and these Special Provisions. 
 
Whenever lane lines and centerlines are obliterated, the minimum laneline and centerline delineation to be 
provided shall be temporary raised pavement markers placed at longitudinal intervals of not more than 24 
feet. The temporary raised pavement markers shall be the same color as the lane line or centerline the markers 
replace. Temporary raised pavement markers shall be, at the option of the Contractor, one of the temporary 
pavement markers approved for short term day/night use (14 days or less) by Caltrans. 
 
Full compensation for furnishing the Traffic Control Plan, temporary markers, all signs, pedestrian and 
bicycle access facilities, posting signs, detours, lane closures, materials, tools, equipment, and incidentals and 
for doing all work involved complete in place as shown on the plans, as specified in the Standard 
Specifications and these Special Provisions, and as directed by the Engineer will be included in the Contract 
lump sum price paid for “Traffic Control System” and no additional compensation will be allowed. 
 
The first paragraph of Section 12-2.02, “Flagging Costs,” of the Standard Specifications is amended in its 
entirety to read as follows: 
Full compensation for furnishing all flaggers, including transporting flaggers, and providing stands, towers, 
or lights for use of flaggers to provide for passage of public traffic through the work under the provisions in 
Sections 7-1.08, “Public Convenience,” and 7-1.09, “Public Safety,” of the Standard Specifications shall be 
considered as included in the Contract lump sum price paid for “Traffic Control” and no additional 



 

B-48 
 

compensation will be allowed. 
 
EROSION CONTROL  
In accordance with the Standard Specifications, Best Management Practices (BMP) measures shall be 
implemented to control surface erosion and protect water quality during project implementation.  BMPs will 
be required around the perimeter of all active work areas including staging areas, down slope of all proposed 
excavation and soil placement areas and stockpiles.  BMPs include temporary chain link fence barrier, fiber 
rolls, construction and silt fence, stabilized construction entrance, tree protection, dust control, stockpile 
management and other applicable BMPs as determined by the Engineer.  All BMPs shall be maintained and 
removed following completion of the project as directed by the Engineer. 
 
Full compensation for furnishing all labor and materials for Erosion Control BMPs shall be included in the 
bid for Mobilization and no additional compensation will be allowed. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  



 

B-49 
 

9.1  Prevailing Wages 
 
Contractor shall pay each laborer, workman or mechanic in accordance with Federal Prevailing Wage Rates 
and the California Labor Code (excerpts included herein).  These wage rates are hereby made a part of this 
contract: 
 
State General Prevailing Wage Determinations in effect on date advertised 
General prevailing wage determination 
Journeyman and Apprentice Prevailing Wage Rates can be accessed at the following websites: 
http://www.dir.ca.gov/dlsr/DPreWageDetermination.html and http://www.dir.ca.gov/das/publicworks.html 
Reference: Labor Code 1773.2 

 
 Federal Prevailing Wage Determinations in effect on bid date 
General Decision # CA150009   CA9 
General Decision County Index for CA: http://www.wdol.gov/wdol/scafiles/davisbacon/ca.html. 
Select the county where the work will be performed. Reference: Davis Bacon Act 
http://www.dot.ca.gov/hq/esc/oe/federal-wages/ca09.pdf 
 
 
Electronic Certified Payroll Records 

 All contractors must furnish electronic certified payroll records to the Labor Commissioner using 
the online eCPR data system 

 No contractor or subcontractor may be listed on a bid proposal for a public works project unless 
registered with the Department of Industrial Relations pursuant to Labor Code section 1725.5 
[with limited exceptions from this requirement for bid purposes only under Labor Code section 
1771.1(a)]. 

 No contractor or subcontractor may be awarded a contract for public work on a public works 
project unless registered with the Department of Industrial Relations pursuant to Labor Code 
section 1725.5. 

 This project is subject to compliance monitoring and enforcement by the Department of 
Industrial Relations. 

 The contractor shall post job site notices prescribed by regulation. (See 8 Calif. Code Reg. 
§16451(d) 

 
 
 
  



 

B-50 
 

Excerpts from CA Labor Code 
1771.1.  (a) A contractor or subcontractor shall not be qualified to bid on, be listed in a bid proposal, 
subject to the requirements of Section 4104 of the Public Contract Code, or engage in the 
performance of any contract for public work, as defined in this chapter, unless currently registered and 
qualified to perform public work pursuant to Section 1725.5. It is not a violation of this section for an 
unregistered contractor to submit a bid that is authorized by Section 7029.1 of the Business and 
Professions Code or by Section 10164 or 20103.5 of the Public Contract Code, provided the contractor 
is registered to perform public work pursuant to Section 1725.5 at the time the contract is awarded. 
 
1774.  The contractor to whom the contract is awarded, and any subcontractor under him, shall pay not 
less than the specified prevailing rates of wages to all workmen employed in the execution of the 
contract. 
 
1775.   
(a) (1) The contractor and any subcontractor under the contractor shall, as a penalty to the state or 
political subdivision on whose behalf the contract is made or awarded, forfeit not more than two 
hundred dollars ($200) for each calendar day, or portion thereof, for each worker paid less than the 
prevailing wage rates as determined by the director for the work or craft in which the worker is 
employed for any public work done under the contract by the contractor or, except as provided in 
subdivision (b), by any subcontractor under the contractor. 
(2) (A) The amount of the penalty shall be determined by the Labor Commissioner based on 
consideration of both of the following: 
(i) Whether the failure of the contractor or subcontractor to pay the correct rate of per diem wages was 
a good faith mistake and, if so, the error was promptly and voluntarily corrected when brought to the 
attention of the contractor or subcontractor. 
(ii) Whether the contractor or subcontractor has a prior record of failing to meet its prevailing wage 
obligations. 
(B) (i) The penalty may not be less than forty dollars ($40) for each calendar day, or portion thereof, 
for each worker paid less than the prevailing wage rate, unless the failure of the contractor or 
subcontractor to pay the correct rate of per diem wages was a good faith mistake and, if so, the error 
was promptly and voluntarily corrected when brought to the attention of the contractor or subcontractor. 
(ii) The penalty may not be less than eighty dollars ($80) for each calendar day, or portion thereof, for 
each worker paid less than the prevailing wage rate, if the contractor or subcontractor has been assessed 
penalties within the previous three years for failing to meet its prevailing wage obligations on a separate 
contract, unless those penalties were subsequently withdrawn or overturned. 
(iii) The penalty may not be less than one hundred twenty dollars ($120) for each calendar day, or 
portion thereof, for each worker paid less than the prevailing wage rate, if the Labor Commissioner 
determines that the violation was willful, as defined in subdivision (c) of Section 1777.1. 
(C) If the amount due under this section is collected from the contractor or subcontractor, any 
outstanding wage claim under Chapter 1 (commencing with Section 1720) of Part 7 of Division 2 
against that contractor or subcontractor shall be satisfied before applying that amount to the penalty 
imposed on that contractor or subcontractor pursuant to this section. 
(D) The determination of the Labor Commissioner as to the amount of the penalty shall be reviewable 
only for abuse of discretion. 
(E) The difference between the prevailing wage rates and the amount paid to each worker for each 
calendar day or portion thereof for which each worker was paid less than the prevailing wage rate shall 
be paid to each worker by the contractor or subcontractor, and the body awarding the contract shall 
cause to be inserted in the contract a stipulation that this section will be complied with. 
(b) If a worker employed by a subcontractor on a public works project is not paid the general prevailing 
rate of per diem wages by the subcontractor, the prime contractor of the project is not liable for any 
penalties under subdivision (a) unless the prime contractor had knowledge of that failure of the 



 

B-51 
 

subcontractor to pay the specified prevailing rate of wages to those workers or unless the prime 
contractor fails to comply with all of the following requirements: 
(1) The contract executed between the contractor and the subcontractor for the performance of work on 
the public works project shall include a copy of the provisions of this section and Sections 1771, 1776, 
1777.5, 1813, and 1815. 
(2) The contractor shall monitor the payment of the specified general prevailing rate of per diem wages 
by the subcontractor to the employees, by periodic review of the certified payroll records of the 
subcontractor. 
(3) Upon becoming aware of the failure of the subcontractor to pay his or her workers the specified 
prevailing rate of wages, the contractor shall diligently take corrective action to halt or rectify the 
failure, including, but not limited to, retaining sufficient funds due the subcontractor for work 
performed on the public works project. 
(4) Prior to making final payment to the subcontractor for work performed on the public works project, 
the contractor shall obtain an affidavit signed under penalty of perjury from the subcontractor that the 
subcontractor has paid the specified general prevailing rate of per diem wages to his or her employees 
on the public works project and any amounts due pursuant to Section 1813. 
(c) The Division of Labor Standards Enforcement shall notify the contractor on a public works project 
within 15 days of the receipt by the Division of Labor Standards Enforcement of a complaint of the 
failure of a subcontractor on that public works project to pay workers the general prevailing rate of per 
diem wages. 
(Amended by Stats. 2011, Ch. 677, Sec. 1. Effective January 1, 2012.) 
 
1776. 
(a) Each contractor and subcontractor shall keep accurate payroll records, showing the name, address, 
social security number, work classification, straight time and overtime hours worked each day and 
week, and the actual per diem wages paid to each journeyman, apprentice, worker, or other employee 
employed by him or her in connection with the public work. Each payroll record shall contain or be 
verified by a written declaration that it is made under penalty of perjury, stating both of the following: 
(1) The information contained in the payroll record is true and correct. 
(2) The employer has complied with the requirements of Sections 1771, 1811, and 1815 for any work 
performed by his or her employees on the public works project. 
(b) The payroll records enumerated under subdivision (a) shall be certified and shall be available for 
inspection at all reasonable hours at the principal office of the contractor on the following basis: 
(1) A certified copy of an employee’s payroll record shall be made available for inspection or furnished 
to the employee or his or her authorized representative on request. 
(2) A certified copy of all payroll records enumerated in subdivision (a) shall be made available for 
inspection or furnished upon request to a representative of the body awarding the contract and the 
Division of Labor Standards Enforcement of the Department of Industrial Relations. 
(3) A certified copy of all payroll records enumerated in subdivision (a) shall be made available upon 
request by the public for inspection or for copies thereof. However, a request by the public shall be 
made through either the body awarding the contract or the Division of Labor Standards Enforcement. 
If the requested payroll records have not been provided pursuant to paragraph (2), the requesting party 
shall, prior to being provided the records, reimburse the costs of preparation by the contractor, 
subcontractors, and the entity through which the request was made. The public may not be given access 
to the records at the principal office of the contractor. 
(c) Unless required to be furnished directly to the Labor Commissioner in accordance with paragraph 
(3) of subdivision (a) of Section 1771.4, the certified payroll records shall be on forms provided by the 
Division of Labor Standards Enforcement or shall contain the same information as the forms provided 
by the division. The payroll records may consist of printouts of payroll data that are maintained as 
computer records, if the printouts contain the same information as the forms provided by the division 
and the printouts are verified in the manner specified in subdivision (a). 



 

B-52 
 

(d) A contractor or subcontractor shall file a certified copy of the records enumerated in subdivision (a) 
with the entity that requested the records within 10 days after receipt of a written request. 
(e) Except as provided in subdivision (f), any copy of records made available for inspection as copies 
and furnished upon request to the public or any public agency by the awarding body or the Division of 
Labor Standards Enforcement shall be marked or obliterated to prevent disclosure of an individual’s 
name, address, and social security number. The name and address of the contractor awarded the contract 
or the subcontractor performing the contract shall not be marked or obliterated. Any copy of records 
made available for inspection by, or furnished to, a multiemployer Taft-Hartley trust fund (29 U.S.C. 
Sec. 186(c)(5)) that requests the records for the purposes of allocating contributions to participants shall 
be marked or obliterated only to prevent disclosure of an individual’s full social security number, but 
shall provide the last four digits of the social security number. Any copy of records made available for 
inspection by, or furnished to, a joint labor-management committee established pursuant to the federal 
Labor Management Cooperation Act of 1978 (29 U.S.C. Sec. 175a) shall be marked or obliterated only 
to prevent disclosure of an individual’s social security number. 
(f) (1) Notwithstanding any other provision of law, agencies that are included in the Joint Enforcement 
Strike Force on the Underground Economy established pursuant to Section 329 of the Unemployment 
Insurance Code and other law enforcement agencies investigating violations of law shall, upon request, 
be provided nonredacted copies of certified payroll records. Any copies of records or certified payroll 
made available for inspection and furnished upon request to the public by an agency included in the 
Joint Enforcement Strike Force on the Underground Economy or to a law enforcement agency 
investigating a violation of law shall be marked or redacted to prevent disclosure of an individual’s 
name, address, and social security number. 
(2) An employer shall not be liable for damages in a civil action for any reasonable act or omission 
taken in good faith in compliance with this subdivision. 
(g) The contractor shall inform the body awarding the contract of the location of the records enumerated 
under subdivision (a), including the street address, city, and county, and shall, within five working days, 
provide a notice of a change of location and address. 
(h) The contractor or subcontractor has 10 days in which to comply subsequent to receipt of a written 
notice requesting the records enumerated in subdivision (a). In the event that the contractor or 
subcontractor fails to comply within the 10-day period, he or she shall, as a penalty to the state or 
political subdivision on whose behalf the contract is made or awarded, forfeit one hundred dollars 
($100) for each calendar day, or portion thereof, for each worker, until strict compliance is effectuated. 
Upon the request of the Division of Labor Standards Enforcement, these penalties shall be withheld 
from progress payments then due. A contractor is not subject to a penalty assessment pursuant to this 
section due to the failure of a subcontractor to comply with this section. 
(i) The body awarding the contract shall cause to be inserted in the contract stipulations to effectuate 
this section. 
(j) The director shall adopt rules consistent with the California Public Records Act (Chapter 3.5 
(commencing with Section 6250) of Division 7 of Title 1 of the Government Code) and the Information 
Practices Act of 1977 (Title 1.8 (commencing with Section 1798) of Part 4 of Division 3 of the Civil 
Code) governing the release of these records, including the establishment of reasonable fees to be 
charged for reproducing copies of records required by this section. 
(Amended by Stats. 2014, Ch. 28, Sec. 71. Effective June 20, 2014.) 
 
1777.5 
(a) This chapter does not prevent the employment of properly registered apprentices upon public works. 
(b) (1) Every apprentice employed upon public works shall be paid the prevailing rate of per diem 
wages for apprentices in the trade to which he or she is registered and shall be employed only at the 
work of the craft or trade to which he or she is registered. 
(2) Unless otherwise provided by a collective bargaining agreement, when a contractor requests the 
dispatch of an apprentice pursuant to this section to perform work on a public works project and requires 



 

B-53 
 

the apprentice to fill out an application or undergo testing, training, an examination, or other 
preemployment process as a condition of employment, the apprentice shall be paid for the time spent 
on the required preemployment activity, including travel time to and from the required activity, if any, 
at the prevailing rate of per diem wages for apprentices in the trade to which he or she is registered. 
Unless otherwise provided by a collective bargaining agreement, a contractor is not required to 
compensate an apprentice for the time spent on preemployment activities if the apprentice is required 
to take a preemployment drug or alcohol test and he or she fails to pass that test. 
(c) Only apprentices, as defined in Section 3077, who are in training under apprenticeship standards 
that have been approved by the Chief of the Division of Apprenticeship Standards and who are parties 
to written apprentice agreements under Chapter 4 (commencing with Section 3070) of Division 3 are 
eligible to be employed at the apprentice wage rate on public works. The employment and training of 
each apprentice shall be in accordance with either of the following: 
(1) The apprenticeship standards and apprentice agreements under which he or she is training. 
(2) The rules and regulations of the California Apprenticeship Council. 
(d) If the contractor to whom the contract is awarded by the state or any political subdivision, in 
performing any of the work under the contract, employs workers in any apprenticeable craft or trade, 
the contractor shall employ apprentices in at least the ratio set forth in this section and may apply to any 
apprenticeship program in the craft or trade that can provide apprentices to the site of the public work 
for a certificate approving the contractor under the apprenticeship standards for the employment and 
training of apprentices in the area or industry affected. However, the decision of the apprenticeship 
program to approve or deny a certificate shall be subject to review by the Administrator of 
Apprenticeship. The apprenticeship program or programs, upon approving the contractor, shall arrange 
for the dispatch of apprentices to the contractor. A contractor covered by an apprenticeship program’s 
standards shall not be required to submit any additional application in order to include additional public 
works contracts under that program. “Apprenticeable craft or trade,” as used in this section, means a 
craft or trade determined as an apprenticeable occupation in accordance with rules and regulations 
prescribed by the California Apprenticeship Council. As used in this section, “contractor” includes any 
subcontractor under a contractor who performs any public works not excluded by subdivision (o). 
(e) Before commencing work on a contract for public works, every contractor shall submit contract 
award information to an applicable apprenticeship program that can supply apprentices to the site of 
the public work. The information submitted shall include an estimate of journeyman hours to be 
performed under the contract, the number of apprentices proposed to be employed, and the approximate 
dates the apprentices would be employed. A copy of this information shall also be submitted to the 
awarding body, if requested by the awarding body. Within 60 days after concluding work on the 
contract, each contractor and subcontractor shall submit to the awarding body, if requested, and to the 
apprenticeship program a verified statement of the journeyman and apprentice hours performed on the 
contract. The information under this subdivision shall be public. The apprenticeship programs shall 
retain this information for 12 months. 
(f) The apprenticeship program supplying apprentices to the area of the site of the public work shall 
ensure equal employment and affirmative action in apprenticeship for women and minorities. 
(g) The ratio of work performed by apprentices to journeymen employed in a particular craft or trade 
on the public work may be no higher than the ratio stipulated in the apprenticeship standards under 
which the apprenticeship program operates if the contractor agrees to be bound by those standards. 
However, except as otherwise provided in this section, in no case shall the ratio be less than one hour 
of apprentice work for every five hours of journeyman work. 
(h) This ratio of apprentice work to journeyman work shall apply during any day or portion of a day 
when any journeyman is employed at the jobsite and shall be computed on the basis of the hours worked 
during the day by journeymen so employed. Any work performed by a journeyman in excess of eight 
hours per day or 40 hours per week shall not be used to calculate the ratio. The contractor shall employ 
apprentices for the number of hours computed as above before the end of the contract or, in the case of 
a subcontractor, before the end of the subcontract. However, the contractor shall endeavor, to the 



 

B-54 
 

greatest extent possible, to employ apprentices during the same time period that the journeymen in the 
same craft or trade are employed at the jobsite. When an hourly apprenticeship ratio is not feasible for 
a particular craft or trade, the Administrator of Apprenticeship, upon application of an apprenticeship 
program, may order a minimum ratio of not less than one apprentice for each five journeymen in a craft 
or trade classification. 
(i) A contractor covered by this section who has agreed to be covered by an apprenticeship program’s 
standards upon the issuance of the approval certificate, or who has been previously approved for an 
apprenticeship program in the craft or trade, shall employ the number of apprentices or the ratio of 
apprentices to journeymen stipulated in the applicable apprenticeship standards, but in no event less 
than the 1-to-5 ratio required by subdivision (g). 
(j) Upon proper showing by a contractor that he or she employs apprentices in a particular craft or trade 
in the state on all of his or her contracts on an annual average of not less than one hour of apprentice 
work for every five hours of labor performed by journeymen, the Administrator of Apprenticeship may 
grant a certificate exempting the contractor from the 1-to-5 hourly ratio, as set forth in this section for 
that craft or trade. 
(k) An apprenticeship program has the discretion to grant to a participating contractor or contractor 
association a certificate, which shall be subject to the approval of the Administrator of Apprenticeship, 
exempting the contractor from the 1-to-5 ratio set forth in this section when it finds that any one of the 
following conditions is met: 
(1) Unemployment for the previous three-month period in the area exceeds an average of 15 percent. 
(2) The number of apprentices in training in the area exceeds a ratio of 1 to 5. 
(3) There is a showing that the apprenticeable craft or trade is replacing at least one-thirtieth of its 
journeymen annually through apprenticeship training, either on a statewide basis or on a local basis. 
(4) Assignment of an apprentice to any work performed under a public works contract would create a 
condition that would jeopardize his or her life or the life, safety, or property of fellow employees or the 
public at large, or the specific task to which the apprentice is to be assigned is of a nature that training 
cannot be provided by a journeyman. 
(l) If an exemption is granted pursuant to subdivision (k) to an organization that represents contractors 
in a specific trade from the 1-to-5 ratio on a local or statewide basis, the member contractors shall not 
be required to submit individual applications for approval to local joint apprenticeship committees, if 
they are already covered by the local apprenticeship standards. 
(m) (1) A contractor to whom a contract is awarded, who, in performing any of the work under the 
contract, employs journeymen or apprentices in any apprenticeable craft or trade shall contribute to the 
California Apprenticeship Council the same amount that the director determines is the prevailing 
amount of apprenticeship training contributions in the area of the public works site. A contractor may 
take as a credit for payments to the council any amounts paid by the contractor to an approved 
apprenticeship program that can supply apprentices to the site of the public works project. The 
contractor may add the amount of the contributions in computing his or her bid for the contract. 
(2) At the conclusion of the 2002–03 fiscal year and each fiscal year thereafter, the California 
Apprenticeship Council shall distribute training contributions received by the council under this 
subdivision, less the expenses of the Department of Industrial Relations for administering this 
subdivision, by making grants to approved apprenticeship programs for the purpose of training 
apprentices. The funds shall be distributed as follows: 
(A) If there is an approved multiemployer apprenticeship program serving the same craft or trade and 
geographic area for which the training contributions were made to the council, a grant to that program 
shall be made. 
(B) If there are two or more approved multiemployer apprenticeship programs serving the same craft 
or trade and county for which the training contributions were made to the council, the grant shall be 
divided among those programs based on the number of apprentices from that county registered in each 
program. 
(C) All training contributions not distributed under subparagraphs (A) and (B) shall be used to defray 



 

B-55 
 

the future expenses of the Department of Industrial Relations for the administration and enforcement 
of apprenticeship standards and requirements under this code. 
(3) All training contributions received pursuant to this subdivision shall be deposited in the 
Apprenticeship Training Contribution Fund, which is hereby created in the State Treasury. Upon 
appropriation by the Legislature, all moneys in the Apprenticeship Training Contribution Fund shall be 
used for the purpose of carrying out this subdivision and to pay the expenses of the Department of 
Industrial Relations. 
(n) The body awarding the contract shall cause to be inserted in the contract stipulations to effectuate 
this section. The stipulations shall fix the responsibility of compliance with this section for all 
apprenticeable occupations with the prime contractor. 
(o) This section does not apply to contracts of general contractors or to contracts of specialty contractors 
not bidding for work through a general or prime contractor when the contracts of general contractors or 
those specialty contractors involve less than thirty thousand dollars ($30,000). 
(p) An awarding body that implements an approved labor compliance program in accordance with 
subdivision (b) of Section 1771.5 may, with the approval of the director, assist in the enforcement of 
this section under the terms and conditions prescribed by the director. 
(Amended by Stats. 2016, Ch. 746, Sec. 1. Effective January 1, 2017.) 
 
1813.  The contractor or subcontractor shall, as a penalty to the state or political subdivision on whose 
behalf the contract is made or awarded, forfeit twenty-five dollars ($25) for each worker employed in 
the execution of the contract by the respective contractor or subcontractor for each calendar day during 
which the worker is required or permitted to work more than 8 hours in any one calendar day and 40 
hours in any one calendar week in violation of the provisions of this article. In awarding any contract 
for public work, the awarding body shall cause to be inserted in the contract a stipulation to this effect. 
The awarding body shall take cognizance of all violations of this article committed in the course of the 
execution of the contract, and shall report them to the Division of Labor Standards Enforcement. 
 
1815.  Notwithstanding the provisions of Sections 1810 to 1814, inclusive, of this code, and 
notwithstanding any stipulation inserted in any contract pursuant to the requirements of said sections, 
work performed by employees of contractors in excess of 8 hours per day, and 40 hours during any one 
week, shall be permitted upon public work upon compensation for all hours worked in excess of 8 hours 
per day at not less than 1 1/2 times the basic rate of pay. 

  



 

B-56 
 

 
10.1    FEDERAL-AID CONTRACT LANGUAGE    (EXHIBIT 12-G CALTRANS LOCAL ASSISTANCE) 

(For Local Assistance Construction Projects) 

 
The following language must be incorporated into all Local Assistance Federal-aid construction contracts.  
The following language, with minor edits, was taken from the Code of Federal Regulations.  

 
MAINTAIN RECORDS AND SUBMIT REPORTS DOCUMENTING YOUR PERFORMANCE UNDER THIS SECTION 
 

1.  DISADVANTAGED BUSINESS ENTERPRISES (DBE)………………………………………………………......2 

A.  DBE COMMITMENT SUBMITTAL……………………………………………………………………....1 

B.  GOOD FAITH EFFORTS SUBMITTAL…………………………………………………………………..1 

C.  EXHIBIT 15-G - CONSTRUCTION CONTRACT DBE COMMITMENT……………………………..2 

D.  SUBCONTRACTOR AND DISADVANTAGED BUSINESS ENTERPRISE RECORDS……………..2 

E.  PERFORMANCE OF DISADVANTAGED BUSINESS ENTERPRISES……………………………….3 

2.  BID OPENING………………………………………………………………………………………………….……...3 

3.  BID RIGGING…………………………………………………………………………………………………….…....3 

4.  CONTRACT AWARD………………………………………………………………………………………….……...4 

5.  CONTRACTOR LICENSE……………………………………………………………………………………….…...4 

6.  CHANGED CONDITIONS…………………………………………………………………………………….……...4 

A.  DIFFERING SITE CONDITION…………………………………………………………………………....4 

B.  SUSPENSIONS OF WORK ORDERED BY THE ENGINEER…………………………………………..4 

C.  SIGNIFICANT CHANGES IN THE CHARACTER OF WORK………………………………………...4 

7.  BEGINNING OF WORK, TIME OF COMPLETION AND LIQUIDATED DAMAGES……………….………..5 

8.  BUY AMERICA…………………………………………………………………………………………….…………..5 

FURNISH STEEL AND IRON MATERIALS TO BE INCORPORATED INTO THE WORK WITH CERTIFICATES OF COMPLIANCE. 
STEEL AND IRON MATERIALS MUST BE PRODUCED IN THE U.S. EXCEPT.…………………………………………….……..5 

9.  QUALITY ASSURANCE……………………………………………………………………….……………………...5 

10.   PROMPT PAYMENT OF FUNDS WITHHELD TO SUBCONTRACTORS…………………….………………..5 

11.   FORM FHWA-1273 REQUIRED CONTRACT PROVISIONS FEDERAL-AID CONTRACTS.……………....6 

12.  FEMALE AND MINORITY GOALS……………………………………………………………………………..…18 

13.  TITLE VI ASSURANCE…………………………………………………………………………………….…...…...20 

14.  USE OF UNITED STATES-FLAG VESSELS (CARGO PREFERENCE ACT)…………………………….…...21 

15.  FEDERAL TRAINEE PROGRAM…...……………………………………………………………………….….….22 
          



 

 

1. DISADVANTAGED BUSINESS ENTERPRISES (DBE)  
       Under 49 CFR 26.13(b): 

The contractor, subrecipient or subcontractor shall not discriminate on the basis of race, color, national origin, 
or sex in the performance of this contract.  The contractor shall carry out applicable requirements of 49 CFR 
part 26 in the award and administration of DOT-assisted contracts.  Failure by the contractor to carry out these 
requirements is a material breach of this contract, which may result in the termination of this contract or such 
other remedy as the recipient deems appropriate. 

Take necessary and reasonable steps to ensure that DBEs have opportunity to participate in the contract (49 CFR 26). 

To ensure equal participation of DBEs provided in 49 CFR 26.5, the Agency shows a goal for DBEs. 

Make work available to DBEs and select work parts consistent with available DBE subcontractors and suppliers. 

Meet the DBE goal shown elsewhere in these special provisions or demonstrate that you made adequate good faith 
efforts to meet this goal. 

It is your responsibility to verify that the DBE firm is certified as DBE at date of bid opening. For a list of DBEs certified 
by the California Unified Certification Program, go to:  http://www.dot.ca.gov/hq/bep/find_certified.htm. 

All DBE participation will count toward the California Department of Transportation’s federally mandated statewide 
overall DBE goal. 

Credit for materials or supplies you purchase from DBEs counts towards the goal in the following manner: 

 100 percent counts if the materials or supplies are obtained from a DBE manufacturer. 

 60 percent counts if the materials or supplies are obtained from a DBE regular dealer. 

 Only fees, commissions, and charges for assistance in the procurement and delivery of materials or 
supplies count if obtained from a DBE that is neither a manufacturer nor regular dealer.  49 CFR 26.55 
defines "manufacturer" and "regular dealer." 

You receive credit towards the goal if you employ a DBE trucking company that performs a commercially useful 
function as defined in 49 CFR 26.55(d)(1) through (4) and (6). 

DBE Commitment Submittal  

Submit the Exhibit 15-G Construction Contract DBE Commitment form, included in the Bid book.  If the form is not 
submitted with the bid, remove the form from the Bid book before submitting your bid. 

If the DBE Commitment form is not submitted with the bid, the apparent low bidder, the 2nd low bidder, and the 3rd low 
bidder must complete and submit the DBE Commitment form to the Agency.  DBE Commitment form must be received 
by the Agency no later than 4:00 p.m. on the 5th calendar day after bid opening. 

Other bidders do not need to submit the DBE Commitment form unless the Agency requests it.  If the Agency requests 
you to submit a DBE Commitment form, submit the completed form within 5 calendar days of the request. 

Submit written confirmation from each DBE stating that it is participating in the contract.  Include confirmation with the 
DBE Commitment form.  A copy of a DBE's quote will serve as written confirmation that the DBE is participating in the 
contract. 

If you do not submit the DBE Commitment form within the specified time, the Agency will find your bid nonresponsive. 

Good Faith Efforts Submittal  

If you have not met the DBE goal, complete and submit the DBE Information - Good Faith Efforts, Exhibit 15-H, form 
with the bid showing that you made adequate good faith efforts to meet the goal.  Only good faith efforts directed 
towards obtaining participation by DBEs will be considered.  If good faith efforts documentation is not submitted with 
the bid, it must be received by the Agency no later than 4:00 p.m. on the 5th calendar day after bid opening. 

If your DBE Commitment form shows that you have met the DBE goal or if you are required to submit the DBE 
Commitment form, you must also submit good faith efforts documentation within the specified time to protect your 
eligibility for award of the contract in the event the Agency finds that the DBE goal has not been met. 

Good faith efforts documentation must include the following information and supporting documents, as necessary: 

1. Items of work you have made available to DBE firms.  Identify those items of work you might 
otherwise perform with your own forces and those items that have been broken down into 
economically feasible units to facilitate DBE participation.  For each item listed, show the dollar value 



 

 

and percentage of the total contract.  It is your responsibility to demonstrate that sufficient work to 
meet the goal was made available to DBE firms. 

2. Names of certified DBEs and dates on which they were solicited to bid on the project.  Include the 
items of work offered.  Describe the methods used for following up initial solicitations to determine 
with certainty if the DBEs were interested, and the dates of the follow-up.  Attach supporting 
documents such as copies of letters, memos, facsimiles sent, telephone logs, telephone billing 
statements, and other evidence of solicitation.  You are reminded to solicit certified DBEs through all 
reasonable and available means and provide sufficient time to allow DBEs to respond. 

3. Name of selected firm and its status as a DBE for each item of work made available.  Include name, 
address, and telephone number of each DBE that provided a quote and their price quote.  If the firm 
selected for the item is not a DBE, provide the reasons for the selection. 

4. Name and date of each publication in which you requested DBE participation for the project.  Attach 
copies of the published advertisements. 

5. Names of agencies and dates on which they were contacted to provide assistance in contacting, 
recruiting, and using DBE firms.  If the agencies were contacted in writing, provide copies of 
supporting documents. 

6. List of efforts made to provide interested DBEs with adequate information about the plans, 
specifications, and requirements of the contract to assist them in responding to a solicitation.  If you 
have provided information, identify the name of the DBE assisted, the nature of the information 
provided, and date of contact.  Provide copies of supporting documents, as appropriate. 

7. List of efforts made to assist interested DBEs in obtaining bonding, lines of credit, insurance, 
necessary equipment, supplies, and materials, excluding supplies and equipment that the DBE 
subcontractor purchases or leases from the prime contractor or its affiliate.  If such assistance is 
provided by you, identify the name of the DBE assisted, nature of the assistance offered, and date 
assistance was provided.  Provide copies of supporting documents, as appropriate. 

8. Any additional data to support demonstration of good faith efforts. 

The Agency may consider DBE commitments of the 2nd and 3rd bidders when determining whether the low bidder 
made good faith efforts to meet the DBE goal. 

Exhibit 15-G - Construction Contract DBE Commitment  

Complete and sign Exhibit 15-G Construction Contract DBE Commitment included in the contract documents regardless 
of whether DBE participation is reported. 

Provide written confirmation from each DBE that the DBE is participating in the Contract. A copy of a DBE's quote 
serves as written confirmation. If a DBE is participating as a joint venture partner, the Agency encourages you to submit 
a copy of the joint venture agreement.) 

Subcontractor and Disadvantaged Business Enterprise Records  

Use each DBE subcontractor as listed on Exhibit 12-B Bidder’s List of Subcontractors (DBE and Non-DBE) and Exhibit 
15-G Construction Contract DBE Commitment form unless you receive authorization for a substitution. 

The Agency requests the Contractor to: 

1. Notify the Engineer of any changes to its anticipated DBE participation 

2. Provide this notification before starting the affected work 

3. Maintain records including: 

 Name and business address of each 1st-tier subcontractor  

 Name and business address of each DBE subcontractor, DBE vendor, and DBE trucking 
company, regardless of tier 

 Date of payment and total amount paid to each business 

If you are a DBE contractor, include the date of work performed by your own forces and the corresponding value of the 
work. 

Before the 15th of each month, submit a Monthly DBE Trucking Verification form. 



 

 

If a DBE is decertified before completing its work, the DBE must notify you in writing of the decertification date.  If a 
business becomes a certified DBE before completing its work, the business must notify you in writing of the certification 
date.  Submit the notifications.  On work completion, complete a Disadvantaged Business Enterprises (DBE) 
Certification Status Change, Exhibit 17-O, form.  Submit the form within 30 days of contract acceptance. 

Upon work completion, complete Exhibit 17-F Final Report – Utilization of Disadvantaged Business Enterprises (DBE), 
First-Tier Subcontractors.  Submit it within 90 days of contract acceptance.  The Agency will withhold $10,000 until the 
form is submitted.  The Agency releases the withhold upon submission of the completed form. 

Performance of Disadvantaged Business Enterprises  

DBEs must perform work or supply materials as listed in the Exhibit 15-G Construction Contract DBE Commitment 
form, included in the Bid. 

Do not terminate or substitute a listed DBE for convenience and perform the work with your own forces or obtain 
materials from other sources without authorization from the Agency. 

The Agency authorizes a request to use other forces or sources of materials if it shows any of the following justifications: 

1. Listed DBE fails or refuses to execute a written contract based on plans and specifications for the 
project. 

2. You stipulated that a bond is a condition of executing the subcontract and the listed DBE fails to meet 
your bond requirements. 

3. Work requires a contractor's license and listed DBE does not have a valid license under Contractors 
License Law. 

4. Listed DBE fails or refuses to perform the work or furnish the listed materials. 

5. Listed DBE's work is unsatisfactory and not in compliance with the contract. 

6. Listed DBE is ineligible to work on the project because of suspension or debarment. 

7. Listed DBE becomes bankrupt or insolvent. 

8. Listed DBE voluntarily withdraws with written notice from the Contract 

9. Listed DBE is ineligible to receive credit for the type of work required. 

10. Listed DBE owner dies or becomes disabled resulting in the inability to perform the work on the 
Contract. 

11. Agency determines other documented good cause. 

Notify the original DBE of your intent to use other forces or material sources and provide the reasons.  Provide the DBE 
with 5 days to respond to your notice and advise you and the Agency of the reasons why the use of other forces or 
sources of materials should not occur.  Your request to use other forces or material sources must include: 

1. One or more of the reasons listed in the preceding paragraph. 

2. Notices from you to the DBE regarding the request. 

3. Notices from the DBEs to you regarding the request. 

If a listed DBE is terminated or substituted, you must make good faith efforts to find another DBE to substitute for the 
original DBE.  The substitute DBE must perform at least the same amount of work as the original DBE under the 
contract to the extent needed to meet the DBE goal. 

The substitute DBE must be certified as a DBE at the time of request for substitution Unless the Agency authorizes (1) a 
request to use other forces or sources of materials or (2) a good faith effort for a substitution of a terminated DBE, the 
Agency does not pay for work listed on the Exhibit 15-G Construction Contract DBE Commitment form unless it is 
performed or supplied by the listed DBE or an authorized substitute. 
 

2. BID OPENING The Agency publicly opens and reads bids at the time and place shown on the Notice to Contractors. 

3. BID RIGGING The U.S. Department of Transportation (DOT) provides a toll-free hotline to report bid rigging 
activities. Use the hotline to report bid rigging, bidder collusion, and other fraudulent activities. The hotline number is 
(800) 424-9071. The service is available 24 hours 7 days a week and is confidential and anonymous.. The hotline is part 



 

 

of the DOT's effort to identify and investigate highway construction contract fraud and abuse and is operated under the 
direction of the DOT Inspector General. 

4. CONTRACT AWARD If the Agency awards the contract, the award is made to the lowest responsible and 
responsive bidder. 

5. CONTRACTOR LICENSE  
The Contractor must be properly licensed as a contractor from contract award through Contract acceptance (Public 
Contract Code § 10164). 

6. CHANGED CONDITIONS  

a. Differing Site Conditions  

1. During the progress of the work, if subsurface or latent physical conditions are encountered at the 
site differing materially from those indicated in the contract or if unknown physical conditions of 
an unusual nature, differing materially from those ordinarily encountered and generally 
recognized as inherent in the work provided for in the contract, are encountered at the site, the 
party discovering such conditions shall promptly notify the other party in writing of the specific 
differing conditions before the site is disturbed and before the affected work is performed. 

2. Upon written notification, the engineer will investigate the conditions, and if it is determined that 
the conditions materially differ and cause an increase or decrease in the cost or time required for 
the performance of any work under the contract, an adjustment, excluding anticipated profits, will 
be made and the contract modified in writing accordingly. The engineer will notify the contractor 
of the determination whether or not an adjustment of the contract is warranted. 

3. No contract adjustment which results in a benefit to the contractor will be allowed unless the 
contractor has provided the required written notice. 

4. No contract adjustment will be allowed under this clause for any effects caused on unchanged 
work. (This provision may be omitted by the Local Agency, at their option.) 

Suspensions of Work Ordered by the Engineer  

1. If the performance of all or any portion of the work is suspended or delayed by the engineer in 
writing for an unreasonable period of time (not originally anticipated, customary, or inherent to 
the construction industry) and the contractor believes that additional compensation and/or 
contract time is due as a result of such suspension or delay, the contractor shall submit to the 
engineer in writing a request for adjustment within 7 calendar days of receipt of the notice to 
resume work. The request shall set forth the reasons and support for such adjustment. 

2. Upon receipt, the engineer will evaluate the contractor's request. If the engineer agrees that the 
cost and/or time required for the performance of the contract has increased as a result of such 
suspension and the suspension was caused by conditions beyond the control of and not the fault 
of the contractor, its suppliers, or subcontractors at any approved tier, and not caused by weather, 
the engineer will make an adjustment (excluding profit) and modify the contract in writing  

accordingly. The contractor will be notified of the engineer's determination whether or not an 
adjustment of the contract is warranted. 

3. No contract adjustment will be allowed unless the contractor has submitted the request for 
adjustment within the time prescribed. 

4. No contract adjustment will be allowed under this clause to the extent that performance would 
have been suspended or delayed by any other cause, or for which an adjustment is provided or 
excluded under any other term or condition of this contract. 

Significant Changes in the Character of Work  

1. The engineer reserves the right to make, in writing, at any time during the work, such changes in 
quantities and such alterations in the work as are necessary to satisfactorily complete the project. 
Such changes in quantities and alterations shall not invalidate the contract nor release the surety, 
and the contractor agrees to perform the work as altered. 



 

 

2. If the alterations or changes in quantities significantly change the character of the work under the 
contract, whether such alterations or changes are in themselves significant changes to the 
character of the work or by affecting other work cause such other work to become significantly 
different in character, an adjustment, excluding anticipated profit, will be made to the contract. 
The basis for the adjustment shall be agreed upon prior to the performance of the work. If a basis 
cannot be agreed upon, then an adjustment will be made either for or against the contractor in 
such amount as the engineer may determine to be fair and equitable. 

3. If the alterations or changes in quantities do not significantly change the character of the work to 
be performed under the contract, the altered work will be paid for as provided elsewhere in the 
contract. 

4. The term “significant change” shall be construed to apply only to the following circumstances: 

 When the character of the work as altered differs materially in kind or nature from that 
involved or included in the original proposed construction; or 

 When a major item of work, as defined elsewhere in the contract, is increased in excess of 
125 percent or decreased below 75 percent of the original contract quantity. Any allowance 
for an increase in quantity shall apply only to that portion in excess of 125 percent of original 
contract item quantity, or in case of a decrease below 75 percent, to the actual amount of 
work performed. 

7. BEGINNING OF WORK, TIME OF COMPLETION AND LIQUIDATED DAMAGES 
The Contractor shall begin work within 15 calendar days after the issuance of the Notice to Proceed. 

This work shall be diligently prosecuted to completion before the expiration of TEN (10) WORKING DAYS beginning 
on the fifteenth calendar day after the date shown on the Notice to Proceed. 

The Contractor shall pay to the City of Nevada City the sum of $500 per day, for each and every calendar days’ delay in 
finishing the work in excess of the number of working days prescribed above. 

8. BUY AMERICA  

Furnish steel and iron materials to be incorporated into the work with certificates of compliance and 
certified mill test reports. Mill test reports must indicate where the steel and iron were melted and 
manufactured. Steel and iron materials must be produced in the U.S. except: 

1. Foreign pig iron and processed, pelletized, and reduced iron ore may be used in the domestic 
production of the steel and iron materials [60 Fed Reg 15478 (03/24/1995)]; 

2. If the total combined cost of the materials does not exceed the greater of 0.1 percent of the total bid or 
$2,500, materials produced outside the U.S. may be used. 

Production includes: 

1. Processing steel and iron materials, including smelting or other processes that alter the physical form 
or shape (such as rolling, extruding, machining, bending, grinding, and drilling) or chemical 
composition; 

2. Coating application, including epoxy coating, galvanizing, and painting, that protects or enhances the 
value of steel and iron materials. 

9. QUALITY ASSURANCE  
The Agency uses a Quality Assurance Program (QAP) to ensure a material is produced to comply with the Contract. 

You may examine the records and reports of tests the Agency performs if they are available at the job site. 

Schedule work to allow time for QAP. 

10. PROMPT PAYMENT OF FUNDS WITHHELD TO SUBCONTRACTORS 
The agency shall hold retainage from the prime contractor and shall make prompt and regular incremental acceptances of 
portions, as determined by the agency, of the contract work, and pay retainage to the prime contractor based on these 
acceptances.  The prime contractor, or subcontractor, shall return all monies withheld in retention from a subcontractor 
within 30 days after receiving payment for work satisfactorily completed and accepted including incremental 
acceptances of portions of the contract work by the agency.  Federal law (49CFR26.29) requires that any delay or 



 

 

postponement of payment over 30 days may take place only for good cause and with the agency’s prior written approval.  
Any violation of this provision shall subject the violating prime contractor or subcontractor to the penalties, sanctions 
and other remedies specified in Section 7108.5 of the Business and Professions Code.  These requirements shall not be 
construed to limit or impair any contractual, administrative, or judicial remedies otherwise available to the prime 
contractor or subcontractor in the event of a dispute involving late payment or nonpayment by the prime contractor, 
deficient subcontract performance, or noncompliance by a subcontractor.   

11. FORM FHWA-1273 REQUIRED CONTRACT PROVISIONS FEDERAL-AID CONTRACTS  
(Excluding ATTACHMENT A - EMPLOYMENT AND MATERIALS PREFERENCE FOR APPALACHIAN 
DEVELOPMENT HIGHWAY SYSTEM OR APPALACHIAN LOCAL ACCESS ROAD CONTRACTS) 

  



 

 

FHWA-1273 --  Revised May 1, 2012  
REQUIRED CONTRACT PROVISIONS  

FEDERAL-AID CONSTRUCTION CONTRACTS 
 

I.  General   
II.  Nondiscrimination 
III. Nonsegregated Facilities 
IV. Davis-Bacon and Related Act Provisions 
V. Contract Work Hours and Safety Standards Act Provisions 
VI.  Subletting or Assigning the Contract 
VII. Safety: Accident Prevention 
VIII.  False Statements Concerning Highway Projects 
IX. Implementation of Clean Air Act and Federal Water Pollution 

Control Act 
X.  Compliance with Governmentwide Suspension and Debarment 

Requirements 
XI.  Certification Regarding Use of Contract Funds for Lobbying 
 
ATTACHMENTS 
 
A. Employment and Materials Preference for Appalachian Development 
Highway System or Appalachian Local Access Road Contracts (included 
in Appalachian contracts only) 
 

 
I.  GENERAL 
 
1.  Form FHWA-1273 must be physically incorporated in each 
construction contract funded under Title 23 (excluding emergency 
contracts solely intended for debris removal).  The contractor (or 
subcontractor) must insert this form in each subcontract and further 
require its inclusion in all lower tier subcontracts (excluding purchase 
orders, rental agreements and other agreements for supplies or 
services).   
 
The applicable requirements of Form FHWA-1273 are incorporated by 
reference for work done under any purchase order, rental agreement or 
agreement for other services.  The prime contractor shall be responsible 
for compliance by any subcontractor, lower-tier subcontractor or service 
provider.   
 
Form FHWA-1273 must be included in all Federal-aid design-build 
contracts, in all subcontracts and in lower tier subcontracts (excluding 
subcontracts for design services, purchase orders, rental agreements 
and other agreements for supplies or services).  The design-builder shall 
be responsible for compliance by any subcontractor, lower-tier 
subcontractor or service provider. 
  
Contracting agencies may reference Form FHWA-1273 in bid proposal 
or request for proposal documents, however, the Form FHWA-1273 must 
be physically incorporated (not referenced) in all contracts, subcontracts 
and lower-tier subcontracts (excluding purchase orders, rental 
agreements and other agreements for supplies or services related to a 
construction contract). 
 
2.  Subject to the applicability criteria noted in the following sections, 
these contract provisions shall apply to all work performed on the 
contract by the contractor's own organization and with the assistance of 
workers under the contractor's immediate superintendence and to all 
work performed on the contract by piecework, station work, or by 
subcontract. 
  
3.   A breach of any of the stipulations contained in these Required 
Contract Provisions may be sufficient grounds for withholding of progress 
payments, withholding of final payment, termination of the contract, 
suspension / debarment or any other action determined to be appropriate 
by the contracting agency and FHWA. 
 
4.  Selection of Labor: During the performance of this contract, the 
contractor shall not use convict labor for any purpose within the limits of 
a construction project on a Federal-aid highway unless it is labor  
performed by convicts who are on parole, supervised release, or 
probation.  The term Federal-aid highway does not include roadways 
functionally classified as local roads or rural minor collectors. 
 
 

II.  NONDISCRIMINATION 
 
The provisions of this section related to 23 CFR Part 230 are applicable 
to all Federal-aid construction contracts and to all related construction 
subcontracts of $10,000 or more.  The provisions of 23 CFR Part 230 are 
not applicable to material supply, engineering, or architectural service 
contracts.   
 

In addition, the contractor and all subcontractors must comply with the 
following policies: Executive Order 11246, 41 CFR 60, 29 CFR 1625-
1627, Title 23 USC Section 140, the Rehabilitation Act of 1973, as 
amended (29 USC 794), Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, as 
amended, and related regulations including 49 CFR Parts 21, 26 and 27; 
and 23 CFR Parts 200, 230, and 633. 
 
The contractor and all subcontractors must comply with:  the 
requirements of the Equal Opportunity Clause in 41 CFR 60-1.4(b) and, 
for all construction contracts exceeding $10,000, the Standard Federal 
Equal Employment Opportunity Construction Contract Specifications in 
41 CFR 60-4.3. 
 
Note: The U.S. Department of Labor has exclusive authority to determine 
compliance with Executive Order 11246 and the policies of the Secretary 
of Labor including 41 CFR 60, and 29 CFR 1625-1627.  The contracting 
agency and the FHWA have the authority and the responsibility to 
ensure compliance with Title 23 USC Section 140, the Rehabilitation Act 
of 1973, as amended (29 USC 794), and Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 
1964, as amended, and related regulations including 49 CFR Parts 21, 
26 and 27; and 23 CFR Parts 200, 230, and 633. 
 
The following provision is adopted from 23 CFR 230, Appendix A, with 
appropriate revisions to conform to the U.S. Department of Labor (US 
DOL) and FHWA requirements.   
 
1. Equal Employment Opportunity: Equal employment opportunity 
(EEO) requirements not to discriminate and to take affirmative action to 
assure equal opportunity as set forth under laws, executive orders, rules, 
regulations (28 CFR 35, 29 CFR 1630, 29 CFR 1625-1627, 41 CFR 60 
and 49 CFR 27) and orders of the Secretary of Labor as modified by the 
provisions prescribed herein, and imposed pursuant to 23 U.S.C. 140 
shall constitute the EEO and specific affirmative action standards for the 
contractor's project activities under this contract. The provisions of the 
Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990 (42 U.S.C. 12101 et seq.) set 
forth under 28 CFR 35 and 29 CFR 1630 are incorporated by reference 
in this contract. In the execution of this contract, the contractor agrees to 
comply with the following minimum specific requirement activities of 
EEO: 
 

a. The contractor will work with the contracting agency and the Federal 
Government to ensure that it has made every good faith effort to provide 
equal opportunity with respect to all of its terms and conditions of 
employment and in their review of activities under the contract. 
 
    b. The contractor will accept as its operating policy the following 
statement: 
 

"It is the policy of this Company to assure that applicants are 
employed, and that employees are treated during employment, without 
regard to their race, religion, sex, color, national origin, age or 
disability.  Such action shall include: employment, upgrading, 
demotion, or transfer; recruitment or recruitment advertising; layoff or 
termination; rates of pay or other forms of compensation; and selection 
for training, including apprenticeship, pre-apprenticeship, and/or on-
the-job training." 

 
2.  EEO Officer: The contractor will designate and make known to the 
contracting officers an EEO Officer who will have the responsibility for 
and must be capable of effectively administering and promoting an 
active EEO program and who must be assigned adequate authority and 
responsibility to do so





Local Assistance Procedure Manual   Exhibit 12-G  
  Required Federal-Aid Contract Language  

 

 
Page 11 of 24 

  July 2016 

3.  Dissemination of Policy: All members of the contractor's staff 
who are authorized to hire, supervise, promote, and discharge 
employees, or who recommend such action, or who are substantially 
involved in such action, will be made fully cognizant of, and will 
implement, the contractor's EEO policy and contractual 
responsibilities to provide EEO in each grade and classification of 
employment.  To ensure that the above agreement will be met, the 
following actions will be taken as a minimum: 
 

a.  Periodic meetings of supervisory and personnel office 
employees will be conducted before the start of work and then not 
less often than once every six months, at which time the contractor's 
EEO policy and its implementation will be reviewed and explained.  
The meetings will be conducted by the EEO Officer. 
  

b.  All new supervisory or personnel office employees will be given 
a thorough indoctrination by the EEO Officer, covering all major 
aspects of the contractor's EEO obligations within thirty days 
following their reporting for duty with the contractor. 
 

c.  All personnel who are engaged in direct recruitment for the 
project will be instructed by the EEO Officer in the contractor's 
procedures for locating and hiring minorities and women. 
  

d.  Notices and posters setting forth the contractor's EEO policy 
will be placed in areas readily accessible to employees, applicants 
for employment and potential employees. 
 

e.  The contractor's EEO policy and the procedures to implement 
such policy will be brought to the attention of employees by means 
of meetings, employee handbooks, or other appropriate means. 
 
4. Recruitment: When advertising for employees, the contractor will 
include in all advertisements for employees the notation: "An Equal 
Opportunity Employer."  All such advertisements will be placed in 
publications having a large circulation among minorities and women 
in the area from which the project work force would normally be 
derived. 
 

a.  The contractor will, unless precluded by a valid bargaining 
agreement, conduct systematic and direct recruitment through public 
and private employee referral sources likely to yield qualified 
minorities and women.  To meet this requirement, the contractor will 
identify sources of potential minority group employees, and establish 
with such identified sources procedures whereby minority and 
women applicants may be referred to the contractor for employment 
consideration. 
 

b.  In the event the contractor has a valid bargaining agreement 
providing for exclusive hiring hall referrals, the contractor is 
expected to observe the provisions of that agreement to the extent 
that the system meets the contractor's compliance with EEO 
contract provisions.  Where implementation of such an agreement 
has the effect of discriminating against minorities or women, or 
obligates the contractor to do the same, such implementation 
violates Federal nondiscrimination provisions. 
 

c.  The contractor will encourage its present employees to refer 
minorities and women as applicants for employment.  Information 
and procedures with regard to referring such applicants will be 
discussed with employees. 
 
5. Personnel Actions: Wages, working conditions, and employee 
benefits shall be established and administered, and personnel 
actions of every type, including hiring, upgrading, promotion, 
transfer, demotion, layoff, and termination, shall be taken without 
regard to race, color, religion, sex, national origin, age or disability.  
The following procedures shall be followed: 
 

a.  The contractor will conduct periodic inspections of project sites 
to insure that working conditions and employee facilities do not 
indicate discriminatory treatment of project site personnel. 

 
b.  The contractor will periodically evaluate the spread of wages 

paid within each classification to determine any evidence of 
discriminatory wage practices. 
 

c.  The contractor will periodically review selected personnel 
actions in depth to determine whether there is evidence of 
discrimination.  Where evidence is found, the contractor will 
promptly take corrective action.  If the review indicates that the 
discrimination may extend beyond the actions reviewed, such 
corrective action shall include all affected persons. 
 

d.  The contractor will promptly investigate all complaints of 
alleged discrimination made to the contractor in connection with its 
obligations under this contract, will attempt to resolve such 
complaints, and will take appropriate corrective action within a 
reasonable time.  If the investigation indicates that the discrimination 
may affect persons other than the complainant, such corrective 
action shall include such other persons.  Upon completion of each 
investigation, the contractor will inform every complainant of all of 
their avenues of appeal. 
 
6. Training and Promotion: 
 

a.  The contractor will assist in locating, qualifying, and increasing 
the skills of minorities and women who are applicants for 
employment or current employees.  Such efforts should be aimed at 
developing full journey level status employees in the type of trade or 
job classification involved.  
 

b.  Consistent with the contractor's work force requirements and 
as permissible under Federal and State regulations, the contractor 
shall make full use of training programs, i.e., apprenticeship, and on-
the-job training programs for the geographical area of contract 
performance.  In the event a special provision for training is provided 
under this contract, this subparagraph will be superseded as 
indicated in the special provision.  The contracting agency may 
reserve training positions for persons who receive welfare 
assistance in accordance with 23 U.S.C. 140(a). 
 

c.  The contractor will advise employees and applicants for 
employment of available training programs and entrance 
requirements for each. 
 

d.  The contractor will periodically review the training and 
promotion potential of employees who are minorities and women 
and will encourage eligible employees to apply for such training and 
promotion. 
 
7. Unions: If the contractor relies in whole or in part upon unions as 
a source of employees, the contractor will use good faith efforts to 
obtain the cooperation of such unions to increase opportunities for 
minorities and women.  Actions by the contractor, either directly or 
through a contractor's association acting as agent, will include the 
procedures set forth below: 
 

a.  The contractor will use good faith efforts to develop, in 
cooperation with the unions, joint training programs aimed toward 
qualifying more minorities and women for membership in the unions 
and increasing the skills of minorities and women so that they may 
qualify for higher paying employment. 
 

b.  The contractor will use good faith efforts to incorporate an EEO 
clause into each union agreement to the end that such union will be 
contractually bound to refer applicants without regard to their race, 
color, religion, sex, national origin, age or disability. 
 

c.  The contractor is to obtain information as to the referral 
practices and policies of the labor union except that to the extent 
such information is within the exclusive possession of the labor 
union and such labor union refuses to furnish such information to the 
contractor, the contractor shall so certify to the contracting agency 



Local Assistance Procedure Manual   Exhibit 12-G  
  Required Federal-Aid Contract Language  

 

 
Page 12 of 24 

  July 2016 

and shall set forth what efforts have been made to obtain such 
information. 
 

d.  In the event the union is unable to provide the contractor with a 
reasonable flow of referrals within the time limit set forth in the 
collective bargaining agreement, the contractor will, through 
independent recruitment efforts, fill the employment vacancies 
without regard to race, color, religion, sex, national origin, age or 
disability; making full efforts to obtain qualified and/or qualifiable 
minorities and women.  The failure of a union to provide sufficient 
referrals (even though it is obligated to provide exclusive referrals 
under the terms of a collective bargaining agreement) does not 
relieve the contractor from the requirements of this paragraph.   In 
the event the union referral practice prevents the contractor from 
meeting the obligations pursuant to Executive Order 11246, as 
amended, and these special provisions, such contractor shall 
immediately notify the contracting agency. 
 
8.  Reasonable Accommodation for Applicants / Employees 
with Disabilities:  The contractor must be familiar with the 
requirements for and comply with the Americans with Disabilities Act 
and all rules and regulations established there under.  Employers 
must provide reasonable accommodation in all employment 
activities unless to do so would cause an undue hardship. 
 
9. Selection of Subcontractors, Procurement of Materials and 
Leasing of Equipment: The contractor shall not discriminate on the 
grounds of race, color, religion, sex, national origin, age or disability 
in the selection and retention of subcontractors, including 
procurement of materials and leases of equipment.  The contractor 
shall take all necessary and reasonable steps to ensure 
nondiscrimination in the administration of this contract. 
 

a.  The contractor shall notify all potential subcontractors and 
suppliers and lessors of their EEO obligations under this contract. 
 

b.  The contractor will use good faith efforts to ensure 
subcontractor compliance with their EEO obligations. 
 
 
10. Assurance Required by 49 CFR 26.13(b): 
 

a.  The requirements of 49 CFR Part 26 and the State DOT’s U.S. 
DOT-approved DBE program are incorporated by reference. 
 

b.  The contractor or subcontractor shall not discriminate on the 
basis of race, color, national origin, or sex in the performance of this 
contract.  The contractor shall carry out applicable requirements of 
49 CFR Part 26 in the award and administration of DOT-assisted 
contracts.  Failure by the contractor to carry out these requirements 
is a material breach of this contract, which may result in the 
termination of this contract or such other remedy as the contracting 
agency deems appropriate. 
 
11. Records and Reports: The contractor shall keep such records 
as necessary to document compliance with the EEO requirements.  
Such records shall be retained for a period of three years following 
the date of the final payment to the contractor for all contract work 
and shall be available at reasonable times and places for inspection 
by authorized representatives of the contracting agency and the 
FHWA. 
 

a.  The records kept by the contractor shall document the 
following: 
 

(1) The number and work hours of minority and non-minority 
group members and women employed in each work classification 
on the project; 

 
(2) The progress and efforts being made in cooperation with 

unions, when applicable, to increase employment opportunities for 
minorities and women; and 

 
(3) The progress and efforts being made in locating, hiring, 

training, qualifying, and upgrading minorities and women;  
 

b.  The contractors and subcontractors will submit an annual 
report to the contracting agency each July for the duration of the 
project, indicating the number of minority, women, and non-minority 
group employees currently engaged in each work classification 
required by the contract work.  This information is to be reported on 
Form FHWA-1391.  The staffing data should represent the project 
work force on board in all or any part of the last payroll period 
preceding the end of July.  If on-the-job training is being required by 
special provision, the contractor will be required to collect and report 
training data.  The employment data should reflect the work force on 
board during all or any part of the last payroll period preceding the 
end of July. 
 
 
III. NONSEGREGATED FACILITIES 
 
This provision is applicable to all Federal-aid construction contracts 
and to all related construction subcontracts of $10,000 or more. 
 
The contractor must ensure that facilities provided for employees 
are provided in such a manner that segregation on the basis of race, 
color, religion, sex, or national origin cannot result.  The contractor 
may neither require such segregated use by written or oral policies 
nor tolerate such use by employee custom.  The contractor's 
obligation extends further to ensure that its employees are not 
assigned to perform their services at any location, under the 
contractor's control, where the facilities are segregated.  The term 
"facilities" includes waiting rooms, work areas, restaurants and other 
eating areas, time clocks, restrooms, washrooms, locker rooms, and 
other storage or dressing areas, parking lots, drinking fountains, 
recreation or entertainment areas, transportation, and housing 
provided for employees.  The contractor shall provide separate or 
single-user restrooms and necessary dressing or sleeping areas to 
assure privacy between sexes. 
 
 
IV.  DAVIS-BACON AND RELATED ACT PROVISIONS 

This section is applicable to all Federal-aid construction projects 
exceeding $2,000 and to all related subcontracts and lower-tier 
subcontracts (regardless of subcontract size).  The requirements 
apply to all projects located within the right-of-way of a roadway that 
is functionally classified as Federal-aid highway.  This excludes 
roadways functionally classified as local roads or rural minor 
collectors, which are exempt.  Contracting agencies may elect to 
apply these requirements to other projects. 

The following provisions are from the U.S. Department of Labor 
regulations in 29 CFR 5.5 “Contract provisions and related matters” 
with minor revisions to conform to the FHWA-1273 format and 
FHWA program requirements. 

1.  Minimum wages 

a.  All laborers and mechanics employed or working upon the site 
of the work, will be paid unconditionally and not less often than once 
a week, and without subsequent deduction or rebate on any account 
(except such payroll deductions as are permitted by regulations 
issued by the Secretary of Labor under the Copeland Act (29 CFR 
part 3)), the full amount of wages and bona fide fringe benefits (or 
cash equivalents thereof) due at time of payment computed at rates 
not less than those contained in the wage determination of the 
Secretary of Labor which is attached hereto and made a part hereof, 
regardless of any contractual relationship which may be alleged to 
exist between the contractor and such laborers and mechanics. 



Local Assistance Procedure Manual   Exhibit 12-G  
  Required Federal-Aid Contract Language  

 

 
Page 13 of 24 

  July 2016 

Contributions made or costs reasonably anticipated for bona fide 
fringe benefits under section 1(b)(2) of the Davis-Bacon Act on 
behalf of laborers or mechanics are considered wages paid to such 
laborers or mechanics, subject to the provisions of paragraph 1.d. of 
this section; also, regular contributions made or costs incurred for 
more than a weekly period (but not less often than quarterly) under 
plans, funds, or programs which cover the particular weekly period, 
are deemed to be constructively made or incurred during such 
weekly period. Such laborers and mechanics shall be paid the 
appropriate wage rate and fringe benefits on the wage determination 
for the classification of work actually performed, without regard to 
skill, except as provided in 29 CFR 5.5(a)(4). Laborers or mechanics 
performing work in more than one classification may be 
compensated at the rate specified for each classification for the time 
actually worked therein: Provided, That the employer's payroll 
records accurately set forth the time spent in each classification in 
which work is performed. The wage determination (including any 
additional classification and wage rates conformed under paragraph 
1.b. of this section) and the Davis-Bacon poster (WH–1321) shall be 
posted at all times by the contractor and its subcontractors at the 
site of the work in a prominent and accessible place where it can be 
easily seen by the workers. 

b.  (1) The contracting officer shall require that any class of 
laborers or mechanics, including helpers, which is not listed in the 
wage determination and which is to be employed under the contract 
shall be classified in conformance with the wage determination. The 
contracting officer shall approve an additional classification and 
wage rate and fringe benefits therefore only when the following 
criteria have been met: 

(i) The work to be performed by the classification requested is 
not performed by a classification in the wage determination; and 

(ii) The classification is utilized in the area by the construction 
industry; and 

(iii) The proposed wage rate, including any bona fide fringe 
benefits, bears a reasonable relationship to the wage rates 
contained in the wage determination. 

(2) If the contractor and the laborers and mechanics to be 
employed in the classification (if known), or their representatives, 
and the contracting officer agree on the classification and wage 
rate (including the amount designated for fringe benefits where 
appropriate), a report of the action taken shall be sent by the 
contracting officer to the Administrator of the Wage and Hour 
Division, Employment Standards Administration, U.S. Department 
of Labor, Washington, DC 20210. The Administrator, or an 
authorized representative, will approve, modify, or disapprove 
every additional classification action within 30 days of receipt and 
so advise the contracting officer or will notify the contracting officer 
within the 30-day period that additional time is necessary. 

(3) In the event the contractor, the laborers or mechanics to be 
employed in the classification or their representatives, and the 
contracting officer do not agree on the proposed classification and 
wage rate (including the amount designated for fringe benefits, 
where appropriate), the contracting officer shall refer the 
questions, including the views of all interested parties and the 
recommendation of the contracting officer, to the Wage and Hour 
Administrator for determination. The Wage and Hour 
Administrator, or an authorized representative, will issue a 
determination within 30 days of receipt and so advise the 
contracting officer or will notify the contracting officer within the 30-
day period that additional time is necessary. 

(4) The wage rate (including fringe benefits where appropriate) 
determined pursuant to paragraphs 1.b.(2) or 1.b.(3) of this 
section, shall be paid to all workers performing work in the 
classification under this contract from the first day on which work 
is performed in the classification. 

c. Whenever the minimum wage rate prescribed in the contract for 
a class of laborers or mechanics includes a fringe benefit which is 
not expressed as an hourly rate, the contractor shall either pay the 
benefit as stated in the wage determination or shall pay another 
bona fide fringe benefit or an hourly cash equivalent thereof. 

d. If the contractor does not make payments to a trustee or other 
third person, the contractor may consider as part of the wages of 
any laborer or mechanic the amount of any costs reasonably 
anticipated in providing bona fide fringe benefits under a plan or 
program, Provided, That the Secretary of Labor has found, upon the 
written request of the contractor, that the applicable standards of the 
Davis-Bacon Act have been met. The Secretary of Labor may 
require the contractor to set aside in a separate account assets for 
the meeting of obligations under the plan or program. 

2.  Withholding  

The contracting agency shall upon its own action or upon written 
request of an authorized representative of the Department of Labor, 
withhold or cause to be withheld from the contractor under this 
contract, or any other Federal contract with the same prime 
contractor, or any other federally-assisted contract subject to Davis-
Bacon prevailing wage requirements, which is held by the same 
prime contractor, so much of the accrued payments or advances as 
may be considered necessary to pay laborers and mechanics, 
including apprentices, trainees, and helpers, employed by the 
contractor or any subcontractor the full amount of wages required by 
the contract.  In the event of failure to pay any laborer or mechanic, 
including any apprentice, trainee, or helper, employed or working on 
the site of the work, all or part of the wages required by the contract, 
the contracting agency may, after written notice to the contractor, 
take such action as may be necessary to cause the suspension of 
any further payment, advance, or guarantee of funds until such 
violations have ceased. 

3.  Payrolls and basic records  

a.  Payrolls and basic records relating thereto shall be maintained 
by the contractor during the course of the work and preserved for a 
period of three years thereafter for all laborers and mechanics 
working at the site of the work. Such records shall contain the name, 
address, and social security number of each such worker, his or her 
correct classification, hourly rates of wages paid (including rates of 
contributions or costs anticipated for bona fide fringe benefits or 
cash equivalents thereof of the types described in section 1(b)(2)(B) 
of the Davis-Bacon Act), daily and weekly number of hours worked, 
deductions made and actual wages paid. Whenever the Secretary of 
Labor has found under 29 CFR 5.5(a)(1)(iv) that the wages of any 
laborer or mechanic include the amount of any costs reasonably 
anticipated in providing benefits under a plan or program described 
in section 1(b)(2)(B) of the Davis-Bacon Act, the contractor shall 
maintain records which show that the commitment to provide such 
benefits is enforceable, that the plan or program is financially 
responsible, and that the plan or program has been communicated 
in writing to the laborers or mechanics affected, and records which 
show the costs anticipated or the actual cost incurred in providing 
such benefits. Contractors employing apprentices or trainees under 
approved programs shall maintain written evidence of the 
registration of apprenticeship programs and certification of trainee 
programs, the registration of the apprentices and trainees, and the 
ratios and wage rates prescribed in the applicable programs. 



Local Assistance Procedure Manual   Exhibit 12-G  
  Required Federal-Aid Contract Language  

 

 
Page 14 of 24 

  July 2016 

b.  (1) The contractor shall submit weekly for each week in which 
any contract work is performed a copy of all payrolls to the 
contracting agency.   The payrolls submitted shall set out accurately 
and completely all of the information required to be maintained 
under 29 CFR 5.5(a)(3)(i), except that full social security numbers 
and home addresses shall not be included on weekly transmittals. 
Instead the payrolls shall only need to include an individually 
identifying number for each employee ( e.g. , the last four digits of 
the employee's social security number). The required weekly payroll 
information may be submitted in any form desired. Optional Form 
WH–347 is available for this purpose from the Wage and Hour 
Division Web site at 
http://www.dol.gov/esa/whd/forms/wh347instr.htm or its successor 
site. The prime contractor is responsible for the submission of 
copies of payrolls by all subcontractors. Contractors and 
subcontractors shall maintain the full social security number and 
current address of each covered worker, and shall provide them 
upon request to the contracting agency for transmission to the State 
DOT, the FHWA or the Wage and Hour Division of the Department 
of Labor for purposes of an investigation or audit of compliance with 
prevailing wage requirements. It is not a violation of this section for a 
prime contractor to require a subcontractor to provide addresses 
and social security numbers to the prime contractor for its own 
records, without weekly submission to the contracting agency.. 

(2) Each payroll submitted shall be accompanied by a “Statement of 
Compliance,” signed by the contractor or subcontractor or his or her 
agent who pays or supervises the payment of the persons employed 
under the contract and shall certify the following: 

(i) That the payroll for the payroll period contains the 
information required to be provided under §5.5 (a)(3)(ii) of 
Regulations, 29 CFR part 5, the appropriate information is being 
maintained under §5.5 (a)(3)(i) of Regulations, 29 CFR part 5, 
and that such information is correct and complete; 

(ii) That each laborer or mechanic (including each helper, 
apprentice, and trainee) employed on the contract during the 
payroll period has been paid the full weekly wages earned, 
without rebate, either directly or indirectly, and that no 
deductions have been made either directly or indirectly from the 
full wages earned, other than permissible deductions as set forth 
in Regulations, 29 CFR part 3; 

(iii) That each laborer or mechanic has been paid not less 
than the applicable wage rates and fringe benefits or cash 
equivalents for the classification of work performed, as specified 
in the applicable wage determination incorporated into the 
contract. 

(3) The weekly submission of a properly executed certification 
set forth on the reverse side of Optional Form WH–347 shall 
satisfy the requirement for submission of the “Statement of 
Compliance” required by paragraph 3.b.(2) of this section. 

(4) The falsification of any of the above certifications may 
subject the contractor or subcontractor to civil or criminal 
prosecution under section 1001 of title 18 and section 231 of title 
31 of the United States Code. 

c. The contractor or subcontractor shall make the records required 
under paragraph 3.a. of this section available for inspection, 
copying, or transcription by authorized representatives of the 
contracting agency, the State DOT, the FHWA,  or the Department 
of Labor, and shall permit such representatives to interview 
employees during working hours on the job. If the contractor or 
subcontractor fails to submit the required records or to make them 
available, the FHWA may, after written notice to the contractor, the 

contracting agency or the State DOT, take such action as may be 
necessary to cause the suspension of any further payment, 
advance, or guarantee of funds. Furthermore, failure to submit the 
required records upon request or to make such records available 
may be grounds for debarment action pursuant to 29 CFR 5.12. 

 

4.  Apprentices and trainees  

a. Apprentices (programs of the USDOL).  

Apprentices will be permitted to work at less than the predetermined 
rate for the work they performed when they are employed pursuant 
to and individually registered in a bona fide apprenticeship program 
registered with the U.S. Department of Labor, Employment and 
Training Administration, Office of Apprenticeship Training, Employer 
and Labor Services, or with a State Apprenticeship Agency 
recognized by the Office, or if a person is employed in his or her first 
90 days of probationary employment as an apprentice in such an 
apprenticeship program, who is not individually registered in the 
program, but who has been certified by the Office of Apprenticeship 
Training, Employer and Labor Services or a State Apprenticeship 
Agency (where appropriate) to be eligible for probationary 
employment as an apprentice.  

 The allowable ratio of apprentices to journeymen on the job site in 
any craft classification shall not be greater than the ratio permitted to 
the contractor as to the entire work force under the registered 
program. Any worker listed on a payroll at an apprentice wage rate, 
who is not registered or otherwise employed as stated above, shall 
be paid not less than the applicable wage rate on the wage 
determination for the classification of work actually performed. In 
addition, any apprentice performing work on the job site in excess of 
the ratio permitted under the registered program shall be paid not 
less than the applicable wage rate on the wage determination for the 
work actually performed. Where a contractor is performing 
construction on a project in a locality other than that in which its 
program is registered, the ratios and wage rates (expressed in 
percentages of the journeyman's hourly rate) specified in the 
contractor's or subcontractor's registered program shall be 
observed.  

 Every apprentice must be paid at not less than the rate specified in 
the registered program for the apprentice's level of progress, 
expressed as a percentage of the journeymen hourly rate specified 
in the applicable wage determination. Apprentices shall be paid 
fringe benefits in accordance with the provisions of the 
apprenticeship program. If the apprenticeship program does not 
specify fringe benefits, apprentices must be paid the full amount of 
fringe benefits listed on the wage determination for the applicable 
classification. If the Administrator determines that a different practice 
prevails for the applicable apprentice classification, fringes shall be 
paid in accordance with that determination.  

In the event the Office of Apprenticeship Training, Employer and 
Labor Services, or a State Apprenticeship Agency recognized by the 
Office, withdraws approval of an apprenticeship program, the 
contractor will no longer be permitted to utilize apprentices at less 
than the applicable predetermined rate for the work performed until 
an acceptable program is approved. 

b. Trainees (programs of the USDOL).  

Except as provided in 29 CFR 5.16, trainees will not be permitted to 
work at less than the predetermined rate for the work performed 
unless they are employed pursuant to and individually registered in 



Local Assistance Procedure Manual   Exhibit 12-G  
  Required Federal-Aid Contract Language  

 

 
Page 15 of 24 

  July 2016 

a program which has received prior approval, evidenced by formal 
certification by the U.S. Department of Labor, Employment and 
Training Administration.  

The ratio of trainees to journeymen on the job site shall not be 
greater than permitted under the plan approved by the Employment 
and Training Administration.  

Every trainee must be paid at not less than the rate specified in the 
approved program for the trainee's level of progress, expressed as a 
percentage of the journeyman hourly rate specified in the applicable 
wage determination. Trainees shall be paid fringe benefits in 
accordance with the provisions of the trainee program. If the trainee 
program does not mention fringe benefits, trainees shall be paid the 
full amount of fringe benefits listed on the wage determination 
unless the Administrator of the Wage and Hour Division determines 
that there is an apprenticeship program associated with the 
corresponding journeyman wage rate on the wage determination 
which provides for less than full fringe benefits for apprentices. Any 
employee listed on the payroll at a trainee rate who is not registered 
and participating in a training plan approved by the Employment and 
Training Administration shall be paid not less than the applicable 
wage rate on the wage determination for the classification of work 
actually performed. In addition, any trainee performing work on the 
job site in excess of the ratio permitted under the registered program 
shall be paid not less than the applicable wage rate on the wage 
determination for the work actually performed.  

In the event the Employment and Training Administration withdraws 
approval of a training program, the contractor will no longer be 
permitted to utilize trainees at less than the applicable 
predetermined rate for the work performed until an acceptable 
program is approved. 

c. Equal employment opportunity. The utilization of apprentices, 
trainees and journeymen under this part shall be in conformity with 
the equal employment opportunity requirements of Executive Order 
11246, as amended, and 29 CFR part 30. 

d.  Apprentices and Trainees (programs of the U.S. DOT). 

Apprentices and trainees working under apprenticeship and skill 
training programs which have been certified by the Secretary of 
Transportation as promoting EEO in connection with Federal-aid 
highway construction programs are not subject to the requirements 
of paragraph 4 of this Section IV. The straight time hourly wage 
rates for apprentices and trainees under such programs will be 
established by the particular programs. The ratio of apprentices and 
trainees to journeymen shall not be greater than permitted by the 
terms of the particular program. 

5. Compliance with Copeland Act requirements.   The contractor 
shall comply with the requirements of 29 CFR part 3, which are 
incorporated by reference in this contract. 

6. Subcontracts.   The contractor or subcontractor shall insert Form 
FHWA-1273 in any subcontracts and also require the subcontractors 
to include Form FHWA-1273 in any lower tier subcontracts. The 
prime contractor shall be responsible for the compliance by any 
subcontractor or lower tier subcontractor with all the contract 
clauses in 29 CFR 5.5. 

7. Contract termination: debarment.   A breach of the contract 
clauses in 29 CFR 5.5 may be grounds for termination of the 
contract, and for debarment as a contractor and a subcontractor as 
provided in 29 CFR 5.12. 

8. Compliance with Davis-Bacon and Related Act requirements.  
All rulings and interpretations of the Davis-Bacon and Related Acts 
contained in 29 CFR parts 1, 3, and 5 are herein incorporated by 
reference in this contract. 

9. Disputes concerning labor standards. Disputes arising out of 
the labor standards provisions of this contract shall not be subject to 
the general disputes clause of this contract. Such disputes shall be 
resolved in accordance with the procedures of the Department of 
Labor set forth in 29 CFR parts 5, 6, and 7. Disputes within the 
meaning of this clause include disputes between the contractor (or 
any of its subcontractors) and the contracting agency, the U.S. 
Department of Labor, or the employees or their representatives. 

10. Certification of eligibility. 

a. By entering into this contract, the contractor certifies that neither it 
(nor he or she) nor any person or firm who has an interest in the 
contractor's firm is a person or firm ineligible to be awarded 
Government contracts by virtue of section 3(a) of the Davis-Bacon 
Act or 29 CFR 5.12(a)(1). 

b. No part of this contract shall be subcontracted to any person or 
firm ineligible for award of a Government contract by virtue of 
section 3(a) of the Davis-Bacon Act or 29 CFR 5.12(a)(1). 

c. The penalty for making false statements is prescribed in the U.S. 
Criminal Code, 18 U.S.C. 1001. 

 
 
V.   CONTRACT WORK HOURS AND SAFETY STANDARDS ACT  

The following clauses apply to any Federal-aid construction contract 
in an amount in excess of $100,000 and subject to the overtime 
provisions of the Contract Work Hours and Safety Standards Act. 
These clauses shall be inserted in addition to the clauses required 
by 29 CFR 5.5(a) or 29 CFR 4.6.  As used in this paragraph, the 
terms laborers and mechanics include watchmen and guards. 

1. Overtime requirements.   No contractor or subcontractor 
contracting for any part of the contract work which may require or 
involve the employment of laborers or mechanics shall require or 
permit any such laborer or mechanic in any workweek in which he or 
she is employed on such work to work in excess of forty hours in 
such workweek unless such laborer or mechanic receives 
compensation at a rate not less than one and one-half times the 
basic rate of pay for all hours worked in excess of forty hours in such 
workweek. 

2. Violation; liability for unpaid wages; liquidated damages.  In 
the event of any violation of the clause set forth in paragraph (1.) of 
this section, the contractor and any subcontractor responsible 
therefor shall be liable for the unpaid wages. In addition, such 
contractor and subcontractor shall be liable to the United States (in 
the case of work done under contract for the District of Columbia or 
a territory, to such District or to such territory), for liquidated 
damages. Such liquidated damages shall be computed with respect 
to each individual laborer or mechanic, including watchmen and 
guards, employed in violation of the clause set forth in paragraph 
(1.) of this section, in the sum of $10 for each calendar day on which 
such individual was required or permitted to work in excess of the 
standard workweek of forty hours without payment of the overtime 
wages required by the clause set forth in paragraph (1.) of this 
section. 



Local Assistance Procedure Manual   Exhibit 12-G  
  Required Federal-Aid Contract Language  

 

 
Page 16 of 24 

  July 2016 

3. Withholding for unpaid wages and liquidated damages. The 
FHWA or the contacting agency shall upon its own action or upon 
written request of an authorized representative of the Department of 
Labor withhold or cause to be withheld, from any moneys payable 
on account of work performed by the contractor or subcontractor 
under any such contract or any other Federal contract with the same 
prime contractor, or any other federally-assisted contract subject to 
the Contract Work Hours and Safety Standards Act, which is held by 
the same prime contractor, such sums as may be determined to be 
necessary to satisfy any liabilities of such contractor or 
subcontractor for unpaid wages and liquidated damages as provided 
in the clause set forth in paragraph (2.) of this section. 

4. Subcontracts.  The contractor or subcontractor shall insert in any 
subcontracts the clauses set forth in paragraph (1.) through (4.) of 
this section and also a clause requiring the subcontractors to include 
these clauses in any lower tier subcontracts. The prime contractor 
shall be responsible for compliance by any subcontractor or lower 
tier subcontractor with the clauses set forth in paragraphs (1.) 
through (4.) of this section. 

 
VI. SUBLETTING OR ASSIGNING THE CONTRACT 
 
This provision is applicable to all Federal-aid construction contracts 
on the National Highway System. 
 
1. The contractor shall perform with its own organization contract 
work amounting to not less than 30 percent (or a greater percentage 
if specified elsewhere in the contract) of the total original contract 
price, excluding any specialty items designated by the contracting 
agency.  Specialty items may be performed by subcontract and the 
amount of any such specialty items performed may be deducted 
from the total original contract price before computing the amount of 
work required to be performed by the contractor's own organization 
(23 CFR 635.116). 
 

a.  The term “perform work with its own organization” refers to 
workers employed or leased by the prime contractor, and equipment 
owned or rented by the prime contractor, with or without operators.  
Such term does not include employees or equipment of a 
subcontractor or lower tier subcontractor, agents of the prime 
contractor, or any other assignees.  The term may include payments 
for the costs of hiring leased employees from an employee leasing 
firm meeting all relevant Federal and State regulatory requirements.  
Leased employees may only be included in this term if the prime 
contractor meets all of the following conditions: 
 
  (1) the prime contractor maintains control over 
the supervision of the day-to-day activities of the leased employees; 

(2) the prime contractor remains responsible for the quality of 
the work of the leased employees; 

 (3) the prime contractor retains all power to accept or exclude 
individual employees from work on the project; and 

(4) the prime contractor remains ultimately responsible for the 
payment of predetermined minimum wages, the submission of 
payrolls, statements of compliance and all other Federal 
regulatory requirements. 

 
b. "Specialty Items" shall be construed to be limited to work that 

requires highly specialized knowledge, abilities, or equipment not 
ordinarily available in the type of contracting organizations qualified 
and expected to bid or propose on the contract as a whole and in 
general are to be limited to minor components of the overall 
contract. 
 
  2. The contract amount upon which the requirements set forth in 
paragraph (1) of Section VI is computed includes the cost of material 
and manufactured products which are to be purchased or produced 
by the contractor under the contract provisions. 
 

3. The contractor shall furnish (a) a competent superintendent or 
supervisor who is employed by the firm, has full authority to direct 
performance of the work in accordance with the contract 
requirements, and is in charge of all construction operations 
(regardless of who performs the work) and (b) such other of its own 
organizational resources (supervision, management, and 
engineering services) as the contracting officer determines is 
necessary to assure the performance of the contract. 
 
4. No portion of the contract shall be sublet, assigned or otherwise 
disposed of except with the written consent of the contracting officer, 
or authorized representative, and such consent when given shall not 
be construed to relieve the contractor of any responsibility for the 
fulfillment of the contract.  Written consent will be given only after 
the contracting agency has assured that each subcontract is 
evidenced in writing and that it contains all pertinent provisions and 
requirements of the prime contract. 
 
5. The 30% self-performance requirement of paragraph (1) is not 
applicable to design-build contracts; however, contracting agencies 
may establish their own self-performance requirements. 
 
 
VII. SAFETY: ACCIDENT PREVENTION 
 
This provision is applicable to all Federal-aid construction contracts 
and to all related subcontracts. 
 
1.  In the performance of this contract the contractor shall comply 
with all applicable Federal, State, and local laws governing safety, 
health, and sanitation (23 CFR 635). The contractor shall provide all 
safeguards, safety devices and protective equipment and take any 
other needed actions as it determines, or as the contracting officer 
may determine, to be reasonably necessary to protect the life and 
health of employees on the job and the safety of the public and to 
protect property in connection with the performance of the work 
covered by the contract. 
 
2.  It is a condition of this contract, and shall be made a condition of 
each subcontract, which the contractor enters into pursuant to this 
contract, that the contractor and any subcontractor shall not permit 
any employee, in performance of the contract, to work in 
surroundings or under conditions which are unsanitary, hazardous 
or dangerous to his/her health or safety, as determined under 
construction safety and health standards (29 CFR 1926) 
promulgated by the Secretary of Labor, in accordance with Section 
107 of the Contract Work Hours and Safety Standards Act (40 
U.S.C. 3704). 
 
3. Pursuant to 29 CFR 1926.3, it is a condition of this contract that 
the Secretary of Labor or authorized representative thereof, shall 
have right of entry to any site of contract performance to inspect or 
investigate the matter of compliance with the construction safety and 
health standards and to carry out the duties of the Secretary under 
Section 107 of the Contract Work Hours and Safety Standards Act 
(40 U.S.C.3704). 
 
 
VIII. FALSE STATEMENTS CONCERNING HIGHWAY PROJECTS 
 
This provision is applicable to all Federal-aid construction contracts 
and to all related subcontracts. 
 
  In order to assure high quality and durable construction in 
conformity with approved plans and specifications and a high degree 
of reliability on statements and representations made by engineers, 
contractors, suppliers, and workers on Federal-aid highway projects, 
it is essential that all persons concerned with the project perform 
their functions as carefully, thoroughly, and honestly as possible.  
Willful falsification, distortion, or misrepresentation with respect to 
any facts related to the project is a violation of Federal law.  To 
prevent any misunderstanding regarding the seriousness of these 



Local Assistance Procedure Manual   Exhibit 12-G  
  Required Federal-Aid Contract Language  

 

 
Page 17 of 24 

  July 2016 

and similar acts, Form FHWA-1022 shall be posted on each 
Federal-aid highway project (23 CFR 635) in one or more places 
where it is readily available to all persons concerned with the 
project: 
 
 
18 U.S.C. 1020 reads as follows: 
 
  "Whoever, being an officer, agent, or employee of the United 
States, or of any State or Territory, or whoever, whether a person, 
association, firm, or corporation, knowingly makes any false 
statement, false representation, or false report as to the character, 
quality, quantity, or cost of the material used or to be used, or the 
quantity or quality of the work performed or to be performed, or the 
cost thereof in connection with the submission of plans, maps, 
specifications, contracts, or costs of construction on any highway or 
related project submitted for approval to the Secretary of 
Transportation; or 
 
  Whoever knowingly makes any false statement, false 
representation, false report or false claim with respect to the 
character, quality, quantity, or cost of any work performed or to be 
performed, or materials furnished or to be furnished, in connection 
with the construction of any highway or related project approved by 
the Secretary of Transportation; or 
 
  Whoever knowingly makes any false statement or false 
representation as to material fact in any statement, certificate, or 
report submitted pursuant to provisions of the Federal-aid Roads Act 
approved July 1, 1916, (39 Stat. 355), as amended and 
supplemented; 
 
  Shall be fined under this title or imprisoned not more than 5 years 
or both." 
 
 
IX. IMPLEMENTATION OF CLEAN AIR ACT AND FEDERAL 
WATER POLLUTION CONTROL ACT 
 
This provision is applicable to all Federal-aid construction contracts 
and to all related subcontracts. 
 
By submission of this bid/proposal or the execution of this contract, 
or subcontract, as appropriate, the bidder, proposer, Federal-aid 
construction contractor, or subcontractor, as appropriate, will be 
deemed to have stipulated as follows: 
 
  1. That any person who is or will be utilized in the performance of 
this contract is not prohibited from receiving an award due to a 
violation of Section 508 of the Clean Water Act or Section 306 of the 
Clean Air Act.   
  2. That the contractor agrees to include or cause to be included the 
requirements of paragraph (1) of this Section X in every subcontract, 
and further agrees to take such action as the contracting agency 
may direct as a means of enforcing such requirements. 
 
 
X. CERTIFICATION REGARDING DEBARMENT, SUSPENSION, 
INELIGIBILITY AND VOLUNTARY EXCLUSION 
 
This provision is applicable to all Federal-aid construction contracts, 
design-build contracts, subcontracts, lower-tier subcontracts, 
purchase orders, lease agreements, consultant contracts or any 
other covered transaction requiring FHWA approval or that is 
estimated to cost $25,000 or more –  as defined in 2 CFR Parts 180 
and 1200. 
 
 
  1. Instructions for Certification – First Tier Participants:  
  
    a. By signing and submitting this proposal, the prospective first 
tier participant is providing the certification set out below. 

 
    b. The inability of a person to provide the certification set out 
below will not necessarily result in denial of participation in this 
covered transaction. The prospective first tier participant shall 
submit an explanation of why it cannot provide the certification set 
out below. The certification or explanation will be considered in 
connection with the department or agency's determination whether 
to enter into this transaction. However, failure of the prospective first 
tier participant to furnish a certification or an explanation shall 
disqualify such a person from participation in this transaction. 
 
    c. The certification in this clause is a material representation of 
fact upon which reliance was placed when the contracting agency 
determined to enter into this transaction. If it is later determined that 
the prospective participant knowingly rendered an erroneous 
certification, in addition to other remedies available to the Federal 
Government, the contracting agency may terminate this transaction 
for cause of default. 
 
    d. The prospective first tier participant shall provide immediate 
written notice to the contracting agency to whom this proposal is 
submitted if any time the prospective first tier participant learns that 
its certification was erroneous when submitted or has become 
erroneous by reason of changed circumstances. 
 
    e. The terms "covered transaction," "debarred," "suspended," 
"ineligible," "participant," "person,"  "principal," and "voluntarily 
excluded," as used in this clause, are defined in 2 CFR Parts 180 
and 1200.  “First Tier Covered Transactions” refers to any covered 
transaction between a grantee or subgrantee of Federal funds and a 
participant (such as the prime or general contract).  “Lower Tier 
Covered Transactions” refers to any covered transaction under a 
First Tier Covered Transaction (such as subcontracts).  “First Tier 
Participant” refers to the participant who has entered into a covered 
transaction with a grantee or subgrantee of Federal funds (such as 
the prime or general contractor).  “Lower Tier Participant” refers any 
participant who has entered into a covered transaction with a First 
Tier Participant or other Lower Tier Participants (such as 
subcontractors and suppliers).  
 
    f. The prospective first tier participant agrees by submitting this 
proposal that, should the proposed covered transaction be entered 
into, it shall not knowingly enter into any lower tier covered 
transaction with a person who is debarred, suspended, declared 
ineligible, or voluntarily excluded from participation in this covered 
transaction, unless authorized by the department or agency entering 
into this transaction. 
 
    g. The prospective first tier participant further agrees by 
submitting this proposal that it will include the clause titled 
"Certification Regarding Debarment, Suspension, Ineligibility and 
Voluntary Exclusion-Lower Tier Covered Transactions," provided by 
the department or contracting agency, entering into this covered 
transaction, without modification, in all lower tier covered 
transactions and in all solicitations for lower tier covered 
transactions exceeding the $25,000 threshold. 
 
    h. A participant in a covered transaction may rely upon a 
certification of a prospective participant in a lower tier covered 
transaction that is not debarred, suspended, ineligible, or voluntarily 
excluded from the covered transaction, unless it knows that the 
certification is erroneous.  A participant is responsible for ensuring 
that its principals are not suspended, debarred, or otherwise 
ineligible to participate in covered transactions.  To verify the 
eligibility of its principals, as well as the eligibility of any lower tier 
prospective participants, each participant may, but is not required to, 
check the Excluded Parties List System website 
(https://www.epls.gov/), which is compiled by the General Services 
Administration. 
 
    i.  Nothing contained in the foregoing shall be construed to require 
the establishment of a system of records in order to render in good 



Local Assistance Procedure Manual   Exhibit 12-G  
  Required Federal-Aid Contract Language  

 

 
Page 18 of 24 

  July 2016 

faith the certification required by this clause. The knowledge and 
information of the prospective participant is not required to exceed 
that which is normally possessed by a prudent person in the 
ordinary course of business dealings. 
 
    j. Except for transactions authorized under paragraph (f) of these 
instructions, if a participant in a covered transaction knowingly 
enters into a lower tier covered transaction with a person who is 
suspended, debarred, ineligible, or voluntarily excluded from 
participation in this transaction, in addition to other remedies 
available to the Federal Government, the department or agency may 
terminate this transaction for cause or default. 
 
* * * * * 
 
2.  Certification Regarding Debarment, Suspension, Ineligibility 
and Voluntary Exclusion – First Tier Participants: 
 
a.  The prospective first tier participant certifies to the best of its 
knowledge and belief, that it and its principals: 
 
    (1)   Are not presently debarred, suspended, proposed for 
debarment, declared ineligible, or voluntarily excluded from 
participating in covered transactions by any Federal department or 
agency; 
 
    (2)   Have not within a three-year period preceding this proposal 
been convicted of or had a civil judgment rendered against them for 
commission of fraud or a criminal offense in connection with 
obtaining, attempting to obtain, or performing a public (Federal, 
State or local) transaction or contract under a public transaction; 
violation of Federal or State antitrust statutes or commission of 
embezzlement, theft, forgery, bribery, falsification or destruction of 
records, making false statements, or receiving stolen property; 
 
    (3)   Are not presently indicted for or otherwise criminally or civilly 
charged by a governmental entity (Federal, State or local) with 
commission of any of the offenses enumerated in paragraph (a)(2) 
of this certification; and 
 
    (4)   Have not within a three-year period preceding this 
application/proposal had one or more public transactions (Federal, 
State or local) terminated for cause or default. 
 
  b.   Where the prospective participant is unable to certify to any of 
the statements in this certification, such prospective participant shall 
attach an explanation to this proposal. 
 
  2. Instructions for Certification - Lower Tier Participants: 
 
(Applicable to all subcontracts, purchase orders and other lower tier 
transactions requiring prior FHWA approval or estimated to cost 
$25,000 or more - 2 CFR Parts 180 and 1200) 
 
    a. By signing and submitting this proposal, the prospective lower 
tier is providing the certification set out below. 
 
    b. The certification in this clause is a material representation of 
fact upon which reliance was placed when this transaction was 
entered into. If it is later determined that the prospective lower tier 
participant knowingly rendered an erroneous certification, in addition 
to other remedies available to the Federal Government, the 
department, or agency with which this transaction originated may 
pursue available remedies, including suspension and/or debarment. 
 
    c. The prospective lower tier participant shall provide immediate 
written notice to the person to which this proposal is submitted if at 
any time the prospective lower tier participant learns that its 
certification was erroneous by reason of changed circumstances. 
 
    d. The terms "covered transaction," "debarred," "suspended," 
"ineligible," "participant," "person," "principal," and "voluntarily 

excluded," as used in this clause, are defined in 2 CFR Parts 180 
and 1200.  You may contact the person to which this proposal is 
submitted for assistance in obtaining a copy of those regulations.  
“First Tier Covered Transactions” refers to any covered transaction 
between a grantee or subgrantee of Federal funds and a participant 
(such as the prime or general contract).  “Lower Tier Covered 
Transactions” refers to any covered transaction under a First Tier 
Covered Transaction (such as subcontracts).  “First Tier Participant” 
refers to the participant who has entered into a covered transaction 
with a grantee or subgrantee of Federal funds (such as the prime or 
general contractor).  “Lower Tier Participant” refers any participant 
who has entered into a covered transaction with a First Tier 
Participant or other Lower Tier Participants (such as subcontractors 
and suppliers). 
 
    e. The prospective lower tier participant agrees by submitting this 
proposal that, should the proposed covered transaction be entered 
into, it shall not knowingly enter into any lower tier covered 
transaction with a person who is debarred, suspended, declared 
ineligible, or voluntarily excluded from participation in this covered 
transaction, unless authorized by the department or agency with 
which this transaction originated. 
 
    f. The prospective lower tier participant further agrees by 
submitting this proposal that it will include this clause titled 
"Certification Regarding Debarment, Suspension, Ineligibility and 
Voluntary Exclusion-Lower Tier Covered Transaction," without 
modification, in all lower tier covered transactions and in all 
solicitations for lower tier covered transactions exceeding the 
$25,000 threshold. 
 
    g. A participant in a covered transaction may rely upon a 
certification of a prospective participant in a lower tier covered 
transaction that is not debarred, suspended, ineligible, or voluntarily 
excluded from the covered transaction, unless it knows that the 
certification is erroneous. A participant is responsible for ensuring 
that its principals are not suspended, debarred, or otherwise 
ineligible to participate in covered transactions.  To verify the 
eligibility of its principals, as well as the eligibility of any lower tier 
prospective participants, each participant may, but is not required to, 
check the Excluded Parties List System website 
(https://www.epls.gov/), which is compiled by the General Services 
Administration.   
 
    h. Nothing contained in the foregoing shall be construed to require 
establishment of a system of records in order to render in good faith 
the certification required by this clause. The knowledge and 
information of participant is not required to exceed that which is 
normally possessed by a prudent person in the ordinary course of 
business dealings. 
 
    i. Except for transactions authorized under paragraph e of these 
instructions, if a participant in a covered transaction knowingly 
enters into a lower tier covered transaction with a person who is 
suspended, debarred, ineligible, or voluntarily excluded from 
participation in this transaction, in addition to other remedies 
available to the Federal Government, the department or agency with 
which this transaction originated may pursue available remedies, 
including suspension and/or debarment. 
 
* * * * * 
 
Certification Regarding Debarment, Suspension, Ineligibility 
and Voluntary Exclusion--Lower Tier Participants: 
 
  1. The prospective lower tier participant certifies, by submission of 
this proposal, that neither it nor its principals is presently debarred, 
suspended, proposed for debarment, declared ineligible, or 
voluntarily excluded from participating in covered transactions by 
any Federal department or agency. 
 



Local Assistance Procedure Manual   Exhibit 12-G  
  Required Federal-Aid Contract Language  

 

 
Page 19 of 24 

  July 2016 

  2. Where the prospective lower tier participant is unable to certify to 
any of the statements in this certification, such prospective 
participant shall attach an explanation to this proposal. 
 
* * * * * 
 
XI. CERTIFICATION REGARDING USE OF CONTRACT FUNDS 
FOR LOBBYING 
 
This provision is applicable to all Federal-aid construction contracts 
and to all related subcontracts which exceed $100,000 (49 CFR 20). 
 
  1. The prospective participant certifies, by signing and submitting 
this bid or proposal, to the best of his or her knowledge and belief, 
that: 
 
    a. No Federal appropriated funds have been paid or will be paid, 
by or on behalf of the undersigned, to any person for influencing or 
attempting to influence an officer or employee of any Federal 
agency, a Member of Congress, an officer or employee of Congress, 
or an employee of a Member of Congress in connection with the 
awarding of any Federal contract, the making of any Federal grant, 
the making of any Federal loan, the entering into of any cooperative 
agreement, and the extension, continuation, renewal, amendment, 
or modification of any Federal contract, grant, loan, or cooperative 
agreement. 
 
    b. If any funds other than Federal appropriated funds have been 
paid or will be paid to any person for influencing or attempting to 
influence an officer or employee of any Federal agency, a Member 
of Congress, an officer or employee of Congress, or an employee of 
a Member of Congress in connection with this Federal contract, 
grant, loan, or cooperative agreement, the undersigned shall 
complete and submit Standard Form-LLL, "Disclosure Form to 
Report Lobbying," in accordance with its instructions. 
 
  2. This certification is a material representation of fact upon which 
reliance was placed when this transaction was made or entered into.  
Submission of this certification is a prerequisite for making or 
entering into this transaction imposed by 31 U.S.C. 1352.  Any 
person who fails to file the required certification shall be subject to a 
civil penalty of not less than $10,000 and not more than $100,000 
for each such failure. 
 
  3. The prospective participant also agrees by submitting its bid or 
proposal that the participant shall require that the language of this 
certification be included in all lower tier subcontracts, which exceed 
$100,000 and that all such recipients shall certify and disclose 
accordingly. 
 



Local Assistance Procedure Manual   Exhibit 12-G  
  Required Federal-Aid Contract Language  

 

 
 

12. FEMALE AND MINORITY GOALS 
To comply with Section II, "Nondiscrimination," of "Required Contract Provisions Federal-Aid Construction 
Contracts," the following are for female and minority utilization goals for Federal-aid construction contracts 
and subcontracts that exceed $10,000: 

The nationwide goal for female utilization is 6.9 percent. 

The goals for minority utilization [45 Fed Reg 65984 (10/3/1980)] are as follows: 

 
MINORITY UTILIZATION GOALS 

 

Economic Area Goal 
(Percent) 

174 
Redding CA: 
Non-SMSA (Standard Metropolitan Statistical Area) Counties: 
CA Lassen; CA Modoc; CA Plumas; CA Shasta; CA Siskiyou; CA Tehama 

 
6.8 

175 
Eureka, CA 
Non-SMSA Counties: 
CA Del Norte; CA Humboldt; CA Trinity 

 
6.6 

176 

San Francisco-Oakland-San Jose, CA: 
SMSA Counties: 
7120 Salinas-Seaside-Monterey, CA 
CA Monterey 
7360 San Francisco-Oakland 
CA Alameda; CA Contra Costa; CA Marin; CA San Francisco; CA San Mateo 
7400 San Jose, CA 
CA Santa Clara, CA 
7485 Santa Cruz, CA 
CA Santa Cruz 
7500 Santa Rosa 
CA Sonoma 
8720 Vallejo-Fairfield-Napa, CA 
CA Napa; CA Solano 
Non-SMSA Counties: 
CA Lake; CA Mendocino; CA San Benito 

 
 

28.9 
 

25.6 
 
 

19.6 
 

14.9 
 

9.1 
 

17.1 
 

23.2 

177 

Sacramento, CA: 
SMSA Counties: 
6920 Sacramento, CA 
CA Placer; CA Sacramento; CA Yolo 
Non-SMSA Counties 
CA Butte; CA Colusa; CA El Dorado; CA Glenn; CA Nevada; CA Sierra; CA Sutter; 
CA Yuba 

 
 

16.1 
 

14.3 

178 

Stockton-Modesto, CA: 
SMSA Counties: 
5170 Modesto, CA 
CA Stanislaus 
8120 Stockton, CA 
CA San Joaquin 
Non-SMSA Counties 
CA Alpine; CA Amador; CA Calaveras; CA Mariposa; CA Merced; CA Tuolumne 

 
 

12.3 
 

24.3 
 

19.8 



Local Assistance Procedure Manual   Exhibit 12-G  
  Required Federal-Aid Contract Language  

 

 
 

 
For the last full week  July during which work is performed under the contract, you and each non material-
supplier subcontractor with a subcontract of $10,000 or more must complete Form FHWA PR-1391 
(Appendix C to 23 CFR 230). Submit the forms by August 15. 

 

13. FEDERAL TRAINEE PROGRAM 
For the Federal training program, the number of trainees or apprentices is _________. 

This section applies if a number of trainees or apprentices is specified in the special provisions. 

As part of your equal opportunity affirmative action program, provide on-the-job training to develop full 
journeymen in the types of trades or job classifications involved. 

You have primary responsibility for meeting this training requirement. 

If you subcontract a contract part, determine how many trainees or apprentices are to be trained by the 
subcontractor. 

Include these training requirements in your subcontract. 

Where feasible, 25 percent of apprentices or trainees in each occupation must be in their 1st year of 
apprenticeship or training. 

Distribute the number of apprentices or trainees among the work classifications on the basis of your needs and 
the availability of journeymen in the various classifications within a reasonable recruitment area. 

Before starting work, submit to the City of Nevada City: 

179 

Fresno-Bakersfield, CA 
SMSA Counties: 
0680 Bakersfield, CA 
CA Kern 
2840 Fresno, CA 
CA Fresno 
Non-SMSA Counties: 
CA Kings; CA Madera; CA Tulare 

 
 

19.1 
 

26.1 
 

23.6 

180 

Los Angeles, CA: 
SMSA Counties: 
0360 Anaheim-Santa Ana-Garden Grove, CA 
CA Orange 
4480 Los Angeles-Long Beach, CA 
CA Los Angeles 
6000 Oxnard-Simi Valley-Ventura, CA 
CA Ventura 
6780 Riverside-San Bernardino-Ontario, CA 
CA Riverside; CA San Bernardino 
7480 Santa Barbara-Santa Maria-Lompoc, CA 
CA Santa Barbara 
Non-SMSA Counties 
CA Inyo; CA Mono; CA San Luis Obispo 

 
 

11.9 
 

28.3 
 

21.5 
 

19.0 
 

19.7 
 

24.6 

181 

San Diego, CA: 
SMSA Counties 
7320 San Diego, CA 
CA San Diego 
Non-SMSA Counties 
CA Imperial 

 
 

16.9 
 

18.2 



Local Assistance Procedure Manual   Exhibit 12-G  
  Required Federal-Aid Contract Language  

 

 
 

1. Number of apprentices or trainees to be trained for each classification 

2. Training program to be used 

3. Training starting date for each classification 

Obtain the City of Nevada City approval for this submitted information before you start work. The City of 
Nevada City credits you for each apprentice or trainee you employ on the work who is currently enrolled or 
becomes enrolled in an approved program. 

The primary objective of this section is to train and upgrade minorities and women toward journeymen status.  
Make every effort to enroll minority and women apprentices or trainees, such as conducting systematic and 
direct recruitment through public and private sources likely to yield minority and women apprentices or 
trainees, to the extent they are available within a reasonable recruitment area.  Show that you have made the 
efforts. In making these efforts, do not discriminate against any applicant for training. 

Do not employ as an apprentice or trainee an employee: 

1. In any classification in which the employee has successfully completed a training course leading to 
journeyman status or in which the employee has been employed as a journeyman 

2. Who is not registered in a program approved by the US Department of Labor, Bureau of 
Apprenticeship and Training 

Ask the employee if the employee has successfully completed a training course leading to journeyman status 
or has been employed as a journeyman.  Your records must show the employee's answers to the questions. 

In your training program, establish the minimum length and training type for each classification.  The City of 
Nevada City and FHWA approves a program if one of the following is met: 

1. It is calculated to: 
 Meet the your equal employment opportunity responsibilities 
 Qualify the average apprentice or trainee for journeyman status in the classification involved 

by the end of the training period 
2. It is registered with the U.S. Department of Labor, Bureau of Apprenticeship and Training, and it 

is administered in a way consistent with the equal employment responsibilities of Federal-aid 
highway construction contracts 

Obtain the State's approval for your training program before you start work involving the classification 
covered by the program. 

Provide training in the construction crafts, not in clerk-typist or secretarial-type positions. Training is 
allowed in lower level management positions such as office engineers, estimators, and timekeepers if the 
training is oriented toward construction applications. Training is allowed in the laborer classification if 
significant and meaningful training is provided and approved by the division office. Off-site training is 
allowed if the training is an integral part of an approved training program and does not make up a 
significant part of the overall training. 

The City of Nevada City reimburses you 80 cents per hour of training given an employee on this contract 
under an approved training program: 

1. For on-site training 
2. For off-site training if the apprentice or trainee is currently employed on a Federal-aid project and 

you do at least one of the following: 
 Contribute to the cost of the training 
 Provide the instruction to the apprentice or trainee 
 Pay the apprentice's or trainee's wages during the off-site training period 

3. If you comply this section. 
Each apprentice or trainee must: 



Local Assistance Procedure Manual   Exhibit 12-G  
  Required Federal-Aid Contract Language  

 

 
 

1. Begin training on the project as soon as feasible after the start of work involving the apprentice's 
or trainee's skill 

2. Remain on the project as long as training opportunities exist in the apprentice's or trainee's work 
classification or until the apprentice or trainee has completed the training program 

Furnish the apprentice or trainee: 
1. Copy of the program you will comply with in providing the training 
2. Certification showing the type and length of training satisfactorily completed 

 

14. TITLE VI ASSURANCES  
During the performance of this Agreement, the contractor, for itself, its assignees and successors in 
interest (hereinafter collectively referred to as CONTRACTOR) agrees as follows: 

(1) Compliance with Regulations: CONTRACTOR shall comply with the regulations relative to 
nondiscrimination in federally assisted programs of the Department of Transportation, Title 49, Code 
of Federal Regulations, Part 21, as they may be amended from time to time, (hereinafter referred to as 
the REGULATIONS), which are herein incorporated by reference and made a part of this agreement. 

(2) Nondiscrimination: CONTRACTOR, with regard to the work performed by it during the 
AGREEMENT, shall not discriminate on the grounds of race, color, sex, national origin, religion, 
age, or disability in the selection and retention of sub-applicants, including procurements of materials 
and leases of equipment.  CONTRACTOR shall not participate either directly or indirectly in the 
discrimination prohibited by Section 21.5 of the Regulations, including employment practices when 
the agreement covers a program set forth in Appendix B of the Regulations. 

(3)  Solicitations for Sub-agreements, Including Procurements of Materials and Equipment: In all 
solicitations either by competitive bidding or negotiation made by CONTRACTOR for work to be 
performed under a Sub-agreement, including procurements of materials or leases of equipment, each 
potential sub-applicant or supplier shall be notified by CONTRACTOR of the CONTRACTOR’S 
obligations under this Agreement and the Regulations relative to nondiscrimination on the grounds of 
race, color, or national origin. 

(4) Information and Reports: CONTRACTOR shall provide all information and reports required by the 
Regulations, or directives issued pursuant thereto, and shall permit access to its books, records, 
accounts, other sources of information, and its facilities as may be determined by the California 
Department of Transportation or FHWA to be pertinent to ascertain compliance with such 
Regulations or directives. Where any information required of CONTRACTOR is in the exclusive 
possession of another who fails or refuses to furnish this information, CONTRACTOR shall so 
certify to the California Department of Transportation or the FHWA as appropriate, and shall set forth 
what efforts CONTRACTOR has made to obtain the information. 

(5) Sanctions for Noncompliance: In the event of CONTRACTOR’s noncompliance with the 
nondiscrimination provisions of this agreement, the California Department of Transportation shall 
impose such agreement sanctions as it or the FHWA may determine to be appropriate, including, but 
not limited to: 
(a) withholding of payments to CONTRACTOR under the Agreement within a reasonable period of 

time, not to exceed 90 days; and/or 
(b) cancellation, termination or suspension of the Agreement, in whole or in part. 

(6) Incorporation of Provisions: CONTRACTOR shall include the provisions of paragraphs (1) through 
(6) in every sub-agreement, including procurements of materials and leases of equipment, unless 
exempt by the Regulations, or directives issued pursuant thereto.  

CONTRACTOR shall take such action with respect to any sub-agreement or procurement as the 
California Department of Transportation or FHWA may direct as a means of enforcing such provisions 
including sanctions for noncompliance, provided, however, that, in the event CONTRACTOR becomes 



Local Assistance Procedure Manual   Exhibit 12-G  
  Required Federal-Aid Contract Language  

 

 
 

involved in, or is threatened with, litigation with a sub-applicant or supplier as a result of such direction, 
CONTRACTOR may request the California Department of Transportation enter into such litigation to 
protect the interests of the State, and, in addition, CONTRACTOR may request the United States to enter 
into such litigation to protect the interests of the United States. 

 

15. USE OF UNITED STATES-FLAG VESSELS  
 
The CONTRACTOR agrees-  
1. To utilize privately owned United States-flag commercial vessels to ship at least 50 percent of the 

gross tonnage (computed separately for dry bulk carries, dry cargo liners, and tankers) involved, 
whenever  shipping any equipment, material, or commodities pursuant to this contract, to the extent 
such vessels are available at fair and reasonable rates for United States-flag commercial vessels.  

2. To Furnish within 20 days following the date of loading for shipments originating within the United 
State  or within 30 working days following the date of loading for shipments originating outside the 
United States, a legible copy of a rated “on-board” commercial ocean bill-of-lading in English for 
each shipment of cargo described in paragraph (1) of this section to both the Contracting Officer 
(through the prime contractor in the case of subcontractor bills-of-lading) and to the Division of 
National Cargo, Office of Market Development, Maritime Administration, Washington, DC 20590. 

3. To insert the substance of the provisions of this clause in all subcontracts issued pursuant to this 
contract.  

 
 
MAINTAIN RECORDS AND SUBMIT REPORTS DOCUMENTING YOUR PERFORMANCE UNDER THIS SECTION 

 
 

 

  
 



BID ADDENDUM NO. 1 

This bid addendum is for the following project: 

STREET IMPROVEMENTS ~ ADAMS STREET AND NILE STREET 

Bid Documents are revised as follows.    Bidders shall acknowledge receipt of this addendum on the Bid 

Proposal.    

 

Addendum Description – Clarification regarding Rock Facing for Retaining Wall    

No Change to Bid Date 

Rock shall be a local mix of serpentine and granite.   Source of rock shall be within 100 miles of jobsite. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

DATED:  March 21, 2018          CITY OF NEVADA CITY 

 

 

 

                ______________________________ 

                Bryan McAlister, P.E. 

                City Engineer 

   











1"=100'

C1   COVER SHEET

C2   ADAMS AND NILE STREET

C3   NILE STREET

C4   DETAILS

C
A

L
IF

O
R

N
IA

OF

ã

C
I
T

Y
 
O

F
 
N

E
V

A
D

A
 
C

I
T

Y

3
1

7
 
B

R
O

A
D

 
S

T
R

E
E

T

N
E

V
A

D
A

 
C

I
T

Y
,
 
C

A
L

I
F

O
R

N
I
A

 
9

5
9

5
9

(
5

3
0

)
 
2

6
5

-
2

4
9

6

A
D

A
M

S
 /
 N

IL
E

 S
ID

E
W

A
L
K

C1
 

N
E

V
A

D
A

 C
IT

Y

1 4

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
GV

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
GV

AutoCAD SHX Text
CO

AutoCAD SHX Text
H

AutoCAD SHX Text
Y

AutoCAD SHX Text
D

AutoCAD SHX Text
H

AutoCAD SHX Text
Y

AutoCAD SHX Text
D

AutoCAD SHX Text
H

AutoCAD SHX Text
Y

AutoCAD SHX Text
D

AutoCAD SHX Text
H

AutoCAD SHX Text
Y

AutoCAD SHX Text
D

AutoCAD SHX Text
N I L E          S T R E E T

AutoCAD SHX Text
A D A M S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S T R E E T

AutoCAD SHX Text
N I M R O D

AutoCAD SHX Text
S T .

AutoCAD SHX Text
SHEET C3

AutoCAD SHX Text
Fugitive dust emissions resulting from site clearing and road construction shall be minimized at all times, utilizing control measures including dust palliatives, regularly applied water, graveled or paved haul roads, etc.

AutoCAD SHX Text
The contractor shall comply with all local sound control rules, regulations and ordinances.  Each internal combustion engine used for any purpose on the job shall be equipped with a spark arrestor and muffler.  The hours of work shall be limited to between 7:00 A.M. and 6:00 P.M. Monday through Saturday unless otherwise specified in the Contract.

AutoCAD SHX Text
All construction equipment working in areas of public traffic shall comply with the applicable section of the California Vehicle Code.

AutoCAD SHX Text
Public safety and traffic control shall be provided in accordance with CIty requirements and CIty requirements and requirements and Caltrans Standards.  Safe vehicular and pedestrian access shall be provided at all times during construction. onstruction. Flagmen and  traffic handling devices shall be provided at the contractor expense in accordance with Manual on Uniform Traffic Control Devices, or MUTCD. 

AutoCAD SHX Text
The contractor shall comply with all applicable occupational safety and health standards, rules, regulations and orders established by the State of California. The contractor is solely responsible for the safety procedures to be followed by workers, subcontractors, and other persons working on the project.  The contractor shall provide for the safety of the public both day and night.  The engineer is not hired to review or approve the safety procedure followed by the contractor. As required by the construction safety orders of the California Division of Occupational Safety and Health sufficient bracing and shoring shall be installed in the trenches to ensure the safety of workers.  Where practical, all such bracing and shoring shall be removed from the trench as the backfilling proceeds.  The contractor shall obtain a trench excavation permit, if required, from the California Division of Occupational Safety and Health.

AutoCAD SHX Text
The types, locations, sizes and depths of existing underground utilities as shown on the plans were obtained from sources of varying reliability.  The contractor is cautioned that only actual excavation will reveal the types, extent, sizes, locations and depths of such such underground facilities.  A reasonable effort has been made to locate and delineate all known underground facilities.  However, neither the owner nor the Engineer can assume any responsibility for the completeness or accuracy of the delineation of such underground facilities nor for the existence of other buried objects or facilities which may be encountered but are not shown on these plans. The contractor is responsible for contacting the utility companies or appropriate agencies with facilities in the area, and requesting a verification at the construction site where such utilities may conflict with the placement of improvements shown on these plans. All existing utilities shall be marked prior to beginning any excavation or trenching.  Contact the Underground Service Alert at 800-642-2444 for the marking of existing utility locations. The contractor shall immediately notify the Engineer if there is a conflict between any existing utilities and new construction as shown on these plans.

AutoCAD SHX Text
THESE NOTES COVER THE REQUIREMENTS FOR CONSTRUCTION OF THIS PROJECT.  REFERENCES TO THE CALTRANS STANDARD SPECIFICATIONS ARE FOR TECHNICAL CONTENT ONLY.  METHODS OF MEASUREMENTS AND PAYMENT FOR THIS WORK ARE TO BE INDEPENDENTLY AGREED UPON BETWEEN THE OWNER AND THE CONTRACTOR AND ARE NOT COVERED BY THESE NOTES OR BY REFERENCES TO THE STANDARD SPECIFICATIONS.

AutoCAD SHX Text
During the progress of the work, the contractor shall keep the job site in a clean and orderly condition.  Excess or unsuitable material shall be removed from the job site.  Spillage and trackage resulting from hauling along or across existing streets or roads shall be removed immediately by the contractor.  Dust and mud control shall be provided at all times including evenings, weekends, and holidays.  All existing and new drainage facilities including gutters and roadside ditches shall be kept clean and free of debris at all times including evenings, weekends, and holidays.

AutoCAD SHX Text
Any excess and unsuitable material shall be removed from the owner's property and legally disposed of at the Contractors expense. The following ASTM test methods shall be used instead of California Tests specified in the standard specifications for relative compaction, grading (sieve analysis), and sand equivalent. Sand Equivalent               ASTM 2419 Sieve Analysis                 ASTM C136 Field In Place Density          ASTM D1556 or D2922 and D3017 Moisture Density Relationship    ASTM D1557 Relative compaction (RC) shall be computed as follows: RC=(field in place dry density/maximum dry density) x 100

AutoCAD SHX Text
All materials and construction shall meet the requirements of the following specifications, codes and these improvement plans.  The adopted standards of the governing agency shall govern in case of conflict. State of California, Department of Transportation, 2015 Standard Specifications (Herein called 2015 Standard Specifications (Herein called  Standard Specifications (Herein called standard specifications) and 2015 Standard Plans.  2015 Standard Plans. Standard Plans. California Uniform Building Code:  2016 (Current Edition). 2016 (Current Edition). Nevada County Standards: Current Edition Current Edition Nevada Irrigation District Development Standards and Standard Details, Current Edition Current Edition All work must comply with current California Building Codes for Accessibility Chapter 11, CBC and Department of State Architect (DSA) Policies and Procedures.   It is the responsibility of the contractor to obtain copies of these specifications and codes and have them available at the work location at all times.  The contractor shall examine and become familiar with all parts of these specifications and codes that apply to this work.  In general, the applicable sections of agency specifications and the standard specifications are not repeated in these notes.  It is the contractor's responsibility to construct all facilities in accordance with the applicable agency requirements and the standard specifications.

AutoCAD SHX Text
MATERIAL NOTES:

AutoCAD SHX Text
AGGREGATE BASE SHALL BE CLASS 2, 3/4" MAXIMUM GRADING, CONFORMING TO STANDARD SPECS. SECTION 26, PLACED AT 95% RELATIVE COMPACTION. ASPHALT CONCRETE SHALL BE 1/2" MAX. MED. (TYPE B) AGGREGATE, PG 64-16 ASPHALT BINDER IN 1/2" MAX. MED. (TYPE B) AGGREGATE, PG 64-16 ASPHALT BINDER IN  IN ACCORDANCE WITH CALTRANS STANDARD SPECS. SECTION 39, 93, AND 94.  ASPHALT CONCRETE SHALL BE COMPACTED T0 95% RELATIVE COMPACTION WITH AN AIR VOIDS RATIO OF 3% TO 10%.  ALL CONCRETE MATERIALS AND CONSTRUCTION SHALL BE IN CONFORMANCE WITH CALTRANS STANDARD SPECIFICATION SECTION 90.  CONCRETE FOR RETAINING WALLS SHALL BE CLASS B WITH A MINIMUM COMPRESSIVE STRENGTH OF 3000 P.S.I. PRIOR TO PLACEMENT OF ANY BACKFILL.   

AutoCAD SHX Text
%%ULOCATION MAP

AutoCAD SHX Text
CITY OF NEVADA CITY IMPROVEMENTS FOR:

AutoCAD SHX Text
ADAMS ST. AND NILE ST. SIDEWALK IMPROVEMENTS  

AutoCAD SHX Text
%%uSHEET INDEX

AutoCAD SHX Text
DATE

AutoCAD SHX Text
REVISIONS

AutoCAD SHX Text
NO.

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRAWN:

AutoCAD SHX Text
DESIGNED:

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROJ. NO:

AutoCAD SHX Text
DWG:

AutoCAD SHX Text
DATE:

AutoCAD SHX Text
 SIERRA LAND SOLUTIONS, INC.SIERRA LAND SOLUTIONS, INC.

AutoCAD SHX Text
CMAQ IMPROVEMENTS

AutoCAD SHX Text
 BKM

AutoCAD SHX Text
adams design1

AutoCAD SHX Text
 May, 2016

AutoCAD SHX Text
 WJF/ BKM

AutoCAD SHX Text
2016

AutoCAD SHX Text
GENERAL NOTES:

AutoCAD SHX Text
1 inch =     feet

AutoCAD SHX Text
( IN FEET )

AutoCAD SHX Text
SCALE

AutoCAD SHX Text
0

AutoCAD SHX Text
50

AutoCAD SHX Text
50

AutoCAD SHX Text
100

AutoCAD SHX Text
50

AutoCAD SHX Text
25

AutoCAD SHX Text
c

AutoCAD SHX Text
DATE SIGNED:

AutoCAD SHX Text
O

AutoCAD SHX Text
C 058570

AutoCAD SHX Text
December 31, 2018

AutoCAD SHX Text
Y

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
R

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
G

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
B

AutoCAD SHX Text
R

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
R

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
D

AutoCAD SHX Text
P

AutoCAD SHX Text
R

AutoCAD SHX Text
N

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
F

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
L

AutoCAD SHX Text
O

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
V

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
L

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
F

AutoCAD SHX Text
O

AutoCAD SHX Text
R

AutoCAD SHX Text
N

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
R

AutoCAD SHX Text
N

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
R

AutoCAD SHX Text
N

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
G

AutoCAD SHX Text
L

AutoCAD SHX Text
F

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
.

AutoCAD SHX Text
K

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
L

AutoCAD SHX Text
O

AutoCAD SHX Text
N

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
SHEET C2

AutoCAD SHX Text
7/6/2017



C
A

L
IF

O
R

N
IA

OF

ã

C
I
T

Y
 
O

F
 
N

E
V

A
D

A
 
C

I
T

Y

3
1

7
 
B

R
O

A
D

 
S

T
R

E
E

T

N
E

V
A

D
A

 
C

I
T

Y
,
 
C

A
L

I
F

O
R

N
I
A

 
9

5
9

5
9

(
5

3
0

)
 
2

6
5

-
2

4
9

6

A
D

A
M

S
 /
 N

IL
E

 S
ID

E
W

A
L
K

C2
 

N
E

V
A

D
A

 C
IT

Y

5

'

4

'

5

'

5

'

4

'

2

4

'

2 4

1

1

'

1

4

'
±

3
1
'

2

2

'

1

3

'

2
6
'

1
0
'

1
1
'

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
GV

AutoCAD SHX Text
H

AutoCAD SHX Text
Y

AutoCAD SHX Text
D

AutoCAD SHX Text
H

AutoCAD SHX Text
Y

AutoCAD SHX Text
D

AutoCAD SHX Text
2530

AutoCAD SHX Text
2530

AutoCAD SHX Text
2540

AutoCAD SHX Text
2540

AutoCAD SHX Text
2548

AutoCAD SHX Text
2548

AutoCAD SHX Text
2540

AutoCAD SHX Text
2540

AutoCAD SHX Text
2546

AutoCAD SHX Text
2546

AutoCAD SHX Text
L O N G    S T R E E T

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING

AutoCAD SHX Text
A D A M S

AutoCAD SHX Text
EP

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING FENCE

AutoCAD SHX Text
POWER POLE

AutoCAD SHX Text
W/ 3 GUYS

AutoCAD SHX Text
POWER POLE

AutoCAD SHX Text
W/ 2 GUYS

AutoCAD SHX Text
NC-1

AutoCAD SHX Text
2525.00

AutoCAD SHX Text
M A T C H

AutoCAD SHX Text
L I N E

AutoCAD SHX Text
NC-2

AutoCAD SHX Text
2533.82

AutoCAD SHX Text
EDGE

AutoCAD SHX Text
OF

AutoCAD SHX Text
PAVEMENT

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROPERTY LINE

AutoCAD SHX Text
RIGHT-OF-WAY

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING FENCE

AutoCAD SHX Text
MTR

AutoCAD SHX Text
CONCRETE

AutoCAD SHX Text
STAIRS

AutoCAD SHX Text
SMH

AutoCAD SHX Text
TOP=2536.8

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRAIN GRATE

AutoCAD SHX Text
TOP=2536.00

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRAIN GRATE

AutoCAD SHX Text
TOP=2536.55

AutoCAD SHX Text
WV

AutoCAD SHX Text
NC-3

AutoCAD SHX Text
2547.13

AutoCAD SHX Text
STOP SIGN

AutoCAD SHX Text
WV

AutoCAD SHX Text
WV

AutoCAD SHX Text
FH

AutoCAD SHX Text
WV

AutoCAD SHX Text
PP

AutoCAD SHX Text
PP

AutoCAD SHX Text
PP

AutoCAD SHX Text
PP

AutoCAD SHX Text
PP

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRAIN GRATE

AutoCAD SHX Text
TOP=2500.0

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRAIN GRATE

AutoCAD SHX Text
TOP=2524.6

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING

AutoCAD SHX Text
EDGE

AutoCAD SHX Text
OF

AutoCAD SHX Text
PAVEMENT

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING

AutoCAD SHX Text
EDGE         OF

AutoCAD SHX Text
PAVEMENT

AutoCAD SHX Text
EDGE         OF

AutoCAD SHX Text
PAVEMENT

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING   CURB   AND   GUTTER

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING   EDGE   OF   PAVEMENT

AutoCAD SHX Text
STOP

AutoCAD SHX Text
SIGN

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING SIGNS

AutoCAD SHX Text
MTR

AutoCAD SHX Text
MTR

AutoCAD SHX Text
MTR

AutoCAD SHX Text
SMH

AutoCAD SHX Text
TOP=2526.2

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRAIN GRATE

AutoCAD SHX Text
TOP=2534.5

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING FENCE

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING

AutoCAD SHX Text
FENCE

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING     FENCE

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING FENCE

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING FENCE

AutoCAD SHX Text
WALL

AutoCAD SHX Text
WV

AutoCAD SHX Text
FH

AutoCAD SHX Text
WV

AutoCAD SHX Text
WV

AutoCAD SHX Text
SMH

AutoCAD SHX Text
TOP=2546.8

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING       FENCE

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRIVEWAY

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRIVEWAY

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRIVEWAY

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRIVEWAY

AutoCAD SHX Text
WALK

AutoCAD SHX Text
WALK

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRIVEWAY

AutoCAD SHX Text
11 PM 83

AutoCAD SHX Text
SIGN

AutoCAD SHX Text
MTR

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING 30''  CATALPA

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING

AutoCAD SHX Text
38''  CEDAR

AutoCAD SHX Text
CROSSWALK

AutoCAD SHX Text
STOP

AutoCAD SHX Text
BAR

AutoCAD SHX Text
STOP SIGN

AutoCAD SHX Text
S T R E E T

AutoCAD SHX Text
N I L E

AutoCAD SHX Text
S T R E E T

AutoCAD SHX Text
C L A Y

AutoCAD SHX Text
S T R E E T

AutoCAD SHX Text
C L A Y

AutoCAD SHX Text
S T R E E T

AutoCAD SHX Text
8 PM 80

AutoCAD SHX Text
TRAFFIC

AutoCAD SHX Text
SIGN

AutoCAD SHX Text
12'' CMP

AutoCAD SHX Text
TOP=2531.8

AutoCAD SHX Text
(ASSUMED)

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING

AutoCAD SHX Text
FENCE

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING SIGNS

AutoCAD SHX Text
''PEDESTIAN CROSSING''

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING CURB

AutoCAD SHX Text
GUTTER, SIDEWALK

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING CURB

AutoCAD SHX Text
GUTTER, SIDEWALK

AutoCAD SHX Text
''NO PARKING''

AutoCAD SHX Text
O

AutoCAD SHX Text
O

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING SIGN

AutoCAD SHX Text
AND ''NO PARKING''

AutoCAD SHX Text
N O T E :

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROPERTY LINE LOCATIONS ARE APPROXIMATE.

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING CURB

AutoCAD SHX Text
GUTTER, SIDEWALK

AutoCAD SHX Text
L E G E N D :

AutoCAD SHX Text
TOP OF CUT

AutoCAD SHX Text
TOE OF FILL

AutoCAD SHX Text
EDGE OF ROADWAY

AutoCAD SHX Text
POWER POLE W/ GUY

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING FENCE

AutoCAD SHX Text
OVERHEAD ELECTRIC

AutoCAD SHX Text
METER BOX

AutoCAD SHX Text
MAIL BOX

AutoCAD SHX Text
PP

AutoCAD SHX Text
MTR

AutoCAD SHX Text
MB

AutoCAD SHX Text
CONTROL/BENCHMARK

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING TREE

AutoCAD SHX Text
FLOW LINE

AutoCAD SHX Text
WATER VALVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
WV

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
SEWER MANHOLE

AutoCAD SHX Text
SMH

AutoCAD SHX Text
FIRE HYDRANT

AutoCAD SHX Text
FH

AutoCAD SHX Text
H

AutoCAD SHX Text
Y

AutoCAD SHX Text
D

AutoCAD SHX Text
SEWER CLEANOUT

AutoCAD SHX Text
SCO

AutoCAD SHX Text
CO

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROPERTY LINE

AutoCAD SHX Text
310 NILE

AutoCAD SHX Text
302 NILE

AutoCAD SHX Text
316 CLAY

AutoCAD SHX Text
319 ADAMS

AutoCAD SHX Text
300 ADAMS

AutoCAD SHX Text
303 LONG

AutoCAD SHX Text
300 LONG

AutoCAD SHX Text
237 ADAMS

AutoCAD SHX Text
239 ADAMS

AutoCAD SHX Text
241 ADAMS

AutoCAD SHX Text
243 NILE

AutoCAD SHX Text
200 CLAY

AutoCAD SHX Text
205 CLAY

AutoCAD SHX Text
DATE

AutoCAD SHX Text
REVISIONS

AutoCAD SHX Text
NO.

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRAWN:

AutoCAD SHX Text
DESIGNED:

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROJ. NO:

AutoCAD SHX Text
DWG:

AutoCAD SHX Text
DATE:

AutoCAD SHX Text
 SIERRA LAND SOLUTIONS, INC.SIERRA LAND SOLUTIONS, INC.

AutoCAD SHX Text
CMAQ IMPROVEMENTS

AutoCAD SHX Text
 BKM

AutoCAD SHX Text
adams design1

AutoCAD SHX Text
 May, 2016

AutoCAD SHX Text
 WJF/ BKM

AutoCAD SHX Text
2016

AutoCAD SHX Text
1 inch =     feet

AutoCAD SHX Text
( IN FEET )

AutoCAD SHX Text
SCALE

AutoCAD SHX Text
0

AutoCAD SHX Text
20

AutoCAD SHX Text
20

AutoCAD SHX Text
40

AutoCAD SHX Text
20

AutoCAD SHX Text
10

AutoCAD SHX Text
c

AutoCAD SHX Text
DATE SIGNED:

AutoCAD SHX Text
O

AutoCAD SHX Text
C 058570

AutoCAD SHX Text
December 31, 2018

AutoCAD SHX Text
Y

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
R

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
G

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
B

AutoCAD SHX Text
R

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
R

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
D

AutoCAD SHX Text
P

AutoCAD SHX Text
R

AutoCAD SHX Text
N

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
F

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
L

AutoCAD SHX Text
O

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
V

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
L

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
F

AutoCAD SHX Text
O

AutoCAD SHX Text
R

AutoCAD SHX Text
N

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
R

AutoCAD SHX Text
N

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
R

AutoCAD SHX Text
N

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
G

AutoCAD SHX Text
L

AutoCAD SHX Text
F

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
.

AutoCAD SHX Text
K

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
L

AutoCAD SHX Text
O

AutoCAD SHX Text
N

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
%%uCONSTRUCTION NOTES:

AutoCAD SHX Text
G1	GRIND 1-1/2" (0.125') EXISTING PAVEMENT AND AND OVERLAY / REPAVE STREET TO FINISH GRIND 1-1/2" (0.125') EXISTING PAVEMENT AND AND OVERLAY / REPAVE STREET TO FINISH CONTOURS.  WHERE WIDENING IS SHOWN, CONSTRUCT 3" ASPHALT PAVEMENT OVER 6" AGG. BASE (GRINDINGS CAN BE USED IN LIEU OF BASE)  G2 	CONSTRUCT MODIFIED TYPE A2-6" CURB AND GUTTER (DETAIL 3/C4) CONSTRUCT MODIFIED TYPE A2-6" CURB AND GUTTER (DETAIL 3/C4) G3	CONSTRUCT TYPE A1-6" CURB (DETAIL 2/C4) CONSTRUCT TYPE A1-6" CURB (DETAIL 2/C4) G4	CONSTRUCT CONCRETE SIDEWALK (DETAIL 4/C4) CONSTRUCT CONCRETE SIDEWALK (DETAIL 4/C4) STRUCT CONCRETE SIDEWALK (DETAIL 4/C4) G5	JOIN EXISTING ASPHALT (DETAIL 1/C4) JOIN EXISTING ASPHALT (DETAIL 1/C4) G6	SAWCUT PAVEMENT AT 12" MIN. FROM EDGE OF CURB/GUTTER AND PROVIDE NEW PAVEMENT SAWCUT PAVEMENT AT 12" MIN. FROM EDGE OF CURB/GUTTER AND PROVIDE NEW PAVEMENT (DETAILS 1, 2 AND 3/C4) G7	CONSTRUCT ADA RAMP WITH TRUNCATED DOMES (CALTRANS STANDARD DETAIL A88A) CONSTRUCT ADA RAMP WITH TRUNCATED DOMES (CALTRANS STANDARD DETAIL A88A) G8	SAWCUT SIDEWALK AND CONFORM TO EXISTING WALK SAWCUT SIDEWALK AND CONFORM TO EXISTING WALK G9	CONSTRUCT DRIVEWAY (DETAIL 5/C4) CONSTRUCT DRIVEWAY (DETAIL 5/C4) G10	RELOCATE EXISTING SIGN TO EDGE OF WALK RELOCATE EXISTING SIGN TO EDGE OF WALK G11	ADJUST UTILITIES TO GRADE (TYPICAL) ADJUST UTILITIES TO GRADE (TYPICAL) G12	PROVIDE STRIPING FOR CENTERLINE, CROSSWALKS, STOP BARS AND STOP MARKINGS 	PROVIDE STRIPING FOR CENTERLINE, CROSSWALKS, STOP BARS AND STOP MARKINGS 	(TYPICAL) G13	CONSTRUCT TYPE G1 DRAINAGE INLET (24"X36" WITH BICYCLE PROOF GRATE) AND CONNECT CONSTRUCT TYPE G1 DRAINAGE INLET (24"X36" WITH BICYCLE PROOF GRATE) AND CONNECT TO EXISTING 	STORM DRAIN PIPE (CONNECT BACK OF WALL DRAIN TO INLET) STORM DRAIN PIPE (CONNECT BACK OF WALL DRAIN TO INLET) G14	CONSTRUCT CONCRETE RETAINING WALL WITH ROCK FACING (DETAIL 6/C4) CONSTRUCT CONCRETE RETAINING WALL WITH ROCK FACING (DETAIL 6/C4) G15	NOT USED NOT USED G16	PROVIDE NO PARKING SIGN PROVIDE NO PARKING SIGN G17	RECONSTRUCT EX. WALK (APPROX. 5') TO CONFORM TO NEW SIDEWALK IMPROVEMENTS.RECONSTRUCT EX. WALK (APPROX. 5') TO CONFORM TO NEW SIDEWALK IMPROVEMENTS.

AutoCAD SHX Text
G8

AutoCAD SHX Text
G4

AutoCAD SHX Text
G3

AutoCAD SHX Text
G10

AutoCAD SHX Text
G7

AutoCAD SHX Text
G12

AutoCAD SHX Text
G10

AutoCAD SHX Text
G7

AutoCAD SHX Text
G8

AutoCAD SHX Text
REMOVE (E) 

AutoCAD SHX Text
G3

AutoCAD SHX Text
G4

AutoCAD SHX Text
G7

AutoCAD SHX Text
G7

AutoCAD SHX Text
G12

AutoCAD SHX Text
G9

AutoCAD SHX Text
G13

AutoCAD SHX Text
G1

AutoCAD SHX Text
G14

AutoCAD SHX Text
G14

AutoCAD SHX Text
(E)	POLES  POLES  (RELOCATED BY COMCAST) REMOVE REMAINDER

AutoCAD SHX Text
REMOVE (E) 

AutoCAD SHX Text
SMH

AutoCAD SHX Text
TOP=2541.8

AutoCAD SHX Text
G11

AutoCAD SHX Text
G5

AutoCAD SHX Text
G5

AutoCAD SHX Text
30

AutoCAD SHX Text
32

AutoCAD SHX Text
34

AutoCAD SHX Text
36

AutoCAD SHX Text
38

AutoCAD SHX Text
G14

AutoCAD SHX Text
TW 36.0

AutoCAD SHX Text
H=4.8'

AutoCAD SHX Text
TW 32.0

AutoCAD SHX Text
H=2.8'

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROPERTY LINE

AutoCAD SHX Text
RIGHT-OF-WAY

AutoCAD SHX Text
TW 38.0

AutoCAD SHX Text
H=4.8'

AutoCAD SHX Text
TW 41.0

AutoCAD SHX Text
H=5.8'

AutoCAD SHX Text
TW 42.0

AutoCAD SHX Text
H=4.8'

AutoCAD SHX Text
TW 43.0

AutoCAD SHX Text
H=2.8'

AutoCAD SHX Text
FILL BEHIND WALK AND CONFORM TO  EXISTING DRIVEWAYS

AutoCAD SHX Text
G1

AutoCAD SHX Text
G1

AutoCAD SHX Text
G2

AutoCAD SHX Text
G3

AutoCAD SHX Text
G4

AutoCAD SHX Text
G4

AutoCAD SHX Text
G3

AutoCAD SHX Text
G2

AutoCAD SHX Text
G6

AutoCAD SHX Text
G6

AutoCAD SHX Text
G7

AutoCAD SHX Text
G7

AutoCAD SHX Text
G7

AutoCAD SHX Text
G8

AutoCAD SHX Text
G9

AutoCAD SHX Text
G4

AutoCAD SHX Text
G6

AutoCAD SHX Text
G3

AutoCAD SHX Text
G9

AutoCAD SHX Text
G9

AutoCAD SHX Text
G10

AutoCAD SHX Text
7/6/2017

AutoCAD SHX Text
RESTRIPE CENTERLINE FROM PROSPECT TO NIMROD

AutoCAD SHX Text
G11

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROVIDE BACK OF WALL DRAIN AND CONNECT  TO STORM DRAIN OR  DAYLIGHT TO GRADE

AutoCAD SHX Text
G16

AutoCAD SHX Text
G16

AutoCAD SHX Text
G16

AutoCAD SHX Text
G16

AutoCAD SHX Text
G10

AutoCAD SHX Text
PAINT CURB RED BETWEEN PARKING

AutoCAD SHX Text
PAINT PARALLEL PARKING

AutoCAD SHX Text
PAINT PARALLEL PARKING

AutoCAD SHX Text
G10

AutoCAD SHX Text
REMOVE (E) 

AutoCAD SHX Text
G5

AutoCAD SHX Text
G8

AutoCAD SHX Text
G9

AutoCAD SHX Text
G9

AutoCAD SHX Text
G9

AutoCAD SHX Text
G17

AutoCAD SHX Text
G17

AutoCAD SHX Text
G17

AutoCAD SHX Text
G17

AutoCAD SHX Text
G17

AutoCAD SHX Text
G17

AutoCAD SHX Text
REMOVE (E) 

AutoCAD SHX Text
SLOPE PAVEMENT FOR POSITIVE DRAINAGE

AutoCAD SHX Text
G6

AutoCAD SHX Text
GRIND AND OVERLAY

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROVIDE NEW PAVEMENT (FOR WIDENING)

AutoCAD SHX Text
G11

AutoCAD SHX Text
G11

AutoCAD SHX Text
G5

AutoCAD SHX Text
G5

AutoCAD SHX Text
SAWCUT FOR INSTALLATION OF CURB AND

AutoCAD SHX Text
JOIN EXISTING PAVEMENT



C
A

L
IF

O
R

N
IA

OF

ã

C
I
T

Y
 
O

F
 
N

E
V

A
D

A
 
C

I
T

Y

3
1

7
 
B

R
O

A
D

 
S

T
R

E
E

T

N
E

V
A

D
A

 
C

I
T

Y
,
 
C

A
L

I
F

O
R

N
I
A

 
9

5
9

5
9

(
5

3
0

)
 
2

6
5

-
2

4
9

6

A
D

A
M

S
 /
 N

IL
E

 S
ID

E
W

A
L
K

C3
 

N
E

V
A

D
A

 C
IT

Y

3 4

2
2
'

1
1
'

2
6
'1
0
'

2
2
'

1
1
'

AutoCAD SHX Text
GV

AutoCAD SHX Text
CO

AutoCAD SHX Text
H

AutoCAD SHX Text
Y

AutoCAD SHX Text
D

AutoCAD SHX Text
2530

AutoCAD SHX Text
2520

AutoCAD SHX Text
2510

AutoCAD SHX Text
2500

AutoCAD SHX Text
2490

AutoCAD SHX Text
2490

AutoCAD SHX Text
2500

AutoCAD SHX Text
2510

AutoCAD SHX Text
2520

AutoCAD SHX Text
2530

AutoCAD SHX Text
H

AutoCAD SHX Text
Y

AutoCAD SHX Text
D

AutoCAD SHX Text
M A T C H

AutoCAD SHX Text
L I N E

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING   EDGE   OF   PAVEMENT

AutoCAD SHX Text
EX FENCE

AutoCAD SHX Text
WALL

AutoCAD SHX Text
WV

AutoCAD SHX Text
WALK

AutoCAD SHX Text
9           PM           212

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING

AutoCAD SHX Text
66''  CEDAR

AutoCAD SHX Text
STOP SIGN

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRIVEWAY

AutoCAD SHX Text
N I L E

AutoCAD SHX Text
MB

AutoCAD SHX Text
MB

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
3

AutoCAD SHX Text
D

AutoCAD SHX Text
MTR

AutoCAD SHX Text
WV

AutoCAD SHX Text
WV

AutoCAD SHX Text
WV

AutoCAD SHX Text
GV

AutoCAD SHX Text
FH

AutoCAD SHX Text
WALK

AutoCAD SHX Text
WALK

AutoCAD SHX Text
MTR

AutoCAD SHX Text
3-MTR

AutoCAD SHX Text
MB

AutoCAD SHX Text
MB

AutoCAD SHX Text
PP

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING

AutoCAD SHX Text
24''  OAK

AutoCAD SHX Text
3-EXISTING

AutoCAD SHX Text
18''  CEDAR

AutoCAD SHX Text
WALL

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRIVEWAY

AutoCAD SHX Text
2-EXISTING

AutoCAD SHX Text
28''  CEDAR

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING

AutoCAD SHX Text
48''  CEDAR

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING

AutoCAD SHX Text
26''  CEDAR

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING

AutoCAD SHX Text
28''  CEDAR

AutoCAD SHX Text
EX FENCE

AutoCAD SHX Text
WALL

AutoCAD SHX Text
WOODEN PLANTER

AutoCAD SHX Text
AND STAIRS

AutoCAD SHX Text
SCO

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING   EDGE   OF   PAVEMENT

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRIVEWAY

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRIVEWAY

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRIVEWAY

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRIVEWAY

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRIVEWAY

AutoCAD SHX Text
MB

AutoCAD SHX Text
WV

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING FENCE

AutoCAD SHX Text
WALL

AutoCAD SHX Text
DWAY

AutoCAD SHX Text
DWAY

AutoCAD SHX Text
DWAY

AutoCAD SHX Text
DWAY

AutoCAD SHX Text
DWAY

AutoCAD SHX Text
S T R E E T

AutoCAD SHX Text
N I M R O D          S T R E E T

AutoCAD SHX Text
P I O N E E R     P A R K

AutoCAD SHX Text
NC-7

AutoCAD SHX Text
2483.97

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRAIN GRATE

AutoCAD SHX Text
TOP=2484.2

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRAIN GRATE

AutoCAD SHX Text
TOP=2484.0

AutoCAD SHX Text
NC-5

AutoCAD SHX Text
2521.72

AutoCAD SHX Text
NC-4

AutoCAD SHX Text
2529.82

AutoCAD SHX Text
WALL

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRIVEWAY

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRIVEWAY

AutoCAD SHX Text
WALL

AutoCAD SHX Text
WALL

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING

AutoCAD SHX Text
26''  CEDAR

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING

AutoCAD SHX Text
44''  CEDAR

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING

AutoCAD SHX Text
36''  CEDAR

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING

AutoCAD SHX Text
40''  CEDAR

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING

AutoCAD SHX Text
28''  CEDAR

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING

AutoCAD SHX Text
20''  CEDAR

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING

AutoCAD SHX Text
42''  CEDAR

AutoCAD SHX Text
2-EXISTING

AutoCAD SHX Text
30''  CEDAR

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING

AutoCAD SHX Text
44''  CEDAR

AutoCAD SHX Text
EX SIGN

AutoCAD SHX Text
14'' CEDAR

AutoCAD SHX Text
26''CEDAR

AutoCAD SHX Text
PP

AutoCAD SHX Text
14'' CEDAR

AutoCAD SHX Text
2-6'' CEDAR

AutoCAD SHX Text
18'' CEDAR

AutoCAD SHX Text
2-LOCUST

AutoCAD SHX Text
PP

AutoCAD SHX Text
MB

AutoCAD SHX Text
PP

AutoCAD SHX Text
36'' FIR

AutoCAD SHX Text
BUILDING

AutoCAD SHX Text
36'' PINE

AutoCAD SHX Text
30'' PINE

AutoCAD SHX Text
30'' AMBER

AutoCAD SHX Text
9    PM    58

AutoCAD SHX Text
FOUND 3/4" I.P. LS 3224

AutoCAD SHX Text
FOUND 3/4" I.P. LS 3224

AutoCAD SHX Text
FOUND 5/8'' REBAR

AutoCAD SHX Text
NO TAG

AutoCAD SHX Text
REMOVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
AC DIKE

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING   CURB   AND   GUTTER

AutoCAD SHX Text
MB

AutoCAD SHX Text
O

AutoCAD SHX Text
O

AutoCAD SHX Text
O

AutoCAD SHX Text
O

AutoCAD SHX Text
O

AutoCAD SHX Text
O

AutoCAD SHX Text
O

AutoCAD SHX Text
O

AutoCAD SHX Text
O

AutoCAD SHX Text
O

AutoCAD SHX Text
O

AutoCAD SHX Text
O

AutoCAD SHX Text
O

AutoCAD SHX Text
O

AutoCAD SHX Text
O

AutoCAD SHX Text
O

AutoCAD SHX Text
WALK

AutoCAD SHX Text
AC DIKE

AutoCAD SHX Text
PP

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRIVEWAY

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRIVEWAY

AutoCAD SHX Text
POWER POLE

AutoCAD SHX Text
W/ GUY

AutoCAD SHX Text
POWER POLE

AutoCAD SHX Text
W/ 2 GUYS

AutoCAD SHX Text
POWER POLE

AutoCAD SHX Text
W/ GUY

AutoCAD SHX Text
WALL

AutoCAD SHX Text
EX SIGN

AutoCAD SHX Text
N O T E :

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROPERTY LINE LOCATIONS ARE APPROXIMATE.

AutoCAD SHX Text
FD 1'' I.P.

AutoCAD SHX Text
NO TAG

AutoCAD SHX Text
    FD 5/8'' REBAR

AutoCAD SHX Text
    1'' I.P., NO TAG

AutoCAD SHX Text
FOUND 3/4'' I.P.

AutoCAD SHX Text
NO TAG

AutoCAD SHX Text
345 NILE

AutoCAD SHX Text
347 NILE

AutoCAD SHX Text
353 NILE

AutoCAD SHX Text
355 NILE

AutoCAD SHX Text
357 NILE

AutoCAD SHX Text
349 NILE

AutoCAD SHX Text
404 NIMROD

AutoCAD SHX Text
332 NILE

AutoCAD SHX Text
328 NILE

AutoCAD SHX Text
322 NILE

AutoCAD SHX Text
318 NILE

AutoCAD SHX Text
310 NILE

AutoCAD SHX Text
DATE

AutoCAD SHX Text
REVISIONS

AutoCAD SHX Text
NO.

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRAWN:

AutoCAD SHX Text
DESIGNED:

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROJ. NO:

AutoCAD SHX Text
DWG:

AutoCAD SHX Text
DATE:

AutoCAD SHX Text
 SIERRA LAND SOLUTIONS, INC.SIERRA LAND SOLUTIONS, INC.

AutoCAD SHX Text
CMAQ IMPROVEMENTS

AutoCAD SHX Text
 BKM

AutoCAD SHX Text
adams design1

AutoCAD SHX Text
 May, 2016

AutoCAD SHX Text
 WJF/ BKM

AutoCAD SHX Text
2016

AutoCAD SHX Text
1 inch =     feet

AutoCAD SHX Text
( IN FEET )

AutoCAD SHX Text
SCALE

AutoCAD SHX Text
0

AutoCAD SHX Text
20

AutoCAD SHX Text
20

AutoCAD SHX Text
40

AutoCAD SHX Text
20

AutoCAD SHX Text
10

AutoCAD SHX Text
c

AutoCAD SHX Text
DATE SIGNED:

AutoCAD SHX Text
O

AutoCAD SHX Text
C 058570

AutoCAD SHX Text
December 31, 2018

AutoCAD SHX Text
Y

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
R

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
G

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
B

AutoCAD SHX Text
R

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
R

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
D

AutoCAD SHX Text
P

AutoCAD SHX Text
R

AutoCAD SHX Text
N

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
F

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
L

AutoCAD SHX Text
O

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
V

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
L

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
F

AutoCAD SHX Text
O

AutoCAD SHX Text
R

AutoCAD SHX Text
N

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
R

AutoCAD SHX Text
N

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
R

AutoCAD SHX Text
N

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
G

AutoCAD SHX Text
L

AutoCAD SHX Text
F

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
.

AutoCAD SHX Text
K

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
L

AutoCAD SHX Text
O

AutoCAD SHX Text
N

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
G4

AutoCAD SHX Text
G4

AutoCAD SHX Text
G2

AutoCAD SHX Text
G2

AutoCAD SHX Text
G2

AutoCAD SHX Text
G2

AutoCAD SHX Text
G2

AutoCAD SHX Text
G5

AutoCAD SHX Text
G5

AutoCAD SHX Text
REMOVE (E) 

AutoCAD SHX Text
REMOVE (E) 

AutoCAD SHX Text
REMOVE (E) 

AutoCAD SHX Text
REMOVE (E) 

AutoCAD SHX Text
REMOVE (E) 

AutoCAD SHX Text
G6

AutoCAD SHX Text
G6

AutoCAD SHX Text
G1

AutoCAD SHX Text
G1

AutoCAD SHX Text
15

AutoCAD SHX Text
2500

AutoCAD SHX Text
2505

AutoCAD SHX Text
2510

AutoCAD SHX Text
2495

AutoCAD SHX Text
2490

AutoCAD SHX Text
2486

AutoCAD SHX Text
%%uCONSTRUCTION NOTES:

AutoCAD SHX Text
G1	GRIND 1-1/2" (0.125') EXISTING PAVEMENT AND AND OVERLAY / REPAVE STREET TO FINISH GRIND 1-1/2" (0.125') EXISTING PAVEMENT AND AND OVERLAY / REPAVE STREET TO FINISH CONTOURS.  WHERE WIDENING IS SHOWN, CONSTRUCT 3" ASPHALT PAVEMENT OVER 6" AGG. BASE (GRINDINGS CAN BE USED IN LIEU OF BASE)  G2 	CONSTRUCT MODIFIED TYPE A2-6" CURB AND GUTTER (DETAIL 3/C4) CONSTRUCT MODIFIED TYPE A2-6" CURB AND GUTTER (DETAIL 3/C4) G3	CONSTRUCT TYPE A1-6" CURB (DETAIL 2/C4) CONSTRUCT TYPE A1-6" CURB (DETAIL 2/C4) G4	CONSTRUCT CONCRETE SIDEWALK (DETAIL 4/C4) CONSTRUCT CONCRETE SIDEWALK (DETAIL 4/C4) STRUCT CONCRETE SIDEWALK (DETAIL 4/C4) G5	JOIN EXISTING ASPHALT (DETAIL 1/C4) JOIN EXISTING ASPHALT (DETAIL 1/C4) G6	SAWCUT PAVEMENT AT 12" MIN. FROM EDGE OF CURB/GUTTER AND PROVIDE NEW PAVEMENT SAWCUT PAVEMENT AT 12" MIN. FROM EDGE OF CURB/GUTTER AND PROVIDE NEW PAVEMENT (DETAILS 1, 2 AND 3/C4) G7	CONSTRUCT ADA RAMP WITH TRUNCATED DOMES (CALTRANS STANDARD DETAIL A88A) CONSTRUCT ADA RAMP WITH TRUNCATED DOMES (CALTRANS STANDARD DETAIL A88A) G8	SAWCUT SIDEWALK AND CONFORM TO EXISTING WALK SAWCUT SIDEWALK AND CONFORM TO EXISTING WALK G9	CONSTRUCT DRIVEWAY (DETAIL 5/C4) CONSTRUCT DRIVEWAY (DETAIL 5/C4) G10	RELOCATE EXISTING SIGN TO EDGE OF WALK RELOCATE EXISTING SIGN TO EDGE OF WALK G11	ADJUST UTILITIES TO GRADE (TYPICAL) ADJUST UTILITIES TO GRADE (TYPICAL) G12	PROVIDE STRIPING FOR CENTERLINE, CROSSWALKS, STOP BARS AND STOP MARKINGS 	PROVIDE STRIPING FOR CENTERLINE, CROSSWALKS, STOP BARS AND STOP MARKINGS 	(TYPICAL) G15	CONSTRUCT TYPE GO DRAINAGE CURB OPENING INLET (WITH BICYCLE PROOF GRATE) AND CONSTRUCT TYPE GO DRAINAGE CURB OPENING INLET (WITH BICYCLE PROOF GRATE) AND CONNECT TO EXISTING STORM DRAIN PIPE  G16	PROVIDE NO PARKING SIGN PROVIDE NO PARKING SIGN G17	RECONSTRUCT EX. WALK (APPROX. 5') TO CONFORM TO NEW SIDEWALK IMPROVEMENTS.RECONSTRUCT EX. WALK (APPROX. 5') TO CONFORM TO NEW SIDEWALK IMPROVEMENTS.

AutoCAD SHX Text
G9

AutoCAD SHX Text
G9

AutoCAD SHX Text
G9

AutoCAD SHX Text
G9

AutoCAD SHX Text
G9

AutoCAD SHX Text
G9

AutoCAD SHX Text
G9

AutoCAD SHX Text
G9

AutoCAD SHX Text
G9

AutoCAD SHX Text
G9

AutoCAD SHX Text
G9

AutoCAD SHX Text
G9

AutoCAD SHX Text
G10

AutoCAD SHX Text
G10

AutoCAD SHX Text
G10

AutoCAD SHX Text
HYDRANT TO BE RELOCATED 3'± ASDIRECTED BY CITY

AutoCAD SHX Text
7/6/2017

AutoCAD SHX Text
G15

AutoCAD SHX Text
G3

AutoCAD SHX Text
G7

AutoCAD SHX Text
G7

AutoCAD SHX Text
G4

AutoCAD SHX Text
G8

AutoCAD SHX Text
G8

AutoCAD SHX Text
G11

AutoCAD SHX Text
RELOCATE WATER METER

AutoCAD SHX Text
RELOCATE  WATER METER

AutoCAD SHX Text
CONFORM  WALL TO NEW WORK

AutoCAD SHX Text
REMOVE (E) 

AutoCAD SHX Text
G16

AutoCAD SHX Text
G16

AutoCAD SHX Text
G11

AutoCAD SHX Text
G11

AutoCAD SHX Text
REMOVE (E) 

AutoCAD SHX Text
REMOVE (E) 

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING

AutoCAD SHX Text
48''  CEDAR

AutoCAD SHX Text
O

AutoCAD SHX Text
MTR

AutoCAD SHX Text
REMOVE (E) 

AutoCAD SHX Text
G11

AutoCAD SHX Text
G16

AutoCAD SHX Text
G16

AutoCAD SHX Text
G16

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROVIDE 100LF ASPHALT DIKE (4" HIGH)  ADJACENT TO EXISTING ROADWAY

AutoCAD SHX Text
G9

AutoCAD SHX Text
L E G E N D :

AutoCAD SHX Text
TOP OF CUT

AutoCAD SHX Text
TOE OF FILL

AutoCAD SHX Text
EDGE OF ROADWAY

AutoCAD SHX Text
POWER POLE W/ GUY

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING FENCE

AutoCAD SHX Text
OVERHEAD ELECTRIC

AutoCAD SHX Text
METER BOX

AutoCAD SHX Text
MAIL BOX

AutoCAD SHX Text
PP

AutoCAD SHX Text
MTR

AutoCAD SHX Text
MB

AutoCAD SHX Text
CONTROL/BENCHMARK

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING TREE

AutoCAD SHX Text
FLOW LINE

AutoCAD SHX Text
WATER VALVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
WV

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
SEWER MANHOLE

AutoCAD SHX Text
SMH

AutoCAD SHX Text
FIRE HYDRANT

AutoCAD SHX Text
FH

AutoCAD SHX Text
H

AutoCAD SHX Text
Y

AutoCAD SHX Text
D

AutoCAD SHX Text
SEWER CLEANOUT

AutoCAD SHX Text
SCO

AutoCAD SHX Text
CO

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROPERTY LINE

AutoCAD SHX Text
G17

AutoCAD SHX Text
REMOVE (E) 

AutoCAD SHX Text
GRIND AND OVERLAY

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROVIDE NEW PAVEMENT (FOR WIDENING)

AutoCAD SHX Text
SAWCUT FOR INSTALLATION OF CURB AND

AutoCAD SHX Text
JOIN EXISTING PAVEMENT



C
A

L
IF

O
R

N
IA

OF

ã

C
I
T

Y
 
O

F
 
N

E
V

A
D

A
 
C

I
T

Y

3
1

7
 
B

R
O

A
D

 
S

T
R

E
E

T

N
E

V
A

D
A

 
C

I
T

Y
,
 
C

A
L

I
F

O
R

N
I
A

 
9

5
9

5
9

(
5

3
0

)
 
2

6
5

-
2

4
9

6

A
D

A
M

S
 / 

N
IL

E
 S

ID
E

W
A

L
K

D
E

T
A

IL
S

C4
 

N
E

V
A

D
A

 C
IT

Y

4

8.33% MAX

2
%

 
M

A
X

1
%

 
M

I
N

8.33% MAX

L

C

DRIVEWAY

SIDEWALK

CURB / GUTTER

STREET

4

AutoCAD SHX Text
DATE

AutoCAD SHX Text
REVISIONS

AutoCAD SHX Text
NO.

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRAWN:

AutoCAD SHX Text
DESIGNED:

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROJ. NO:

AutoCAD SHX Text
DWG:

AutoCAD SHX Text
DATE:

AutoCAD SHX Text
 SIERRA LAND SOLUTIONS, INC.SIERRA LAND SOLUTIONS, INC.

AutoCAD SHX Text
CMAQ IMPROVEMENTS

AutoCAD SHX Text
 BKM

AutoCAD SHX Text
adams design1

AutoCAD SHX Text
 April, 2017

AutoCAD SHX Text
 WJF/ BKM

AutoCAD SHX Text
2016

AutoCAD SHX Text
c

AutoCAD SHX Text
DATE SIGNED:

AutoCAD SHX Text
O

AutoCAD SHX Text
C 058570

AutoCAD SHX Text
December 31, 2018

AutoCAD SHX Text
Y

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
R

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
G

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
B

AutoCAD SHX Text
R

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
R

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
D

AutoCAD SHX Text
P

AutoCAD SHX Text
R

AutoCAD SHX Text
N

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
F

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
L

AutoCAD SHX Text
O

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
V

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
L

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
F

AutoCAD SHX Text
O

AutoCAD SHX Text
R

AutoCAD SHX Text
N

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
R

AutoCAD SHX Text
N

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
R

AutoCAD SHX Text
N

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
G

AutoCAD SHX Text
L

AutoCAD SHX Text
F

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
.

AutoCAD SHX Text
K

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
L

AutoCAD SHX Text
O

AutoCAD SHX Text
N

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
24"  GRIND

AutoCAD SHX Text
1'

AutoCAD SHX Text
2" AC OVERLAY

AutoCAD SHX Text
NEW AC / BASE STREET SECTION

AutoCAD SHX Text
SAWCUT LINE

AutoCAD SHX Text
JOIN PER  DETAIL 'A'

AutoCAD SHX Text
%%uDETAIL 'A'

AutoCAD SHX Text
NEW AC / BASE  STREET SECTION

AutoCAD SHX Text
SAWCUT LINE

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING EP

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING AC / BASE  STREET SECTION

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING AC / BASE  STREET SECTION

AutoCAD SHX Text
1'

AutoCAD SHX Text
NTS

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
JOIN EXISTING ASPHALT DETAIL

AutoCAD SHX Text
NTS

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
TYPE A1-6" CURB 

AutoCAD SHX Text
SAWCUT LINE

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING AC / BASE  STREET SECTION

AutoCAD SHX Text
SUBGRADE SOIL COMPACT TO  95% RELATIVE COMPACTION

AutoCAD SHX Text
NEW AC / BASE  STREET SECTION

AutoCAD SHX Text
NTS

AutoCAD SHX Text
4

AutoCAD SHX Text
TYPICAL SIDEWALK SECTION

AutoCAD SHX Text
4" CONCRETE WITH BROOM FINISH

AutoCAD SHX Text
6" CLASS II AGGREGATE BASE, 95% COMPACTION  (PER CALTRANS STD. SPECS)

AutoCAD SHX Text
SUBGRADE SOIL,  95% COMPACTION

AutoCAD SHX Text
16''O.C. VERT.

AutoCAD SHX Text
#4 REBAR @

AutoCAD SHX Text
8''O.C. VERT.

AutoCAD SHX Text
#4 REBAR @

AutoCAD SHX Text
 UPPER 4'-0''

AutoCAD SHX Text
2'-0''

AutoCAD SHX Text
''H''

AutoCAD SHX Text
4''

AutoCAD SHX Text
''H'' (TOTAL WALL HEIGHT)

AutoCAD SHX Text
''B''

AutoCAD SHX Text
12''O.C. CONTINUOUS

AutoCAD SHX Text
HORIZ.#4 REBAR AT 

AutoCAD SHX Text
TYPICAL IN FOOTING AS SHOWN

AutoCAD SHX Text
4'' CLEAN DRAIN

AutoCAD SHX Text
ROCK CONTINUOUS

AutoCAD SHX Text
12''

AutoCAD SHX Text
12''O.C. CONTINUOUS EACH WAY

AutoCAD SHX Text
HORIZ.#4 REBAR AT 

AutoCAD SHX Text
TYPICAL IN WALL AS SHOWN

AutoCAD SHX Text
ROCK FACING WITH TIES TO 

AutoCAD SHX Text
CONCRETE AS REQUIRED

AutoCAD SHX Text
4''MIN

AutoCAD SHX Text
4'-1'' to 5'-0''

AutoCAD SHX Text
3'-1'' to 4'-0''

AutoCAD SHX Text
''H''

AutoCAD SHX Text
HEIGHT

AutoCAD SHX Text
2'-0''

AutoCAD SHX Text
3-'0''

AutoCAD SHX Text
2'-6''

AutoCAD SHX Text
''B''

AutoCAD SHX Text
BASE

AutoCAD SHX Text
to 3'-0''

AutoCAD SHX Text
PAVEMENT SECTION PER PLAN

AutoCAD SHX Text
4''

AutoCAD SHX Text
12''

AutoCAD SHX Text
3" PERF PIPE

AutoCAD SHX Text
DAYLIGHT TO DRAIN

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
6"

AutoCAD SHX Text
8"

AutoCAD SHX Text
6''

AutoCAD SHX Text
''T''

AutoCAD SHX Text
THK

AutoCAD SHX Text
NTS

AutoCAD SHX Text
6

AutoCAD SHX Text
CONCRETE WALL DETAIL

AutoCAD SHX Text
NTS

AutoCAD SHX Text
3

AutoCAD SHX Text
MODIFIED TYPE A2-6"  CURB AND GUTTER

AutoCAD SHX Text
SAWCUT LINE

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING AC / BASE  STREET SECTION

AutoCAD SHX Text
SUBGRADE SOIL COMPACT TO  95% RELATIVE COMPACTION

AutoCAD SHX Text
NEW AC / BASE  STREET SECTION

AutoCAD SHX Text
1" LIP

AutoCAD SHX Text
SIDEWALK SECTION 4" PCC / 6" AB

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRIVEWAY SECTION 6" PCC / 6" AB

AutoCAD SHX Text
NTS

AutoCAD SHX Text
5

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRIVEWAY DETAIL

AutoCAD SHX Text
JOIN EXISTING DRIVEWAY RECONSTRUCT 5'-8' AS NECESSARY TO CONFORM

AutoCAD SHX Text
6" CURB

AutoCAD SHX Text
9'' MIN

AutoCAD SHX Text
7/6/2017

AutoCAD SHX Text
CONFORM WITH  SAME MATERIALS AS EXISTING DRIVEWAY 

AutoCAD SHX Text
24" GRIND/ OVERLAY SEE PAVEMENT JOIN DETAIL

AutoCAD SHX Text
24" GRIND/ OVERLAY SEE PAVEMENT JOIN DETAIL



RESOLUTION NO. 2018-XX 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF NEVADA CITY 
TO AWARD A CONTRACT TO SIMPSON & SIMPSON INC. FOR       

ADAMS STREET AND NILE STREET IMPROVEMENTS AND                      
AUTHORIZE MAYOR TO SIGN  

WHEREAS, the Adams Street and Nile Street Improvement project 
consists of new sidewalk on Adams Street and Nile Street with connections to 
sidewalks on adjacent streets.    

WHEREAS, the project provides safe, convenient and efficient pedestrian 
access to residents and visitors to Pioneer Park.   

WHEREAS, consistent with the goals set forth by the Congestion 
Mitigation and Air Quality (CMAQ) program, this project will improve safety for 
pedestrians; promote energy conservation with efficient non-motorized 
pedestrian travel; enhance the environment with fewer emissions; and improve 
the quality of life for residents of Nevada City. 

WHEREAS, consistent with Municipal Code requirements, City staff 
advertised and received bids for Adams Street and Nile Street Improvements.  

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the City Council of the City of 
Nevada City to award the contract to Simpson & Simpson Inc. in the amount of 
$404,763.00 plus $35,000.00 contingencies for Adams Street and Nile Street 
Improvements in Nevada City and authorize the Mayor to sign.  

PASSED AND ADOPTED at the regular meeting of the City Council of the City 
of Nevada City on the 11th day of April, 2018, by the following vote:  

 

AYES:   

NOES:  

ABSENT:  

ABSTAIN:   

 
      ________________________________ 
      Duane Strawser, Mayor 
ATTEST: 
 
 
_______________________________ 
Niel Locke, City Clerk 



REPORT TO CITY COUNCIL     City of Nevada City 
          317 Broad Street 
          Nevada City CA 95959 
APRIL 11, 2018        www.nevadacityca.gov 
___________________________________________________________________________ 
 
TITLE:  Award Of Contract For Sewer Replacement At Sacramento Street In Nevada City  
 
RECOMMENDATION: Pass Resolution 2018-XX Awarding a contract to Escheman 
Construction in the amount of $42,818.63 plus $8,000.00 contingencies for Sewer Replacement 
at Sacramento Street in Nevada City and authorize the Mayor to sign. 
 
CONTACT:  Bryan K. McAlister, City Engineer 
 
BACKGROUND/DISCUSSION: The City Engineer and Public Works staff identified sewer 
improvements that are necessary for continued service to commercial and residential property 
owner along Sacramento Street.   The project consists of replacement of aging infrastructure 
including removal and replacement of sewer mainline and sewer laterals, as further shown and 
described in the contract. 

 
City staff solicited bids for Sewer Replacement at Sacramento Street from local contractors.  
Bids received are as follows: 
 

• Escheman Construction, Brownsville CA    $   42,818.63 

• CME, Grass Valley CA      $ 124,010.00 

• Hansen Bros, Grass Valley CA     $   81,956.00 
 

Escheman Construction was selected as the lowest responsive and responsible bidder. 
 
FISCAL CONSIDERATIONS:  The project will be funded as authorized in the fiscal year 
2017/2018 water fund appropriations for water distribution.    
 
 
ATTACHMENT: 
 Contract for Sewer Replacement at Sacramento Street in Nevada City 
 Resolution 2018-XX  

http://www.nevadacityca.gov/


SACRAMENTO ST. 

SEWER IMPROVEMENTS 

 

 

City of Nevada City, 95959 
Nevada County, California 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

______________________________                         ______________________________ 

Bryan K. McAlister       William J. Falconi 
PE C58570        PE 25842 
PLS 9199         PLS 4911 
 
 
 



NOTICE TO CONTRACTOR'S 

Sacramento Street Sewer Improvements 
 

Sealed proposals for Sacramento St. Sewer Line will be received by the City at City Hall, 317 Broad Street, Nevada 
City, California, 95959, until 3:00 PM on March 29, 2018, at which time, or as soon thereafter as practicable, all 
such proposals will be publicly opened and read at City Hall, 317 Broad Street, Nevada City, California.   

 

Bids shall be enclosed and sealed in an envelope addressed to the City of Nevada City at the above stated address 
and shall be marked "Sacramento St. Sewer Line."   

 

The work includes the furnishing of all labor, materials, and equipment required for the job in accordance with the 
plans, specifications and other contract documents as set forth by the City Engineer. Such bid documents will be on 
file with the City staff and are available for inspection during office hours. Bid proposals may be obtained at the 
office of said City Hall at 317 Broad Street, Nevada City, California on or after March 9th, 2018. 

 

************************************************************************* 

 

The City reserves the right to reject all bids; or to accept any portion of bid schedule; to reject any bid which is 
incomplete or irregular; to determine which proposal is, in its judgment, the lowest responsible bid of a responsible 
bidder and to waive any informality or minor irregularity of any bid. 

 

DATED: March 9th, 2018    CITY OF NEVADA CITY 

 

 

               
      ______________________________ 

       Bryan McAlister, P.E. 

       City Engineer 

 
 
 

  









AGREEMENT 
 
 
 THIS AGREEMENT is made this _______________ day of ______________________, between the CITY 
OF NEVADA CITY, a municipal corporation, hereinafter called "City," and 
___________________________________________, hereinafter called "Contractor." 
 WHEREAS, City has caused to be prepared certain plans, specifications and other contract documents 
pertaining to the SACRAMENTO ST. SEWER LINE IMPROVEMENTS in said City: and 
 WHEREAS, after notice duly given, City has awarded the contract for such work to Contractor; 
 NOW, THEREFORE, IT IS AGREED by and between said parties as follows: 
 
 1. Scope of Work.  The contractor agrees to furnish all labor, materials, tools and equipment, required to 
complete the improvements in Nevada City, California, in accordance with the plans, specifications and other contract 
representation made in mandatory meetings.  All such work shall be performed in a good and workmanlike manner 
and to the satisfaction of the designer of said project. 
 
 2. Contract Price.  As consideration for all such work, City agrees to pay to Contractor the total sum of 
_____________________________________________ ($________________) Dollars, payable in the manner 
hereinafter set forth. 
 
 3. Contract Documents.  The complete contract between the parties hereto consists of the Notice to 
Contractors, the Information to Bidders, the Bid Proposal, the General Conditions, the Plans and Specifications, and 
all other drawings and printed or written explanatory matter pertaining thereto, as covered in the mandatory pre-bid 
meeting. All of the foregoing documents are intended to cooperate, so that any work or requirement specified in any 
of them is to be carried out or observed the same as if mentioned in all. 
 
 4. Time for Performance.  Within five (5) days after the execution of this Agreement, City shall give 
Contractor written Notice to Proceed, and thereafter Contractor shall commence the work and shall prosecute the 
same with due diligence until completion and acceptance by City; provided, however, that all such work shall be 
completed and ready for use within thirty (30) working days after Contractor receives said Notice to Proceed. 
 
 5. Extension of Time.  If, because of adverse weather conditions, strikes, inability of the Contractor (through 
no fault on his/her part) to obtain necessary materials, or other cause beyond the reasonable control of Contractor, 
Contractor is unable to complete the required work within the allowed time, he shall be entitled to an extension or 
extensions of such time, commensurate with the unavoidable delay thus caused; provided, however that Contractor 
shall apply to City for approval of any such extension prior to the expiration of the time for performance as specified 
in the preceding paragraph. 
 
  6. Contractor's Failure to Complete Work.  If Contractor fails to prosecute the work with such diligence as 
will insure its completion within the time hereinabove specified, or any extension thereof, or fails to complete such 
work within such time, or if Contractor shall otherwise violate this Agreement, City may give written notice to 
Contractor and his sureties of City's intention to terminate this Agreement unless, within five (5) days after services 
of such notice, satisfactory arrangements are made with the City for the completion of such work or the curing of 
such breach; and if such arrangements are not made within such time, City may, at its option, terminate this 
Agreement by giving written notice of such termination to Contractor and his sureties. 
 
 7. Payments to Contractor.  On or before the tenth day of each month during the progress of the work, 
Contractor shall submit to the Designer an itemized statement of all labor and materials incorporated into the 
improvement during the preceding month and the portion of the contract price applicable thereto.   
 
 
 



 8. Indemnification.  Contractor agrees to hold City, and its officers, agents, and employees harmless from any 
and all liability and claims for damages for death and personal injury, and for property damage, incident to or arising 
out of the operations of Contractor or any subcontractor under this Agreement, and Contractor further agrees to 
defend City, and its officers, agents, and employees in any and all lawsuits which may be brought for such damages 
caused, or alleged to have been caused, by such operations.  In addition, Contractor agrees to furnish to the City 
evidences of insurance coverage.  The approval of such insurance by City shall not constitute a waiver or limitation 
of any rights under this indemnity agreement, regardless of whether such insurance shall be held to be inapplicable 
to any such damage or claims therefore. 
 
 
 Executed in duplicate this                     day of                         ,                . 
 
 
ATTEST: CITY OF NEVADA CITY 
    
 
 
                                         By:          
   (Mayor) 
 
   By:               
   (Contractor) 
 
 
   By:          
    (Authorized Officer) 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Project Specifications  

 

PROJECT LIMITS 

Sacramento Street. As shown on the plans. 

 

PROJECT DESCRIPTION 

The project consists of sewer main replacement and connection to existing sewer services within the project limits.   The 

sewer main that is being replaced has above ground and below ground segments of pipe on sloping terrain.   Methods of 

installation shall be selected by the contractor, however the methods utilized shall result in minimal or no disturbance of 

private landscaping, fencing and hardscaping.     Disposal of demolished materials, debris or excess material shall be 

provided by the contractor at their expense.    

 

CONSTRUCTION NOTES 

All improvements shall be constructed in accordance with the plans and details for the project and the latest edition of 

Caltrans Standard Plans and Standard Specifications and the Uniform Plumbing Code. 

 

MATERIAL NOTES 

PVC Gravity Sewer Piping:    SDR25 for Under Ground Sewer Pipe                                                                                                                    

            Ultraviolet Resistant (UVR) PVC for Above Ground Sewer Pipe 

Pipe and Fittings:  PVC SDR‐35 shall conform to ASTM D 3034 for diameters from 4” to 15” with integral‐bell gasket 
joints. Rubber gaskets shall be factory installed and conform to ASTM F 477. Pipe joints shall conform to ASTM D 3212.   
UVR PVC pipe fittings for above ground application shall be mechanical joint fittings for non‐pressurized pipe. 

Pipe Supports:    For above ground application, pipe supports shall consists of steel supports on both sides of pipe at 6’ 
spacing, imbedded into the ground 3’, or at sufficient dimensions to prevent pipe deflection. 

 

SPECIAL PROVISIONS 

SEWER LINE PIPE AND FITTINGS 

Contractor shall provide and install all material necessary for the project including pipe, fittings, wyes, pipe connections, pipe 

supports, trench resurfacing, excavation, bedding and backfill.   Hydrostatic test, mandrel testing and/or television testing shall 

be provided as required by the City Engineer. 

Trench backfill shall consist of sand bedding around pipe per Standard Specifications and trench zone backfill using native 

material. 

 

 



SEWER CLEANOUTS 

Contractor shall provide and install all material necessary for sewer lateral connections (including lateral cleanouts) under bid 

item for sewer laterals and for main line cleanouts under bid item for cleanouts.     Cleanouts shall be installed for each building 

lateral and on the upstream side of any fitting with 45 degree or greater bend.   Cleanouts shall be boxed to grade with a cast 

iron lid. 

 

 

  



GENERAL CONDITIONS 
 
 
 

1. Inspection of Construction 
 

The Engineer shall have access to the work and the site of the work at all times and the Contractor shall 
afford such access to the Engineer and shall furnish all relevant information requested by him.  At the request of 
the Engineer the Contractor shall open for inspection any part of the work which has been covered up, and if 
any part of the work has been covered up in contravention of the instructions of the Engineer, or if on being 
opened up, is found not to be in accordance with the terms of the contract, the expense of opening and 
recovering shall be charged to the Contractor.  If the work has been covered up but not in contravention of such 
instructions and is found to be in accordance with the terms of the contract, the actual cost of opening and 
recovering shall be borne by the City, and in such case, if the work of opening and recovering is done by the 
Contractor, it shall be considered as extra work and paid for accordingly. 

 
2. Change Orders 

 
 If for any reason it becomes necessary or desirable to change the alignment, dimensions, or design of the 
work, the City shall have the right to issue written change orders therefore.  If the Contractor considers that any 
such change involves extra work, he shall immediately so notify the Engineer in writing, and shall make claim 
for compensation for such work not later than the first day of the month following the month in which the work 
was performed.  If, in the opinion of the Engineer, any change order results in a change in the amount of work 
performed, the contract price shall be adjusted for extra work or omitted work, as the case may be. 
 

3. Contractor’s Employees and Subcontractors 
 
 The Contractor shall at all times be responsible for the adequacy and efficiency of his employees and any 
subcontractor and the latter’s employees.  All workers shall have adequate skill and experience to perform 
properly the work assigned to them. 
 

4. Errors and Omissions 
 
 If the Contractor in the course of the work becomes aware of any error or omission in the contract 
documents, or of any discrepancy between such documents and the physical conditions of the work site, he shall 
immediately inform the Engineer, who shall take such action as he may deem necessary in order to rectify the 
matter.  Any work done after such discovery and without the authorization of the Engineer will be at the 
Contractor’s risk. 
 

5. Guaranty of Work 
 

 For a period of one (1) year after final acceptance of the work by the City, the Contractor shall make all 
repairs and replacements arising out of any defective workmanship or materials.  If the Contractor fails to make 
such repairs or replacements within ten (10) days after receiving written notice to do so, or within such further 
time as may be allowed by the City, the City may undertake such repairs or replacements, in which case the 
Contractor shall be liable to the City for the cost thereof. 
 

6. Contractor’s Responsibility for Work 
 
 The Contractor shall be responsible for the proper care and protection of the work, and of all materials 
delivered to the work site, until completion of the work and its final acceptance by the City. 
 



7. Performance Bond 
 
 No Performance bond shall be required for this project. 
 

8. Payment Bond 
 

A payment (labor and materials) bond is required for public works contracts involving an expenditure in 
excess of twenty-five thousand dollars ($25,000).   If the contract is in excess of this amount the contractor 
shall provide a payment bond to the City of Nevada City before commencement of work.   Cost for the bond 
shall be included in the contractor bid proposal and no additional compensation will be provided.    
 
A payment bond shall be in an amount not less than 100 percent of the total amount payable pursuant to the 
contract. The bond shall be in the form of a bond and not a deposit in lieu of a bond. The bond shall be 
executed by an admitted surety insurer. 
 
9. Workmen’s Compensation Insurance 

 
 The Contractor shall carry workmen’s compensation insurance for all employees working on or about the 
site of the work, and if any work is subcontracted, the Contractor shall require each subcontractor to carry such 
insurance for all of the latter’s employees, unless they are covered by the Contractor’s insurance. 
 

10. Insurance Requirements 
 
 CONTRACTOR shall purchase and maintain insurance in amounts of coverage not less than the following 
amounts: 
 
   General Liability:  $1,000,000 per occurrence for bodily injury,  
   (Including operations,  personal injury and property damage.  If     
   products and completed Commercial General Liability Insurance or 
   operations)   other form with a general aggregate limit is   
       used either the general aggregate limit shall 
       apply separately to this project/location or 
       the general aggregate limit shall be twice     
       the required occurrence limit.  
 
   Automobile Liability:  $1,000,000 per accident for bodily injury  
       and property damage. 
 
 The Contractor shall deliver to the City, concurrently with the execution of the contract, certificates 
evidencing all insurance required by the contract, and each such certificate shall include a provision to the effect 
that the policy or policies cannot be canceled or materially modified unless the insurer gives the City at least 
fifteen (15) days written notice thereof prior to such cancellation or modification.  
 
11.  Prevailing Wages 
Contractor shall pay each laborer, workman or mechanic in accordance with State and Federal Prevailing Wage 
Rates and the California Labor Code. These wage rates are hereby made a part of this contract: 
 

State General Prevailing Wage Determinations in effect on date advertised 
General prevailing wage determination 
Journeyman and Apprentice Prevailing Wage Rates can be accessed at the following websites: 
http://www.dir.ca.gov/OPRL/2017-2/PWD/index.htm  and 
http://www.dir.ca.gov/das/publicworks.html  



 
Reference: Labor Code http://www.labor.ca.gov/laborlawreg.htm 
 
Federal Prevailing Wage Determinations in effect on bid date 
General Decision # CA170009 CA9 
http://www.wdol.gov/wdol/scafiles/davisbacon/ca.html 
 

Electronic Certified Payroll Records 
 All contractors must furnish electronic certified payroll records to the Labor Commissioner using the 

online eCPR data system 

 No contractor or subcontractor may be listed on a bid proposal for a public works project unless 
registered with the Department of Industrial Relations pursuant to Labor Code section 1725.5 [with 
limited exceptions from this requirement for bid purposes only under Labor Code section 1771.1(a)]. 

 No contractor or subcontractor may be awarded a contract for public work on a public works project 
unless registered with the Department of Industrial Relations pursuant to Labor Code section 1725.5. 

 This project is subject to compliance monitoring and enforcement by the Department of Industrial 
Relations. 

 The contractor shall post job site notices prescribed by regulation. (See 8 Calif. Code Reg. §16451(d) 
 



bmcalister
Oval

bmcalister
Oval

bmcalister
Line



add
cleanout

add
cleanout

bmcalister
Pencil

bmcalister
Oval

bmcalister
Oval

bmcalister
Typewritten Text
Replace 230' of6" Sewer Line

bmcalister
Line







RESOLUTION NO. 2018-XX 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF NEVADA CITY 
TO AWARD A CONTRACT TO ESCHEMAN CONSTRUCTION FOR    

SEWER LINE IMPROVEMENTS AT SACRAMENTO STREET           IN 
NEVADA CITY AND AUTHORIZE MAYOR TO SIGN  

WHEREAS, The City of Nevada City provides wastewater / sewer 
collection and treatment for residents and customers within City limits and 
adjacent properties where authorized for connection; and 

WHEREAS, The City of Nevada City provides maintenance of the sewer 
collection system which includes replacement and repair of aging infrastructure; 
and 

WHEREAS, consist with Municipal Code requirements, City staff 
advertised and received bids for Sewer Replacement at Sacramento Street in 
Nevada City.  

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the City Council of the City of 
Nevada City to award the contract to Escheman Construction in the amount of 
$42,818.63 plus $8,000.00 contingencies for Sewer Replacement at Sacramento 
Street in Nevada City and authorize the Mayor to sign.  

PASSED AND ADOPTED at the regular meeting of the City Council of the City 
of Nevada City on the 11th day of April, 2018, by the following vote:  

 

AYES:  

NOES:  

ABSENT:  

ABSTAIN:   

 
      ________________________________ 
      Duane Strawser, Mayor 
ATTEST: 
 
 
_______________________________ 
Niel Locke, City Clerk 



REPORT TO CITY COUNCIL     City of Nevada City 
          317 Broad Street 
          Nevada City CA 95959 
APRIL 11, 2018        www.nevadacityca.gov 
___________________________________________________________________________ 
 
TITLE:  Award Of Contract For Water Replacement At Jordan Street In Nevada City  
 
RECOMMENDATION: Pass Resolution 2018-XX Awarding a contract to C&D Contractors, Inc. 
in the amount of $26,530.00 plus $4,000.00 contingencies for Water Replacement at Jordan 
Street in Nevada City and authorize the Mayor to sign. 
 
CONTACT:  Bryan K. McAlister, City Engineer 
 
BACKGROUND/DISCUSSION: The City Engineer and Public Works staff identified water 
improvements that are necessary for continued service to City residents at Jordan Street.   The 
project consists of replacement of aging infrastructure, as further shown and described in the 
contract. 

 
City staff solicited bids for Water Replacement at Jordan Street from local contractors.  Bids 
received are as follows: 
 

• Hansen Bros, Grass Valley CA     $  49,166.00 

• Springsteen Construction, Brownsville CA   $  26,845.00 

• Deschaine Enterprises, Grass Valley CA    $131,750.00 

• Escheman Construction,  Brownsville CA   $  34,706.00 

• Freschi Construction Inc, Grass Valley CA   $  35,568.00 

• CME, Grass Valley CA      $  35,026.00 

• C&D Contractors, Inc., Nevada City CA    $  26,330.00 
 

C&D Contractors, Inc. was selected as the lowest responsive and responsible bidder.   (Note: 
this is a unit price bid, therefore the unit price for bid item 3 (3 each x $900) takes precedence 
over the miscalculated total price of $24,530.00.    We made an adjustment for this miscalculation 
and the total amount for C&D’s bid is $26,330.00 which is the lowest qualified bid.) 
 
FISCAL CONSIDERATIONS:  The project will be funded as authorized in the fiscal year 
2017/2018 water fund appropriations for water distribution.    
 
 
ATTACHMENT: 
 Contract for Water Replacement at Jordan Street in Nevada City 
 Resolution 2018-XX  

http://www.nevadacityca.gov/




































RESOLUTION NO. 2018-XX 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF NEVADA CITY 
TO AWARD A CONTRACT TO C&D CONTRACTORS, INC. FOR WATER 

REPLACEMENT AT JORDAN STREET IN NEVADA CITY AND                      
AUTHORIZE MAYOR TO SIGN  

WHEREAS, The City of Nevada City provides water service to residents 
and customers within City limits and adjacent properties not within NID’s District 
boundary; and 

WHEREAS, The City of Nevada City provides maintenance of the water 
distribution system which includes replacement and repair of aging 
infrastructure; and 

WHEREAS, consist with Municipal Code requirements, City staff 
advertised and received bids for Water Replacement at Jordan Street in Nevada 
City.  

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the City Council of the City of 
Nevada City to award the contract to C&D Contractors, Inc. in the amount of 
$26,530.00 plus $4,000.00 contingencies for Water Replacement at Jordan Street 
in Nevada City in Nevada City and authorize the Mayor to sign.  

PASSED AND ADOPTED at the regular meeting of the City Council of the City 
of Nevada City on the 11th day of April, 2018, by the following vote:  

 

AYES:  

NOES:  

ABSENT:  

ABSTAIN:   

 
      ________________________________ 
      Duane Strawser, Mayor 
ATTEST: 
 
 
_______________________________ 
Niel Locke, City Clerk 



REPORT TO CITY COUNCIL     City of Nevada City 
          317 Broad Street 
          Nevada City CA 95959 
APRIL 11, 2018        www.nevadacityca.gov 
___________________________________________________________________________ 
 
TITLE:  A Resolution Of The City Council Of Nevada City To Adopt A Determination Of A 
CalPERS Member’s Industrial Disability Retirement For Police Officer Shane Franssen 
 
RECOMMENDATION:  Pass Resolution 2018-XX to adopt a determination of CalPERS 
member’s industrial disability retirement for Police Officer Shane Franssen. 
 
CONTACT: Loree’ McCay, Administrative Services Manager 
 
BACKGROUND / DISCUSSION:   
The City was informed that the prior Resolution 2018-06 was invalid and a revised resolution 
including specific verbiage was required by CalPERS in order to accept the City’s 
Determination. 
 
Mr. Franssen became a Reserve Officer for the Nevada City Police Department (NCPD) on 
February 19, 2004.  He became a full-time officer February 10, 2010.  Mr. Franssen 
experienced an injury to his right knee while on duty on March 28, 2016 and underwent 
surgery August 9, 2017. He has been allowed to return to light duty but has remained on short 
term disability and hasn’t returned to work.   
 
The basis for Mr. Franssen’s Industrial Disability Retirement is confirmed by medical reports 
from Stephen P. Abelow, M.D. that permanent restrictions will likely include no running, 
jumping or physical restraints and has been told he will not be able to return to work as a 
Police Officer.  Accordingly, Mr. Franssen is incapacitated within the meaning of the Public 
Employee’s Retirement Law for the performance of his usual and customary duties in the 
position of Police Officer. 
 
Under State Law, the City Council is required to adopt a Resolution determining that 
competent medical evidence supports granting of an Industrial Disability Retirement.  Based 
on medical evidence staff is recommending adoption of Resolution 2018-XX approving the 
CalPERS Industrial Retirement for Shane Franssen to be effective April 21, 2018. 
 
ENVIRONMENTAL CONSIDERATIONS:  Not applicable. 
 
FISCAL IMPACT:  Not applicable. 
 
ATTACHMENTS:   
 Resolution 2018-XX – A Resolution of the City of Nevada City to Adopt a Determination 

of a CalPERS Member’s Industrial Disability Retirement for Police Officer Shane 
Franssen 

 Prior Resolution 2018-06 with Markups  

http://www.nevadacityca.gov/


RESOLUTION NO. 2018-XX 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF NEVADA CITY 
TO ADOPT A DETERMINATION OF A CALPERS MEMBER’S INDUSTRIAL 

DISABILITY RETIREMENT FOR POLICE OFFICER SHANE FRANSSEN 
 
 
 WHEREAS, the City of Nevada City is a contracting agency of the California Public 
Employees’ Retirement System (CalPERS); and 
 
 WHEREAS, the California Public Employees’ Retirement Law requires that a contracting 
agency determine whether an employee of such agency in employment in which he is classified 
as a local safety member is disabled for purposes of the California Employees’ Retirement Law 
and whether such disability is “industrial” within the meaning of such Law; and 
 
 WHEREAS, an application for industrial disability retirement of permanently injured right 
knee arising out of and in the course of employment from Shane Franssen employed by the City 
of Nevada City in the position of Police Officer has been filed with CalPERS; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the City of Nevada City has reviewed the medical and other evidence 
relevant to such alleged disability. 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, that the City of Nevada City find and 
determine and it does hereby certify under penalty of perjury that the determination was made 
based on competent medical opinion and determined that Shane Franssen is substantially 
incapacitated within the meaning of the California Public Employees’ Retirement Law for 
performance of his duties in the position of Police Officer; and 
 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that the City of Nevada City certifies under penalty of 
perjury that the determination was not used as a substitute for the disciplinary process; and,  

 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that the Shane Franssen has filed a Worker’s 

Compensation claim against the City of Nevada City for his injury which was determined to be 
the cause of his disabling condition and the claim was accepted; and, 
 
 BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that the City of Nevada City find and determine and it 
does hereby find and determine that such disability is a result of injury or disease arising out of 
and in the course of employment and that there is not the possibility of a third-party liability 
present and that neither said Shane Franssen nor the agency City of Nevada City, applied to 
the Workers’ Compensation Appeals Board for a determination pursuant to G.C. Section 21166 
whether such disability is industrial; and 
 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that the City of Nevada City does find and determine that 
there is competent medical opinion certifying that the disability is expected to be permanent; 
and,  
 
 BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that the member will be, separated from his employment 
in the position of Police Officer after expiration of his rights under Section 21164 Government 
Code, effective April 21st, 2018 and that no dispute as to the expiration of such leave rights is 
pending. His last day on pay status was April 20th, 2018. 
 



BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that the member will be paid Advance Disability Pension 
Payments (ADPP) in the monthly amount of $2,563.00, beginning on the 20th day of May, 2018.  
Reimbursement checks should be made payable to the City of Nevada City and delivered to 
317 Broad Street, Nevada City, California  95959. 

 
PASSED AND ADOPTED at a regular scheduled meeting of the City Council held on this 11th 
day of April by the following vote: 
 
AYES:   
NOES:   
ABSENT:  
ABSTAIN:  
       _____________________________ 
       Duane Strawser 
ATTEST: 
 
_____________________________ 
Niel Locke, City Clerk 



RESOLUTION NO. 2018-XX 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF NEVADA CITY 
TO ADOPT A DETERMINATION OF A CALPERS MEMBER’S INDUSTRIAL 

DISABILITY RETIREMENT FOR POLICE OFFICER GARY SCOTT CLENDENENSHANE 
FRANSSEN 

 
 
 WHEREAS, the City of Nevada City is a contracting agency of the California Public 
Employees’ Retirement System (CalPERS); and 
 
 WHEREAS, the California Public Employees’ Retirement Law requires that a contracting 
agency determine whether an employee of such agency in employment in which he is classified 
as a local safety member is disabled for purposes of the California Employees’ Retirement Law 
and whether such disability is “industrial” within the meaning of such Law; and 
 
 WHEREAS, an application for industrial disability retirement of permanently injured left 
right knee arising out of and in the course of employment from Gary Scott ClendenenShane 
Franssen employed by the City of Nevada City in the position of Police Officer has been filed 
with CalPERS; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the City of Nevada City has reviewed the medical and other evidence 
relevant to such alleged disability. 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, that the City of Nevada City find and 
determine and it does hereby find certify under penalty of perjury that the determination was 
made based on competent medical opinion and determined that Gary Scott Clendenen Shane 
Franssen is substantially incapacitated within the meaning of the California Public Employees’ 
Retirement Law for performance of his duties in the position of Police Officer; and 
 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that the City of Nevada City certifies under penalty of 
perjury that the determination was not used as a substitute for the disciplinary process; and,  

 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that the Shane Franssen has filed a Worker’s 

Compensation claim against the City of Nevada City for his injury which was determined to be 
the cause of his disabling condition and the claim was accepted; and, 
 
 BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that the City of Nevada City find and determine and it 
does hereby find and determine that such disability is a result of injury or disease arising out of 
and in the course of employment and that there is not the possibility of a third-party liability 
present and that. nNeither said Gary Scott ClendenenShane Franssen nor the agency City of 
Nevada City, applied to the Workers’ Compensation Appeals Board for a determination 
pursuant to G.C. Section 21166 whether such disability is industrial; and 
 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that the City of Nevada City does find and determine that 
there is competent medical opinion certifying that the disability is expected to be permanent; 
and,  
 
 BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that the member will be, separated from his employment 
in the position of Police Officer after expiration of his rights under Section 21164 Government 

Formatted: Indent: First line:  0.5"

Formatted: Indent: First line:  0.5"



Code, effective March 24April 21st, 2018 and that no dispute as to the expiration of such leave 
rights is pending. His last day on pay status was March 23April 20th, 2018. 
 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that the member will be paid Advance Disability Pension 
Payments (ADPP) in the monthly amount of $2,563.00, beginning on the 20th day of May, 2018.  
Reimbursement checks should be made payable to the City of Nevada City and delivered to 
317 Broad Street, Nevada City, California  95959. 

 
PASSED AND ADOPTED at a regular scheduled meeting of the City Council held on this 14th 
11th day of February April by the following vote: 
 
AYES:   
NOES:   
ABSENT:  
ABSTAIN:  
       _____________________________ 
       Duane Strawser 
ATTEST: 
 
_____________________________ 
Niel Locke, City Clerk 

Formatted: Superscript

Formatted: Indent: First line:  0.5"

Formatted: Superscript



REPORT TO CITY COUNCIL     City of Nevada City 
          317 Broad Street 
          Nevada City CA 95959 
APRIL 11, 2018        www.nevadacityca.gov 
___________________________________________________________________________ 
 
TITLE:  A Resolution Of The City Council Of Nevada City To Adopt A Determination Of A 
CalPERS Member’s Industrial Disability Retirement For Police Officer Gary Scott 
Clendenen 
 
RECOMMENDATION:  Pass Resolution 2018-XX to adopt a determination of CalPERS 
member’s industrial disability retirement for Police Officer Gary Scott Clendenen. 
 
CONTACT: Loree’ McCay, Administrative Services Manager 
 
BACKGROUND / DISCUSSION:   
The City was informed that the prior Resolution 2018-07 was invalid and a revised resolution 
including specific verbiage was required by CalPERS in order to accept the City’s 
Determination. 
 
Mr. Clendenen became a Reserve Officer for the Nevada City Police Department (NCPD) on 
December 17, 2013.  He became a full-time officer August 28, 2014.  Mr. Clendenen 
experienced an injury to his left knee while on duty on August 3, 2016, underwent surgery May 
17, 2017 and has been working modified light duty since.   
 
The basis for Mr. Clendenen’s Industrial Disability Retirement is confirmed by medical reports 
from Randall K. Schaefer, M.D. that permanent restrictions will likely include no running, 
jumping or physical restraints and has been told he will not be able to return to work as a 
Police Officer.  Accordingly, Mr. Clendenen is incapacitated within the meaning of the Public 
Employee’s Retirement Law for the performance of his usual and customary duties in the 
position of Police Officer. 
 
Under State Law, the City Council is required to adopt a Resolution determining that 
competent medical evidence supports granting of an Industrial Disability Retirement.  Based 
on medical evidence staff is recommending adoption of Resolution 2018-XX approving the 
CalPERS Industrial Retirement for Gary Scott Clendenen to be effective March 24, 2018. 
 
ENVIRONMENTAL CONSIDERATIONS:  Not applicable. 
 
FISCAL IMPACT:  Not applicable. 
 
ATTACHMENTS:   
 Resolution 2018-XX – A Resolution of the City of Nevada City to Adopt a Determination 

of a CalPERS Member’s Industrial Disability Retirement for Police Officer Gary Scott 
Clendenen 

 Prior Resolution 2018-07 with Markups  

http://www.nevadacityca.gov/


RESOLUTION NO. 2018-XX 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF NEVADA CITY 
TO ADOPT A DETERMINATION OF A CALPERS MEMBER’S INDUSTRIAL 

DISABILITY RETIREMENT FOR POLICE OFFICER GARY SCOTT CLENDENEN 
 
 
 WHEREAS, the City of Nevada City is a contracting agency of the California Public 
Employees’ Retirement System (CalPERS); and 
 
 WHEREAS, the California Public Employees’ Retirement Law requires that a contracting 
agency determine whether an employee of such agency in employment in which he is classified 
as a local safety member is disabled for purposes of the California Employees’ Retirement Law 
and whether such disability is “industrial” within the meaning of such Law; and 
 
 WHEREAS, an application for industrial disability retirement of permanently injured left 
knee arising out of and in the course of employment from Gary Scott Clendenen employed by 
the City of Nevada City in the position of Police Officer has been filed with CalPERS; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the City of Nevada City has reviewed the medical and other evidence 
relevant to such alleged disability. 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, that the City of Nevada City find and 
determine and it does hereby certify under penalty of perjury that the determination was made 
based on competent medical opinion and determined that Gary Scott Clendenen is substantially 
incapacitated within the meaning of the California Public Employees’ Retirement Law for 
performance of his duties in the position of Police Officer; and 
 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that the City of Nevada City certifies under penalty of 
perjury that the determination was not used as a substitute for the disciplinary process; and,  

 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that the Gary Scott Clendenen has filed a Worker’s 

Compensation claim against the City of Nevada City for his injury which was determined to be 
the cause of his disabling condition and the claim was accepted; and, 
 
 BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that the City of Nevada City find and determine and it 
does hereby find and determine that such disability is a result of injury or disease arising out of 
and in the course of employment and that there is not the possibility of a third-party liability 
present and that neither said Gary Scott Clendenen nor the agency City of Nevada City, applied 
to the Workers’ Compensation Appeals Board for a determination pursuant to G.C. Section 
21166 whether such disability is industrial; and 
 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that the City of Nevada City does find and determine that 
there is competent medical opinion certifying that the disability is expected to be permanent; 
and,  
 
 BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that the member will be, separated from his employment 
in the position of Police Officer after expiration of his rights under Section 21164 Government 
Code, effective March 24, 2018 and that no dispute as to the expiration of such leave rights is 
pending. His last day on pay status was March 23, 2018. 
 



BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that the member will be paid Advance Disability Pension 
Payments (ADPP) in the monthly amount of $2,563.00, beginning on the 23rd day of April, 2018.  
Reimbursement checks should be made payable to the City of Nevada City and delivered to 
317 Broad Street, Nevada City, California  95959. 

 
PASSED AND ADOPTED at a regular scheduled meeting of the City Council held on this 11th 
day of April by the following vote: 
 
AYES: 
   
NOES:  
  
ABSENT: 
  
ABSTAIN:  
       _____________________________ 
       Duane Strawser 
ATTEST: 
 
_____________________________ 
Niel Locke, City Clerk 



RESOLUTION NO. 2018-XX 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF NEVADA CITY 
TO ADOPT A DETERMINATION OF A CALPERS MEMBER’S INDUSTRIAL 

DISABILITY RETIREMENT FOR POLICE OFFICER GARY SCOTT CLENDENEN 
 
 
 WHEREAS, the City of Nevada City is a contracting agency of the California Public 
Employees’ Retirement System (CalPERS); and 
 
 WHEREAS, the California Public Employees’ Retirement Law requires that a contracting 
agency determine whether an employee of such agency in employment in which he is classified 
as a local safety member is disabled for purposes of the California Employees’ Retirement Law 
and whether such disability is “industrial” within the meaning of such Law; and 
 
 WHEREAS, an application for industrial disability retirement of permanently injured left 
knee arising out of and in the course of employment from Gary Scott Clendenen employed by 
the City of Nevada City in the position of Police Officer has been filed with CalPERS; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the City of Nevada City has reviewed the medical and other evidence 
relevant to such alleged disability. 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, that the City of Nevada City find and 
determine and it does hereby find certify under penalty of perjury that the determination was 
made based on competent medical opinion and determined that Gary Scott Clendenen is 
substantially incapacitated within the meaning of the California Public Employees’ Retirement 
Law for performance of his duties in the position of Police Officer; and 
 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that the City of Nevada City certifies under penalty of 
perjury that the determination was not used as a substitute for the disciplinary process; and,  

 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that the Gary Scott Clendenen has filed a Worker’s 

Compensation claim against the City of Nevada City for his injury which was determined to be 
the cause of his disabling condition and the claim was accepted; and, 
 
 BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that the City of Nevada City find and determine and it 
does hereby find and determine that such disability is a result of injury or disease arising out of 
and in the course of employment and that there is not the possibility of a third-party liability 
present and that. nNeither said Gary Scott Clendenen nor the agency City of Nevada City, 
applied to the Workers’ Compensation Appeals Board for a determination pursuant to G.C. 
Section 21166 whether such disability is industrial; and 
 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that the City of Nevada City does find and determine that 
there is competent medical opinion certifying that the disability is expected to be permanent; 
and,  
 
 BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that the member will be, separated from his employment 
in the position of Police Officer after expiration of his rights under Section 21164 Government 
Code, effective March 24, 2018 and that no dispute as to the expiration of such leave rights is 
pending. His last day on pay status was March 23, 2018. 
 

Formatted: Indent: First line:  0.5"

Formatted: Indent: First line:  0.5"



BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that the member will be paid Advance Disability Pension 
Payments (ADPP) in the monthly amount of $2,563.00, beginning on the 23rd day of April, 2018.  
Reimbursement checks should be made payable to the City of Nevada City and delivered to 
317 Broad Street, Nevada City, California  95959. 

 
PASSED AND ADOPTED at a regular scheduled meeting of the City Council held on this 14th 
11th day of February April by the following vote: 
 
AYES:   
NOES:   
ABSENT:  
ABSTAIN:  
       _____________________________ 
       Duane Strawser 
ATTEST: 
 
_____________________________ 
Niel Locke, City Clerk 

Formatted: Indent: First line:  0.5"

Formatted: Superscript



REPORT TO CITY COUNCIL     City of Nevada City 
          317 Broad Street 
          Nevada City CA 95959 
APRIL 11, 2018        www.nevadacityca.gov 
___________________________________________________________________________ 
 
TITLE:  Award Of Contract For Water Repairs At 317 Broad Street In Nevada City  
 
RECOMMENDATION: Pass Resolution 2018-XX Awarding a contract to Springsteen 
Construction in the amount of $10,104.00 plus $2,000.00 contingencies for Water Repairs at 
317 Broad Street in Nevada City and authorize the Mayor to sign. 
 
CONTACT:  Bryan K. McAlister, City Engineer 
 
BACKGROUND/DISCUSSION: The City Engineer and Public Works staff identified water 
improvements that are necessary at 317 Broad Street (City Hall).   The project consists of 
replacement of aging infrastructure including removal and replacement of a fire hydrant and 
valve, as further shown and described in the contract. 

 
City staff solicited bids for Water Repairs at 317 Broad Street from local contractors.  Bids 
received are as follows: 
 

• Springsteen Construction, Brownsville CA   $ 10,104.00 

• CME, Grass Valley CA      $ 17,074.00 

• C&D Contractors, Inc., Nevada City CA    $ 18,536.00 
 

Springsteen Construction was selected as the lowest responsive and responsible bidder. 
 
FISCAL CONSIDERATIONS:  The project will be funded as authorized in the fiscal year 
2017/2018 water fund appropriations for water distribution.    
 
 
ATTACHMENT: 
 Contract for Water Repairs at 317 Broad Street in Nevada City 
 Resolution 2018-XX  

http://www.nevadacityca.gov/


A‐1 
 

 

Waterline Repairs 

at 317 Broad Street 

 

 

City of Nevada City, 95959 
Nevada County, California 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 

______________________________                         ______________________________ 

Bryan K. McAlister      William J. Falconi    
PE C58570       PE 25842       
PLS 9199        PLS 4911     
   

 

 

 

 



A‐2 
 

 

NOTICE TO CONTRACTOR'S 

WATERLINE REPAIRS AT 317 BROAD STREET 

Sealed proposals for WATERLINE REPAIRS AT 317 BROAD STREET will be received by the City at City Hall, 
317 Broad Street, Nevada City, California, 95959, until 9:00 AM on March 26th 2018, at which time, or as soon 
thereafter as practicable, all such proposals will be publicly opened and read at City Hall, 317 Broad Street, Nevada 
City, California.   

Bids shall be enclosed and sealed in an envelope addressed to the City of Nevada City at the above stated address 
and shall be marked " WATERLINE REPAIRS AT 317 BROAD STREET"  No Bid Bonds are required.     

The work includes the furnishing of all labor, materials, and equipment required for the job in accordance with the 
plans, specifications and other contract documents as set forth by the City Engineer. Such bid documents will be on 
file with the City staff and are available for inspection during office hours. Bid documents may be obtained at the 
office of said City Hall at 317 Broad Street, Nevada City, California on or after March 1ST, 2018. 

There is no mandatory pre-bid meeting for this project.    

************************************************************************* 

The City reserves the right to reject all bids; or to accept any portion of bid schedule; to reject any bid which is 
incomplete or irregular; to determine which proposal is, in its judgment, the lowest responsible bid of a responsible 
bidder and to waive any informality or minor irregularity of any bid. 

 

DATED: March 1, 2018    CITY OF NEVADA CITY 

               
                                      ______________________________ 

       Bryan McAlister, PE, PLS 

       City Engineer 

  



A‐3 
 

PROPOSAL/CONTRACT 
 
 
 WATERLINE REPAIRS AT 317 BROAD STREET, Nevada City, CA 
 
TO:  City of Nevada City, City Hall, Nevada City, California. 
 
 The undersigned, as a bidder, submits the following proposal for the WATERLINE REPAIRS AT 317 
BROAD STREET in the City of Nevada City, California, and offers to perform all work and furnish all labor, 
materials, tools, equipment as required for the completion of said project, in accordance with the plans, specifications 
and all other contract documents. The bidder has inspected the project site and has examined all conditions affecting 
the proposed work.   The bidder is licensed with Contractors State License Board and is registered as a public works 
contractor with the Department of Industrial Relations as required to bid on this contract. 
 
 If this bid is accepted, the bidder agrees to execute the Agreement, and furnish to the City all documents and 
evidences of bonds and insurance, within ten (10) days after receiving written notice of the award of contract, and 
complete the project within twenty (20) working days after receiving written notice to proceed.  No bid bond is 
required for this project. 
 
Attached to this bid and made a part hereof is a list of proposed subcontractors, setting forth all information required 
by Section 4104 of the Government Code. 
 
There is no pre-bid meeting scheduled for this project.        
 
  
 
 The undersigned is (state whether individual, partnership or corporation)    . 
 
DATED:                
 
FIRM NAME:  BY:  
        Signature of Authorized Person 
ADDRESS:           

                                   Contact Person:  

PHONE:    

CELL PHONE: _______________________   

CONTRACTOR'S #:  

EXPIRATION:      

NEVADA CITY BUSINESS LICENSE #:  

____________  EXPIRATION: __________ 



A‐4 
 

                BID SCHEDULE 
 
  









A‐5 
 

LIST OF SUBCONTRACTORS 

 

 NAME 
 

 PLACE OF BUSINESS  PORTION OF WORK 

 
 1. 

  

 
 2. 

  

 
 3. 

  

 
 4. 

  

 
 5. 

  

 
 6. 

  

 
 7. 

  

 
 8. 

  

 
 9. 

  

 
10. 

  

  



A‐6 
 

 

AGREEMENT 
 
 
 THIS AGREEMENT is made this _______________ day of ______________________, between the CITY 
OF NEVADA CITY, a municipal corporation, hereinafter called "City," and __________________, hereinafter 
called "Contractor." 
 WHEREAS, City solicited bids pertaining to the WATERLINE REPAIRS AT 317 BROAD STREET in said 
City: and 
 WHEREAS, after notice duly given, City has awarded the contract for such work to Contractor; 
 NOW, THEREFORE, IT IS AGREED by and between said parties as follows: 
 
 1. Scope of Work.  The contractor agrees to furnish all labor, materials, tools and equipment, required to 
complete the improvements in Nevada City, California, in accordance with the plans, specifications and other contract 
representation made in mandatory meetings.  All such work shall be performed in a good and workmanlike manner 
and to the satisfaction of the designer of said project. 
 
 2. Contract Price.  As consideration for all such work, City agrees to pay to Contractor at rates as set forth on 
the attached bid schedule for an estimated total sum of _____________________________________ 
($____________) Dollars, payable in the manner hereinafter set forth. 
 
 3. Contract Documents.  The complete contract between the parties hereto consists of the Agreement, 
Estimate, Job Disclosure, Notice to Owner and Insurance Documentation. All of the foregoing documents are 
intended to cooperate, so that any work or requirement specified in any of them is to be carried out or observed the 
same as if mentioned in all. 
 
 4. Time for Performance.  Within five (5) days after the execution of this Agreement, City shall give 
Contractor written Notice to Proceed, and thereafter Contractor shall commence the work and shall prosecute the 
same with due diligence until completion and acceptance by City; provided, however, that all such work shall be 
completed and ready for use within twenty (20) working days after Contractor receives said Notice to Proceed. 
 
 5. Extension of Time.  If, because of adverse weather conditions, strikes, inability of the Contractor (through 
no fault on his/her part) to obtain necessary materials, or other cause beyond the reasonable control of Contractor, 
Contractor is unable to complete the required work within the allowed time, he shall be entitled to an extension or 
extensions of such time, commensurate with the unavoidable delay thus caused; provided, however that Contractor 
shall apply to City for approval of any such extension prior to the expiration of the time for performance as specified 
in the preceding paragraph. 
 
  6. Contractor's Failure to Complete Work.  If Contractor fails to prosecute the work with such diligence as 
will insure its completion within the time hereinabove specified, or any extension thereof, or fails to complete such 
work within such time, or if Contractor shall otherwise violate this Agreement, City may give written notice to 
Contractor and his sureties of City's intention to terminate this Agreement unless, within five (5) days after services 
of such notice, satisfactory arrangements are made with the City for the completion of such work or the curing of 
such breach; and if such arrangements are not made within such time, City may, at its option, terminate this 
Agreement by giving written notice of such termination to Contractor and his sureties. 
 
 7. Payments to Contractor.  On or before the tenth day of each month during the progress of the work, 
Contractor shall submit to the Designer an itemized statement of all labor and materials incorporated into the 
improvement during the preceding month and the portion of the contract price applicable thereto.   
 
 



A‐7 
 

 8. Indemnification.  Contractor agrees to hold City, and its officers, agents, and employees harmless from any 
and all liability and claims for damages for death and personal injury, and for property damage, incident to or arising 
out of the operations of Contractor or any subcontractor under this Agreement, and Contractor further agrees to 
defend City, and its officers, agents, and employees in any and all lawsuits which may be brought for such damages 
caused, or alleged to have been caused, by such operations.  In addition, Contractor agrees to furnish to the City 
evidences of insurance coverage.  The approval of such insurance by City shall not constitute a waiver or limitation 
of any rights under this indemnity agreement, regardless of whether such insurance shall be held to be inapplicable 
to any such damage or claims therefore. 
 
 
 Executed in duplicate this                     day of                         ,                . 
 
 
ATTEST: CITY OF NEVADA CITY 
    
 
 
                                         By:          
   (Mayor) 
 
   By:               
   (Contractor) 
 
 
   By:          
    (Authorized Officer) 
 

 
 
  



A‐8 
 

 
GENERAL CONDITIONS 

 
 

1. Inspection of Construction 
 

The Engineer shall have access to the work and the site of the work at all times and the Contractor shall 
afford such access to the Engineer and shall furnish all relevant information requested by him.  At the request of 
the Engineer the Contractor shall open for inspection any part of the work which has been covered up, and if 
any part of the work has been covered up in contravention of the instructions of the Engineer, or if on being 
opened up, is found not to be in accordance with the terms of the contract, the expense of opening and 
recovering shall be charged to the Contractor.  If the work has been covered up but not in contravention of such 
instructions and is found to be in accordance with the terms of the contract, the actual cost of opening and 
recovering shall be borne by the City, and in such case, if the work of opening and recovering is done by the 
Contractor, it shall be considered as extra work and paid for accordingly. 

 
2. Change Orders 

 
 If for any reason it becomes necessary or desirable to change the alignment, dimensions, or design of the 
work, the City shall have the right to issue written change orders therefore.  If the Contractor considers that any 
such change involves extra work, he shall immediately so notify the Engineer in writing, and shall make claim 
for compensation for such work not later than the first day of the month following the month in which the work 
was performed.  If, in the opinion of the Engineer, any change order results in a change in the amount of work 
performed, the contract price shall be adjusted for extra work or omitted work, as the case may be. 
 

3. Contractor’s Employees and Subcontractors 
 
 The Contractor shall at all times be responsible for the adequacy and efficiency of his employees and any 
subcontractor and the latter’s employees.  All workers shall have adequate skill and experience to perform 
properly the work assigned to them. 
 

4. Errors and Omissions 
 
 If the Contractor in the course of the work becomes aware of any error or omission in the contract 
documents, or of any discrepancy between such documents and the physical conditions of the work site, he shall 
immediately inform the Engineer, who shall take such action as he may deem necessary in order to rectify the 
matter.  Any work done after such discovery and without the authorization of the Engineer will be at the 
Contractor’s risk. 
 

5. Guaranty of Work 
 

 For a period of one (1) year after final acceptance of the work by the City, the Contractor shall make all 
repairs and replacements arising out of any defective workmanship or materials.  If the Contractor fails to make 
such repairs or replacements within ten (10) days after receiving written notice to do so, or within such further 
time as may be allowed by the City, the City may undertake such repairs or replacements, in which case the 
Contractor shall be liable to the City for the cost thereof. 
 

6. Contractor’s Responsibility for Work 
 
 The Contractor shall be responsible for the proper care and protection of the work, and of all materials 
delivered to the work site, until completion of the work and its final acceptance by the City. 
 



A‐9 
 

7. Performance Bond 
 
 No Performance bond shall be required for this project. 
 

8. Payment Bond 
 

A payment (labor and materials) bond is required for public works contracts involving an expenditure in 
excess of twenty-five thousand dollars ($25,000).   If the contract is in excess of this amount the contractor 
shall provide a payment bond to the City of Nevada City before commencement of work.   Cost for the bond 
shall be included in the contractor bid proposal and no additional compensation will be provided.    
 
A payment bond shall be in an amount not less than 100 percent of the total amount payable pursuant to the 
contract. The bond shall be in the form of a bond and not a deposit in lieu of a bond. The bond shall be 
executed by an admitted surety insurer. 
 
9. Workmen’s Compensation Insurance 

 
 The Contractor shall carry workmen’s compensation insurance for all employees working on or about the 
site of the work, and if any work is subcontracted, the Contractor shall require each subcontractor to carry such 
insurance for all of the latter’s employees, unless they are covered by the Contractor’s insurance. 
 

10. Insurance Requirements 
 
 CONTRACTOR shall purchase and maintain insurance in amounts of coverage not less than the following 
amounts: 
 
   General Liability:  $1,000,000 per occurrence for bodily injury,  
   (Including operations,  personal injury and property damage.  If     
   products and completed Commercial General Liability Insurance or 
   operations)   other form with a general aggregate limit is   
       used either the general aggregate limit shall 
       apply separately to this project/location or 
       the general aggregate limit shall be twice     
       the required occurrence limit.  
 
   Automobile Liability:  $1,000,000 per accident for bodily injury  
       and property damage. 
 
 The Contractor shall deliver to the City, concurrently with the execution of the contract, certificates 
evidencing all insurance required by the contract, and each such certificate shall include a provision to the effect 
that the policy or policies cannot be canceled or materially modified unless the insurer gives the City at least 
fifteen (15) days written notice thereof prior to such cancellation or modification.  
 
11.  Prevailing Wages 
Contractor shall pay each laborer, workman or mechanic in accordance with State and Federal Prevailing Wage 
Rates and the California Labor Code. These wage rates are hereby made a part of this contract: 
 

State General Prevailing Wage Determinations in effect on date advertised 
General prevailing wage determination 
Journeyman and Apprentice Prevailing Wage Rates can be accessed at the following websites: 
http://www.dir.ca.gov/OPRL/2017-2/PWD/index.htm  and 
http://www.dir.ca.gov/das/publicworks.html  



A‐10 
 

 
Reference: Labor Code http://www.labor.ca.gov/laborlawreg.htm 
 
Federal Prevailing Wage Determinations in effect on bid date 
General Decision # CA170009 CA9 
http://www.wdol.gov/wdol/scafiles/davisbacon/ca.html 
 

Electronic Certified Payroll Records 
 All contractors must furnish electronic certified payroll records to the Labor Commissioner using the 

online eCPR data system 

 No contractor or subcontractor may be listed on a bid proposal for a public works project unless 
registered with the Department of Industrial Relations pursuant to Labor Code section 1725.5 [with 
limited exceptions from this requirement for bid purposes only under Labor Code section 1771.1(a)]. 

 No contractor or subcontractor may be awarded a contract for public work on a public works project 
unless registered with the Department of Industrial Relations pursuant to Labor Code section 1725.5. 

 This project is subject to compliance monitoring and enforcement by the Department of Industrial 
Relations. 

 The contractor shall post job site notices prescribed by regulation. (See 8 Calif. Code Reg. §16451(d) 
   



A‐11 
 

PROJECT SPECIFICATIONS  
 

PROJECT LIMITS 

As shown on the attached site plan. 

PROJECT DESCRIPTION 

The project consists of waterline repairs, as further shown and described on the attached exhibits: 

1. Remove existing fire hydrant and historic fire call box 

2. Reinstall fire call box at new location 

3. Install Fire Hydrant Assembly at new location 

4. Replace any removed concrete or asphalt 

Contractor shall be responsible for removal and disposal of debris, traffic control, testing, flushing and                                 

coordination of tie‐in pipe connections. 





RESOLUTION NO. 2018-XX 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF NEVADA CITY 
TO AWARD A CONTRACT TO SPRINGSTEEN CONSTRUCTION FOR 

WATER REPAIRS AT 317 BROAD STREET IN NEVADA CITY AND                      
AUTHORIZE MAYOR TO SIGN  

WHEREAS, The City of Nevada City provides water service to residents 
and customers within City limits and adjacent properties not within NID’s District 
boundary; and 

WHEREAS, The City of Nevada City provides maintenance of the water 
distribution system which includes replacement and repair of aging 
infrastructure; and 

WHEREAS, consist with Municipal Code requirements, City staff 
advertised and received bids for Water Repairs at 317 Broad Street in Nevada 
City.  

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the City Council of the City of 
Nevada City to award the contract to Springsteen Construction in the amount of 
$10,104.00 plus $2,000.00 contingencies for Water Repairs at 317 Broad Street 
in Nevada City and authorize the Mayor to sign.  

PASSED AND ADOPTED at the regular meeting of the City Council of the City 
of Nevada City on the 11th day of April, 2018, by the following vote:  

 

AYES:  

NOES:  

ABSENT:  

ABSTAIN:   

 
      ________________________________ 
      Duane Strawser, Mayor 
ATTEST: 
 
 
_______________________________ 
Niel Locke, City Clerk 



REPORT TO CITY COUNCIL     City of Nevada City 
          317 Broad Street 
          Nevada City CA 95959 
APRIL 11, 2018        www.nevadacityca.gov 
___________________________________________________________________________ 
 
TITLE:  Award Of Contract Change Order For Professional Environmental Consulting 
Services For Nevada Street Bridge Over Deer Creek In Nevada City  
 
RECOMMENDATION: Pass Resolution 2018-XX awarding a contract change order to LSA 
Associates, Inc. in the amount of $9,000 for Professional Environmental Consulting Services for 
Nevada Street Bridge in Nevada City and authorize the Mayor to sign. 
 
CONTACT:  Bryan K. McAlister, City Engineer 
 
BACKGROUND/DISCUSSION: The City is in the process of replacing the 1938 bridge over 
Deer Creek on Nevada Street in Nevada City.   The Contract for Professional Environmental 
Consulting Services for Nevada Street Bridge was awarded by the City Council on May 25, 2016.   
Environmental Consulting Services are substantially complete and consist of required studies 
and documents for National Environmental Policy Act (NEPA) and the California Environmental 
Quality Act (CEQA) environmental review.    Subsequent to approval of the Natural Environment 
Study (NES) for the Nevada Street over Deer Creek Bridge Replacement Project (Project), the 
foothill yellow‐legged frog (FYLF) was designated as a State Candidate species.   CA Dept. of 
Fish and Game requested further analysis to determine the presence of Foothill Yellow-legged 
Frog (fylf) and a plan for what we will do if they are found during construction.   In order to 
minimize the potential for significant delays during construction, we decided that it would be best 
to prepare an Incidental Take Permit for fylf so that this can be permitted by Fish and Game prior 
to construction. 
 
LSA Associates Inc. provided a proposal for the additional environmental services necessary to 
prepare the ITP for CA Department of Fish and Game review and approval.   This additional 
work is necessary to support permitting for the bridge reconstruction project.   The change order 
amount was reviewed by City staff and determined to be a fair and reasonable price for additional 
services using personnel familiar with the permits required. 
 
FISCAL CONSIDERATIONS:  The project will be funded by Federal Highway Bridge funds 
with an 11.4% matching from Measure S funds.  
 
ATTACHMENT: 
 Contract Change Order for Professional Environmental Consulting Services for Nevada 

Street Bridge  
 Resolution 2018-XX 

http://www.nevadacityca.gov/


 

 

2/8/18 (P:\CNV1601\Admin\YLF Augment\ITP scope.docx)  
 
 

BERKELEY

CARLSBAD

FRESNO

IRVINE

LOS ANGELES

PALM SPRINGS

POINT RICHMOND

RIVERSIDE

ROSEVILLE

SAN LUIS OBISPO

201 Creekside Ridge Court, Suite 250, Roseville, California 95678     916.772.7450     www.lsa.net 

 

February 8, 2018 

Bryan McAlister 
City Engineer 
City of Nevada City, Engineering Department 
Nevada City, California  95959 

 

Subject:  Proposal for Preparation of a Section 2081 Incidental Take Permit Application for 
Foothill Yellow‐Legged Frog for the Nevada Street over Deer Creek Bridge Replacement 
Project 

Dear Mr. McAlister: 

Subsequent to approval of the Natural Environment Study (NES) for the Nevada Street over Deer 
Creek Bridge Replacement Project (Project), the foothill yellow‐legged frog (FYLF) was designated as 
a State Candidate species. Due to the change in listing status for this species and the determination 
in the NES that the project may result in “take” of FYLF, the City will need to obtain a Section 2081 
Incidental Take Permit (ITP) pursuant to the California Endangered Species Act from the California 
Department of Fish and Wildlife (CDFW) to authorize impacts to FYLF. 

SCOPE OF WORK 

Our budget for this task is based on the compensation strategy consisting of purchasing mitigation 
credits at an approved bank or an in‐lieu fee option. 

LSA will prepare an application to obtain a 2081 ITP from CDFW in accordance with Title 14, Section 
783.2 – Incidental Take Permit Applications, of the California Code of Regulations to authorize 
“take” of FYLF during project construction. The application will include applicant information, a 
description of the project and how it could impact FYLF, and proposed measures to fully mitigate 
project impacts to FYLF. The mitigation proposal is a key component of the take permit as the 
applicant must demonstrate that impacts to FYLF are “fully mitigated.” LSA will coordinate with the 
City during development of the compensation approach. We will also recommend coordination with 
CDFW during this effort. 

Once the ITP application is completed and has undergone internal review, LSA will submit the ITP 
application to CDFW on behalf of the City and follow up with CDFW throughout the review process. 

This task also includes 12 hours for LSA to respond to CDFW comments on the 2081 ITP application 
and a field visit with CDFW. 



 

2/8/18 (P:\CNV1601\Admin\YLF Augment\ITP scope.docx)   2 

BUDGET AND SCHEDULE 

We propose to perform this work on an hourly basis in accordance with our current contract with 
the City. We estimate that a budget of $8,960.52 will be adequate to complete this work; this 
includes all expenses and indirect charges. The budget will not be exceeded without your approval. 

Thank you for requesting this proposal from LSA for Incidental Take Permit Acquisition associated 
with the Nevada Street over Deer Creek Bridge Replacement Project. If you have any questions, 
please contact me at edward.heming@lsa.net or 916‐772‐7450. 

Sincerely, 

LSA Associates, Inc.  

Edward Heming 
Associate Planner 
 
 



CNV1601

City of Nevada City

Nevada St. Bridge over Deer Creek Replacement Project

2/8/2018

Employee Name Je
ff
 B
ra
y

Ed
w
ar
d
 H
e
m
in
g

M
ik
e
 T
ru
e
b
lo
o
d

D
an

 W
ill
ia
m
s

A
n
n
a 
V
an

 Z
u
u
k

St
e
p
h
an
ie
 P
o
w
e
rs

Hourly Rate ($/ hour) $58.88 $44.50 $36.59 $32.19 $25.75 $27.49

Fringe

Overhead

Profit

Multiplier

% in Year Escalation

20% Year 1 $179.33 $135.53 $111.44 $98.04 $78.43 $83.73

80% Year 2 $188.30 $142.31 $117.01 $102.94 $82.35 $87.91

0% Year 3 $197.71 $149.42 $122.86 $108.09 $86.46 $92.31

0% Year 4 $207.60 $156.90 $129.01 $113.49 $90.79 $96.92

0% Year 5 $217.98 $164.74 $135.46 $119.17 $95.33 $101.77

100% Weighted Average $186.50 $140.95 $115.90 $101.96 $81.56 $87.07

Phase 01 2081 Incidental Take Permit

1.1 2081 ITP 2.00 8.00 40.00 8.00 3.00 61.00 $6,292.41

1.2 RTC 2.00 2.00 8.00 12.00 $1,420.50

1.3 Field Visit 8.00 8.00 $815.70

1.4 PM 2.00 2.00 $281.91

1.5 0.00 $0.00

1.6 0.00 $0.00

4.00 2.00 10.00 56.00 8.00 3.00 83.00 $8,810.52

5%

0.00%

10.00%

Phase 012081 Incidental Take PermitSubtotal

3.0457

176.88%

LSA                                                                        

To
ta
l L
SA

 H
o
u
rs

Total LSA FeesP
ri
n
ci
p
al
   
   
   
   
  

P
ro
je
ct
 M

an
ag
er
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
 

Se
n
io
r 
En

vi
ro
n
m
en

ta
l 

P
la
n
n
er
/T
ec
h
n
ic
al
 S
p
ec
ia
lis
t 
   

En
vi
ro
n
m
en

ta
l 

P
la
n
n
er
/T
ec
h
n
ic
al
 S
ta
ff
   
   
   
   

G
IS
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
  

D
M
/P
ro
d
u
ct
io
n
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
  



CNV1601

City of Nevada City

Nevada St. Bridge over Deer Creek Replacement Project

2/8/2018

Employee Name Je
ff
 B
ra
y

Ed
w
ar
d
 H
e
m
in
g

M
ik
e
 T
ru
e
b
lo
o
d

D
an

 W
ill
ia
m
s

A
n
n
a 
V
an

 Z
u
u
k

St
e
p
h
an
ie
 P
o
w
e
rs

LSA                                                                        

To
ta
l L
SA

 H
o
u
rs

Total LSA FeesP
ri
n
ci
p
al
   
   
   
   
  

P
ro
je
ct
 M

an
ag
er
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
 

Se
n
io
r 
En

vi
ro
n
m
en

ta
l 

P
la
n
n
er
/T
ec
h
n
ic
al
 S
p
ec
ia
lis
t 
   

En
vi
ro
n
m
en

ta
l 

P
la
n
n
er
/T
ec
h
n
ic
al
 S
ta
ff
   
   
   
   

G
IS
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
  

D
M
/P
ro
d
u
ct
io
n
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
  

Travel/GPS $100.00

Copy/Reproduction $50.00

$0.00

$0.00

$0.00

$0.00

$0.00

$150.00

Total  $8,960.52

Reimbursable Expenses

Subtotal Reimbursable Expenses



Local Assistance Procedures Manual Exhibit 10-H

Cost Proposal

Note: Mark-ups are Not Allowed
Consultant Contract No. CNV1601 Date 2/8/2018
DIRECT LABOR

hours Actual Hourly Rate Total
2 $44.50 $89.00
4 $58.88 $235.52

10 $36.59 $365.90
56 $32.19 $1,802.64

8 $25.75 $206.00
3 $27.49 $82.47

LABOR COSTS
a)  Subtotal Direct Labor Costs $2,781.53
b)  Anticipated Salary Increases (see page 2 for sample) $111.26

c) TOTAL DIRECT LABOR COSTS [(a) + (b)] $2,892.79
FRINGE BENEFITS
d)  Fringe Benefits              (Rate 84.93% ) e) Total Fringe Benefits
                                                                                                                [(c) x (d)] $2,456.85

INDIRECT COSTS
f)  Overhead (Rate: 91.95%              g) Overhead [(c) x (f)] $2,659.92
h)  General and Administrative (Rate: 0.00%       i) Gen & Admin [(c) x (h)] $0.00

j) Total Indirect Costs [(e) + (g) + (i)] $5,116.77

FEE (Profit)
q)   (Rate: 10.00% ) k) TOTAL FIXED PROFIT [(c) + (j)] x (q)] $800.96

OTHER DIRECT COSTS (ODC)
Description Unit(s)  Unit Cost Total
l) Travel/Mileage Costs (supported by consultant

 actual costs) 1 $150.00 $150.00
m) Equipment Rental and Supplies (itemize) 0 $3.00 $0.00
n) Permit Fees (itemize), Plan sheets (each), Test 

Holes (each), etc. 0 $5.00 $0.00
o) Subconsultant Costs (attach detailed cost proposal

 in same format as prime consultant estimate for 
each subconsultant) 0 $6.00 $0.00

p) Total Other Direct Costs [(l) + (m) + (n) + (o)] $150.00

TOTAL COST [(c) + (j) + (k) + (p)] $8,960.52

NOTES:
         Employees subject to prevailing wage requirements to be marked with an *.
         ODC items should be based on actual costs and supported by historical data and other documentation.
         ODC items that would be considered “tools of the trade” are not reimbursable.
         ODC items should be consistently billed directly to all clients, not just when client will pay for them as a direct cost.
         ODC items when incurred for the same purpose, in like circumstances, should not be included in any indirect cost pool or 

in overhead rate.

(Wildlife Biologist) Dan Williams

(Project Manager) Edward Heming
(Principal) Jeff Bray

(Senior Biologist) Mike Trueblood

EXHIBIT 10-H  COST PROPOSAL (EXAMPLE #1)   PAGE 1 OF 2
ACTUAL COST-PLUS-FIXED FEE OR LUMP SUM (FIRM FIXED PRICE) CONTRACTS

(DESIGN, ENGINEERING AND ENVIRONMENTAL STUDIES)

LSA

Classification/Title Name

Stephanie Powers(Document Management)
(GIS) Anna Van Zuuk

LPP 15-01 January 14, 2015 



 
RESOLUTION NO. 2018-XX 

 
 

 A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY OF NEVADA CITY  
TO AWARD A CONTRACT CHANGE ORDER TO TO LSA ASSOCIATES, INC., 

FOR PROFESSIONAL ENVIRONMENTAL CONSULTING SERVICES FOR  
NEVADA STREET BRIDGE OVER DEER CREEK IN NEVADA CITY  

AND AUTHORIZE MAYOR TO SIGN 
 

WHEREAS, The City is in the process of completing environmental review, 
permitting and design for replacement of the 1938 bridge over Deer Creek on 
Nevada Street in Nevada City; and    

 
WHEREAS, Subsequent to approval of the Natural Environment Study 

(NES) for the Nevada Street over Deer Creek Bridge Replacement Project 
(Project), the foothill yellow‐legged frog (FYLF) was designated as a State 
Candidate species; and  

 
WHEREAS, Due to the change in listing status for this species and the 

determination in the NES that the project may result in “take” of FYLF, the City 
will need to obtain a Section 2081 Incidental Take Permit (ITP) pursuant to the 
California Endangered Species Act from the California Department of Fish and 
Wildlife (CDFW) to authorize impacts to FYLF; and 

 
WHEREAS, LSA Associates Inc. provided a proposal for the additional 

environmental services necessary to prepare the ITP for CA Department of Fish 
and Game review and approval.  

 
BE IT RESOLVED, the City Council of the City of Nevada City to award the 

Contract change order to LSA Associates, Inc. in the amount of $9,000 for 
Professional Environmental Consulting Services for Nevada Street Bridge in Nevada 
City and authorize the Mayor to sign.  

 
PASSED AND ADOPTED at the regular scheduled meeting of the City Council 
held on the 11th day of April 2018 by the following vote: 
 
AYES: 
 
NOES: 
 
ABSENT: 
 
ABSTAIN: 
 
           _____ 
       Duane Strawser, Mayor 



 
ATTEST: 
 
 
      
Niel Locke, City Clerk 
 



1 

[Type here] 
 

 

CITY OF NEVADA CITY 
ACTION MINUTES 

REGULAR CITY COUNCIL MEETING OF MARCH 28, 2018 
 

 
NOTE:  This meeting is available to view on the City’s website www.nevadacityca.gov – Go to Quick 
Links and Click on Agendas & Minutes and find the Archived Videos in the middle of the screen.  
Select the meeting date and Click on Video to watch the meeting.  For website assistance, please 
contact Loree’ McCay, Deputy City Clerk at (530) 265-2496, ext 133. 
  
-  City Council Meetings are available on DVD.  To order, contact City Hall - cost is $15.00 per DVD.   
-  Closed Session Meetings are not recorded. 
 
 
CLOSED SESSION – 6:15 PM 
 

1. Pursuant to Government Code Section 54956.9 the City Manager, Catrina Olson 
is requesting a closed session conference to discuss and confer on a Settlement 
Authority Request regarding the pending Worker’s Compensation claim of 
Timothy Ewing against the City, Claim No. NCWA-556911. 

 
REGULAR MEETING – 6:30 PM - Call to Order 
 
Roll Call:    Present:  Moberg, Phelps, Senum, Vice Mayor Parker, & Mayor Strawser  
 
PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE    
 
Consulting City Attorney, Hal DeGraw reported out of Closed Session:  

1. Staff to proceed as directed. 
 

PROCLAMATIONS:  “Telestream Day” – March 28th, 2018 
 
PRESENTATIONS:  None 
 
BUSINESS FROM THE FLOOR 
 
1. PUBLIC COMMENT (Per Government Code Section 54954.3) 
Please refer to the meeting video on the City’s website at www.nevadacityca.gov. 
 
2. COUNCIL MEMBERS REQUESTED ITEMS AND COMMITTEE REPORTS: 
 
3.  CONSENT ITEMS: 

 
A. Subject:  A Resolution Of The City Of Nevada City Council To Award A 

Quote In The Amount Of $11,236.04 To Global Sweeping Solutions For 
Repair Of The Street Sweeper For The City Of Nevada City 

http://www.nevadacityca.gov/
http://www.nevadacityca.gov/


2 

[Type here] 
 

 

Recommendation:  Pass Resolution 2018-13 awarding a bid in the amount 
of $11,236.04 to Global Sweeping Solutions for repair of the street sweeper 
for the City of Nevada City. 

 
Action: Motion by Parker, seconded by Moberg to approve Consent Item 3A as 
presented. 
(Approved 5 – 0) 
 
4.  APPROVAL OF ACTION MINUTES: 
 

A. City Council Meeting – March 14th, 2018 
Action: Motion by Phelps, seconded by Parker to approve March 14th, 2018 
Minutes as presented.  
(Approved 4 – 0:  1 Abstention - Senum) 
 
 
5.  DEPARTMENT REQUESTED ACTION ITEMS AND UPDATE REPORTS:  
 

A. Subject:  A Resolution Of The City Of Nevada City Council To Authorize The 
Procurement From Hill Brothers Chemical Co. For A Total Amount Not To 
Exceed $15,500 For A Magnesium Hydroxide Tank And Mixer For The City 
Of Nevada City 
Recommendation:  Pass Resolution 2018-14 authorizing the awarding of a 
bid in the amount of $15,500, with shipping, tax and contingencies as quoted, 
to Hill Brothers Chemical Co. for a Magnesium Hydroxide Tank and Mixer for 
the City of Nevada City. 

Action: Motion by Moberg, seconded by Senum to approve as presented. 
(Approved 5 – 0) 
 

B. Subject:  2nd Quarter Financial Update, Fiscal Year (FY) 17/18 
Recommendation:  Receive and file. 

Action: Receive and file. 
 
 
6.     PUBLIC HEARINGS:  
 
7.    OLD BUSINESS: 
 

A. Subject: An Ordinance Of The City Of Nevada City Amending Section 
9.22.110 Of Chapter 9.22 Of The Nevada City Municipal Code Relating To 
Additional Requirements For Cultivation Facilities To Add Subsection H 
Limiting Size 
Recommendation: Waive reading of Ordinance, read title only and introduce 
for first reading. 

Action: None. Direct staff to amend language banning cultivation and align with the 
definition of state permit types 1, 2, and 3.  



3 

[Type here] 
 

 

 
8.    NEW BUSINESS: 
 

A. Subject: Resolution Amending Appointed Board Director And Alternate  
Board Director To The Public Agency Risk Sharing Authority Of California 
And Northern California Cities Self Insurance Fund 
Recommendation: Pass Resolution 2018-15 amending Resolution 2013-47 
appointing a Board Director and Alternate Board Director for the Public 
Agency Risk Sharing Authority of California (PARSAC) and the Northern 
California Cities Self Insurance Fund (NCCSIF). 

Action: Motion by Senum, seconded by Phelps to approve as presented. 
(Approved 5 – 0) 
 

B. Subject: Medical Cannabis Business Permit Format And Indemnification 
Agreement 
a) Recommendation: Review the draft Indemnification Agreement 

prepared by the City Attorney and provide direction. 
b) Make a motion to pass Resolution 2018-XX, authorizing a permit format 

to be used for permitting any qualifying medical cannabis business. 
c) Provide direction to staff to move forward in creating a permit fee/deposit. 

Action: None. Direct staff to make amendments and bring forward a deposit fee for 
permitting.   

 
9.   CORRESPONDENCE:   

 
10.   ANNOUNCEMENTS:  
 
Please refer to the meeting video on the City’s website at www.nevadacityca.gov. 
 
11.   CITY MANAGER’S REPORT:  
 
12.   ADJOURNMENT – 8:02 pm         
                             

                                       
_______________________________________          

        Duane Strawser, Mayor 
ATTEST: 

 
 

____________________________________ 
Niel Locke, City Clerk 

http://www.nevadacityca.gov/


REPORT TO CITY COUNCIL     City of Nevada City 
          317 Broad Street 
          Nevada City CA 95959 
APRIL 11, 2018        www.nevadacityca.gov 
___________________________________________________________________________ 

 
TITLE:  Monthly Update On City Council Six-Month Strategic Objectives 

 
RECOMMENDATION:  Receive and file. 

 
CONTACT:  Catrina Olson, City Manager 

 
BACKGROUND/DISCUSSION:  On February 7, 2018, the City Council, Planning Commission 
and executive staff held a planning retreat to discuss three-year goals and to update six-month 
strategic objectives to guide the organization. 

 
Consistent with the City Council’s direction, a monthly status report has been prepared to provide 
an update on attainment of the Council’s six-month objectives. The attached grid outlines the 
status of each objective and, where appropriate, includes comments to provide additional 
information about select objectives. 
 
ENVIRONMENTAL CONSIDERATIONS:  None. 

 
FINANCIAL CONSIDERATIONS:  None. 

 
ATTACHMENT:    

  
 6-Month Strategic Objectives Grid 

 
 

http://www.nevadacityca.gov/


 A 

N E V A D A  C I T Y  
SIX-MONTH STRATEGIC OBJECTIVES 

F e b r u a r y  7 ,  2 0 1 8  –  A u g u s t  1 ,  2 0 1 8  
 
 
 

 

THREE-YEAR GOAL: Enhance and maintain the infrastructure and facilities 
 

 
WHEN 

 
WHO 

 
WHAT 

 
STATUS 

 

 
COMMENTS 

 
   DONE ON 

TARGET 
REVISED  

1. 
By May 1, 2018 

 
City Engineer and 
Councilmember Reinette 
Senum 

 
Identify and present to the City Council for direction and to 
the public for input, options for one-way or closed streets 
for downtown. 
 

 
 

 
 

X 

 
 

 
 

2. 
By June 1, 2018 

 
City Engineer (lead), Public 
Works Superintendent and 
City Manager 

 
Provide to the City Council for consideration 
recommendations for funding, including a possible 
Measure S amendment, to include water/sewer 
collection/distribution improvements. 
 

 
 

 
 
 

X 

 
 

 
 

3. 
By June 1, 2018 

 
City Engineer and Mayor 
Duane Strawser 

 
Develop and present to the City Council for consideration 
schematic plans for Spring Street/National Alley parking, 
with pedestrian connections and right-of-ways. 
 

 
 

 
 

X 

 
 

 
 

4. 
By August 1, 
2018 

 
City Engineer, working with 
Water Treatment staff 

 
Present a procurement proposal to BLM for their property 
for the Water Plant and surrounding property. 
 

 
 

 
 

X 

 
 

 
 

5. 
By August 1, 
2018 

 
Mayor and City Engineer, 
working with CalTrans 

 
Present to the City Council for action a plan to change the 
existing aluminum rails on Nevada City bridges to a more 
compatible historic theme. 
 

 
 

 
 

X 

 
 

 
 



 B 

 
 

THREE-YEAR GOAL: Improve and manage fiscal stability and sustainability 
 

 
WHEN 

 
WHO 

 
WHAT 

 
STATUS 

 

 
COMMENTS 

 
   DONE ON 

TARGET 
REVISED  

1. 
By March 15, 2018 

 
City Attorney (lead), City 
Manager and City Planner  

 
Present a proposal to the City Council for consideration 
for refinement/slowing down the cannabis business 
application process to be more efficient and for better 
utilization of staff and funding resources. 
 

 
 

 
 

X 

 
 

 
 

2. 
By April 15, 2018 

 
City Manager (lead), Admin 
Services Manager, 
Accountant, Customer 
Service Rep, working with 
staff and MGT consultant 

 
Update the City’s A87 Cost Allocation Plan (direct and 
indirect City costs) and present to the City Council during 
the budget process. 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 

X 
 

 
 
 
June 30, 2018 
 

3. 
By May 15, 2018 

 
City Manager and Admin 
Services Manager 

 
Complete a Wastewater Rate Study and bring to City 
Council for consideration an updated 5-Year Rate 
Schedule. 
 

 
 

 
 

X 

 
 

 
 

4. 
By June 1, 2018 

 
Admin Services Manager 
(lead), City Manager and 
City Engineer 

 
Complete a RFP and bring a contract to the City Council 
for a consultant to complete the AB1600 Study regarding 
impact fees. 
 

 
 

 
 

X 

 
 

 
 

5. 
By June 15, 2018 

 
City Manager (lead), Admin 
Services Manager and 
Councilmember Valerie 
Moberg 

 
Identify non-compliant AIrBnBs and identify methods of 
better TOT collection. 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

X 

 
 

 
 

6. 
By June 15, 2018 

 
City Planner (lead), City 
Manager and Admin 
Services Manager 

 
Assess cannabis business costs and permitting 
processes to determine appropriate fees and the permit 
renewal process. 
 

 
 

 
 

X 
 

 
 

 
 

 



 C 

 
 

THREE-YEAR GOAL: Reduce homelessness and transient population 
 

 
WHEN 

 
WHO 

 
WHAT 

 
STATUS 

 

 
COMMENTS 

 
   DONE ON 

TARGET 
REVISED  

1. 
By April 1, 2018 

 
Mayor Duane Strawser, 
Police Chief and City 
Manager, working with 
Brendan Phillips of County 
Social Services, the County 
Court System, Local Police 
Agencies and the DA’s Office 
 

 
Develop collaborative strategies to reduce homelessness. 

 
 

 
 
 
 

X 

 
 

 
 

2. 
At the May 23, 
2018 Council 
meeting 

 
Police Chief (lead), Mayor 
Duane Strawser and City 
Attorney 
 

 
Prepare ordinance amendments to elevate the penalties 
regarding quality of life violations to misdemeanors and 
present to the City Council for consideration. 
 

 
 

 
 

X 

 
 

 
 

3. 
At the July 25, 
2018 Council 
meeting 
 

 
City Planner (lead), City 
Attorney and Planning 
Commissioner Jason Rainey, 
with input from the Planning 
Commission 
 

 
Draft an ordinance that addresses incentives for 
developers and residents for affordable housing and 
present to the City Council for consideration. 
 

 
 

 
 
 

X 

 
 

 
 

 



 D 

 
 

THREE-YEAR GOAL: Increase community communication, awareness and involvement 
 

 
WHEN 

 
WHO 

 
WHAT 

 
STATUS 

 

 
COMMENTS 

 
   DONE ON 

TARGET 
REVISED  

1. 
Bimonthly (by the 
15th of the month 
prior to utility 
billings) 
 

 
Mayor and the 
Department Heads 

 
Provide written information about current/upcoming projects for 
inclusion in the Nevada City Newsletter. 
 

 
 

X 

 
 

 
 

 
 
Completed - ongoing 

2. 
By March 1, 2018 

 
Parks and Recreation 
Supervisor 

 
Distribute the Volunteer Coordinator job description to community 
groups (e.g., Chamber of Commerce, Service Clubs) to assist in 
recruiting. 
 

 
 

X 

 
 

 
 

 
 
Completed 

3. 
At the May 9, 
2018 Council 
meeting 

 
City Manager and 
Parks and Recreation 
Supervisor 

 
Report to the City Council the guidelines for use of the City social 
media accounts by staff. 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

X 

 
June 20, 2018 City Council 
Meeting 

4. 
By July 1, 2018 

 
City Manager (lead), 
Admin Services 
Manager, Parks and 
Recreation Supervisor 
and consultant Jesse 
Lockes 

 
Create City social media accounts. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 

X 

 
 
July 31, 2018 

 



REPORT TO CITY COUNCIL     City of Nevada City 
          317 Broad Street 
          Nevada City CA 95959 
APRIL 11, 2018        www.nevadacityca.gov 
___________________________________________________________________________ 
 
TITLE:  Progress Report For Design Of Nevada Street Bridge Replacement Project In 
Nevada City  
 
RECOMMENDATION: (No action requested) 
 
CONTACT:  Bryan K. McAlister, City Engineer 
 
BACKGROUND/DISCUSSION: The City is in the process of replacing the 1938 bridge over 
Deer Creek on Nevada Street in Nevada City.   The bridge was programmed for replacement as 
a result of routine bridge inspections conducted by Caltrans which identified numerous 
deficiencies.   Bridge replacement is being completed as part of the Federal Highway Association 
(FHWA) Highway Bridge Program.   Environmental review is substantially complete and design 
is in progress.   The contract for Professional Engineering Consulting Services for Nevada Street 
Bridge was awarded by the City Council on September 28th, 2016.   A public workshop regarding 
bridge type was conducted on November 16, 2016. 
 
Representatives from the design team will provide a progress report to City Council on April 11, 
2018.    The following is an outline of the progress report being presented.    Attached are exhibits 
for bridge plan and profile. 
  

1) Welcome and Introduction 
2) Purpose of Tonight’s Presentation 
3) Accomplishments since Nov 16, 2016 Meeting (Environmental, Preliminary Design, 

Some Caltrans Approvals, Geotech, Utility coordination) 
4) What is Happening Now (Design, Permitting, Utilities, Bridge Approval, ROW 

agreements) 
5) Proposed Bridge (Features, Status of Caltrans Approval, Feedback from 2016) 
6) Proposed Roadway Improvements 
7) Construction Timing 

 
   
FISCAL CONSIDERATIONS:  The project will be funded by Federal Highway Bridge funds 
with an 11.4% matching from Measure S funds.  
 
ATTACHMENT: 
 Exhibits for Design of Nevada Street Bridge  

http://www.nevadacityca.gov/




Attachment D – Rendering of Selected Aesthetic Concept for Proposed Nevada Street Bridge Over Deer Creek 





REPORT TO CITY COUNCIL     City of Nevada City 
          317 Broad Street 
          Nevada City CA 95959 
APRIL 11, 2018        www.nevadacityca.gov 
___________________________________________________________________________ 
 
TITLE: Final Map Check for Recordation of the Tentatively Approved Nevada City Tech 
Center Phase 3 Final Map for Subdivision Into Three (3) Commercial Lots 
RECOMMENDATION:  
After reviewing and considering the approved Mitigation Measures and Conditions of Approval, 
adopt Resolution 2018-XX to approve for filing the Final Map for Nevada City Tech. Center LLC 
– Phase 3 and authorize the Mayor to sign the map.   

 
CONTACT:   Amy Wolfson, City Planner; Bryan McAlister, City Engineer 

 
BACKGROUND:  
City Council approved the applicant’s Tentative Map on Feb 14, 2006.   A Development 
Agreement was subsequently recorded as approved by City Council to set forth the provisions, 
timing and requirements for development.    The Development Agreement has been amended 
several times with revisions that include zoning changes and time extensions.   The current 
version of the Development Agreement was approved by the City Council in August 2015.    The 
Phase 3 Final Map consists of three lots for commercial development in conformance with the 
Development Agreement and approved Tentative Map. 
The owners desire to continue development of a business park project, consisting of two 
properties of approximately 400,000 square feet of light industrial space, and 20,000 square feet 
of related facilities; each of these two parcel are entitled to 200,000 square feet of building space 
and 10,000 square feet of related ancillary facility space. The project will continue to generate 
jobs and revenue which, as previously found in entering into the Development Agreement and 
extending it, will benefit the City and its residents. 

 
MAP CHECK: 
The applicant submitted a Final Map for Checking and Recording to City staff in December 2018. 
Staff has reviewed all applicable Mitigation Measures and Conditions of Approval, attached, and 
has determined that the applicant has fulfilled all obligations necessary to record with the Office 
of the County Recorder. All roads, sewer & water utilities have been completed, inspected, and 
approved. There are several applicable conditions that will need to be satisfied prior to issuance 
of building permits associated with the development of individual lots.  

 
 
 

http://www.nevadacityca.gov/


PROJECT REGULATORY CONSIDERATIONS 
Subdivision Ordinance:  Pursuant to Section 16.04.450 of the City Municipal Code, within ten 
days after the filing of the final map with the city clerk, or at the next regular meeting of the city 
council after the meeting at which it receives the map, whichever is later, the council shall 
approve the map if it conforms with all of the requirements of the Subdivision Map Act, this 
chapter and any rulings made thereunder, and if not, the council shall disapprove the map. If the 
council does not approve or disapprove the map within the prescribed time, or any authorized 
extension thereof, and the map conforms with all said requirements, it shall be deemed 
approved, and the city clerk shall certify such approval thereon. At the same time the council 
approves the final map, it shall also accept, accept subject to improvement, or reject any offer 
of dedication, and the city clerk shall certify such action on the map. If, at the time of approval of 
the final map by the council, any public improvements required by the Subdivision Map Act and 
this chapter have not been completed, the council, as a condition precedent to the approval of 
the map, shall require the subdivider to enter into an improvement agreement and to furnish 
improvement security, as specified in Article XIV of this chapter. 
Subdivision Map Act: Pursuant to Section 66452.6 (d) of the Subdivision Map Act delivery to 
the City Engineer constitutes a timely filing of the Final Map for filing. As such, subsequent 
actions  of the local agency, including but not limited to, processing, approving, and recording,  
may lawfully occur after the date of expiration of the tentative map.  
Environmental Review:  The Planning Commission adopted a Mitigated Negative Declaration 
(MND) in May 2006 for this project. Staff has reviewed applicable Mitigation Measures and has 
determined that Mitigation associated with map recordation and the adopted MND have been 
completed.  

 
FINANCIAL CONSIDERATIONS:  The subdivision will result in an increase in taxes and utility 
fees to the City and will increase Fire, Police and other City service costs. 

 
ATTACHMENTS:    

 Nevada City Tech Center Phase 3 Final Map 
 Development Agreement Doc# 20160001067 
 Resolution 2018-XX  



NE



NE



RECORDING REQUESTED BY: 

CITY OF NEV ADA CITY 

WHEN RECORDED RETURN TO: 

CITY OF NEV ADA, CITY 
317 Broad Street 
Nevada City, CA 95959 

Nevada County Recorder 
Gregory J. Diaz 
Docume~#:20160001067 
Wednesday January 20 2016, at 08:55:52 AM 

Paid: CP 

Space Above for Recorders Use 

DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT 

This Development Agreement (hereinafter sometimes referred to as this "Agreement") is 
made and entered into this _ l~fh day of August, 2015, by and between the CITY OF 
NEV ADA CITY, a municipal corporation in the State of California (hereinafter "City"), and 

NEV ADA CITY TECH CENTER, LLC 
12555 Dunbar Road 
Glen Ellen Ca 95442, and 

KENMA WR-NEVADA GITY, LLC , 
530M~ c\o ':>1-~ u( t.\c, f\ 

.-J*ew'York, NY 10022 ~, <:> E'f,-~t-6~~~1-- Ait-t.<:_ 
. . N c..v'i~ . t\J ( , oob,r 

(hereinafter collect1vely, "Owner") 

RECITALS 

1. Owner owns in fee that real property located within the City of Nevada City and more 
particularly described in Exhibit "A" hereto and incorporated herein by this reference, hereinafter 
called the "Subject Property." 

2. Owner desires to continue development of a business park project on the Subject Property 
consisting of approximately 400,000 square feet of light industrial space, and 20,000 square feet 
of related facilities, hereinafter called the "Project." Owner may also desire to subdivide the 
Subject Property into two or more legal parcels for purposes of sale, lease, or finance. At the 
initial approval of dividing the subject property into two parcels by prior owner Tektronix, Inc. it 
was been determined that half the approved development would flow to each half of the 
property, now in separate ownership. The two original parcels are designated as Parcels 1 and 2 
on Exhibit C attached hereto and made a part hereof, and each of these two parcel is allocated 
200,000 square feet of building space and 10,000 square feet of related ancillary facility space. 

- 1 -



3. The Project shall increase the employment base of the City of Nevada City and shall 
further have a substantial positive beneficial impact on City financial resources. 

4. The City, in accordance with applicable local and state laws, ordinances, and regulations, 
previously approved General Plan Amendment No. 84-18, Zoning Amendment No. 84-9, Site 
Plan No. 84-17, a Development Agreement By and Between the City of Nevada City and Grass 
Valley Group Relative to Grass Valley Group Site Development, dated November 12, 1985 
(hereinafter 11 1985 Development Agreement"), and Annexation No. 36; and all terms and all 
remaining applicable conditions of said permits and approvals are as set forth in Exhibit "B" and 
incorporated herein by this reference; and further, that said terms and conditions shall be 
hereinafter called "The Development Program." 

5. Other Prior City Actions: 

(a) The City Planning Commission and the City Council previously approved the Final 
Environmental Impact Report (hereinafter "Final EIR") prepared for the Project on August 13, 
1984, and the City hereby concurs in and ratifies the certification that said Final BIR has been 
completed in accordance with the California Environmental Quality Act and all State and local 
ordinances and guidelines pertaining thereto. 

(b) The City PlatU1ing Commission and the City Council previously unanimously approved a 
further extension of this Development Agreement by Ordinance 2000-07, including 
environmental findings, adopted on December 11, 2000, and the Development Agreement was 
filed as Document Number 2001-0005473 in Nevada County Official Records on February 27, 
2001. The City also approved and the then owner filed a parcel map dividing the property into 
two major parcels as shown on the parcel map filed in Book 19 of Parcel Maps at Page 74, 
Nevada County, CA official records. Said parcels are shown as Parcel 1 and Parcel 2 on Exhibit 
C attached hereto and made a part hereof. Said map included a companion reciprocal access, 
utility, and maintenance agreement filed as Document No. 2001-0042549, Nevada County 
Official Records, and all lands within the Project remain subject to this document or as amended. 

(c) The City Council approved a tentative final map in the southerly portion of the property 
for Nevada City Tech Center LLC on February 14, 2006, which included an overall Site Plan 
Amendment to allow buildings and parking to flow through both Zones I and II, subject to City 
design control. The City filed a Notice of Exemption for this approval. Portions of the approved 
tentative final map have been filed and completed. 

(d) The City Planning Commission and the City Council previously unanimously approved a 
general plan amendment and zone change for portions of the Subject Property by Ordinances 
2011-03 and 2011-04, on January 12, 2011, zoning portions of previous development agreement 
Zone III to allow housing, recognizing that a housing mix could serve the business park well by 
reducing traffic and off-site impacts. The zoning also implement parts of the City's housing 
element, providing an area of use-by-right with up to 16 units per acre. This housing area is now 
designated as development agreement Zone IV in this development agreement extension. The 
City filed a Notice of Determination for a Mitigated Negative Declaration for this zoning 
approval. 

- 2 -



6. In order to complete the Project, construct all necessary project related improvements and 
commence the use of the Subject Property in conformance with the Development Program 
additional governmental approvals required from the City do and shall consist of building 
permits, architectural design approval in conformance with City architectural review 
requirements. Building permit and architectural approval are deemed ministerial in that City 
approval is mandatory in the event the improvement designs submitted by the Owner conform to 
presently adopted ordinances, rules and regulations of the City. 

7. The Owner hereby represents and the City hereby acknowledges that the Owner is the 
successor in interest to the Grass Valley Group, identified as the Owner in the 1985 
Development Agreement, and Tektronix, Inc., identified as the Owner in the 2000 Development 
Agreement extension. The City and Owner hereby acknowledge the repeal of the earlier 
development agreements dated November 12, 1985 and December 22, 2000, filed as Document 
Numbers 85-27746 and 2001-0005473, respectively, in the office of the Nevada County 
Recorder. The City hereby finds and agrees that no further environmental review or documents 
are or shall be required to adopt t his Agreement. 

8. The City zoning ordinance sets forth procedures and regulations relating to the 
consummation of development agreements in conformance with and in furtherance of the 
purposes of California Government Code Section 65864 et seq. 

9. Owner has prepared, and City has amended through prior City actions, a "Land Use Plan" 
of the subject property that is attached hereto as Exhibit 11 C11 and incorporated herein by this 
reference. City hereby finds and agrees that said Land Use Plan is in conformance with the 
Development Program. Said Land Use Plan is intended to remain intact regard less of any future 
land division of the Subject Property. 

10. The City, in consideration of Owner's agreement to develop the Project in accordance 
with the conditions of the approved Development Program, Land Use Plan, and the terms of 
this Agreement, desires and agrees to vest certain development rights in the Subject Property 
and process any remaining applications for development permits or entitlements for use and 
development of the Subject Property pursuant to the approved Land Use Plan expeditiously and 
in accordance with the terms of this Agreement and applicable state and local laws. 

11. City, in consideration of Owner's agreement herein to develop the entire Project in 
accordance with the Development Program and Land Use Plan, desires and agrees to assure that 
Owner may proceed and complete the Project, and in accordance with those policies, rules, 
regulations, ordinances, design, improvement and construction standards and specifications, as 
such rules, regulations, ordinances and policies exist on the date of approval of this Agreement, 
subject to certain exceptions provided for herein. 

12. The City Council has previously approved the Land Use Plan for the Project attached 
hereto as Exhibit 11C11

, and finds that said Plan and this Agreement is in conformance with the 
City General Plan and applicable state and local law and that their implementation is in the best 

- 3 -



interest of the City and the health, safety and welfare of its residents, all in furtherance of the 
legislative purpose set forth in California Government Code Section 65864 et seq. 

NOW, THEREFORE, it is agreed by the parties hereto as follows: 

ARTICLE I. 

GENERAL PROVISIONS 

1.1 Property Subject to the Agreement. All of that real property located in the City of Nevada 
City, State of California, described in Exhibit "A", shall be subject to this Agreement. It is 
intended and determined that the provisions of this Agreement shall constitute covenants which 
shall run with the Subject Property and the benefits and burdens hereof shall bind and inure to all 
successors in interest to the parties hereto relative to all portions of the Subject Property. The 
applicable provisions of this Agreement apply to each parcel and, in the event that the Subject 
Property is further divided into more legal parcels, the applicable provision of this Agreement 
shall apply to each and every parcel. 

1.2 Term. The term of this Agreement shall commence upon the effective date of the 
resolution approving this Agreement and shall extend for a period of fifteen (15) years thereafter, 
unless said term is extended by circumstances set forth in Section 4.4 of this Agreement or by 
mutual consent of the parties hereto. Following the expiration of said term, this Agreement shall 
be deemed terminated and have no further force and effect. 

1.3 Parties to the Agreement. 

(a) City of Nevada City. The City of Nevada City is a political subdivision of the State of 
California, exercising general governmental functions and powers. The principal office of the 
City is located at 317 Broad Street, Nevada City, California 95959. "City" as used in this 
Agreement refers to the City of Nevada City, California, and any assignee or successor to its 
rights, powers and responsibilities with respect to said property. "Council" as utilized herein 
refers to the City Council of the City of Nevada City. 

(b) The Owner. All references to "Owner" in this Agreement refer to both of the following, 
whose principal business addresses for the purposes of this Agreement are as shown: 

NEVADA CITY TECH CENTER, LLC 
12555 Dunbar Road 
Glen Ellen Ca 95442 

and 

-4-



KENMA WR-NEVADA CITY, LLC 
530 Madison A venue 
New York, NY I 0022 

1.4 Assignment and Assumption. Owner shall have the right to sell, assign, or transfer this 
Agreement with all the rights, title and interests therein to any person, firm or corporation at any 
time during the term of this Agreement. Such assignment and assumption may apply to all or 
portions of the Subject Property ifit is subdivided into two or more legal parcels for purposes of 
sale, lease, or finance. The conditions and covenants set forth in this Agreement and 
incorporated herein by exhibits shall run with the land and the benefits and burdens shall bind 
and inure to the benefit of the parties. Owner shall provide City with a signed and completed 
copy of the Assumption Agreement as provided for in Exhibit "E". Owner shall provide City 
with written notice of its intent to sell, assign or transfer this Agreement at least thirty (30) days 
in advance of such action. Express written assumption by such purchaser, assignee or transferee, 
to the satisfaction of the City Attorney, of the obligations and other terms and conditions of this 
Agreement with respect to the Subject Property or such portion thereof sold, assigned or 
transferred, shall relieve the Owner selling, assigning or transferring such interest of such 
obligations so expressly assumed. Any such assumption of Owner's obligations under this 
Agreement shall be deemed to be to the satisfaction of the City Attorney if executed in the form 
of the Assumption Agreement in Exhibit "E" and incorporated herein by this reference. 

1.5 Development Program. "Development Program" as used herein refers to the Project as 
proposed by Owner and reviewed and approved by City together with only the remaining 
applicable conditions of approval thereon as set forth in Exhibit "B" hereto, together with any 
amendments thereto as may be agreed to by the parties from time to time. 

1.6 Land Use Plan. "Land Use Plan" as used herein refers to that Land Use Plan Map 
attached hereto as Exhibit "C". Said Land Use Plan may be amended from time to time by 
mutual consent of the parties hereto and in conformance with the provisions of Government 
Code Section 65868. The term Land Use Plan herein shall include any such amendments 
properly approved and executed. Notwithstanding the fact that the Subject Property is zoned 
LI-Light Industrial, the only uses permitted on the Subject Property are the permitted, 
conditional, and accessory uses consistent with City's prevailing regulations for the EC
Employment Center zoning district and including these additional land uses: Permitted accessory 
uses typically associated with the technological, research and development, and a digital campus, 
such as classrooms, child care facilities, and other similar uses that support such a business. 

1.7 Notices. Demands and Communications among the Parties. Formal written notices, 
demands, correspondence and communications between the City and Owner shall be 
sufficiently given if dispatched by registered or certified mail, postage prepaid, return receipt 
requested, to the principal offices of the City and Owner. Such written notices, demands, 
correspondence and communications may be sent in the same manner to such other persons and 
addresses as either party may from time to time designate by mail as provided this section. 

- 5 -



1.8 Amendment. This Agreement may be amended from time to time by mutual consent of 
the parties hereto and in accordance with the provisions of Government Code Section 65868 and 
any procedures adopted by the City of Nevada City. The term "Development Agreement" or 
''Agreement" herein shall include any such amendments properly approved and executed. 

1.9 Estoppel Certificates. Either Party may, at any time, and from time to time, deliver written 
notice to the other Party requesting such other Party to certify in writing that to the knowledge of 
the certifying Party: 

(1) This Agreement is in full force and effect and is a binding obligation of the Parties; 

(2) This Agreement has not been amended or modified and, if so amended, to identify the 
nature and dates of such amendments; 

(3) No current uncured default in the performance of the requesting Party's obligations under 
this Agreement exists or, if in default, the nature and amount of any defaults; 

(4) This Agreement has terminated with respect to a Parcel, and such Parcel has betm 
released from this Agreement. 

(5) Owner shall reimburse City for actual costs of providing Estoppel Certificates, and the 
City may require an advanced deposit for such costs. 

ARTICLE II. 

DEVELOPMENT OF THE PROPERTY 

ZONES I, II, AND III 

2.1 Permitted Uses. The Subject Property shall be used and developed only for such uses as 
are per mitted by the Employment Center zoning district regulations as set forth in the Zoning 
Ordinance of the City, and as further defined or restricted by the terms of the Development 
Program and this Agreement. 

2.2 Permitted Location and Intensity of Development. The location and intensity of 
development of the Subject Property shall be in conformance with the Development Program 
and the Land Use Plan. Modifications of the location of development from that set forth in the 
Development Program shall be permitted in conformance with Section 3.2(d) hereof. 

2.3 Reservations and Dedications of Land for Public Pw:poses. Provisions for reservation or 
dedication of land for public purposes, construction, installation and extension of public 
improvements, and other terms and conditions of development relevant thereto shall be those set 
forth in the Development Program (Exhibit "B "), Land Use Pl an (Exhibit "C"), the herein 
Agreement and as set forth in the applicable ordinances, rules, regulations and official policies of 
the City in force at the time of approval of this Agreement. 

- 6 -



2.4 Phasing of Development. The completion of the Project shall be phased based on the 
growth demands of the owner and of prevailing market demands. 

2.5 Rules. Regulations and Official Policies: With regard to the development of the Subject 
Property and completion of the Project, the City rules, regulations, ordinances, laws, general and 
specific plans an d official policies governing development, density, permitted uses, 
improvement standards and specifications, public services fees and charges, and environmental 
considerations shall be those provided by this Development Agreement and otheiwise in force 
and effect upon the commencement of the term of this Agreement. Notwithstanding the above, 
the parties agree that prevailing building code technical design standards shall apply during the 
course of Project completion. 

2.5.1 The City may thereafter, during the term of this Agreement apply only such newer, 
modified rules, regulations, ordinances and laws which are not in conflict with this Agreement 
and the rules regulations, ordinances and laws in effect on the date of this Agreement. This 
Section shall not preclude the application to development of the Subject Property such changes 
in City laws, regulations, plans or policies specifically mandated and required by changes in state 
or federal laws or regulations. In the event that such changes in state or federal laws prevent or 
preclude compliance with one or more provisions of this Agreement and implementation of the 
Land Use Plan, the parties shall take appropriate actions as may be required by Section 3.3 of 
this Agreement. 

2.5.2 Application, processing and inspection fees as set forth in the City ordinances and 
regulations shall be those fees in effect at the time the fee is payable and shall apply to this 
Project pursuant to this Agreement. 

2.5.3 Except as provided herein, this section shall not be construed to limit the authority or 
obligation of the City to hold necessary public hearings, to limit discretion of City or any of its 
officers or officials with regard to rules, regulations, ordinances, laws and entitlements of use 
which require the exercise of discretion by the City or any of its officers or officials. In no event 
shall subsequent discretionary or ministerial action or inaction of the City prevent the 
development of the Subject Property for the uses and to the density and intensity of development 
as set forth in the Land Use Plan and Development Program or render implementation of this 
Agreement impossible or economically infeasible. City shall not be responsible for project 
impairment solely caused by mandated changes in Federal or State laws and regulations. 

2 .6 Special Development Fees and Improvements: Owner shall pay specified development 
fees and install off-site road improvements as follows: 

(a) Road Improvements: The City Council finds that the owner has previously completed the 
road improvements generally described in Site Plan condition of approval No. 19 as more 
specifically described in Exhibit "D" attached hereto and incorporated herein by this reference. 

(b) Traffic Mitigation Fees: 

- 7 -



(1) Prior to issuance of a Certificate of Occupancy as to any phase of the Project, Owner 
shall pay to the City a sum equal to not more than One Hundred and Forty Dollars ($140. 
00) times the number of parking spaces required to be installed by Nevada City 
Ordinance No. 85-4 necessary to serve the structure for which occupancy is desired by 
Owner. Should the owner install parking spaces in excess of those required by said City 
Ordinance, said additional spaces shall not be included in the traffic fee calculation. 

(2) Based on the Owner's previous completion of the road improvements as indicated in 
Subsection (a) that primarily benefit the general public, which improvements are 
described in Section (b) of Exhibit "D", the owner has a current credit balance of 332 pre
paid parking spaces distributed as 238 spaces prepaid for Parcel 1 and 94 spaces prepaid 
for Parcel 2. 

(3) City has retained the funds paid by owner in a separate account and has applied the 
same for the purpose of installing improvements to the regional and local transportation 
system necessary to mitigate the impacts caused by the development of the Project. 
Compliance with the herein Subparagraph is deemed full satisfaction of Site Plan 
condition of approval No. 22. 

(4) The completion of the off-site improvements described in Exhibit "D", together with 
the on-going requirement to pay additional per-parking space fees, shall constitute the 
traffic mitigation for the Project, and additional construction consistent with the 
Development Program shall be exempt from the traffic mitigation component of the 
City's prevailing AB 1600 Development fees. 

(c) Fire Protection Fee: Owner has previously paid a fire protection fee in the sum of Fifteen 
Thousand Dollars ($15,000.00), which funds have been applied by the City to secure fire service 
facilities, equipment and manpower necessary to serve the Project. Said fee shall apply only to 
the development shown on Site Plan No. 84-17, and any further development may be subject to 
additional fees. All project development shall be subject to the prevailing fire department annual 
parcel charge as applied throughout the City. However, the prepayment oft his fee constitutes 
full development fee mitigation of fire service impacts, and further development of the Project 
consistent with the Development Program shall be exempt from the fire department component 
of the City's prevailing AB 1600 Development fees. 

( d) Sewage Treatment Facility and Connection Fee: 

(1) Owner shall pay a onetime Sewage Treatment Facility Fee to the City, a sum equal to 
$2.657/gallon/day of sewage effluent requiring treatment generated by the Project. Said 
fee shall be due and payable for each phase of the Project for which Owner requests 
occupancy prior to issuance of a Certificate of Occupancy. 

(2) Owner shall pay a onetime sewage service connection fee of $4.173/gallon/day of 
sewage effluent requiring treatment generated by the Project, which shall be due and 
payable at the same time as the fee provided for in sub-section ( d)(l), above. 

~ 8 -



(3) In addition to the above sewer service related fees Owner shall be solely responsible 
for the cost of such works of improvement as may be necessary to connect Project 
sewage transmission lines with City transmission facilities. 

(4) Payment of the herein sewage service related fees by Developer shall be deemed to 
fully satisfy the requirements of Site Plan Condition of Approval No. 42 with respect to 
sewage service. Acceptance of sewage fee payment by City shall constitute full 
satisfaction of Site Plan Condition of Approval No. 33. 

(5) Payment of the fees outlined above constitute mitigation for the project and future 
development of the Project consistent with the Development Program shall be exempt 
from the sewer component of the City's prevailing AB 1600 Development Fee Program. 

(6) Owner shall be required to comply with all existing and later adopted ordinances 
regarding discharge into the City sewer system. Further, Owner shall not discharge into 
the City sewer system any substance in sufficient quantity to injure or interfere with any 
sewage treatment process or cause water quality violations. 

(e) Special Fees. The parties acknowledge and agree that the Special Fees and road 
improvement obligations set forth in this Section shall constitute the sole fees that may be 
imposed on Owner for the purpose of securing the public services described herein as a condition 
of Project implementation and use of the Subject Property in conformance with the Land Use 
Plan and Development Program and the herein Agreement. One purpose of the herein Special 
Fees provisions is to provide a ministerial means of determining fee and improvement 
obligations imposed by Site Plan conditions of approval. Owner acknowledges and agrees that 
certain existing City ordinances and regulations provide for additional public service related 
charges (for example - plan check and inspection fees), and it is not the intent of the herein 
Section to preclude the imposition of such charges. 

(i) AB 1600 Development Fees. Owner shall be responsible for payment of the prevailing 
AB 1600 Development fee for future project development, excepting the components for traffic, 
fire, and sewer, as outlined above. Said fees shall be paid prior to the issuance of a Certificate of 
Occupancy and shall be based on the gross square footage and use for the building being 
occupied. 

(g) Sales Tax. To the extent reasonably feasible, Owner will implement tax reporting 
procedures which will provide Nevada City the greatest benefit from California sales and use tax 
revenues. Such procedures may include designating the City of Nevada City as the point of sale 
for sales tax and use for self-reporting use tax under regulation 1699 on out of state purchases of 
goods used in the City of Nevada City in accordance with the rules outlined in SB 100, and 
reporting the City of Nevada City as the location of construction costs as allowed by the 
California State Board of Equalization per their December 1994 amendment to Regulation 1806. 
Owner shall not be obligated to implement procedures contrary to the sales and use tax laws or 
regulations of California or any other state. In the event Owner or any of its assigns or 
successors in interests lease the Subject Property hereafter, Owner will include this paragraph in 
such lease. 

- 9 -



ZONE IV 

2.7 City Review and Approval. Development of the residential portion of the Subject 
Property is pending at the time of the extension of the herein development agreement, and said 
Zone IV development approval shall be subject to the City's ordinary development review and 
tentative map approval processes. 

2.8 Prior Environmental Review. The Residential Area general plan and zoning designations 
were subject to overall environmental review with the adoption of Ordinances 2011-03 and 
2011-04. Development details during the City's ordinary development review and tentative map 
processes, shall include subsequent environmental review and appropriate mitigations based on 
the site plan specific public reviews under City ordinances, General Plan Housing Element, and 
the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA). 

ARTICLE III 

DEVELOPMENT PROGRAM 

3.1 Owner. Owner agrees to develop the property in conformance with the terms of this 
Agreement, including the terms and conditions of development set forth in the Development 
Program. Improvement scheduling or dates or times of performance of either party hereto may 
be subject to revision from time to time as mutually agreed in writing. Such revisions are within 
the framework of this Agreement as presently drafted and executed and do not constitute contract 
amendments requiring new notice and hearing under State and local law. 

3.2 The City 

(a) The City hereby agrees that it will accept for processing, review and approval all 
applications for development permit s or other entitlements for use of the Subject Property 
necessary to implement the Land Use Plan, the Development Program and the herein Agreement 
provided that such applications are in conformance here with. 

(b) In all instances, the City shall inform Owner upon request of necessary submission 
requirements for each application for permit or other entitlements for use in advance and review 
and schedule such application for Planning Commission and/or City Council action pursuant to 
the times set forth in this Section. Should the City fail to act within said time limitations, Owner 
may elect to take other action under Article IV hereof. 

(c) In addition to its contractual obligations to cooperate with Owner in implementing the 
project in a timely fashion, City acknowledges that, in any event, it must take action upon the 
application for development permits or other entitlements for use necessary to implement the 
Land Use Plan in this Agreement within the time limitations established under existing or 
subsequently amended State and local planning, zoning, environmental, and subdivision laws, or 
be subject to the additional penalties set forth herein. 

( d) (1) Owner may submit building, parking, and circulation improvement plans for portions 

- 10 -



of the Project located in "Zone I - Primary Use Area and Zone II-Secondary Use Area as 
shown on Exhibit C the Land Use Plan describing modifications in building and related 
improvement locations and the size of individual structures different from that shown on 
the approved original Site Plan without Site Plan amendment or further environmental 
review if such modifications are otherwise consistent with the terms of said Site Plan and 
this Agreement. 

(2) The submittal of plans by Owner for building permit approval proposing development 
in "Zone III - Open Space/Reserved Development Area" shall require Site Plan 
amendment and amendment of the herein Agreement, actions subject to the discretionary 
approval authority of the City, including a determination of whether existing 
environmental documents are adequate to address the impact of any said amendment. 

(3) The Residential District in Zone IV shall be subject to ordinary City design review, 
environmental review, and conditional approval. See also Section 2.7 et seq. above. 

3.3 Cooperation in Securing Govern mental Permits - Conflict of Laws. The City shall 
cooperate with the Owner in securing for Owner all permits which may b e required by the City 
or any other governmental agency. 

(a) In the event that State or Federal laws or regulations enacted or otherwise effective after 
this Agreement has been entered into, or the action or inaction of any other affected 
governmental jurisdiction prevent or preclude compliance with one or more provisions of this 
Agreement, or require changes in plans, maps, or permits approved by the City, the parties hereto 
agree that the provisions of the Agreement shall be promptly modified or suspended as may be 
necessary to comply with such State or Federal laws or regulations or applicable action or 
inaction of other affected govern mental jurisdictions so long as such action or inaction is not 
inconsistent with City law and policy. City shall not be deemed in breach hereof if compliance 
by City is precluded by said State or Federal laws and regulations, or said govern mental action 
and inaction. 

(b) Each party to this Agreement agrees to extend to the other its prompt and reasonable 
cooperation in so modifying this Agreement or approved plans, map or permits to allow 
continued development of the Subject Property to the extent feasible and consistent with the 
principles and provisions of this Agreement. 

ARTICLE IV 

DEFAULT, REMEDIES, TERMINATION 

4.1 General Provisions. 

(a) Subject to extensions of time by mutual consent in writing or as set forth in Sections 4.2 
and 4.3 hereof, failure or delay by either party to perform any term or provision of this 
Agreement constitutes a default under t his Agreement. 

- 11 -



(b) In the event of default or breach oft his Agreement or any of its terms or conditions, the 
party alleging such default or breach shall give the breaching party not less than thirty (30) days' 
notice in writing, measured from the date of certified mailing, specifying the nature of the 
alleged default and, where appropriate, the manner in which said default may be satisfactorily 
cured. During any such thirty-day period of curing, the party charged shall not be considered in 
default for purposes oftennination or institution oflegal proceedings. 

( c) After proper notice and the expiration of said thirty-day cure period, the other party to this 
Agreement, at its option, may institute legal proceedings pursuant to Section 4.5 hereof or give 
notice of intent to terminate this Agreement pursuant to California Government Code Section 
65868. The matter shall be scheduled for consideration and reviewed in the manner set forth in 
California Government Code Sections 65864 et seq. by the City of Nevada City within thirty 
(30) days after notice of intent to terminate. 

(d) Following consideration of the evidence presented before the City of Nevada City, either 
party alleging a default by the other party may, at its option, give written notice of termination of 
this Agreement to the other party by certified mail. Written notice of termination of this 
Agreement shall be effective immediately upon certified mailing to the defaulting party. 

(e) Evidence of default by either party may also arise in the course of a regularly scheduled 
periodic review of this Agreement pursuant to California Government Code Section 65865.1. If 
either party determines that the opposing party is in default following the completion oft he 
normally scheduled periodic review of progress under the Agreement, it may at its option, give, 
by certified mail, written notice of termination of this Agreement to the opposing party, 
specifying therein the alleged nature of the default, feasible actions to cure said default where 
appropriate, and granting the alleged defaulting party thirty (30) days in which t o cure said 
default. If the alleged default is not cured within thirty (30) days or the defaulting party waives 
its right to cure such alleged default, this Agreement shall be deemed terminated thirty-one (31) 
days from the date of mailing of the notice of intent. 

(f) Failure or delay in giving notice of default pursuant to this Section shall not constitute a 
waiver of any default, nor shall it change the time of default. 

(g) Except as otherwise expressly provided in this Agreement, any failure or delay by either 
party in, asserting any of its rights or remedies as to any default shall not operate as a waiver of 
any default or of any such rights or remedies or deprive either such party of its right to institute 
and maintain any actions or proceedings which it may deem necessary to protect, assert or 
enforce any such rights or remedies. 

4.2 Default of Owner. 

(a) The City shall, at least once every twelve (12) months during the term hereof, review the 
good faith substantial compliance of Owner with the terms of this Agreement. Such periodic 
review shall be limited in scope to compliance with the terms of this Agreement, and notice shall 
be provided pursuant to California Government Code Sections 65867 and 65868, including a 

- 12 -



statement that any review may result in amendment or termination of this Agreement, after 
notice and hearing as provided in Section 4.1. 

(b) In connection with each periodic review, the City's finding of good faith compliance by 
Owner with the terms of the Agreement shall conclusively determine said issue up to the date of 
said review for purposes of future periodic reviews or legal action between the parties. 

( c) The City shall deposit in the mail to Owner a copy of all staff reports and, to the extent 
practicable, related exhibits concerning contract performance a minimum often (10) calendar 
days prior to such review or action upon the Development Agreement by the Planning 
Commission or the City Council. 

( d) Upon request by Owner, Owner shall be permitted an opportunity to be heard orally and 
in writing regarding its performance under this Agreement before each appropriate 
Departmental, Planning Commission or City Council review or action on the Agreement. 

4.3 Default By City. 

(a) In the event that the City does not accept, review, approve or issue necessary 
development permit s or entitlements for u se in a timely fashion as defined by this Agreement, 
despite a good faith effort by Owner to file timely complete application therefore or the City 
otherwise defaults under this Agreement, the City agrees that Owner shall in no event be 
obligated to proceed with or complete the project or any phase thereof, nor shall resulting delays 
in Owner performance constitute grounds for termination or cancellation oft his Agreement or 
the loss of density and use rights of Owner hereunder. 

(b) Within thirty (30) days after receipt of a written request from Owner, the City shall 
consent in writing to reasonable adjustment or extension in any time schedule for Owner's 
performance hereunder. 

4.4 Enforced Delay: Extension of Times of Performance. In addition to specific provisions 
of this Agreement, performance by either party hereunder shall not be deemed to be in defau]t 
where delays or defaults are due to any of the following factors, the existence and impact of 
which are satisfactorily demonstrated: war; insurrection; lock-outs; riots; floods; earthquakes; 
fires; casualties; acts of God; acts of the public enemy; epidemics; quarantine restrictions; freight 
embargoes; lack of transportation; governmental restrictions or priority; the enactment of 
conflicting state or federal laws or regulations; new or supplemental environmental regulation; 
litigation; unusually severe weather; acts or failure to act of any public or governmental agency 
or entity (other than that, acts or failure to act of the City shall not excuse performance by the 
City); any abnormal delay in issuance of the permits referred to in Sections 3.2 and 3.3; or any 
other causes beyond the control or without the fault of the party claiming an extension of time to 
perform. An extension of time in writing for any such cause shall be granted for the period of the 
enforced delay, or longer as mutually agreed upon, which period shall commence at the time of 
the commencement of the cause. 

- 13 -



4.5 Institution of Legal Actions. In addition to any other rights or remedies, either party 
may institute legal act ion to cure, correct or remedy any default; to enforce any covenants or 
agreements herein or to enjoin any threatened or attempted violation thereof; to recover damages 
for any default; or to obtain any other remedy consistent with the purpose of this Agreement. 
Notwithstanding the above; Owner shall not be entitled to recover damages for any loss of 
profits derived from product sales; in no event shall City be entitled to recover for loss of tax or 
assessment revenues as a measure of damages; and any monetary damage award shall be limited 
to compensatory dam ages only. Such legal actions must be instituted in the Superior Court of 
the County of Nevada, State of California, or in the Federal District Court in the Eastern District 
of California. 

4. 6 Applicable Law/ Attorney's Fees. This Agreement shall be construed and enforced in 
accordance with the laws of the State of California. Should any legal action be brought by either 
party because of breach of this Agreement or to enforce any provision of this Agreement, the 
prevailing party in such act ion shall be entitled to all reasonable attorney's fees, court costs and 
necessary disbursements in connection with such litigation. 

ARTICLEV 

PROJECT AS A PRJV A TE UNDERTAKING 

5.1 It is specifically understood and agreed by and between the parties hereto that the 
subject development is a private development; that the City has no interest in or responsibility 
for or duty to third parties concerning any of said improvements until such time and only until 
such time as City accepts the same pursuant to the provisions of this Agreement or in connection 
with the various subdivision map approvals; and that Owner shall have full power over and 
exclusive control of the Subject Property herein described, subject only to the limitations and 
obligations of the Owner under this Agreement. 

ARTICLE VI 

COOPERATION IN THE EVENT OF LEGAL CHALLENGE TO THIS AGREEMENT 

6.1 In the event any legal action is instituted by a third party or other governmental 
entity or official challenging the validity of one or more provisions of this Agreement, the state 
and local legislation authorizing the City to enter into this Agreement, or discretionary action 
and approvals of the City on development permits or other entitlements for use and 
development of Subject Property pursuant to the approved Land Use Plan and this Agreement, 
the parties hereto agree to cooperate in defending said action. 

ARTICLE VII 

ENTIRE AGREEMENT, WAIVERS AND AMENDMENTS 

7.1 Counterparts. This Agreement is executed in two (2) duplicate originals, each of which 
is deemed to be an original. This Agreement consists of fourteen (14) pages and four (4) exhibits, 

- 14 -



which constitute the entire understanding and agreement of the parties. Said exhibits are as 
follows: 

Exhibit "A" - Legal Description of Subject Property 
Exhibit "B 11 

- Development Program 
Exhibit "C" - Land Use Plan 
Exhibit "D" - Off-Site Road Improvements 

7.2 Entire Agreement. This Agreement integrates all of the terms and conditions mentioned 
herein or incidental hereto, an d supersedes all negotiations or previous agreements between the 
parties with respect to all or any part of the subject matter hereof. 

7.3 Waiver. All waivers of the provisions of this Agreement must be in writing and signed by 
the appropriate authorities of the City or the Owner, and all Amendments hereto must be in 
writing, signed by the appropriate authorities of the City and the Owner and in a form suitable 
for recording in the Office of the Recorder, County of Nevada. 

7.4 Recordation. 

(a) Within ten (10) days of the date of this Agreement, or subsequent Amendments thereto, a 
copy thereof shall be recorded in the Official Records of Nevada County, California. 

(b) Upon completion of contract performance by the parties or revocation of this Agreement, 
a written statement acknowledging such completion or revocation, signed by the appropriate 
agents of the City and Owner, shall be recorded in the Official Records of Nevada County, 
California. 

ARTICLE VIII 

SEVERABILITY 

8. 1 The parties hereto agree that the provisions are severable. If any provision of this 
Agreement is held invalid, the remainder of this Agreement shall not be affected and shall 
remain in full force and effect unless amended or modified by mutual consent of the parties. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto do affix their signatures as follows: 

~~TJWk &P d 

Niel Locke, City Cl:t_ 

Attach Notary's Acknowledgment 

- 15 -



CONSENT TO RECORDING of DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT 
RELATIVE TO DEVELOPMENT SITE, PROVIDENCE MINE ROAD 

I, the undersigned Mayor of the City of Nevada City, California, pursuant to Ordinance 85-10, 
hereby consent to the recording of the attached Development Agreement By and Between the 
City of Nevada City and Nevada City Tech Center LLC and Kenmawr-Nevada City, LLC, 
relative to Providence Mine Road Site Development. 

Date: , 2015 ----
evadaCity 

Attest: 

By: ktJ~ 
Niel Locke,itylerk,rty of Nevada City 

- 16 -



EXHIBIT A 

Subject Property 

Providence Mine Road Development Agreement Property Description: 

All that portion ofreal property located within the incorporated area of the City of Nevada City, 
County of Nevada, State of California and described as Parcel B on Nevada City Parcel Map 85-
01, recorded on July 26, 1985 and filed in Book 17 of Parcel Maps at Page 29, Nevada County, 
California, EXCEPTING THEREFROM that portion conveyed to the City of Nevada City along 
the abandoned Rough and Ready Canal for public trail purposes along the northerly line of said 
Parcel B. 

~ 17 -



EXHIBITB 

DEVELOPMENT PROGRAM 
(ORIGINAL PROJECT CONDITIONS OF APPROVAL: THE PARTIES HERETO 

ACKNOWLEDGE THAT CERTAIN ORIGINAL CONDITIONS AS MARKED 
BY AN ASTERISK (*) HA VE BEEN FULLY SATISFIED) 

Mr. Ken Myers 
GRASS VALLEY GROUP. INC 
Post Office Box 1114 
Grass Valley, California 95945 

July 12, 1984 

SUBJECT: GRASS VALLEY GROUP, INC. 
General Plan Amendment, P rezoning, Site Plan, and Development Agreement: FINAL EIR and 
PROJECT. 

Dear Mr. Myers: 

Please be advised that at their regular meeting of July 12, 1984, the Nevada City Planning 
Commission took the following actions regarding the above referenced project: 

I. REGARDING THE PROJECT ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT REPORT: 

The Planning Commission found that the Final EIR for the Grass Valley Group, Inc. application 
was adequate and complete, contained all of the information that could reasonably be included, 
and recommend that the City Council certify that: 

A. The final EIR has been completed in compliance with CEQA, and 

B. The final EIR was presented to the City of Nevada City, and that the City reviewed and 
considered the information contained in the final EIR prior to any action on the project. 

2. REGARDING THE PROJECT APPLICATIONS: 

A. ENVIRONMENTAL FINDINGS: The Planning Commission considered the information in 
the Final EIR for the project, and found that with mitigations attached to the site plan as 
conditions of approval, any potential significant adverse effects would be reduced below the 
level of significance. However, because of the large size of this project and because it will not be 
completed for another 15 years, the Commission found that it is difficult to accurately predict the 
environmental impacts caused by the project. Because of this, it is possible that reasonable minds 
could differ as to whether the project, even after adoption of the mitigation measures, may cause 
a significant environmental impact. In reviewing the final EIR the Commission noted that the 

- 18 -



EIR author pointed to traffic, sewer, water, and air quality as having possible 11moderate 11 

impacts, even after mitigation. The EIR author indicated to the City staff that "moderate" 
impacts should be considered as impacts below the level of significance. However, the Planning 
Commission incorporated the Findings of Overriding 

Consideration, as stated in the attached memorandum from the City Attorney, Mr. James 
Anderson, dated July 12, 1984, Items 1, 2, 3, and 4 . 

B. ANNEXATION: The Planning Commission recommended that the City Council approve the 
annexation of the project area to the City of Nevada City, subject to the approval of the Nevada 
County Local Agency Formation Commission (LAFCO). 

C. GENERAL PLAN AMENDMENT: The Planning Commission recommended that the City 
Council amend the General Plan to show the project area as Industrial and Commercial, with the 
areas as defined by the project application. In making this recommendation, the Commission 
further recommended that the updated general plan designate the project area as Employment 
Center, and Office and Professional, with the areas as outlined in the application. 

D. PREZONING: The Planning Commission recommended that the City Council prezone the 
project lands to LI-light industrial and LB-local business, with the areas as defined by the project 
application. The intent of the Commission is to limit the area represented as Office and 
Professional to those uses, without retail sales, and the Commission further recognized that 
development of this area would be subject to future site plan and environmental review. 

E. DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT: The Planning Commission recommended that the City 
Council enter into a development agreement with Grass Valley Group, Inc., with the agreement 
to be in a form approved by the City Attorney. 

F. SITE PLAN: The Planning Commission approved the site plan submitted by Grass Valley 
Group, Inc., subject to the following conditions of approval (numbers in parenthesis refer to the 
applicable mitigation measure(s) outlined in the Final EIR): 

*I. The site plan approval is subject to approval of the annexation, general plan amendment, and 
prezoning by the City Council. 

*2. As required by City ordinance 82-1, the applicant shall pay $660.00 in park and recreation 
fees, prior to final City Council acceptance of the Annexation (following LAFCO action). 

* 3. Prior to site disturbance or the issuance of a grading or building pennit for any phase of the 
project, the developer shall submit geotechnical (soils engineering) information as required by 
the City Engineer, which should provide the following infonnation: The location of mine shafts 
or tU1U1els, soil stability limitations, methods of construction in the vicinity of mine shafts or 
tunnels, and cut/fill slope recommendations. (1, 2, 3, 4, 11) 

- 19 -



4. All construction shall be in accordance with the geotechnical recommendations and shall be 
subject to the approval of the City Engineer with respect to grading, location of improvements, 
and cut/fill slopes. (3, 8, 9) 

5. Prior to site disturbance or the issuance of a grading or building permit for any phase of the 
project, the developer shall prepare, submit, and obtain approval from the City Engineer of an 
engineered grading, drainage, and utility plan, showing the extent of clearing and grading, limits 
of cut/fill slopes, drainage improvements, and erosion control. Any construction beyond the 
areas indicated on the site plan, which encroaches into areas exceeding 20% cross-slope, shall be 
planned and implemented in accordance with techniques and specifications required and 
approved by the City Engineer. Road grades shall be between 0.25% and 15%. Trail systems 
shall be designed to avoid any geologic hazards. These plans may be submitted in phases. (6, 7, 
9, 10, 29) 

6. Prior to the issuance of a building permit, the Nevada County Building Department shall 
approve the foundation and pad design based on the geotechnical study, and shall approve the 
structural design of the buildings based on applicable earthquake standards. (12, 13, 14, 31) 

7. The property owner shall conduct an ongoing maintenance program to fill holes or ground 
subsidence if and when it should occur. (5) 

8. Prior to any site disturbance or the issuance of a grading or building permit, the developer 
shall prepare an Erosion and Sediment Control Plan, and shall obtain approval of the plan from 
the City Engineer or the Nevada County Resource Conservation District. The Plan should 
consider the following features: Temporary and permanent erosion control methods, the possible 
assignment of an Erosion Control/Water Quality supervisor to the construction team, limiting 
construction to the dry season (March-October), immediate revegetation of disturbed soils with 
drought-resistant vegetation, protection of existing vegetation through temporary fencing during 
construction, removal or stabilization of excavated material before the rainy season, paving of 
roads and parking areas, washing equipment tires before leaving the site if possible, the use of 
interceptor ditches to divert water from cut slopes, and the possible use of a sediment ponds or 
natural marsh to filter runoff. (15 through 28, 30, 36, 51) 

9. The engineered drainage plan required by condition number 5 above, shall consider the 
following objectives: direction of existing and new storm flows away from erosion prone areas, 
correction of existing drainage runoff, temporary correction of construction related flow 
increases, incorporation of collection, filtration, and detention facilities, a study of Peck Ravine's 
capacity and role in controlling surface water flows, and if recommended by the soils study, on
site construction monitoring by an Erosion Control/Water Quality specialist. (32 through 35, 37) 

10. To minimize water quality impacts, the developer shall implement a regular street sweeping 
program and shall implement a regular maintenance schedule of drainage facilities. There shall 
be no on-site disposal of oil, oil filters, or other contaminants, nor shall salt be used to control 
frost and ice. If deemed necessary by the City Engineer, oil and grease traps and/or 
sedimentation settlement areas shall be incorporated into the drainage design of the roads and 
parking areas. (38 through 42, 52, 54 55) 

- 20-



11. There shall be no development in the riparian area of the property, and any drainage into the 
riparian area shall be contro1led and fiJtered. ( 43, 44) 

12. A tree removal permit shall be required from the City of Nevada City by separate application 
for any tree removal that exceeds 20% the on-site resource. ( 45) 

13. Prior to any site disturbance, the developer shall prepare and submit to the City, a Timber 
Management Plan that establishes long range management techniques and goals, and emphasizes 
management for a healthy forest, provides for minimizing insect and disease infestations, 
provides for wildlife and fire protection, and presents criteria for the use of herbicides for 
thinning. (46, 47) 

14. Flammable brush understory shall be cleared in the vicinity of buildings and parking areas to 
reduce fire hazard. ( 48) 

15. The use of natural, drought~resistant, non-invasive species for landscaping is encouraged to 
minimize water consumption for irrigation, and to maximize food, forage, nesting, and shelter 
habitat for wildlife (49, 50) 

16. Chemical toilets shall be provided for construction crews. (53) 

* 17. Prior to site disturbance, the developer shall prepare and submit engineered improvement 
plans for reconstruction of Lone Pine Road and the project access road, to the City Engineer for 
approval. Plan check and inspection fees shall be paid to the City for this review. Improvement 
plans for improvements to Zion Street, the Ridge/Zion intersection, and the encroachment of 
Lone Pine Road shall be prepared by the City Engineer at the expense of the developer. No plan 
check fee will be required for this design work, but inspection fees shall be assessed. The 
developer shall dedicate any needed right-of-way on Zion Street, and shall offer for dedication 
the right~of-way along Lone Pine Road. Unless and until this offer is accepted by the City, the 
maintenance and snow removal on Lone Pine Road shall remain the responsibility of the 
benefitting property owners. 

* 18. Prior to issuance of a certificate of occupancy, the developer shall complete the following 
road improvements: 

a. Widen Zion Street with channelization and striping as required by the City Engineer. 
(57) 

b. Improve Lone Pine Road to a width of24' with encroachment reconstruction to the 
specifications required by t h e City Engineer, in condition number 17 above. The City 
Engineer may require construction of a temporary tum-around and gate beyond the 
project access, to prevent casual traffic over private lands, to Deer Creek. (56) 

c. The value of the construction ofroad way improvements on Zion Street and the 
Zion/Ridge intersection beyond the direct needs of the Grass Valley Group project shall 

- 21 -



be credited toward any future mitigation fee programs adopted by the City, as outlined in 
Condition Number 22 below. 

19. Interior parking areas shall be constructed in phases and shall contain 55% regular stalls of 
9'x 1 81 and no more than 45% compact stalls of 8'xl 4' (dimensions for 90 parking spaces). 
Travel aisles shall be 24' wide where two-way traffic is planned. The City Engineer m ay 
approve parking area dimensions where one-way and/or angled parking spaces are provided, 
during the review of the grading plan as required by Condition 5, above. 

20. The project shall operate using flex-time for employee work hours, as represented by the 
applicant. ( 60, 67) 

21. As represented by the applicant, the project operation shall encourage the use of car and van 
pools. The developer will initiate a dialogue with the Gold Country Stage, in an effort to 
maximize the use of bus service for employee commuting. Bicycle parking facilities and 
pedestrian access ways shall be provided as a part of the project. (58, 59, 67, 69, 70, 72) 

*22. To offset the impacts of the project on traffic in the area of the Gold Flat interchange and 
Ridge/Zion intersect ion, the applicant shall comply with then-current mitigation fee schedules or 
programs, as may be adopted by the City Council, applicable to similar development. Mitigation 
fees may be paid in proportion to phase development, prior to the issuance of a building permit. 
(61 through 66) 

23. Dust shall be controlled during const ruction, by the application of water as needed, 
immediate revegetation, and minimal site clearance. (68) 

24. All permanent noise generating equipment shall be muffled or silenced to limit noise level s 
to 60 d BA or lower, at the project property line. (71) 

25. Development of the project shall substantially comply with the representations of the 
applicant, incorporating vegetation buffers, entrance treatment, landscaping, and low profile 
building design. Prior to issuance of a building permit, the developer shall obtain final 
architectural approval from the Planning Commission under a separate application. (73) 

26. All known or newly discovered archaeological or historical resources shall be fenced and 
protected from construction activity. Permanent treatment and interpretive signing to preserve 
the features is encouraged. (74, 75) 

27. To protect unidentified archaeological features, the plans and contract specifications for site 
development shall contain a brief summary of identification criteria for construction personnel 
and a notification procedure to initiate the review of suspected resources by a qualified person. 
(76, 77, 78) 

28. Prior to the issuance of each building permit for phased construction, the developer shall 
obtain a commitment for water service, and submit evidence of the service to the City. (79) 

-22 ~ 



29. Extension of water service to the site shall be subject to the review and approval of Nevada 
Irrigation District (NID) unless service areas are adjusted to allow City service. If NID water is 
used, annexation of the lands outside the District will be required prior to service, unless waived 
by NID. The developer is encouraged to initiate long term planning discussions and evaluation 
for the provision of total project water service. (82, 83, 84) 

30. Engineered grading plans shall include a landscaping plan using native, drought- resistant 
species, drip irrigation, and possible use of grey water. (80) 

31. Low water flow fixtures shall be used throughout the construction. (81) 

32. In order to assure adequate fire protect ion, the developer shall provide a hydraulic analysis 
to estimate on-site fire flows, and shall obtain City clearance of on-site hydrants and fire 
protection measures, prior to the issuance of a building permit or any site disturbance. Unless 
waived by the City, all buildings shall include an engineered sprinkler system with central alarm. 
Roofing material shall be fire resistant. Other building materials are encouraged to be fire 
retardant materials. Flanunable understory brush shall be cleared within 30' of buildings. (85, 86, 
91, 92, 93, 94, 95) 

33. Prior to the issuance of each phase building permit, the applicant shall verify that there is 
sufficient sewage treatment plant capacity and that wastewater discharge standards would not be 
violated. (87) 

34. On-site sewage collection improvements and sewer trunks to the treatment plant shall be 
reviewed and approved by the City Engineer along with the grading and utility plan required by 
Condition 5, above. (89) 

35. The project sponsor is encouraged to participate in solid waste recycling programs. Site 
development should be coordinated with the solid waste hauler, if those services are utilized, to 
provide for adequate dumpster facilities and access. (96) 

36. The use, storage, handling, and disposal of any hazardous or toxic materials shall be in strict 
compliance with Federal, State, and local requirements. Storage facilities shall be properly 
maintained at all times. (96a, 96d) 

37. The applicant shall advise the City Fire Department and California Division of Forestry of 
the location and type of materials being stored, shall provide those agencies with an emergency 
spill contingency plan outlining equipment and procedures needed to clean up any spill, and shall 
provide a list of agencies to be contacted in the event of a spill. (96b, 96c) 

38. The project shall be developed in phases, as represented by the applicant. 

39. Any development beyond the site plan proposed on the project area, including any future 
office and professional use, shall be processed under then-current City procedures, including new 
environmental review. ( 101) 

- 23 -



* 40. The areas adjacent to Deer Creek, and other areas represented by the applicant to remain as 
open space, shall remain as open space. 

* 41. The developer shall dedicate access and utility easements to the City along existing 
improvements serving the Nevada City Wastewater Treatment Plant. The developer shall also 
dedicate utility easements as may be required by other utilities providers. 

* 42. To offset cumulative impacts on public services, the developer shall comply with then
current mitigation fees or programs, as may be adopted by the City Council, for mitigating the 
impacts on sewer treatment and collection, fire protection, and water service (if water is provided 
by the City) . 

As indicated herein, City Council action is required on the environmental 
impact report and project, in order for you to obtain final City approval. The site plan action by 
the Planning Commission is final, subject to the City Council's approval of the annexation, 
general plan amendment, and pre-zoning. There is a fifteen day appeal period for site plan 
conditions. All other components of the application will go to the Council automatically. 

Originally signed by: 
NEVADA COUNTY PLANNING COMMISSION 
/S/W. Lon Cooper, Chairman 

PROPOSED ADDITIONAL FINDING 
Originally Dated July 12, 1984 

RE: GRASS VALLEY GROUP 

Because of the large size of this project and because it will not be completed for another 15 
years, it is difficult to accurately predict the environmental impacts caused by the project. 
Because of this, it is possible that reasonable minds could differ as to whether the project, even 
after adoption of the mitigation measures, may cause a significant environmental impact. In 
reviewing the final EIR I note that Kate Burdick points to traffic, sewer, water, and air quality as 
having possible moderate impacts even after mitigation. In talking with her it does appear that 
she feels that there will be no significant impact in these areas as long as the mitigation measures 
are vigorously enforced. However, in view of the potential economic benefit to the City, and in 
fairness to the applicant, I believe the Commission should deal with the issue of whether it would 
approve the project even if it were to be determined that the project would have a significant 
environmental impact on the traffic, water, sewer or air quality. 

I recommend that the Commission find that even if the project should be determined to have 
significant environmental impacts even after mitigation that it approve the site plan and make the 
following findings: 

1. The Planning Commission finds that in view of the size of the project, the fact that it would 
be a phased development over a 14-year period and that it is extremely difficult to determine 
how many other projects would be approved in this project's vicinity, that it may be possible that 

-24-



this project and others that may be approved in the future may contribute to a cumulative 
decrease in air quality in the future in the project vicinity which is significant. Even if this should 
occur, the Planning Commission finds that the economic benefit to the City of Nevada City and 
its citizens from this project more than outweighs any significant environmental impact that may 
be caused by the decrease in air quality due to the cumulative impact of this project and others in 
the vicinity. 

2. The Planning Commission finds that in view of the size of the project, the fact that it would 
be a phased development over a 14-year period, and the uncertainty in projecting local 
government revenue over the next 14 years, it may be possible that in the future this project may 
have a significant impact on local governments' ability to provide adequate water and sewer 
treatment in spite of the implementation of the suggested mitigating measures. Even if this 
should occur, the Planning Commission finds that the economic benefit to the City of Nevada 
City and its citizens from this project more than outweighs any significant environmental impact 
on sewer and water treatment systems. 

3. The Planning Commission finds that in view of the size of the project, and the fact that it 
would be a phased development over a 14-year period, that it may be possible that the increased 
traffic volumes generated by the project, including its contribution to the cumulative traffic 
volumes in the project area, ipay cause in the future a significant environ mental impact in spite 
of the implementation of the suggested mitigation measures. Even if this should occur, the 
Planning Commission finds that the economic benefit to the City of Nevada City and its citizens 
from this project more than outweighs any significant environmental impact that may be caused 
by the increased traffic generated by the project. 

4. The Planning Commission finds that the economic benefit to the City of Nevada City from 
the project is as follows: 

A. The City of Nevada City and its surrounding area have a chronic high unemployment rate and 
this project will create approximately 2,000 new jobs. 

B. The City of Nevada City is currently facing financial difficulty, and the project will generate 
net revenue to the City of Nevada City in the approximate sum of$200,000 annually at build
out. 

Originally signed by 
IS/ James R. Anderson City Attorney 

- 25 -



-.... 
............ 

" \ 
I 
\( 

ONE 

EXHIBIT 
LAND US[ 

ZONE 

,,,,.- ---... 

" -
I + ][ 

.:J-...(.1) 

~ 
[E 

][ SCALE= 1"==500' 

......... 

ZONE I AND ][ I 
STRUC~& + PAAKNG DEVELOPMENT AAfA 

Permitted lt:111d uses aUowed wit h City review 
limit ed to 'i!lrchltec.tura! review and compllzmc.e 
with sbmd<'.lrd parking tmd lzmdsc.aplng 
requirements. Gondltton~I useii, , require a 
!:lt-end21rd Use Permit oppllcotton and process. 
Alf development com,lstent with this, 
development agreement Is eY.erupt from 
f urther envlronment.:il review. 5ee ovenill 
development ?lgreement for ziddrtlom:il de t a ils. 

ZONE :m I 

OPEN SPACE/RE&ERVW DEVELort1ENT AAfA 

The submittal of plans by Owner for building 
permit approval proposing development In 
·zone Ill - Open Space/Reserved 
Development Area· shall require Site Plan 
Amendment nnd zimendment of the herein 
Agreement . c:ictlonr. subjec.t t o t he 
dl5cretlonary approval 21ut horlty of the City. 
lnc.ludtng t1 determination of whether existing 
environmental documents or e adequate to 
z:iddress the Impact of any said amendment. 

zONf nr • 
RE&IDENllAL AAf.A 

The development plan5 by Owner for 
residential use zire In proces& with the City 
at the time of this Development Agreement 
extension. The development proposal shall be 
subject to the ordlnziry review and approval 
process applied to other properties In the 
City. except for rellzmce on prior 
environmental reviews. the Generi:il Plan 
Housing Element. and z.onlng ordinance&. 



EXHIBITD 

GRASS VALLEY GROUP 
NEV ADA CITY SITE DEVELOPMENT (ORIGINAL EXHIBIT-

THE PARTIES HERETO ACKNOWLEDGE THAT THE HEREIN ROAD IMPROVEMENTS 
HAVE BEEN COMPLETED) 

Road Improvements: 

a. Required road improvements consist of improvements to Zion Street, Nevada City Highway, 
Gold Fl at Road, Ridge Road, and Providence Mine Road, as defined by the Improvement Plans 
for Grass Valley Group and Providence Park prepared by Nevada City Engineering, Inc., in 
April, 1985, as Job Number 85-20. 

b. The portion of the road improvements that primarily benefit the general public and therefore 
are eligible for a credit towards the payment of traffic mitigation fees includes all improvement 
on the Nevada City Highway, Gold Flat Road, and Ridge Road; and all improvements on Zion 
Street with the exception of one left-tum lane consisting of aggregate base and paving 10 feet 
wide x 300 feet long. 

-27 -



... 



STATE OF NEW YORK 

COUNTY OF NEW YORK ss 

On the ~ ay o&Cc.€ulu in the year 2015 before me the undersigned 

personally appeared Stf ,t:R.. f( (e.y personally known to me or proved to me on 

the basis of satisfactory evidence to be the individual whose name is subscribed to the within 

instrument and acknowledged to me that he/she executed the same in his/her capacity and that 

by his/her signature on the instrument the individual or the person or entity upon behalf of 

which the individual acted exec1ted the instrument. 

C~r;f!uh 
Notary Public ~ 

MONICA n. PAClFICO 
Notary Public, S1>1tc of cw Y. ork 

No. OIPA-18202 13 
Qualified In Queens CounlT).,., (, <?"' 

Commission Expires D~c. 31, f2J.J ,J 



CALIFORNIA CERTIFICATE OF ACKNOWLEDGMENT 

A notary public or other officer completing this certificate verifies only the identity of 
the individual who signed the document to which this certificate is attached, and not 
the truth fulness, accuracy, or valldlty of that document. 

State of California 

County of tJ<::::vA-12A 

On 

personally appeared -~Af~ l~C~·_,,f_...,.~~LtJ~ ...... C-1<--.E::'.=-- -----------------

who proved to me on the basis of satisfactory evidence to be the person(ef"whose name(.81' is/cMle subscribed to 
the within instrument and acknowledged to me that he/sl:leltl-ley executed the same in his/1:lf,u/their 
authorized capacity(i.eSJ, and that by his/1Ter,41'leir signature(~ on the instrument the person(li')";or the entity 
upon behalf of which the person(S, acted, executed the instrument. · 

I certify under PENALTY OF PERJURY under the laws of the 
State of California that the foregoing paragraph is true and correct. 

WITNESS my hand and official seal. 

Signature ~ ~ 
(Seal) 

Optional Information 
Although the information in this section is not required by law, it could prevent fraudulent removal and reattachment of this acknowledgment to an 
unauthorized document and may prove useful to persons relying on the attached document. 

Description of Attached Document 

The preceding Certificate of Acknowledgment is attached to a document 

titled/for the purpose of -~ve.Jop~YWl~~--------
_ A-~ (~- -----
containing _; 9 pages, and dated Au~ u , ~ 

1 
;ta, r 

The signer(s) capacity or authority is/are as : 

D lndividual(s) 

D Attorney-in-Fact 

D Corporate Officer(s) - -------------------

D Guardian/Conservator 

D Partner - Limited/General 

D Trustee(s) 

~ r: (! I Il1- (!,, Lt:.~K_ 

representing : 

Title(s) 

Additional Information 

Method of Si gner Identification 

Proved to me on the basis of satisfactory evidence: 

O form(s) of identification O credible witness(es) 

Notarial event is detailed in notary journal on: 

Page# Entry# 

Notary contact: __________ _ 

Other 

D Additional Signer(s) D Signer(s) Thumbprint(s) 

D 
---------------

© Copyright 2007-2015 Notary Rotary, Inc PO Box 41400, Des Moines, IA 50311-0507 All Rights Reserved Item Number 101772 Please contact your Authorized Reseller to purchase copies of this form 



CALIFORNIA CERTIFICATE OF ACKNOWLEDGMENT 

A notary public or other officer completing this certificate verifies only the identity of 
the indiv idual who signed the document to which this certificate is attached, and not 
the truthfu lness, accuracy, or validity ohhat document. 

State of California 

County of ~N_ tN_Jr:_b_>... _____ _ 

On w . .& '2016 
' 

before me, _____;C,=-· _&._Lef"t--'---,:;_--_ 5_W------"/JrR'-'-'t_N_bt!N _ _______ _ 
(here insert name and title of the officer) 

personally appeared _ _.].L_o=l,=£=e.=--T,__=U-=-Pri-'--""'D"--'r,.J,____ __________________ _ 

who proved to me on the basis of satisfactory evidence to be the person(t) whose name(;? is/a.i:e.subscribed to 
the within instrument and acknowledged to me that he/soRe/t!,ey executed the same in his/~tReir 
authorized capacity(~, and that by his/her/their signature~ on the instrument the person(~, or the entity 
upon behalf of which the person(1' acted, executed the instrument. 

I certify under PENALTY OF PERJURY under the laws of the 
State of California that the foregoing paragraph is true and correct. 

WITNESS my hand and official seal. 

(Seal) 

Optional Information 
Although the information in this section is not required by law, it could prevent fraudulent removal and reattachment of this acknowledgment to an 
unauthorized document and may prove useful to persons relying on the attached document. 

Description of Attached Document 

The preceding Certificate of Acknowledgment is attached to a document 

titled/for the purpose of be.\[el.oP M£NT ftblll?:tE. M£NT 

containing 3o pages, and dated ~ ~01 ~ 

The signer(s) capacity or authority is/are as: 

D lndividual(s) 

D Attorney-in-Fact 

D CorporateOfficer(s) __________________ _ 

D Guardian/Conservator 

D Partner - Limited/General 

[2' Trustee(s) 

D Other: 

Title(s) 

representing: N A-~t-ff'-1 , CA_ _ _ _ 
Name(s) cf Per~pn(l ) ~r Entity(ies) Signer is Representing 

Addltfonal Information 

Method of Signer Identification 

Proved to me on the basis of satisfactory evidence: 

O form(s) of identification O credible witness(es) 

Notarial event is detailed in notary journal on: 

Page # Entry# 

Notary contact: 

Other 

D Additional Signer(s) D Signer(s) Thumbprint(s) 

D ---------------

© Copyright 2007-201 S Notary Rotary, Inc PO Box 41400, Des Moines, IA 50311-0507 All Rights Reserved . Item Number 101772. Please contact your Authorized Reseller to purchase copies of this form. 



CALIFORNIA CERTIFICATE OF ACKNOWLEDGMENT 

A notary public or other officer completing this certificate verifies only the identity of 
the individual who signed the document to which this certificate is attached, and not 
the truth fulness, accuracy, or validity of that document. 

State of California 

County of NBYAI)A 

before me, ___ Q__,. ~ ' 'e~OC~_St~ · _W~l)....('~ _j t'\.----,,t«./'.--_____ _ 
(here insert name and title of~ cer) 

pe~onallyappeared _ J~ ~~n=n~l~~~ (--~---~R~~~~ ----------------

who proved to me on the basis of satisfactory evidence to be the personW, whose name'8f is/afe- subscribed to 
the within instrument and acknowledged to me that -Ae/she/t-key- executed the same in Ws/her/tfle-ir 
authorized capacity(~ and that by h-is-/her/#l-eif signature,W on the instrument the perso~, or the entity 
upon behalf of which the person(s) acted, executed the instrument. 

I certify under PENALTY OF PERJURY under the laws of the 
State of California that the foregoing paragraph is true and correct. 

WITNESS my hand and official seal. 

Signature -----------+1--------- (Seal) 

Optional Information 
Although the information in this section is not required by law, it could prevent fraudulent removal and reattachment of this acknowledgment to an 
unauthorized document and may prove useful to persons relying on the attached document. 

Description of Attached Document 

The preceding Certificate of Acknowledgment is attached to a document 

titled/for the purpose of f.Je.l(e... ~Dj) ~ --A--tr:e.e..M.P~ 

containing 3 \ pages, and dated _______.L~--~_f __ l---------'UJ~~' -'5 __ 
~ I 

The signer(s) capacity or authority is/are as: 

D lndividual(s) 

D Attorney-in-Fact 

D Corporate Officer(s) __________________ _ 

D Guardian/Conservator 

D Partner - Limited/General 

D Trustee(s) 

~ Other: - H ~o-'-'e __ 
representing : 

Title(s) 

Method of Signer Identification 

Proved to me on the basis of satisfactory evidence: 

O form(s) of identification O credible witness(es) 

Notarial event is detailed in notary journal on: 

Page # Entry# 

Notary contact: __________ _ 

Other 

D Additional Signer(s) D Signer(s) Thumbprint(s) 

D 

© Copyright 2007-2015 Notary Rotary, Inc PO Box 41400, Des Moines, IA 50311-0507 All Rights Reserved Item Number 101772 Please contact your Authorized Reseller to purchase copies of this form 



RESOLUTION NO. 2018-XX 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF NEVADA CITY 
TO APPROVE FOR FILING THE FINAL MAP FOR NEVADA CITY TECH. 

CENTER LLC – PHASE 3 AND AUTHORIZE MAYOR TO SIGN  

 
WHEREAS, the City Planning Commission and the City Council previously 

approved the Final Environmental Impact Report prepared for the Project on 
August 13, 1984; and  

 
WHEREAS, the City, in accordance with applicable local and state laws, 

ordinances, and regulations, previously approved General Plan Amendment No. 
84-18, Zoning Amendment No. 84-9, Site Plan No. 84-17, a Development 
Agreement By and Between the City of Nevada City and Grass Valley Group 
Relative to Grass Valley Group Site Development, dated November 12, 1985, 
and as approved for subsequent amendments and extensions; and  

 
WHEREAS, at the meeting on February 14, 2006, City Council 

conditionally approved the Tentative Map for subdivision into two or more legal 
parcels for purposes of sale, lease, or finance of approximately 400,000 square 
feet of light industrial space, and 20,000 square feet of related facilities; and 

WHEREAS, the Final Map for Nevada City Tech. Center LLC – Phase 3  
was submitted to the City Surveyor in accordance with the terms and provisions 
of the Development Agreement and Tentative Map and is therefore considered 
timely filed pursuant to the Subdivision Map Act Section 66452.6(d); and 

WHEREAS, the Mitigation Measures and Conditions of Approval for the 
Final Map have been satisfied; and 

WHEREAS, the Final Map has been presented to Council and reviewed 
by City Staff and City Council, and found to be consistent with the approved 
tentative map. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the City Council of the City of 
Nevada City to approve for filing the Final Map for Nevada City Tech. Center LLC 
– Phase 3 and authorize the Mayor to sign the map.  
  



PASSED AND ADOPTED at the regular meeting of the City Council of the City 
of Nevada City on the 11th day of April, 2018, by the following vote:  

AYES:   

NOES:  

ABSENT:  

ABSTAIN:   

 
      ________________________________ 
      Duane Strawser, Mayor 
ATTEST: 
 
 
_______________________________ 
Niel Locke, City Clerk 



REPORT TO CITY COUNCIL     City of Nevada City 
          317 Broad Street 
          Nevada City CA 95959 
APRIL 11, 2018        www.nevadacityca.gov 
___________________________________________________________________________ 

TITLE:  LAFCo Meeting Update  

RECOMMENDATION:  Receive and file. 

CONTACT:  Amy Wolfson, City Planner 

BACKGROUND / DISCUSSION:  At the February 28, 2018 City Council meeting, staff 
updated Council on LAFCo staff’s effort to procure a consultant to  prepare an environmental 
document pursuant to the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) necessary for the 
Nevada City SOI Update. Staff also updated you on the collaborative effort by LAFCo staff and 
Nevada City staff in determining alternative boundaries to be considered in the CEQA 
document: 

• LAFCo staff’s original recommendation entailing a significant reduction in the city’s SOI 
boundary (nearly 50% reduction – removal of 1,425 acres) 

• Nevada City staff’s recommendation which retains the existing SOI boundaries (0% 
reduction – retains all 2,907 acres)  

• An alternative compromise that considers aspects of both LAFCo staff’s and Nevada 
City staff’s recommendations (estimated 22% reduction – removes approximately 650 
acres) 

The compromise alternative was the result of productive discussions between City and LAFCo 
staff in defining the scope of environmental review for the SOI update. The compromise 
boundary achieves many of the City’s objectives in retaining important areas in the sphere.  In 
addition, it will provide environmental analysis for desired annexations, at a nominal cost to the 
City. 

LAFCO MEETING: At the March 22 LAFCo meeting, LAFCo Executive Officer, SR Jones 
updated the commission on the “Request for Proposals (RFP)” process. Proposals had come 
in higher than expected so Jones is looking at a revised project scope and plans to distribute a 
revised RFP. The Commission directed Jones to work with the MSR/Sphere Ad Hoc 
Committee to facilitate selection of a consultant to prepare an Environmental Impact Report 
(EIR), which will include analysis of the some of the properties slated for near-term 
annexations.   

ENVIRONMENTAL CONSIDERATIONS: Not applicable 

FISCAL IMPACT: Not applicable 

ATTACHMENTS: 

 SOI Boundary Map Showing Alternative Boundaries 
 March 22, 2018 LAFCo Staff Report 

http://www.nevadacityca.gov/


 

Legend 

City-preferred SOI 
Boundary 

Compromise 
Boundary 

LAFCo Staff-
preferred boundary 

Areas that present  
service challenges 

Map Showing Boundary Alternatives To Be Considered in SOI Update CEQA Document 



5.1  Business/Action 
Nevada City Sphere Plan Update 

Nevada Local Agency Formation Commission 
950 Maidu Avenue 

Nevada City, CA  95959 
Phone 530 265-7180 or 888-846-7180 

Date: March 22, 2018 

To: LAFCo Commissioners 

From: SR Jones, Executive Officer 
 P. Scott Browne, LAFCo Counsel 

Subject: Nevada City Sphere Update – Status and Request for Direction 

Summary 
Nevada LAFCo staff and Nevada City staff have been engaged in discussions regarding LAFCo’s update 
of the City’s sphere of influence plan.  These discussions have been productive, and LAFCo staff is 
requesting the Commission provide direction for moving forward with the sphere update project.   
One of the critical steps in the process involves preparation of an environmental review for the project.  
As discussed below, LAFCo staff has initiated a search for a qualified consultant to prepare such a review 
and will work closely with the Commission’s Ad Hoc Committee for Spheres and MSRs to provide a 
recommendation to the Commission at a subsequent meeting.    
Progress since the September Commission Meeting 
At the Commission’s meeting on September 21, 2017, City staff presented a 20-year plan for the phased 
annexation of all lands within its sphere of influence.  The annexation plan was prepared by the City in 
response to the Commission’s request (of March 2017) for a plan that would provide specific information 
relative to the cost and feasibility of annexing and extending city services to all areas in the sphere.   
Following the City’s presentation at the September meeting, LAFCo staff prepared an analysis of the 
annexation plan which was provided to City staff and the Commission.  LAFCo and City staff met on 
several occasions to discuss the analysis.  In addition, productive discussions that have included LAFCo 
Counsel and the City Attorney regarding the environmental analysis have taken place.  Operating on the 
assumption that the environmental analysis for the sphere update would take the form of an environmental 
impact report (EIR), the group has identified at least three project alternatives constituting differing 
sphere boundary options.  These three alternatives include:  

• The City’s preferred sphere boundary (including approximately 2900 acres in 950 parcels) which 
is the same as the current sphere boundary, last updated by LAFCo in 2008) 

• The LAFCo staff-recommended sphere boundary (which would omit approximately 1,250 parcels 
comprised of 516 parcels from the sphere and designate that area as an “Area of Interest”) 

• A third “consensus” sphere boundary, which would constitute the preferred alternative.  Note that 
the consensus alternative also includes initiation of several planned annexations, and is described 
in more detail below.  This would be designated the “preferred project alternative” for the 
purposes of the EIR.   

At its February 28, 2018, meeting, the City Council was updated on the progress on the sphere update and 
has adopted a Resolution of Intent authorizing City Staff to proceed to develop pre-zoning 
recommendations for the properties included in four annexation areas, as discussed in more detail below. 

Consensus Boundary Alternative 
The consensus boundary (as depicted on Attachment 1) would retain most of the lands within the 2008 
sphere boundary, with the exception of several areas that are remote from the City’s public sewer system 
lines that might present financial challenges for connection.  This alternative also identifies four areas that 



Nevada City Sphere Update 

2 

would be initiated for annexation by the City.  The Environmental Impact Report would be designed to 
support these annexations by providing environmental analysis at a programmatic level. Note that the City 
may be able to proceed with one or more of the projects on a categorical exemption basis; these could be 
initiated prior to completion of the EIR.   

The four areas include:   

• Area 1 (five parcels): Includes the California Department of Transportation facility (currently 
connected to City sewer), the Prospector’s Nursery, and the Little Friends Child Development 
Center, along Gold Flat Road. 

• Area 2 (three parcels): Includes County Juvenile Hall (currently connected to City sewer), and 
two adjacent and vacant County-owned properties, located south of Hwy 49. 

• Area 3 (18 parcels): Includes the former County Health Education and Welfare (H.E.W.) Building 
(now privately owned and currently connected to City sewer) and the Nevada Cemetery District 
offices along Willow Valley Road. There are 14 intervening parcels that are privately owned, 
three of which are connected to the City sewer system, and two of which are undeveloped. 

• Area 4 (22 parcels): Includes four cemetery facilities that are either privately or publicly managed 
along Boulder Street and Park Avenue Extension and 18 intervening privately owned properties. 
The City Engineer has indicated that this is an area of planned walkable improvements. 

Inclusion of these areas in the environmental analysis would be a benefit to the City in that it would 
reduce the procedural burden for pre-zoning and initiation of these annexations.  Consequently, the City 
Council has agreed to provide a financial contribution of $1000 toward LAFCo’s costs for preparation of 
the EIR. 

Environmental Analysis for Sphere Updates 
Relative to the appropriate scope of the environmental analysis for the sphere update, it should be noted 
that the Commission adopted the original sphere for the City in 1983, after finding that there was no 
possibility of a significant effect on the environment.  LAFCo files indicate the City prepared and 
presented the sphere plan to LAFCo prior to the completion of its General Plan.  Consequently, the 
abbreviated environmental review that was prepared for the General Plan would not have been applicable 
to the sphere adoption.  While this approach may have been acceptable in 1983, in 2012 LAFCo Counsel 
prepared an opinion (see Attachment 2) that recognizes the update of a sphere of influence as a “project” 
with the potential to result in environmental impacts.  

In 2008, LAFCo prepared and approved an update of the City’s sphere of influence (which resulted in no 
changes to the sphere boundary) following preparation of an initial study and negative declaration.   

Counsel’s 2012 opinion indicates a different approach is required relative to the scope of the 
environmental review.  The basic standard for evaluation of projects under CEQA requires that unless the 
Lead Agency can demonstrate that there is no potential for the project to have a significant effect on the 
environment, environmental review is required.  If that review determines that a “fair argument” can 
be made that there is a potential for significant impact, then an EIR is necessary.  Further, when the 
Lead Agency cannot show that there is no potential for a project to have a significant impact on the 
environment, proceeding with a Negative Declaration (of environmental impact) carries substantial 
legal risk.  
In the case of a city sphere update, when the sphere includes lands that could receive growth-inducing 
services such as public sewer, the indirect secondary impacts of that development must be evaluated in 
the CEQA analysis. 

Further, Counsel’s opinion indicates that the “baseline” for evaluation of impacts is the present physical 
conditions as they exist at the time the project is evaluated.  Thus, even if an undeveloped area has been 



Nevada City Sphere Update 

3 

included in the agency’s sphere for many years, if the General Plan would allow substantial development 
and the service provided by the agency is necessary for that development, the environmental analysis 
must consider the foreseeable impacts of that development on the environment.   

Process 
The next steps in the sphere update process include the following:  

1. Completion of the sphere of influence plan document.  This would entail updating the document
that has been prepared by LAFCo staff with information from the City’s new annexation plan, as 
well as more current information relative to City finances and services.   

2. Compliance with the California Environmental Quality Act, including preparation of the
environmental document.  

3. Public hearing to approve the sphere plan and the environmental document.

Discussion of Recommended Commission Direction to Staff 
Staff and Counsel recommend the Commission direct staff to work with the Commission’s MSR/Sphere 
Ad Hoc Committee to facilitate the selection of a qualified consultant for the preparation of an 
environmental impact report that would include analysis of various project alternatives analogous to the 
three listed alternative sphere boundaries, and inclusion of analysis to support the City’s pre-zoning and 
initiation of annexation proceedings for the above discussed four potential annexation areas.   

cc: Catrina Olson, Interim City Manager (via e-mail) 
Amy Wolfson, City Planner (via e-mail) 
Hal DeGraw, City Attorney (via e-mail) 

Attachments: 
1 “Consensus” Sphere Boundary Alternative (map) 
2 LAFCo Counsel’s 2012 CEQA Opinion 



ÃÃ20

ÃÃ49

GRASS VALLEY

NEVADA CITY

NEVADA CITY
Annexation Area #2

Annexation Area #2

Annexation Area #3

Annexation Area #4

Annexation Area #1

Area of Interest

Area of Interest

Area of Interest

Area of InterestArea of Interest

Attachment 1



P. SCOTT BROWNE 
ATTORNEY AT LAW 

The Old Post Office 
131 South Auburn Street 

Grass Valley, California 95945-6501 
scott@scottbrowne.com 

(530) 272-4250 
Fax (530) 272-1684 

March 13, 2018 

MEMORANDUM OPINION 

TO: LAFCo Executive Officers and Commissions 

FROM: P. Scott Browne, LAFCo Counsel  

RE: Sphere of Influence Updates:  Relation to Sphere Amendments and CEQA Review 
Requirements  

I have been requested by a number of the LAFCo’s I represent to provide guidance on to 
certain legal issues related to Sphere of Influence (SOI) Updates.  First you have requested that I 
discuss the requirements of CEQA as they apply to SOI updates.  Second, I have been asked what 
is the legal consequence of failure to update spheres? 

Summary of Opinion 

As discussed below, my conclusion is that while there is little direct law on spheres, they 
are likely to be treated similar to general plans.  They are usually projects subject to CEQA, and 
while their impacts, like general plans, are indirect, they can be significant in their facilitation of 
growth and its environmental consequences. The environmental analysis of a sphere must use as 
its baseline the existing condition “on the ground”, not what the prior sphere or applicable 
general plan permits. It is permissible and appropriate to rely upon county and city general plan 
EIR’s for analysis of growth effects if the EIR’s are not out of date and reflect current 
requirements.  Cities may even “apply” for a sphere update and expressly assume lead agency 
status as part of a city general plan update.  In that special situation LAFCo may act as a 
responsible agency and use the city’s environmental document.   However, where LAFCo must 
act as a lead agency its reliance on a city or county general plan EIR may not permit LAFCo to 
avoid doing its own EIR. If the relied-upon EIR made findings of significant, unavoidable 
environmental impacts, (as most do)  the LAFCo must follow the relied-upon EIR in making 
overriding findings for those impacts.  This can only be done through an EIR or supplemental 
EIR.  Also the environmental analysis for a sphere must include consideration of Green House 

Attachment 2



Opinion Re Sphere Updates:  CEQA and Statutory Timing Requirements 
 

2 
 

Gas Emissions. 
 
Failure to timely update spheres is also likely to be treated similarly to the failure to 

timely update a general plan.  The courts are likely to invalidate any substantial change of 
organization or sphere amendment based on the outdated sphere, just as the courts have 
invalidated subdivision approvals and other planning entitlements that are based on an 
inadequate general plan.   

 
 

I. CEQA Requirements With Respect to Sphere Updates 
 
I have been frequently asked to advise on the requirements under the California 

Environmental Quality Act (CEQA)  that are applicable to sphere updates.  Sphere updates are 
one of the few projects where LAFCo usually acts as the lead agency under CEQA. LAFCo staff 
is often unfamiliar with the CEQA requirements for a lead agency applicable to such projects and 
misconceptions and mistaken application of the law are common. This is reflected in the 
apparent tremendous diversity in approach amongst the LAFCo’s in how they apply the 
requirements of CEQA to sphere updates—from treating all updates as exempt altogether from 
CEQA to doing negative declarations to full environmental impact reports.   

 
While Of course, the answer to the question is the usual lawyer response—it depends on 

the circumstance.  The sphere update for a cemetery district that proposes no expansion beyond 
the existing borders probably qualifies for exemption from CEQA, while the sphere update for a 
city that includes substantial undeveloped farmland would normally require a full EIR or 
Supplemental EIR.   

 
CEQA requires the following fundamental analysis for all governmental actions:  First, is 

the action a “project” subject to CEQA at all.  Second, if it is a project, what is it’s potential to 
cause adverse physical change in the environment either directly or indirectly.  Third, are those 
potential physical changes “significant”.   In making these determinations, it must be kept in 
mind, as discussed below, a) that one must consider indirect or secondary impacts, b) that the 
baseline for comparison is the present conditions on the ground, c) that reliance on a County or 
City General Plan may not avoid an EIR and d) that the environmental analysis must include 
analysis of Green House Gas emissions.   

 
A. Are Sphere Updates “Projects” Subject to CEQA? 

 
The first issue is whether a sphere update is a “project” subject to CEQA at all.  The 

CEQA Guidelines define a project in pertinent part as: 
 

§15378.  Project. 



Opinion Re Sphere Updates:  CEQA and Statutory Timing Requirements 
 

3 
 

(a)  ``Project'' means the whole of an action, which has a potential for resulting 
in either a direct physical change in the environment, or a reasonably foreseeable 
indirect physical change in the environment, and that is any of the following: 

(1)  An activity directly undertaken by any public agency including but not limited 
to public works construction and related activities clearing or grading of land, 
improvements to existing public structures, enactment and amendment of zoning 
ordinances, and the adoption and amendment of local General Plans or elements thereof 
pursuant to Government Code Sections 65100-65700[Deering's]. 
   
Thus CEQA applies to any governmental “action”.  This is an extremely broad term 

which certainly would encompass LAFCo action to adopt agency spheres and updates.  However 
to be a project, the “action” must also have the potential to result in environmental impacts.   

 
The California Supreme Court in Bozung v. LAFCo (1975) 13 Cal.3d 263, 268 [118 

Cal.Rptr. 249, 529 P.2d 1017] very early on in the development of CEQA law had no problem 
finding that an annexation was a project subject to CEQA.  I will discuss the case in detail 
because it’s holdings are relevant to many of the issues involved in environmental review of 
sphere decisions. 

 
In the Bozung case, the City of Camarillo had obtained approval from Ventura LAFCo 

first for adding the property to its sphere and then for the annexation of 677 acres to the city 
without any environmental review.  Indeed the Court noted that “the annexation proceeded as if 
CEQA did not exist”. (id at pg 273) The annexation decision was challenged on the grounds that 
the LAFCo was required to do environmental review for the annexation.   

 
The LAFCo defended the decision on the grounds that the annexation was not a “project” 

subject to CEQA.  It argued that 1) LAFCo was not a “local agency” subject to CEQA, and  2) 
annexations were “more like a feasibility or planning study” The Court immediately dismissed 
the argument that LAFCo was not a local agency within the purview of CEQA.  It then rejected 
the idea that annexations were merely planning studies.  The Court pointed out that it was well 
established that general plans are projects and since LAFCo approval of an annexation is an 
irrevocable step it is certainly a project subject to CEQA. (Bozung, supra, 13 Cal.3d 263 at 278) 

 
The Court then proceeded to analyze whether there was any potential for the annexation 

approval to result in significant environmental impacts. LAFCo argued that the annexation 
approval itself was “another piece of paper” with no direct impact on the environment. The Court 
cited to the landmark case of Friends of Mammoth v. Board of Supervisors, (1972) 8 Cal.3d 247, 
259 [104 Cal.Rptr. 761, 502 P.2d 1049], that “activities culminating in physical changes to the 
environment” are subject to CEQA even if indirect. (id at 279)  In this case the intent to annex 
for development was clear.  The Court dryly commented that “This is not the case of a rancher 
who feels that his cattle would chew their cuds more contentedly in an incorporated pasture.” 



Opinion Re Sphere Updates:  CEQA and Statutory Timing Requirements 
 

4 
 

 
LAFCo then argued that even if it is a project under CEQA with potential for 

environmental impacts, an EIR was not required at this stage.  They argued that an EIR at the 
annexation stage would be premature and wasteful since further environmental review would 
occur within the City of Camarillo for the city entitlements to proceed with development.  The 
California Supreme Court responded 

 
“It is claimed that the preparation of an EIR for LAFCO would be wasteful and 

premature since Camarillo will have to prepare another EIR in order to rezone the annexed 
property.  Conceding for the sake of argument only that this is so, it misses the entire thrust of 
CEQA which requires governmental agencies "at all levels" to consider environmental factors. 
((Bozung, supra, 13 Cal.3d 263 at 281)  

 
 The Court went on to point out that CEQA Guidelines Section 15065 require the agency 

which acts first on project be the lead agency.  Also the Court noted that as a regional agency, 
LAFCo was the better qualified and more objective agency to address the regional environmental 
issues related to the annexation than was the City. (id at 283)  Finally the Court said that to allow 
the LAFCo decision to proceed without environmental review would allow environmental 
considerations “to be submerged by chopping a large project into many little ones—each with a 
minimal potential impact on the environment.” (id at 283-284) 

 
The Bozung case was followed by three other LAFCo cases relevant here, Simi Valley 

Recreation & Park Dist. v. Local Agency Formation Com. (1975) 51 Cal.App.3d 648, 668 669 
[124 Cal.Rptr. 635].), City of Livermore v. Local Agency Formation Com. (1986) 184 
Cal.App.3d 531, 543 [230 Cal.Rptr. 867] and City of Agoura Hills v. Local Agency Formation 
Com. (1988) 198 Cal.App.3d 480, 485. 

 
In the Simi Valley case, the LAFCo and the County Board of Supervisors had approved 

the detachment of 10,000 acres from the Simi Valley Recreation and Park District over its 
objections.  The LAFCo made its decision without any CEQA compliance. The District 
challenged the failure of LAFCo to do any environmental review.  The Court of Appeal upheld 
the decision, distinguishing the decision in Bozung as follows:  

 
The decision, therefore, does not make every LAFCO approval a project subject 

to CEQA; nor does it make every LAFCO approval of local agency boundary changes, 
the timing of which may coincide with intended development, such a project. It dealt only 
with the situation where LAFCO approval was a necessary step in the development and 
in effect constituted an entitlement for use for such development. (Simi Valley, supra,  51 
Cal.App.3d 648 at 665) 

 
 The Simi Valley court cited to the fact that unlike in the Bozung case, no 



Opinion Re Sphere Updates:  CEQA and Statutory Timing Requirements 
 

5 
 

development was dependent on the detachment decision.  The land was within the same planning 
jurisdiction—the County both before and after the detachment and the District had no authority 
over the use of the land that was changed by the detachment. Therefore this was not the type of 
LAFCo action that was a project subject to CEQA.  (id at 666).   

 
 However a different conclusion was reached in the case of City of Livermore v. 

Local Agency Formation Com.,  supra, (1986) 184 Cal.App.3d 531, in the first case to directly 
consider a LAFCo sphere action.  There the Alameda LAFCo approved revisions to its Sphere 
Policy Guidelines that eliminated a requirement that urban development areas belonged in cities 
and facilitated urban development outside of cities.  The revisions were approved with a negative 
declaration. (id 535-536).  The City of Livermore challenged the negative declaration, arguing 
that the revisions to the Sphere policies had the potential for significant effects and a full EIR 
was required.   

 
The Court of Appeal first addressed the issue whether the Sphere Policies were even a 

project subject to CEQA.   LAFCo argued that the revisions involved no tangible physical 
activity and their effect was too remote to qualify the action as a project.  The Court disagreed.  It 
held that CEQA and the State CEQA Guidelines focus on the ultimate impact of the project, not 
on whether a project is tangible or intangible. Even “government paper shuffling” is a project if it 
results in impacts on the environment. (id at 539)  

 
Then the Court addressed the argument that impact was too remote and indirect.  It said: 
 

Just as the amendment of a general plan will influence the future growth and 
development of cities, so too will the sphere of influence guideline revisions have such an 
effect.  These guideline revisions, which may promote urbanization in the county rather 
than in existing cities, may have an even greater impact than the amendment of one 
general plan.  The potential impact of the guideline revisions necessitates that the 
revisions be considered a "project" under CEQA. 

 
The Livermore Court distinguished the decision in Simi Valley, arguing that the decision 

in the Simi Valley case was based on the particular LAFCo action involved there. “The LAFCO 
action here was not one plan, nor a slight reorganization in administration, but a major policy 
shift that would affect land use throughout the entire region.”  (City of Livermore v. Local 
Agency Formation Com.,  supra, (1986) 184 Cal.App.3d 531 at 539-540). 

 
The case that is most often cited to support an argument that sphere decisions are not 

projects subject to CEQA is the case of City of Agoura Hills v. Local Agency Formation Com. 
(1988) 198 Cal.App.3d 480, 485. In that case the City of Agoura Hills, unhappy with Los 
Angeles LAFCo’s determination of a nearly co-terminous sphere with the existing city 
boundaries, sought to have the court reverse the decision. Among their arguments to the Court 



Opinion Re Sphere Updates:  CEQA and Statutory Timing Requirements 
 

6 
 

against LAFCo’s decision, the City argued the decision should be reversed because LAFCo failed 
to do any environmental review of the sphere decision under CEQA.  

 
The Court of Appeal upheld the LAFCo’s determination that the sphere decision was not 

subject to CEQA. The Court, citing Simi Valley, said  “Not all of LAFCO's decisions, particularly 
sphere of influence determinations, require an EIR or negative declaration” (id, at pg 494) The 
Agoura Hills Court goes on to state:  

  
“The fact that spheres of influence are recognized as important factors in 

annexations does not compel the conclusion that they are per se “projects” subject to 
CEQA. There is no support for this contention in Bozung or any other case cited by the 
parties.” (id at pg 495) 
 
The Court determined that the sphere decision here “could not have a ‘significant effect 

on the environment’…” and therefore was not a project subject to CEQA. (id). The Court also 
addressed a challenge under the Fair Political Practices Act and concluded that a sphere decision 
is not an “entitlement for use” within the meaning of GC Section 84308 of the Act.  

 
While the Agoura Hills case has never been explicitly overruled1, it must be read as 

limited to its facts and time.  First, it came down long before CKH was adopted and strengthened 
the role of spheres in the LAFCo process.  Second it did not have the benefit of subsequent 
CEQA cases on baselines or indirect effects of projects.  Most importantly, the court only ruled 
that “CEQA provisions do not apply to LAFCo’s sphere decision in this case”.   Looking at the 
facts of that case,  LAFCo had determined essentially a coterminous sphere for the city.  This is 
the equivalent of no sphere or “no project”. CEQA clearly does not apply to such non-projects.  
The same decision would be reached today given those very limited facts.  The Court’s general 
statements about spheres not being entitlements for use was not addressing the CEQA issue but a 
Fair Political Practices Act issue.   

 
I have been able to find no other cases that directly address the application of CEQA to 

LAFCo sphere decisions.  There is some additional authority with respect to sphere 
“amendments”.  The Attorney General in 1980 was asked to render an opinion whether a sphere 
amendment was a project subject to CEQA.  The Attorney General concluded that sphere 
amendments were subject to CEQA when “such action could possibly have a significant effect on 
the environment.” (63 Ops. Cal. Atty. Gen. 758) This opinion probably triggered the one specific 
reference to CEQA compliance in the Cortese Knox Hertzberg Act in connection with sphere 
decisions.  Section 56428(b) specifically requires compliance with CEQA requirements as part of 

                                                 
1 The Court of Appeal in an unpublished case City of Santa Clarita v. Las Lomas Land Co., LLC [Not 

Reported in Cal.Rptr.3d], 2008 WL 2105534 Cal.App. 2 Dist.,2008 limited the Agoura Hills holding to its facts, in 
ruling that a sphere amendment for the City of Santa Clarita was subject to CEQA.  The decision is unpublished and 
therefore may not be cited as legal authority.  



Opinion Re Sphere Updates:  CEQA and Statutory Timing Requirements 
 

7 
 

the process for consideration of a sphere amendment.  While neither of these authorities 
specifically address sphere “updates” the similarity between sphere amendments and sphere 
updates gives them considerable relevance to the treatment of sphere updates under CEQA. 

   
What can be concluded from this review of authority is that sphere updates are “projects” 

subject to CEQA when the update has the potential to result in environmental impacts. Only 
when the sphere update has no potential for environmental impacts, such a cemetery district 
sphere update or proposal for a co-terminous sphere, can an exemption from CEQA safely be 
adopted.   

 
B. Evaluation of Sphere Updates Under CEQA 

 
The rules that apply to evaluation of all projects under CEQA apply to evaluating sphere 

updates. However the nature of sphere updates as broad planning documents as opposed to 
specific concrete projects frequently poses special problems in applying the general rules.  Lack 
of awareness of these special problems result in misconceptions about what is required and are 
major contributors to the variation in application of CEQA to sphere updates.   

 
I will first begin with the basic requirements for evaluation of projects under CEQA and 

then discuss the special problems that commonly arise in evaluating sphere updates. 
 
1. The Basic Standard 

 
CEQA requires that projects be evaluated to determine whether they may have a 

significant effect on the environment.  “Significant effect on the environment is defined in 
Guidelines §15382 as “a substantial, or potentially substantial, adverse change in any of the 
physical conditions within the area affected by the project including land, air, water, minerals, 
flora, fauna, ambient noise, and objects of historic or aesthetic significance.”  

 
§15064 sets forth how an agency should go about determining whether a project may 

cause a significant effect on the environment. Subdivision (d) states: 
 

(d)  In evaluating the significance of the environmental effect of a project, the lead 
agency shall consider direct physical changes in the environment which may be caused 
by the project and reasonably foreseeable indirect physical changes in the environment 
which may be caused by the project. 

(1)  A direct physical change in the environment is a physical change in the 
environment which is caused by and immediately related to the project. Examples of 
direct physical changes in the environment are the dust, noise, and traffic of heavy 
equipment that would result from construction of a sewage treatment plant and possible 
odors from operation of the plant. 



Opinion Re Sphere Updates:  CEQA and Statutory Timing Requirements 
 

8 
 

(2)  An indirect physical change in the environment is a physical change in the 
environment which is not immediately related to the project, but which is caused 
indirectly by the project. If a direct physical change in the environment in turn causes 
another change in the environment, then the other change is an indirect physical change 
in the environment. For example, the construction of a new sewage treatment plant may 
facilitate population growth in the service area due to the increase in sewage treatment 
capacity and may lead to an increase in air pollution. 

(3)  An indirect physical change is to be considered only if that change is a reasonably 
foreseeable impact which may be caused by the project. A change which is speculative or 
unlikely to occur is not reasonably foreseeable. 

 
Subdivision (f)(1) of §15064 sets forth when an environmental impact report is to be prepared for 

a project: 
 

(1)  If the lead agency determines there is substantial evidence in the record that the 
project may have a significant effect on the environment, the lead agency shall prepare an 
EIR (Friends of B Street v. City of Hayward (1980) 106 Cal. App. 3d 988). Said another way, 
if a lead agency is presented with a fair argument that a project may have a significant effect 
on the environment, the lead agency shall prepare an EIR even though it may also be 
presented with other substantial evidence that the project will not have a significant effect 
(No Oil, Inc. v. City of Los Angeles (1974) 13 Cal. 3d 68).[emphasis added] 

 
 CEQA, as interpreted by the Courts and incorporated in the Guidelines, sets “a low 

threshold” for when an EIR is required.  This is because the Legislature established that preparation of 
an EIR is “the heart of CEQA” --the principal method by which environmental data are brought to the 
attention of the agency and the public.”  (No Oil, Inc. v. City of Los Angeles (1974) 13 Cal.3d 68, at 83 
[529 P.2d 66; 118 Cal. Rptr. 34].  Under this low threshold,  the “fair argument” standard essentially 
places the burden on the agency to show that there is no potential for a project to have a significant effect 
on the environment.  Consequently, proceeding with a negative declaration carries substantial legal risk 
that should be carefully evaluated with legal counsel before consideration. 

 
2. Evaluation Must Include Indirect or Secondary Impacts of the Sphere Decision 
 
A common fallacy in applying CEQA to sphere determinations is to focus on direct physical 

impacts and ignore or minimize the indirect impacts of the sphere decision.  The argument is that a 
sphere is just a flexible planning tool.  Drawing lines on a map has no direct impacts and indirect 
impacts are so speculative and remote that it is impossible to evaluate them at this stage.  Substantive 
evaluation should wait for the actual annexation.  

 
As discussed above, this same argument was of course made and rejected with respect to 

annexations in the Bozung case.  It was also made in the Livermore case with respect to sphere policies 



Opinion Re Sphere Updates:  CEQA and Statutory Timing Requirements 
 

9 
 

and rejected there.  Sphere plans are no more speculative and remote in their impacts than general plans. 
 There is no question that general plans require substantive CEQA review of their potential indirect 
impacts—usually in an EIR.  Consequently, it is legally untenable to continue to assert that sphere plans 
are categorically subject to a lesser standard of review. 

 
Sphere plans are plans for the probable physical boundaries and service area of an agency. (GC 

56076) They establish where services will over time be provided and where they will not.  
Environmental review of a proposed sphere must evaluate the reasonably forseeable impacts of 
providing those services to the areas outside of the existing agency boundaries.  If the services provided 
by the agency would facilitate development, the indirect secondary impacts of that development must be 
evaluated as a part of the CEQA document for the agency sphere, just as is done with the forseeable 
development impacts of a general plan.  

 
3. The Baseline for Evaluation of Impacts is Present Conditions “on the Ground” 
 
A second common misconception in applying CEQA to adoption of broad planning policies such 

as spheres of influence is with respect to the baseline for evaluation.  It is often asserted that, for 
example, a LAFCo need only analyze the differences between the sphere proposed in the update with the 
existing adopted sphere or applicable general plan.  If there is not much difference, then the LAFCo may 
safely conclude that there is no significant impact and proceed with a negative declaration or even an 
exemption.  While this carries a certain surface plausibility, it is not the law. 

 
 Since the determination of significant effect looks to change in the physical environment,  

CEQA requires analysis of the differences in the environment after the project occurs with conditions 
before.  But what “before” conditions?   

 
Section 15125, subdivision (a) of the CEQA Guidelines spells that out. It provides: "An EIR 

must include a description of the physical environmental conditions in the vicinity of the project, as they 
exist at the time the notice of preparation is published, or if no notice of preparation is published, at the 
time environmental analysis is commenced, from both a local and regional perspective. This 
environmental setting will normally constitute the baseline physical conditions by which a lead agency 
determines whether an impact is significant." (Cal. Code Regs., tit. 14, § 15125, subd. (a), italics added.) 

 
The seminal case with regard to the baseline for planning documents is the case of 

Environmental Planning & Information Council (EPIC) v. County of El Dorado, (1982) 131 Cal.App.3d 
350, 354, 357–358.  In that case, EPIC challenged the EIR for an amendment to the County general plan. 
 It argued that the EIR which solely focused on differences between the new General Plan and the 
existing General Plan violated CEQA.  The Court of Appeal agreed.  It held:   

 
“The dispositive issue on this appeal is whether the requirements of CEQA are satisfied 

when the EIRs prepared for use in considering amendments to the county general plan compare 
the environmental impacts of the proposed amendments to the existing plan rather than to the 
existing environment. (1a)We hold that the EIRs must report on the impact of the proposed plans 
on the existing environment. Since we find that the EIRs in this case are inadequate for this 



Opinion Re Sphere Updates:  CEQA and Statutory Timing Requirements 
 

10 
 

purpose we reverse the judgment,” (id at p. 352) 
 

The Court went on to say that an approach using hypothetical allowable conditions as the 
baseline results in "illusory" comparisons that "can only mislead the public as to the reality of the 
impacts and subvert full consideration of the actual environmental impacts," (id at 358) 

 
The California Supreme Court in the recent case of Communities for a Better Environment v. 

South Coast Air Quality Management Dist. (2010) 48 Cal.4th 310, 319, 106 Cal.Rptr.3d 502, 226 P.3d 
985 reaffirmed the holding in the EPIC case.  The Court stated:  “A long line  of Court of Appeal 
decisions holds, in similar terms, that the impacts of a  proposed project are ordinarily to be compared to 
the actual environmental conditions existing at the time of CEQA analysis, rather than to allowable  
conditions defined by a plan or regulatory framework.” 

 
Given this clear authority, environmental analysis for a sphere update must compare the current 

existing conditions and level of development with what could foreseeably occur if the services of the 
agency are expanded into the sphere.  The land use designations in the applicable general plan certainly 
can act as a guide to what can forseeably develop, but cannot be considered part of the baseline for the 
analysis.  Therefore, even if an area was included in the existing sphere of an agency for many years, and 
the general plan calls for substantial development, you still must look at what is actually “on the ground” 
now.  If the area has not yet developed and the service provided by the agency is necessary for that 
development, the environmental analysis of the sphere must analyse the forseeable impacts of that 
development on the environment.  

 
4. Reliance on County or City General Plan EIR May Not Avoid an EIR 
 
The EIR for a general plan, if done in accordance with the standards of the EPIC case, normally 

analyses the impacts of the growth proposed in the plan over the existing conditions at the time the EIR 
was done.  It therefore seems logical and appropriate for LAFCo’s to rely on that analysis where feasible 
in preparing environmental documents for sphere, rather than replicate the analysis.  This approach is 
expressly encouraged in CEQA in PRC Sections 21003(d) and (e) and  21094.  It is particularly useful 
where a city has recently completed a general plan update and EIR for that plan and the plan covers the 
same area as the proposed city sphere.  

 
Such reliance however, does not necessarily permit the LAFCo to avoid doing an EIR or 

supplemental EIR (SEIR) for a sphere update.  Only where LAFCo is acting as a responsible agency for 
a city sphere update, may LAFCo avoid that requirement  In all other cases, where LAFCo is acting as 
lead agency, if the EIR being relied upon is no longer current or included findings of significant, 
unavoidable impacts, than an EIR or SEIR may still be required.  

 
LAFCo may be able to act as a responsible agency for city sphere updates under the current state 

of the law.  There is language twice in §56425 that seems to contemplate that cities may make 
application for a sphere update.  §56425(b) states in part: 

 



Opinion Re Sphere Updates:  CEQA and Statutory Timing Requirements 
 

11 
 

“(b) Prior to a city submitting an application to the commission to update its sphere of 
influence representatives from the city and representatives from the county shall meet…” 

 
Section 56425(d)  goes on to say: 
 

(d) If no agreement is reached pursuant to subdivision (b), the application may be 
submitted to the commission and the commission shall consider a sphere of influence for the city 
consistent with the policies adopted by the commission pursuant to this section. 
 
This is the only portion of the sphere update statutory provisions that suggests that sphere 

updates can be triggered by an application by an agency.  This phrase inserted in provisions whose focus 
is upon the city and county meeting with regard to the sphere update is problematic as there is no 
procedure for such sphere update “applications” anywhere else in CKH.   Otherwise the provision of 
56425 very clearly imposes that duty upon the LAFCo alone to do the updates and sets mandatory 
schedules for doing them that are independent of any agency application. 

 
Nevertheless the language is there and under the canons of statutory construction, must be given 

significance if at all feasible within the statutory scheme. (United Farm Workers of America v. 
Agricultural Labor Relations Bd. (1995) 41 Cal.App.4th 303,314,).Therefore, a city may “apply” for a 
SOI update and in so doing, assume lead agency status for the environmental review of that SOI update.  
If so, LAFCo can act as a responsible agency and use the environmental document prepared by the City 
for the SOI. 

 
This exception is limited by the language of CKH and CEQA.  First, under CKH the city must 

specifically and expressly take action to “apply” and conduct its environmental review based on that 
application. It is not enough that the city mentioned use of its general plan update for the sphere update.  
Under CEQA, the city must explicitly state in the environmental document that part of the “project” 
being considered is the city’s application for the sphere update and the environmental document must 
take into account the LAFCo issues that arise in making such a determination.  

 
Where LAFCo must act as the lead agency for the sphere update, it may still rely upon a city or 

county general plan for growth impacts, but such use can only occur if certain criteria are met.  PRC 
Section 21094 (b) specifically requires that the agency proposing to rely upon a prior EIR for a later 
project must do an initial study first to  determine whether the EIR meets CEQA’s requirements for use 
with the later project.  The agency may only rely upon the prior EIR if its study determines that all of the 
following are true:  (1) the later project is consistent with the program, plan, policy, or ordinance for 
which an environmental impact report has been prepared, (2) the later project is consistent with 
applicable local land use plans and zoning of the city, county, or city and county in which the later 
project would be located, and (3) the circumstances under which a supplemental EIR would be required 
under PRC §21166 do not exist. Section 21166 in turn specifies three grounds for requiring a 
supplemental EIR to supplement an existing EIR.  Those grounds are: (a) Substantial changes are 
proposed in the project which will require major revisions of the environmental impact report, (b) 
Substantial changes occur with respect to the circumstances under which the project is being undertaken 
which will require major revisions in the environmental impact report or (c) New information, which 



Opinion Re Sphere Updates:  CEQA and Statutory Timing Requirements 
 

12 
 

was not known and could not have been known at the time the environmental impact report was certified 
as complete, becomes available. 

 
The most common problems in using a prior EIR for a sphere update is that the EIR was 

completed for an area different than that proposed for the sphere and that the EIR is out of date.  If the 
sphere plan covers an area different than that covered by the prior EIR, than that is a change in the 
project (from the project considered in the prior EIR) which under 21166 requires a new analysis and 
possibly a Supplemental EIR.  If the EIR is out of date, it increases the probability that either the 
circumstances surrounding the project have changed or that new information becomes available that 
requires new evaluation.  For example, a common problem today is that prior EIR’s often did not 
consider GHG emissions and the change in legal requirements is either a “change in circumstances 
surrounding the project” or “new information” that requires a supplemental environmental document.   

 
Even if the EIR being relied upon is reasonably current, and otherwise does not require 

supplementation under §21166,  use of the prior EIR does not necessarily avoid doing a new or 
supplemental EIR for a sphere update.  If the county or city general plan being relied upon for the sphere 
update made findings of unavoidable significant impacts remaining after mitigation,  then any 
environmental document tiered off or relying upon that EIR must make similar findings.  Both caselaw 
and the statute make clear that such reliance can only be done in the context of another EIR or SEIR.  
This is because it is only through the EIR process that an agency can make overriding findings required 
to address the unavoidable significant impacts identified in the EIR being relied upon.  

 
As the Court of Appeal said in Communities for a Better Environment v. Resources Agency 

(2003) 103 Cal.App.4th 98: 
 

“Even though a prior EIR's analysis of environmental effects may be subject to being 
incorporated in a later EIR for a later, more specific project, the responsible public officials 
must still go on the record and explain specifically why they are approving the later project 
despite its significant unavoidable impacts” (id at pg 124-125)   
 
See also PRC Section 21094 which authorizes tiering off EIRs and specifically Subdivision 

(a)(2) which was amended in 2010 to allow agencies to incorporate the overriding findings from a prior 
EIR but only in a subsequent tiered EIR.  

 
Most competently prepared EIR’s for general plans that I have encountered makes finding that 

certain impacts such as farmland conversion, impact on air quality, impact on wildlife or traffic are 
significant even after mitigation and unavoidable. The agency then made overriding finding under 
PRC§21083 and 15093 of the Guidelines of social or economic considerations that justify approval of 
the project notwithstanding the significant unavoidable impacts that will result.  

 
If a LAFCo, acting as lead agency, wants to rely upon such a city or county general plan EIR that 

does contain significant and unavoidable environmental impacts, then it must likewise adopt the 
overriding findings.  Under CEQA that can only be done in the context of an EIR or SEIR.   

 



Opinion Re Sphere Updates:  CEQA and Statutory Timing Requirements 
 

13 
 

As the above discussion demonstrates, except in the one situation where a city is applying for a 
sphere update and LAFCo can act as a responsible agency,  reliance on a city or county general plan EIR 
to address the indirect growth impacts of a sphere update is not a panacea for the overworked LAFCo 
staffer.  CEQA requires LAFCo to make careful consideration of the prior EIR to insure it is appropriate 
and for the sphere under consideration and not out of date.  If the prior EIR included findings of 
unavoidable significant impacts, then an EIR or SEIR will be required in any event to allow the LAFCo 
to make the overriding findings.2  That EIR or SEIR may be substantially simplified by reliance on the 
prior EIR, but it must follow the EIR procedures and cannot be done in the form of a negative 
declaration. 

 
5. The Evaluation Must Include Evaluation of Green House Gas Emissions 
 
One of the problems in relying upon a prior EIR is that most such EIR’s did not include any 

analysis of Green House Gas Emissions (GHG) .  While the requirement to analyze GHG has arguably 
been the law since SB 97 in 2007, once Section 15064.4 was added to the State CEQA Guidelines in 
2010, it is now unquestionably a mandatory component of any environmental analysis, including sphere 
updates.  

 
Compliance with the requirements under §15064.4 for GHG analysis is not easy.  The Guidelines 

require the lead agency to “make a good-faith effort, based to the extent possible on scientific and factual 
data, to describe, calculate or estimate the amount of greenhouse gas emissions resulting from a project.” 
 The agency must then evaluate the significance of those emissions by comparing them to the existing 
environmental setting, comparing them against a a threshold of significance that the lead agency 
determines applies to the project and or considering the extent to which the project complies with 
regulations or requirements adopted to implement a statewide, regional, or local plan for the reduction or 
mitigation of greenhouse gas emissions.  If there is substantial evidence (ie “a fair argument”) that the 
possible effects of a particular project are still cumulatively considerable notwithstanding compliance 
with the adopted regulations or requirements, an EIR must be prepared. 

 
The difficulty in complying with these requirements is that there is as yet very little data or 

programs upon which to base the evaluation.  The agency whose sphere is being considered seldom has 
information on GHG emissions even for its own operations.  Few communities have developed 
quantitative analyses of GHG emissions in the community to provide a baseline for evaluation. Very few 
counties, cities, air resources or air quality boards have developed numerical thresholds of significance 
appropriate for use with projects such as spheres.  Nor have most adopted Climate Action Plans that 
provide regional mitigation programs that can be followed to mitigate GHG impacts.   

 
These problems will eventually be resolved as data is developed and Climate Action Plans 

adopted.  For now, however, it creates great uncertainty in addressing GHG.  §15064.4(a)(2) does allow 
the use of “qualitative” analyses or performance based standards in place of quantitative analysis.  How 

                                                 
2  PRC Section 21094 was amended in 2010 to allow in Subdivision(a)(2) for agencies to incorporate the overriding 

findings made with the prior EIR rather than adopt their own findings under certain limited circumstances.  Those include that 
the incorporation must occur in a later tiered EIR, (PRC §21094(a)) and the prior EIR is less than 3 years old (PRC 
§21094(a)(2)(D)). This amendment is only operative until 2016.  



Opinion Re Sphere Updates:  CEQA and Statutory Timing Requirements 
 

14 
 

far the courts will allow an agency to go in “qualitatively” evaluating impacts without numbers to back it 
up is unknown.  Since there are so few established mitigation programs, it is difficult to develop a 
mitigation program which reliably reduces the project’s contribution to GHG below the “cumulatively 
considerable” threshold required to avoid an EIR.   

 
Given all of these uncertainties in addressing GHG emissions, LAFCo’s should proceed with 

considerable care in undertaking such analysis.  Where there is any potential for significant GHG 
emissions either directly from operations or indirectly from growth induced by extension of services, the 
the LAFCo should consider doing an EIR.  Only by doing an EIR does the burden shift from the agency 
to show no substantial evidence of a potential GHG impact to the challenger of the EIR.  

 
II. Sphere of Influence Updates 

 
The environmental requirements set forth above, if observed, impose significant burdens for 

LAFCo’s in preparation of sphere of influence updates.  Given the current limitations on local 
government finances and resources, the logical follow up question is what are the consequences if a 
LAFCo fails to complete its updating of spheres in accordance with the statutory mandate?  While there 
is as yet no direct authority on this point, given the legislative language and function of spheres, they are 
likely to be treated similar to general plans.  Failure to have an adequate and up to date general plan is 
grounds for invalidation of the plan and any planning decisions based on that plan.  So too, failure to 
update spheres is likely to be found to invalidate any sphere amendments and changes of organization 
based on that outdated plan.  

 
 The Legislature in 1971 required Local Agency Formation Commissions to prepare spheres of 

influence for each agency subject to their jurisdiction (Stats. 1971, Chapter 1241). The purpose of 
spheres were set forth in Placer LAFCo v Nevada LAFCo (2006) 135 Cal.App.4th 793 at 806-807 

 
A sphere of influence is a flexible planning and study tool to be reviewed and amended 

periodically as appropriate.” (City of Agoura Hills v. Local Agency Formation Com. (1988) 198 
Cal.App.3d 480, 490, 243 Cal.Rptr. 740.) Upon determination of a sphere of influence, the 
commission shall adopt that sphere, and shall review and update, as necessary, the adopted 
sphere every five years. (§ 56425, subds. (f), (g).) The sphere of influence is one of the factors to 
be considered in reviewing a proposal for a change of organization. (§ 56668, subd. (h).) 
Determinations about changes of organization shall be consistent with the spheres of influence 
of the local agencies affected. (§ 56375.5.) 
 
It has long been established that annexations cannot be approved until LAFCO has established 

and duly considered relevant spheres of influence.  (See Resource Defense Fund v. Local Agency 
Formation Com. (1983) 138 Cal.App.3d 987 [188 Cal.Rptr. 499].)   

 
In 2000 the Legislature adopted a major reorganization of the LAFCo law and renamed it “the 

the Cortese Knox Hertzberg Local Government Reorganization Act” , abbreviated as “CKH”.  As part of 
the act, CKH included a new requirement that “On or before January 1, 2006, and every five years 
thereafter, the commission shall, as necessary, review and update each sphere of influence (§ 56425, 



Opinion Re Sphere Updates:  CEQA and Statutory Timing Requirements 
 

15 
 

subd (g).)  This deadline was later extended to January 1, 2008. To provide informational support for the 
Sphere updates, the Legislature required LAFCo’s to prepare municipal service reviews prior to the 
sphere updates. (§56430). 

  
There is yet no reported case on the consequences of failure to update spheres as required by 

§56425(g).  However, Peter Detwiler, the recently retired long term legislative analyst for the Senate 
Local Government Committee, addressed the issue in a 2007 position paper entitled “LAFCO Litigation 
Looms”.  He pointed to the similarity between sphere requirements and general plan requirements as 
providing relevant guidance.  As he pointed out, LAFCOs’ boundary decisions must be consistent with 
their spheres of influence (§56375.5).  This requirement parallels the “vertical consistency” rule which 
requires local subdivision decisions to be consistent with county and city general plans (§66473.5).  
Counties and cities can’t approve subdivisions if their general plans are incomplete (Save El Toro Ass’n 
v. Days [1977] 74 Cal.App.3d 64) or inadequate (Camp v. Board of Supervisors [1981] 123 Cal.App.3d 
334).  Local officials have an implied duty to keep their general plans up-to-date (De Vita v. County of 
Napa [1995] 9 Cal.4th 763). 

 
I must agree with Peter.  It is likely that if the issue is placed before the Courts, they will find that 

an outdated sphere of influence is like an outdated general plan.  An outdated sphere of influence does 
not provide an adequate legal basis for making the statutorily required vertical consistency finding to 
support an annexation.   

 
It is also likely that a sphere amendment to an outdated sphere of influence would be equally 

vulnerable, if only indirectly. CKH does not define the terms “sphere update” or “sphere amendment”, 
but makes a distinction between them.  Sphere updates are provided in Section 56425 while sphere 
amendments are authorized by Section 56428. Sphere updates are primarily the responsibility of the 
LAFCo to complete within the statutory deadlines, after preparation of municipal service reviews to 
support the sphere updates.  Sphere amendments are elective under 56428 and initiated by affected 
agencies and petitioners, with no specific requirement for preparation of municipal service reviews.  The 
statutory context therefore indicates that LAFCo determinations on sphere updates are intended as 
comprehensive reviews by LAFCo of the agency services and boundaries.  Sphere amendments are 
targeted proposals to change specific boundary areas. 

 
There is no explicit consistency requirement in CKH between sphere amendments and sphere 

updates.  However, given the clear requirement in the law for sphere updates and MSR’s,  it is an open 
question whether a LAFCo can legally adopt an amendment to an outdated sphere when the necessary 
comprehensive  update has not been done.  Certainly, as noted above, there is an explicit requirement of 
consistency finding with regard to annexation.  Therefore, even if a sphere amendment can proceed, it is 
doubtful that a lawful consistency finding could be made for any annexation within the area of the sphere 
amendment based on an outdated sphere of influence.  In summary, failure to update an agency sphere of 
influence is likely to found to invalidate any annexation based on the outdated sphere and may also 
invalidate sphere amendments to that outdated sphere. 

 
 



Opinion Re Sphere Updates:  CEQA and Statutory Timing Requirements 
 

16 
 

CONCLUSION 
 

This opinion has attempted to address two major legal issues LAFCo’s face in addressing the 
requirements of CKH to update spheres of all agencies every five years: What are the requirements of 
CEQA applicable to completing those sphere updates and what are the consequences of failing to update 
spheres in a timely manner?  The two issues are directly intertwined in that the greater the CEQA 
requirements for updating the spheres, the more expensive and time-consuming the updates become and 
the greater the resistance to doing them according to the statutory schedule. Unfortunately as this opinion 
has demonstrated, there is no legal shortcut to simplifying the environmental review of major agency 
spheres, other than where a city chooses to apply for a sphere update and assume the burdens of lead 
agency responsibilities.  In many cases, an EIR or SEIR is the only appropriate environmental document 
that will pass muster in the courts.  Nor are the Courts likely to give a pass to a LAFCo that fails to 
comply with the statutory requirements to update the spheres of its agencies.  Commission decisions 
based on an outdated sphere are likely to be invalidated if challenged just as planning decisions are that 
are based on an inadequate and outdated general plan.  

 
Given the difficult financial position of many local agencies, there is strong pressure upon 

LAFCo’s to reduce their budgets and workplans.  Commissioners question the expense and need for 
doing EIR’s for sphere updates and stretch out the schedule of doing updates far beyond the statutory 
mandates.  All of this is entirely understandable.  However it must also be understood that there is no 
“economic hardship” excuse that is recognized in our system of law.  Should a citizen insist that  a 
LAFCo comply with the law and actually take it to court, LAFCo could lose and face significant legal, 
financial and political consequences.   

 
I know this opinion does not provide welcome news.  However it is the responsibility of staff and 

particularly legal counsel to provide our Commissions with our best, objective advice, so that the 
Commission may make fully informed decisions.   

 
Sincerely, 

 
 
 

P. Scott Browne 
LAFCo Counsel 

        



REPORT TO CITY COUNCIL     City of Nevada City 
          317 Broad Street 
          Nevada City CA 95959 
APRIL 11, 2018        www.nevadacityca.gov 
___________________________________________________________________________ 
 
TITLE:  Medical Cannabis Business Permit Format And Indemnification Agreement 
 
RECOMMENDATION:  

• Review the draft Indemnification Agreement prepared by the City Attorney and provide 
direction. 

• Make a motion to pass Resolution 2018-XX, authorizing a permit format to be used for 
permitting any qualifying medical cannabis business. 

• Provide direction to staff to move forward in creating a permit fee/deposit. 
 
CONTACT:  Amy Wolfson, City Planner 
 
BACKGROUND / DISCUSSION: On April 22, 2017, the City Council adopted Ordinance 2017-
06.  On June 28, 2017 Ordinance 2017-10 was adopted with amendments to 2017-06 
establishing chapter 9.22 of title 9 of the Nevada City municipal code to allow for the permitting 
and regulation of medical cannabis businesses to operate within the City provided they receive 
a permit from the City and comply with all state and local legal requirements.  
 
MEDICAL CANNABIS PERMIT:  A City-issued permit is required in order for any medical 
cannabis business to operate within the City. The approving body (City Council or Planning 
Commission) may approve an application subject to conditions of approval, which must be 
completed to the satisfaction of the City, prior to issuance of a permit.  The permit is the last 
step in the application process required before a business may begin operation. 
 
Indemnification Agreement:  Among the conditions of approval is a requirement that the 
applicant file an indemnification agreement as follows: 
 

 “in a form approved by the City Attorney, agreeing to indemnify, defend (at 
applicant's sole cost and expense), and hold the City of Nevada City, and its 
officers, officials, employees, representatives and agents, harmless, from any and 
all claims, losses, damages, injuries, liabilities or losses which arise out of, or 
which are in any way related to, the City's issuance of the medical cannabis 
business permit, the City's decision to approve the operation of the medical 
cannabis business or activity, to the process used by the City in making its 
decision, or the alleged violation of any federal, state or local laws by the medical 
cannabis business or any of its officers, employees or agents.” 

 
At the March 28 Council meeting staff was directed to consider public comments 
regarding the removal of references to “dispensary” businesses and revise it to be more 
broadly applicable to all medical cannabis businesses, which has been completed. Staff 
was also directed to consider comments from the legal teams of medical cannabis 
businesses. Staff received an amendment request from Phil Ritti, who represents two 

http://www.nevadacityca.gov/


medical cannabis business applicants. Ritti’s legal staff recommens that wording be 
removed which could be considered self-incriminating, in terms of an applicant’s 
awareness of cannabis as it relates to Federal law. Due to the late submittal request, the 
City Attorney was unable to comment on this requested change prior to publishing the 
staff report.  A copy of the agreement as initially written by the City Attorney is attached 
with redlines indicating the requested amendments.  Staff is seeking direction on the 
requested amendments and for any language changes before distributing to qualifying 
applicants for signature.  
 
Permit Format: The drafted permit format includes a checkbox that is intended to reflect 
the category of business being permitted, along with the location and permit issuance 
date. The permit format is intended to be visible in a prominent place at the medical 
cannabis facility entrance. Businesses in the dispensary category are required to provide 
a “Community Relations Contact” pursuant to Section 9.22.140.B(1) of the City Municipal 
Code. At the March 29th meeting, staff received direction to make sure we can encompass 
all allowed activities under the Ordinance. Staff has revised the permit format to be more 
general, particularly in terms of the manufacturing category, and also encompass the 
cultivation activity with an assumption of a ban on mature plant cultivation. Finally, the 
permit format has been amended to add a line to fill in the State License Type(s) issued. It 
remains staff’s preference to avoid specifically tying the City’s broad permit categories 
with the specific types of licenses that will be issued by the State.  Attached is a 
Resolution for the adoption of the permit format in substantially the same format as 
provided in Exhibit A of the Resolution.   
 
Permit Issuance Fee: At the March 28, 2018 meeting City Staff, based on previous with 
the application fee structure not being adequate to cover City costs for application 
processing, made the recommendation the City Planner and City Manager develop a 
deposit based fee structure for the permit and bring it forward at tonight’s meeting. This 
will enable the City to pass through any unforeseen costs, to the potential permittee, if the 
original deposit is not adequate. The City Planner in conjunction with the City Manager 
have reviewed the process required for issuing the permit and have an estimation of staff 
time to review conditions of approval and conduct facility inspections. Final inspections are 
required by the Police, Fire, Planning Department, and the City Manager’s Office. 
Inspections are anticipated to vary in their scope depending on the type of business being 
permitted and the size of the facility. It has been approximated that a $1,500 deposit 
based fee captures the actual cost of inspections and administrative time but will allow the 
City to require additional deposit to cover any unanticipated costs. 
 
ENVIRONMENTAL CONSIDERATIONS:  Not applicable. 
 
FISCAL IMPACT:  The City’s proposed fee deposit structure will provide full cost recovery to 
the City for staff time and consultant services via the applicant-paid fees. 
 
ATTACHMENTS:   
 Drafted Indemnification Agreement Language 
 Resolution 2018-XX Medical Cannabis Business Permit Format 
 Resolution 2018-XX Medical Cannabis Business Permit Fees 

 



 

INDEMNIFICATION AND HOLD HARMLESS AGREEMENT 

OF “_____________________” 
    <insert business name> 

 Insofaras “___________________ <insert business name>” has been approved to 

operate a medical cannabis business at _________________ <insert business address> in 

Nevada City and is required by subsection E(1) of Nevada City Municipal Code 

Section 9.22.080 to execute an indemnity agreement before it may commence 

operations: 

 IT IS THEREFORE AGREED that permittee/indemnitor 

“__________________” <insert business name> shall indemnify, defend (at 

permittee/indemnitor’s sole cost and expense), and hold the City of Nevada City, 

and its officers, officials, employees, representatives, and agents, harmless from 

and against any and all claims, demands, liabilities, losses, damages, actions, 

judgments, penalties, sanctions, losses, costs, court costs, and legal or other 

expenses of every kind and description (including attorneys’ fees of City in its 

defense) which the City of Nevada City may sustain, incur, or become liable for as 

a direct or indirect consequence arising out of, or which are in any way related to, 

the City’s issuance to it of a medical cannabis business permit, the City’s decision 

to approve the operation of the medical cannabis business or activity, to the 

process used by the City in making its decision, or any alleged violation of federal, 

state or local laws by the medical cannabis business or of its officers, employees 

or agents. 

It is understood that this indemnity agreement also requires the 

indemnitee to defend any actions or proceedings brought against the City if City 

requests such a defense, provided however that nothing in this indemnity 

agreement obligates the City to so tender its defense and the City has the right to 

elect to conduct its own defense (for any reason) with the costs and attorney’s 

fees thereof covered by this indemnity agreement. 

 Permittee is aware that tThe cultivation, possession, distribution and sale of 

any type of cannabis, including medical cannabis, is prohibited under Federal Law. 

and that Aany medical cannabis business permit issued by the City of Nevada City 

does not provide any immunities or defenses to State or Federal prosecution or 



enforcement actions against retailer permittees, their cultivators, processors, 

manufacturers, suppliers or other parties involved in any medical cannabis activity 

and acknowledges that the permit from the City of Nevada City should not be 

relied upon as providing any immunities or defenses from such prosecution or 

enforcement actions. 

Executed on __________________, 2018, at Nevada City, California 

 PERMITTEE/INDEMNITOR 

 “____________________” 
<insert business name>

By:______________________ 

Its:______________________ 

Address for notices to Indemnitor 

   “____________________” 
<insert business name>

 _____________________ 

 _____________________ 
<insert business address>

Received on behalf of Nevada City by: 

___________________ 

Hal DeGraw, City Attorney



RESOLUTION NO. 2018-XX 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF NEVADA CITY, 
STATE OF CALIFORNIA, TO APPROVE A PERMIT FORMAT FOR A 

MEDICAL CANNABIS BUSINESS PERMIT 
 

The City Council of the City of Nevada City finds and determines that: 
 

WHEREAS, The City Council adopted Ordinance No. 2017-06 with amendment Ordinance No. 
2017-10, which established Chapter 9.22 and imposes regulations for medical cannabis businesses 
to operate within the City of Nevada City, provided they received a permit from the City and comply 
with all other state and local legal requirements; and 

WHEREAS, Section 9.22.030 of Chapter 9.22 requires the City Council to issue a permit  before 
commencement of operation of a  medical cannabis business. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the City Council of the City of Nevada City as following: 

  Section 1. The City Council hereby approves the Medical Cannabis Business Permit 
format in substantially the same format as Exhibit 1 attached hereto and incorporated herein by this 
reference.  The City Manager or his or her designee is hereby authorized to make changes to the 
document approved herein provided the changes are consistent with Chapter 9.22 of the Nevada City 
Municipal Code. 

PASSED AND ADOPTED at the regular meeting of the City Council of the City of Nevada City on 
the 11th day of April, 2018, by the following vote:  
 

AYES:  

NOES:  

ABSENT:  

ABSTAIN:       ________________________________ 
       Duane Strawser, Mayor 
 
 
ATTEST: 
 
_______________________________ 
Niel Locke, City Clerk 

 
 



PERMIT TO OPERATE  
A MEDICAL CANNABIS BUSINESS  

IN THE FOLLOWING CATEGORY(IES) 
(This permit shall be displayed on the premises  in a  

prominent location, near the main entrance) 

This permit is subject to compliance with Section 9.22 of the Nevada City Municipal Code and to the 
operating requirements therein (see subsections 9.22.90, 9.22.100,  9.22.110, & 9.22.120, as well as 
your approved application, including conditions of approval. This permit is valid for twelve (12) 
months from the date of issuance, indicated below. Operator is required to submit a request for per-
mit renewal within sixty (60) days of the expiration in order to avoid a lapse in operation. 

STATE LICENSE TYPE(S):______________________________________ 
 

DATE OF ISSUANCE:_________________ 

______________________________ 

     Police Chief  
     (or designee) 

______________________________ 

   Catrina Olson, City Manager 
     (or designee) 

For own product only 
For any licensed facility 

Dispensary 

Manufacturing (check all that apply) 

Volatile Extraction 
Non-volatile Extraction 
Non-extraction, Other ___________________ 

Distribution (check one) 

Cultivation (check all that apply) 

Testing Laboratory 

COMMUITY RELATIONS CONTACT (pursuant to Section 9.22.140.B(1)): 
 

________________, ______________, _______________ 
<Insert Name.> <Insert phone number.> <Insert email address.> 

Nursery 
Drying, Curing, Trimming 

Section 9.22.030 (B)  Medical Cannabis Dispensary Employee Qualifications and Training;  
Employer Obligations to Monitor Employee Compliance. 
 

(1) The owner or operator of a medical cannabis business shall ensure that all employees comply 
with all the requirements of this Chapter 9.22.  

(2) Medical cannabis business owners or operators shall ensure that employees are educated as to 
all the requirements of this Chapter 9.22 and applicable state law requirements for medical 
cannabis businesses and that they adhere to all applicable requirements.  

(3) Failure of the owner or operator to take reasonable steps to comply with these requirements 
shall be grounds for permit revocation.  

LOCATION:______________________________________ 
<Insert site address and suite number, if applicable> 



RESOLUTION NO. 2018-XX 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF NEVADA CITY 
ESTABLISHING A FEE DEPOSIT FOR ISSUANCE OF PERMITS TO 

QUALIFYING MEDICAL CANNABIS BUSINESSES 

WHEREAS, the City Council adopted Ordinance No. 2017-06 which 
established Chapter 9.22, together with the amendment Ordinance No. 2017-10 
of the Municipal Code which established regulations for the permitting and 
operation of medical cannabis businesses within Nevada, provided that business 
operators received a permit from the City and comply with all other state and local 
legal requirements; and 
 

WHEREAS, Section 9.22.030 of Chapter 9.22 requires that operators 
receive a permit from the city before commencement of medical cannabis 
business operations or activity; and 

 
WHEREAS, Conditions of approval may include final inspection by the Fire, 

Police, and Planning Departments, and the City Manager’s Office; and 
 
WHEREAS, Section 9.22.070 of Chapter 9.22 requires that the City 

Manager issue a medical cannabis business permit, requiring sign off by both the 
City Manager and the Chief of Police; and 

 
WHEREAS, the City of Nevada City desires to seek full cost recovery for 

staff and consultant related costs and expenses via applicant-paid fees. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED  

The City Council establishes Medical Cannabis Business Permit Fee 
Deposit, with a minimum deposit of $1,500 and recovery of any additional cost 
associated with facility inspection and administrative services.  

PASSED AND ADOPTED at the regular meeting of the City Council of the City of 
Nevada City on the 11th day of April, 2018, by the following vote:  

 
AYES:   
 
NOES:  
 
ABSENT:  
 
ABSTAIN:  

_____________________________ 
Duane Strawser, Mayor  

 
 
 
ATTEST:  _____________________________  

Niel Locke, City Clerk 



REPORT TO CITY COUNCIL     City of Nevada City 
          317 Broad Street 
          Nevada City CA 95959 
APRIL 11, 2018        www.nevadacityca.gov 
___________________________________________________________________________ 
 
TITLE:  An Ordinance Of The City Of Nevada City Amending Chapter 9.22 Of The Nevada 
City Municipal Code Relating To Restrictions On Medical Commercial Cannabis 
Businesses And Limiting Activity That May Occur Under The City’s Medical Cannabis 
Cultivation  Permit 

RECOMMENDATION: Hold a first reading for an Ordinance amending Chapter 9.22.110 with 
Subsection H, allowing activities related to nursery growing of immature plants and allowing 
processing of cannabis flower within city limits and adding Chapter 9.22.115 to prohibit 
commercial medical cannabis cultivation activities related to growing mature plants. 
 
CONTACT:  Amy Wolfson, City Planner 
 
BACKGROUND / DISCUSSION: On June 28, 2017, the City Council adopted Ordinance 
2017-10, amending chapter 9.22 of title 9 of the Nevada City municipal code to allow for the 
establishment, permitting, and regulation of medical cannabis cultivation, manufacturing, 
distributing, and testing laboratory businesses to operate within the city, provided they receive 
a permit from the City and comply with all state and local legal requirements. The ordinance 
allows the planning commission to issue permits to qualified applicants at approved locations 
for any of the above categories of medical cannabis business.  
 
A ban of all indoor commercial cannabis cultivation facilities was considered by Council at their 
February 28th meeting. Ultimately, a complete ban on “cultivation” activity was rejected by 
Council  because such a ban would have had the effect of precluding indoor Processor (State 
CDFA license type P) and Nursery (State CDFA license type 4) operations that did not involve 
cultivation of cannabis plants to maturity, which Council has expressed a desire to allow.  

At their meeting on March 28, 2018, the City Council directed staff to draft language to amend 
Ordinance 2017-10 in a manner that would 
 

• Prohibit medical cannabis cultivation of mature plants,  

• Allow medical cannabis processing and nursery businesses within the City’s “cultivation” 
permit category to operate within city limits.  

• Limit the number of Nursery operations from occurring to no more than one business 
per parcel. 

 
PROPOSED  ORDINANCE: The City's cannabis regulations were enacted under the authority 
of the Medical Cannabis Regulation and Safety Act, typically referenced as the MCRSA". On 

http://www.nevadacityca.gov/


June 27, 2017, Governor Brown signed into law Senate Bill 94, the Medicinal and Adult Use of 
Cannabis Regulation and Safety Act (“MAUCRSA”), repealing MCRSA and creating a unified 
regulatory structure for adult use and medical cannabis, including regulation of non-storefront 
cannabis retailers 
The first two sections of the ordinance update the statutory authority reference in the municipal 
code to the Medicinal and Adult Use of Cannabis Regulation and Safety Act (“MAUCRSA”). 
 
Pursuant to Council direction the draft Ordinance before you adds Subsection H to Chapter 
9.22.110 of the Nevada City Municipal which allows for processor (drying, curing, and trimming 
of cannabis flower)  and nursery activity under the Cultivation permit category. Nursery 
operations are allowed at a maximum concentration of one per parcel.  The Ordinance also 
adds section 9.22.115 which prohibits growing activity related to mature plants. 
 
The City does not currently have any applications seeking a medical cannabis cultivation 
facility and there is no indication that the draft ordinance amendment will impact any existing 
application or any potential application that has requested a zoning verification letter.   
 
ENVIRONMENTAL CONSIDERATIONS:  This ordinance amendment is considered exempt 
from review under the California Environmental Quality Act pursuant to Title 14, Chapter 3, 
California Code of Regulations, CEQA Guidelines Section 15061 (b)(3) – Activity is not subject 
to CEQA because it can be seen with certainty that there is no possibility that enacting 
regulations to limit commercial medical cannabis cultivation will not have a significant effect on 
the environment.  
 
FISCAL IMPACT:  This Ordinance amendment will not impact the fee structure currently in 
place for all medical cannabis business applications.  
 
ATTACHMENTS:   

 
 Draft Ordinance No. 2018-XX, amending the City Municipal Code to prohibit medical 

cannabis cultivation businesses within the City 



 
 
 

ORDINANCE NO. 2018-XX 
 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF NEVADA CITY 
 AMENDING CHAPTER 9.22 OF THE NEVADA CITY MUNICIPAL CODE 

RELATING TO RESTRICTIONS ON MEDICAL COMMERCIAL CANNABIS 
BUSINESSES AND LIMITING ACTIVITY THAT MAY OCCUR UNDER THE 

CITY’S MEDICAL CANNABIS CULTIVATION  PERMIT 
 

 WHEREAS, the City Council passed and adopted Ordinance No. 2017-05 
on March 22, 2017, enacting Chapter 17.140 of the Nevada City Municipal Code 
regulating personal cannabis cultivation regulations; and 
 

WHEREAS, said regulations prohibited outdoor personal cultivation of 
cannabis and imposed limitations on personal indoor cannabis cultivation 
including limitations on size not to exceed 25 square feet or six living plants 
without approval of the Chief of Police based upon a documented showing of 
medical necessity; and 

 
WHEREAS, the City Council passed and adopted Ordinance No. 2017-10 

on June 28, 2017, amending Chapter 9.22 of the Nevada City Municipal Code 
entitled Medical Cannabis Dispensaries and other Cannabis Businesses and 
Activity that allowed for the establishment, permitting and regulating of other 
medical cannabis businesses, including commercial medical cannabis cultivation 
facilities, and 

 
WHEREAS, said regulations prohibited outdoor cultivation of cannabis 

and required that all allowed cannabis cultivation must occur indoors, but did not 
impose any size limitations on commercial medical cannabis cultivation facilities 
when adding section 9.22.110 entitled Additional Requirements for Cultivation 
Facilities (potentially creating confusion by omitting the “Medical” modifier); and  

 
WHEREAS, a ban of indoor commercial cannabis cultivation facilities was 

considered but initially decided against in favor of just limiting cultivation activity 
because such a ban on “cultivation” would have had the effect of precluding 
indoor Processor (State CDFA license type P, “Processor”) and Nursery (State 
CDFA license Type 4, “Nursery”) operations that did not involve cultivation of 
cannabis plants to maturity that the City wanted to allow; and 

 
WHEREAS, upon reconsideration, it was determined desirable to ban 

commercial cannabis cultivation rather than just limiting the size of such grow 
facilities, as long as Processor and Nursery operations were excluded from such 
a ban and allowed to be permitted, so long as the regulations precluded large 
grows of mature plants in the same location; and  



 
WHEREAS, the State regulations defer to imposition by cities of regulation 

of cannabis businesses that are more restrictive than State licensing, including 
stricter limits on cultivation activities and concentration of cannabis cultivation; 

 
NOW THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the City Council of the City of Nevada 
City as follows: 
 
SECTION I: 
 
Section 9.22.010, subsection B, Legal Authority, is amended to read as follows: 
 
B. Legal Authority. Pursuant to Sections 5 and 7 of Article XI of the California 
Constitution, and the provisions of the Medicinal and Adult Use of Cannabis 
Regulation and Safety Act (“MAUCRSA”), the city is authorized to adopt 
ordinances that establish standards, requirements and regulations for local 
licenses and permits for cannabis and cannabis-related activity. Any standards, 
requirements, and regulations regarding health and safety, security, and worker 
protections established by the state, or any of its departments or divisions, shall 
be the minimum standards applicable in the city to cannabis, and/or cannabis-
related activity.  
 
SECTION II: 
 
All references to the Medical Cannabis Regulation and Safety Act ("MCRSA") in 
Chapter 9.22 shall be replaced with a reference to the Medicinal and Adult Use of 
Cannabis Regulation and Safety Act (“MAUCRSA”), including but not limited to 
the references in Section 9.22.020, Definitions, subsections cc and dd.   
 
SECTION III: 
 
Subsection B of Section 9.22.040, Medical Cannabis Businesses, shall be 
amended to read as follows:  
 
The Planning Commission may issue permits to other qualified medical cannabis 
business owners or operators to operate medical cannabis commercial 
cultivation (nursery or processor only), manufacturing, manufacturing, 
distribution, transporting, or testing laboratory businesses within the City of 
Nevada City through the application and permit approval process contained in 
this Chapter 9.22 and resolutions adopted pursuant to this Chapter.  All medical 
cannabis businesses must obtain a medical cannabis business permit from the 
City before commencing operations, must be in compliance with all applicable 
state and federal laws pertaining to its operation, including obtaining all 
necessary licenses from the state, and shall comply with all applicable 
operational and zoning requirements set forth in the Nevada City Municipal 
Code.  Nothing in this Chapter creates a mandate that the Planning Commission 



or the City Council must issue one or more medical cannabis business permit to 
a medical cannabis cultivator, manufacturer, distributor, transporter, or testing 
laboratory if the Planning Commission or the City Council determines that there 
are no qualified applicants, the proposed locations for medical cannabis 
businesses are incompatible with neighboring land uses, or if the Planning 
Commission or the City Council determines that the issuance of a medical 
cannabis business permit would have a negative effect on the health, safety, or 
welfare of the citizens or businesses of Nevada City, or for any other reason 
allowed by law.”   
 
 
SECTION VI:  
 
To follow the format of preceding and following sections and to make clear that 
all City regulations of commercial cannabis businesses relate to medical, not 
recreational cannabis, the title of Section 9.22.110 of Chapter 9.22 of the Nevada 
City Municipal Code is amended to read as follows: 
 
“9.22.110. Additional Requirements for Medical Cannabis Cultivation 
Facilities.” 
 
SECTION V: 
 
Subsection G of Section 9.22.110 Additional Requirements for Cultivation 
Facilities is amended to read as follows: 
 
G. All applicants for a medical cannabis commercial cultivation permit shall 
submit the following in addition to the information otherwise required by this 
Chapter for a medical cannabis business:  
(Subparts 1 through 4 remain included in subsection G and unchanged)  
 
SECTION VI: 
 
Section 9.22.110 Additional Requirements for Cultivation Facilities is amended to 
add subsection H to read as follows: 
 
        “H. Commercial Cultivation operations defined as State-licensed Indoor 
facilities for medical cannabis cultivation consisting only of processing (drying, 
curing, and trimming of cannabis flower (corresponding with State CDFA 
Cultivation License Type for “Processor”) or nursery operations (corresponding 
with State CDFA Cultivation License Type for “Nursery”) are not prohibited by 
section 9.22.115 of this code, provided that nursery operations shall be limited to 
one operation per any parcel no greater than 10,000 square feet in size, 
regardless of whether the nursery operation is conducted by single or multiple 
permittees. 
 



 
SECTION VII: 
 
There is hereby added to Chapter 9.22 of the Nevada City Municipal Code a new 
Section 9.22.115 to read as follows: 
 
“9.22.115. Certain Medical Cannabis Cultivation Facilities Prohibited.“  

A. Except for personal cannabis cultivation allowed pursuant to Chapter 
17.410 and  medical cannabis commercial cultivation consisting of only 
processing and nursery operations pursuant to California state licenses not 
involving cultivation of cannabis plants to maturity and in compliance with Section 
9.22.110, cultivation of cannabis is not permitted in the City of Nevada City and it 
shall be unlawful for any person or collective or cooperative organization to 
engage in, conduct, or carry on, or to permit to be engaged in, conducted or 
carried on cultivation of cannabis for any purpose in or upon any premises in the 
City of Nevada City. 

B. Wherever commercial cannabis cultivation businesses appear to be 
allowed or conditionally allowed in this Nevada City Municipal Code, they will be 
limited to Commercial Cultivation as defined in subsection 9.22.0200 E.  
 
SECTION VIII: 
 
In all other respects Chapter 9.22 shall remain unchanged and in full force and 
effect, though limited in application to cultivation consisting only of State-licensed 
processing and/or nursery operations so long as section 9.22.115 remains in 
effect. 
 
SECTION IX:  
 
This Ordinance shall become effective 30 days after its final adoption and a copy 
of this ordinance shall be published in The Union, a newspaper of general 
circulation, within fifteen (15) days of the date of its passage. 
 
PASSED AND ADOPTED this ___ day of __________, 2018 by the following 
vote: 
 
AYES:   
 
NOES:   
 
ABSENT:  
 
ABSTAIN:  
                ________________________________ 
      Duane Strawser, Mayor 
ATTEST: 



 
________________________________ 
Niel Locke, City Clerk 



REPORT TO CITY COUNCIL     City of Nevada City 
          317 Broad Street 
          Nevada City CA 95959 
APRIL 11, 2018        www.nevadacityca.gov 
___________________________________________________________________________ 
 
TITLE:  Review Of Community And Economic Support Program Applications 
 
RECOMMENDATION:  Review proposals and provide direction related to the funding requests 
and the amount of funding to incorporate into the Fiscal Year 2018/19 budget. 
 
CONTACT:  Catrina Olson, City Manager 

BACKGROUND / DISCUSSION:   

In September 2015, the City Council approved a Community and Economic Support Program 
to integrate periodic community requests for funding each January into the City’s annual 
budget development process. This approach was intended to facilitate the City Council’s ability 
to identify and prioritize budget appropriations for these requests while considering available 
resources. The Program’s purpose is to promote Nevada City’s commerce and increase 
business activity to help achieve the following goals: 

• Promotion and marketing of Nevada City 
• Support of community events 
• Enhance education 
• Improve aesthetics of a commercial area 
• Improve the perception and/or practice of the City as business friendly 

The City placed a Request for Proposals on its website soliciting proposals through March 31, 
2018.  The policy identifies January 1 as the application deadline, however the City overlooked 
getting the requests out to meet that time frame so accepted applications through March 31, 
2018.  The application (attached) is for community programs promoting Nevada City 
commerce and business activity, and emphasize that the City’s support of an outside 
organization should be considered a temporary or one-time commitment with the expectation 
that the event/project, if applicable, have a plan to become self-sustaining.  

Applicants were notified that the City anticipated budgeting approximately $5,000 for this 
program in Fiscal Year 2018/19. The application recommended proposals target support 
requests between $250 and $1,000, and noted that submission of an application was not a 
guarantee of funding. Three applications totaling $7,000 were submitted to the City for 
Community and Economic Support Program funding. 

 

 

http://www.nevadacityca.gov/


 

 

PROJECT NAME DESCRIPTION SUBMITTED BY AMOUNT 
REQUESTED 

 

Nevada City Tree Tour 

Nevada City Heritage Tree 
Tour Map update to add 

numbers to the digital map for 
easier walking and print 

updated brochures of the 
map. 

Nevada City 
Chamber of 
Commerce 

 

$1,000 

 

Nevada City Bicycle 
Classic 

Increased promotion and 
marketing of the 58th Annual 
Nevada City Bicycle Race. 

 

Nevada City 
Chamber of 
Commerce 

$5,000 

 

Sargent/19th 
Amendment 

Promotion of the Sargent/19th 
Amendment Statue Project 
with logo/brochure design 

and printing of the brochure. 

The Famous 
Marching Presidents 
of Nevada City, CA 

 

$1,000 

Staff has reviewed the applications and confirmed they meet program goals and eligibility 
guidelines. The attached applications include additional narrative for the proposals. 

Staff is recommending the City Council review the proposals and provide guidance related to 
the funding requests and the amount of funding to incorporate into the Fiscal Year 2018/19 
budget. 

ENVIRONMENTAL CONSIDERATIONS: Not applicable. 

FINANCIAL CONSIDERATIONS: City staff will work with the City Council to incorporate desired 
funding into the Fiscal Year 2018/19 budget.  
 
ATTACHMENTS:   
 FY 2018/19 Community and Economic Support Program Application 
 Community and Economic Support Program Policy 
 Funding Applications 



City of Nevada City 

FY 2018/19 COMMUNITY ECONOMIC SUPPORT PROGRAM APPLICATION 

Submit application to:  Nevada City Hall 
Attn. City Manager 
317 Broad Street 
Nevada City, CA 95959 

PROCESS AND INSTRUCTIONS 
The City of Nevada City established a Community Economic Support Program to provide 
funding for special events, marketing activities, or other economic development-related 
activities providing a public benefit to the City. 

The primary purpose of the Program is to provide one-time sponsorships and grants that 
promote the City of Nevada City’s commerce and increase business activity to help achieve the 
following goals: 

• Promotion and marketing of Nevada City
• Support of community events
• Enhance education
• Improve aesthetics of a commercial area
• Improve the perception and/or practice of the City as business friendly

In almost all cases, the City’s support of an outside organization should be considered a 
temporary or one-time commitment. Does your organization or event have a plan to become 
financially self-sustaining? 

Applications will be accepted during the month of March 2018. Awards are anticipated to be 
made by July 1, 2018 upon annual budget approval for the July 1, 2018 to June 30, 2019 fiscal 
year. Based on prior year budget resources, it is anticipated the City will budget a total of 
$5,000 in Fiscal Year 2018/2019 for this program. Therefore, it is recommended that 
proposals target support of between $250 and $1,000.  

Please note that submission of an application is not a guarantee of funding. Incomplete 
applications may be disqualified from consideration. The City reserves the right to request 
additional information within a prescribed time frame as part of its review process.  

Please refer all questions regarding this application to Catrina Olson, City Manager, at (530) 
265-2496, ext. 134 or Catrina.Olson@nevadacityca.gov. 

mailto:Catrina.Olson@nevadacityca.gov


Part One – General Information 

Organization Name: Project Name: 

Address: 

Contact Person 
(Name/Title): 

Contact Email: 

Contact Telephone: 

Website: 

Amount of Funding Requested:

Part Two – Project Specifics 

DIRECTIONS: Please prepare and attach a narrative of your proposed use of Community 
Economic Support Program funds that addresses each of the topics below: 

A. PROJECT DESCRIPTION:  Provide a brief and clear description of your proposed use of 
the City’s Economic Development Fund, including a description of the specific public 
benefit to Nevada City including but not limited to: dates, time period, etc. (no more 
than 2 pages).  Identify if your request is for a grant or sponsorship.  

B. PROGRAM PURPOSE:  Please describe how your proposed use of funds meets one or 
more of the following program goals: 

• Promotion and marketing of Nevada City
• Support of community events
• Enhance education
• Improve aesthetics of a commercial area
• Improve the perception and/or practice of the City as business friendly

C. SCHEDULE:  If applicable, provide a schedule indicating when funds will be needed. 

CERTIFICATION:  I certify the proposed use of City funds will only be used for what has been 
outlined in this application.  

Signature Date 

Please print a copy for your records before you 
submit.  Attach Narrative to submit email. 



City of Nevada City  

Community and Economic Support Program (CESP) 

 

The City of Nevada City’s Community and Economic Support Program (CESP) provides funding for special 

events, marketing activities or other economic development-related activities providing a public benefit 

to the City. The primary purpose of the Program is to provide sponsorships and grants that promote the 

City of Nevada City’s commerce and increase business activity to help achieve the following goals: 

 Promotion and marketing of Nevada City 

 Support of community events 

 Enhance education  

 Improve aesthetics of a commercial area 

 Improve the perception and/or practice of the City as business friendly 

Applications will be accepted during the month of January. Awards will be made upon annual budget 

approval. The CESP will receive an annual allocation, established by the City Council. Any funds not used 

during the fiscal year will be returned to the General Fund.  The City Council reserves the right to 

consider other non-timely applications should a need arise. 

APPLICANT ELIGIBILITY 

A. Eligible Applicants include the following: 

a. Business associations 

b. Individual businesses 

c. Non-profit organizations 

d. Nevada City Chamber of Commerce 

e. Economic-development related organizations or efforts that meet program goals 

B. Ineligible Applicants: 

a. Individual residents 

b. Neighborhood associations 

PROJECT ELIGIBILITY 

A. Eligible Projects include, but are not limited to, the following: 

a. Event sponsorships 

b. Grants for marketing and promotion 

c. Studies to further economic development 

d. Economic development-related activities that promote program goals 

B. Ineligible Projects include, but are not limited to, the following: 

a. General operation costs, including maintenance and payroll 

b. Cost of internal events, such as luncheons 

c. City membership dues 

d. Unpermitted events 

APPLICATION PROCEDURES 

A. By each January 1, the City shall provide notice on its website and announce at a public meeting 

a call for CESP proposals. 

B. Applicant shall complete and submit the City’s application by January 31. 

C. City staff shall review and evaluate each application based on eligibility requirements and 

funding criteria. 



D. City staff or City Council may request follow-up information from the applicant to complete 

evaluation of the application. Applicant shall provide the requested information by the date 

designated. 

E. City Council shall prioritize funding requests based on funding availability and determine 

amount and number of awards as part of its annual budget adoption process.  

F. Upon approval by the City Council, the Applicant shall submit to the City a Request for Funds. 

G. Upon receipt of the Request for Funds, staff shall distribute the funds to the Applicant within 

ten (10) business days. 

 

 

























Correspondence forwarded from the 
Planning Commission 

At the April 5, 2018 Special Planning Commission, the Commission was presented with several 
correspondence that expressed concern for medical cannabis businesses within the city overall. 
Because  most of the concerns were not expressed for individual businesses, but rather for the 
nature of medical cannabis business, the Commission felt the City Council is the more 
appropriate body for consideration. Attached are those correspondence submitted:

• Petition of business owners and employees: Disapproval 
of Medical Cannabis Businesses in Seven Hills Business 
District 

• Correspondence regarding the Medical Cannabis 
Business ordinance from:
  -Lisa Mueller & Jeremiah Theos
  -Bill Newton
  -Peter Morin
  -S. Reynolds email 































































































From: peter morin [mailto:petemor@gmail.com]  
Sent: Thursday, February 8, 2018 2:48 PM 
To: Amy Wolfson <Amy.Wolfson@nevadacityca.gov>; duanestrawser@gmail.com 
Subject: Cannabis letter from Peter Morin regarding the new ordinance 

 

Hello Amy and Duane, 

I regret that I will not be able to attend the city council or planning 
commission meetings this month. I made prior commitments to travel out of 

the country leaving the evening of the February 13th and returning late on 
the 28th. However I do hope that I can have the pertinent part of my email 

read, and submitted at the meetings. Your advice in this process will be 

greatly appreciated! 

My name is Peter Morin and I own the commercial property located at 101 
through 109 Argall Way, and the adjoining property at 570, and 572 Searls 

Ave, Nevada City CA. For the record, I do not oppose a limited number of 
cannabis related businesses operating in my area, two or three at most, and 

would expect the City Council and the Planning Commission to use good 

judgement in the application of the new ordinance. So I was shocked when I 
heard that not only were there three cannabis businesses already licensed to 

operate but as many as seven more applications being processed with the 
expectations of having their businesses permitted and licenses approved and 

opened in the coming year.  

It states in the ordinance and I quote " Nothing in this chapter creates a 

mandate that the Planning Commission or the City Council must issue one or 
more medical cannabis business permits to a medical cannabis cultivator, 

manufacturer, distributor, transporter, or testing laboratory if the Planning 
Commission or the City Council determines that there are no qualified 

applicants, the proposed locations for the medical cannabis businesses are 
incompatible with neighborhood land uses, or if the Planning Commission or 

the City Council determines that the issuance of a medical cannabis business 
permit would have a negative affect on the health, safety, or welfare of the 

citizens or businesses of Nevada city, or for any other reason allowed by the 

law." Therefore, it would seem only prudent, and responsible to consider the 
citizens, and existing businesses of the 7 Hills Business District, and to ere 

on the side of caution and move slowly in this process. To go from having 
zero cannabis businesses to having ten or more in Nevada City would be 

irresponsible and bring into question the judgement of the planning 

commission and the city council.  

Based on my observation of the investment that some of these businesses 
are making, it would appear that there are expectations for considerable 

profit. I just hope that the planning commission and city council are not 



putting profit before people and the well being of the community of Nevada 

City.  

Thank you, Peter Morin  
 



Subject: The definition online is CBD does not get you high, it is only medicine 
Dear Planning 
I would appreciate your posting this email as a public comment for Planning Commission meeting 
Thursday this week. I am sorry I will unable to attend. 
 
> My basic question is — Is it the intention of the Nevada City cannabis  
> ordinances to clearly state that the cannabis products manufactured  
> and distributed by Nevada City cannabis businesses be solely products  
> for/to medical dispensaries? (That is my understanding). If so, what  
> is the procedure set in place that Nevada City will use to assure that  
> these businesses comply. 
> 
> My other questions pertains specifically to the prospective cannabis  
> business that deals with edible bars labeled "Get lit to be fit". 
 
> Isn’t the CBD label all about NOT getting high and just about  
> “medicine”? Please explain this slogan shown on the bar online in your  
> business application. 
> Does California state law say that each bar has to be labeled that it  
> contains cannabis or just the outside packaging of these bars? 
> (the one pictured has no mention that it contains cannabis) My concern  
> of course is that this bright, attractively wrapped bar, as pictured,  
> does not say anything about containing cannabis, yet will be very  
> attractive to kids or other unsuspecting persons. 
 
Thank you for including the petitions and comments from the community in the packet for the 
upcoming Planning Commission meeting. Please continue to include them in each Planning Commission 
packet when cannabis issues arise.  Those citizens of Nevada City who are not intentionally involved in 
cannabis businesses choose to voice our opinions in written form; those who are intentionally involved 
in cannabis businesses choose to voice their opinions in verbal form in person. Both forms of 
communication are valid and deserve to be honored, and used, when decisions are made. To this end, I 
am requesting that the Planning Commission start mentioning this fact at every meeting. 
 
Thank you, 
Susan Reynolds 
 


	1-REGULAR CITY COUNCIL MEETING - 04.11.2018
	WEDNESDAY, April 11, 2018
	PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE

	3A-1 SR Accounts Payable Activity Report - March 2018
	3A-2 Accounts Payable Activity Report - March 2018
	3B-1 SR 04-11-18 Nevada City Farmers Market Street Closure Request
	3B-2 Farmers Market Street Closure Application
	3C-1 2017-3 Q3 Sales Tax Update
	3D-1  SR - Award Contract for Adams and Nile Street CMAQ
	3D-2  - Contract for Adams and Nile Street CMAQ.docx
	Contract Docs & Specs for STREET IMPROVEMENTS - ADAMS NILE
	Plans for STREET IMPROVEMENTS - ADAMS NILE
	Admas Nile-SHEET 1
	Admas Nile-SHEET 2
	Admas Nile-SHEET 3
	Admas Nile-SHEET 4


	3D-3 2018-XX Reso award contract for Adams and Nile Street Improvements
	3E-1 SR - Award Contract for Sewer Replacement at Sacramento Street
	3E-2 CONTRACT FOR SEWERLINE REPLACEMENT AT SACRAMENTO
	3E-3 2018-XX Reso award contract  for Sewer Replacement at Sacramento Street
	3F-1 SR - Award Contract for Water Replacement at Jordan Street
	3F-2  CONTRACT FOR WATERLINE REPLACEMENT AT JORDAN STREET
	3F-3 2018-XX Reso award contract for Water Replacement at Jordan Street
	3G-1 SR 02-14-18 CalPERS Industrial Disability Retirement Franssen
	3G-2 2018-XX - Franssen Industrial Retirement
	3G-3 2018-XX - Franssen Industrial Retirement - Markup
	3H-1 SR 02-14-18 CalPERS Industrial Disability Retirement Clendenen
	3H-2 2018-XX - Clendenen Industrial Retirement
	3H-3 2018-XX - Clendenen Industrial Retirement - markup
	3I-1 SR - Award Contract for Water Repairs at 317 Broad Street
	3I-2 CONTRACT FOR WATERLINE REPAIRS AT 317 BROAD STREET
	3I-3 2018-XX Reso award contract  for Water Repairs at 317 Broad Street in Nevada City
	3J-1 SR - Award Contract Change Order for  Environmental Consulting Services Nevada St Bridge
	3J-2 Proposal for Additional Envir Services
	3J-3  RESO 2018-XX - Change Order Environmental Consulting Services for Nevada Street Bridge
	4A-1 Minutes - March 28, 2018-DRAFT
	PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE
	Consulting City Attorney, Hal DeGraw reported out of Closed Session:
	4.  APPROVAL OF ACTION MINUTES:

	5A-1 SR 04-11-18 Strategic Objectives Status Update
	5A-2 Update 4-11-18 Nevada City GRID 2-18
	WHEN
	WHO
	WHAT


	WHEN
	WHO
	WHAT


	WHEN
	WHO
	WHAT


	WHEN
	WHO
	WHAT



	7A-1 SR - Progress Report for Design of Nevada Street Bridge Replacement
	7A-2 Nevada Street Bridge Exhibits
	2244_Worskshop 2 Exhibit
	Attachment E - 2244 Rendering
	Attachment B - Roadway Plan

	7B-1 SR - NCTC Phase 3 Final Map
	7B-2 NCTC-Final Map-P3-April-4-18
	7B-3  NCTC-Recorded Devp Agreement
	7B-4 2018-XX Reso NCTC Phase 3 Final Map
	7C-1 SR LAFCo SOI Update-4-11-2018
	7C-2 ATT  1 LAFCo Update Map showing progression of LAFCo-City Compromise
	7C-3 ATT 2 LAFCo 3-22 Staff Report
	5.1 Nevada City Sphere Update Request for Direction
	Summary
	Progress since the September Commission Meeting
	Consensus Boundary Alternative
	Environmental Analysis for Sphere Updates
	Process
	Discussion of Recommended Commission Direction to Staff

	5.1 NC Sphere Consensus Map
	5.1 LAFCo Counsel 2012 Opinion re  Sphere Updates and CEQA
	MEMORANDUM OPINION
	TO:  LAFCo Executive Officers and Commissions
	FROM: P. Scott Browne, LAFCo Counsel



	7D-1 SR Medical Cannabis Business 1 Permit Format CCSR
	7D-2 MCB Permit INDEMNIFICATION AGREEMENT
	7D-3 MCB Permit RESO2018-XX Permit Format
	7D-4 MCB Permit Template-RESO Exhibit
	7D-5 Medical cannabis Business 5 Resolution 2018-XX Permit Fees
	7E-1 Cultivation Prohibition SR
	7E-2 Ordinance amendment 2018 cannabis semiban FINAL DRAFT
	8A-1 SR 4-11-18 Community Support Program Applications
	8A-2 FY 2018-19 APPLICATION FOR ECONOMIC SUPPORT PROGRAM
	8A-3 Community and Econ Support Program
	8A-4 NC Economic Support Program (1) - Tree Tour
	8A-5 NC Chamber of Economic Support Program (2)
	8A-6 Economic Development Famous Marching Presidents (3)
	9A-1 Correspondence Regarding Medical Cannabis Business Applications
	Blank Page


	Organization Name: 
	Project Name: 
	Address: 
	Contact Person NameTitle: 
	Contact Email: 
	Contact Telephone: 
	Website: 
	Amount of Funding Requested: 
	Signature: 
	Date: 
	Submit: 


